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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
ý QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2017
 

¨ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from              to             

Commission file number 000-51222

DEXCOM, INC.
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

   

Delaware  33-0857544
(State or Other Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or Organization)  

(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

  

6340 Sequence Drive
San Diego, California  92121

(Address of Principal Executive Offices)  (Zip Code)

Registrant’s Telephone Number, including area code: (858) 200-0200  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90
days.    Yes   ý
    No   ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate website, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted
and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to
submit and post such files).    Yes   ý
    No   ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company or an emerging growth
company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act
(Check one):

Large Accelerated Filer ý  Accelerated Filer   o

     
Non-Accelerated Filer o  (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller Reporting Company   o

     
Emerging Growth Company o    
     
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised
financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.   o

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).    Yes   ¨
    No   ý

As of July 27, 2017 , 86,560,946 shares of the Registrant’s common stock were outstanding.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DexCom, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In millions—except par value data)

 

June 30, 2017 December 31, 2016

(Unaudited)
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 395.9 $ 94.5
Short-term marketable securities, available-for-sale 100.7 29.2
Accounts receivable, net 101.7 101.7
Inventory 42.8 45.4
Prepaid and other current assets 15.7 9.2

Total current assets 656.8 280.0
Property and equipment, net 125.0 109.4
Goodwill 11.9 11.3
Other assets 1.9 2.1
Total assets $ 795.6 $ 402.8
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 72.2 $ 68.1
Accrued payroll and related expenses 31.4 33.4
Current portion of deferred revenue 1.5 0.9

Total current liabilities 105.1 102.4
Other liabilities 16.3 16.6
Long term senior convertible notes 320.5  —
Total liabilities 441.9 119.0
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5.0 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2017 and
December 31, 2016, respectively — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 200.0 authorized; 86.8 and 86.5 issued and outstanding,   respectively, at June 30,
2017. Common stock, $0.001 par value, 100.0 authorized; 84.9 and 84.6 shares issued and outstanding, respectively,
at December 31, 2016. 0.1 0.1
Additional paid-in capital 1,015.6 905.7
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1.6) (1.0)
Accumulated deficit (660.4) (621.0)
Total stockholders’ equity 353.7 283.8
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 795.6 $ 402.8

See accompanying notes
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DexCom, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In millions—except per share data)

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended  
 June 30,  

Six Months Ended  
 June 30,

 2017 2016  2017  2016
Revenues $ 170.6  $ 137.3  $ 312.9  $ 253.5
Cost of sales 53.1  51.8  101.3  92.9

Gross profit 117.5 85.5 211.6 160.6
Operating expenses   

Research and development 45.3 36.3  93.4  68.5
Selling, general and administrative 85.8 69.3  172.2  131.4

Total operating expenses 131.1 105.6 265.6 199.9
Operating loss (13.6) (20.1) (54.0) (39.3)
Other income 1.8  —  2.2  —
Interest income 0.5  0.1  0.7  0.2
Interest expense (3.1) (0.1)  (3.6)  (0.2)
Loss before income taxes (14.4) (20.1)  (54.7)  (39.3)
Income tax expense (benefit) (17.3) 0.1  (15.9)  0.1
Net income (loss) $ 2.9 $ (20.2)  $ (38.8)  $ (39.4)
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share $ 0.03 $ (0.24)  $ (0.45)  $ (0.48)
Shares used to compute basic net income (loss) per share 86.4 83.6  85.8  82.8
Shares used to compute dilutive net income (loss) per share 87.4  83.6  85.8  82.8

See accompanying notes
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DexCom, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(In millions)
(Unaudited)

 

 
Three Months Ended  

 June 30,  
Six Months Ended  

 June 30,

 2017  2016  2017  2016
Net income (loss) $ 2.9  $ (20.2)  $ (38.8)  $ (39.4)
Foreign currency translation loss (0.3)  (0.4)  (0.6)  (0.4)
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 2.6  $ (20.6)  $ (39.4)  $ (39.8)

See accompanying notes
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DexCom, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In millions)
(Unaudited)

 Six Months Ended
 June 30,

 2017  2016
Operating activities    
Net loss $ (38.8)  $ (39.4)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash provided by operating activities:    

Depreciation and amortization 7.6  7.3
Share-based compensation 55.9  52.7
Non-cash interest expense 2.1  —
Deferred tax (17.1)  —
Other non-cash expenses 6.1  0.1
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    

Accounts receivable, net 0.5  0.8
Inventory 2.8  (7.2)
Prepaid and other assets (6.2)  (2.7)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1.8  9.3
Accrued payroll and related expenses (2.1)  (1.7)
Deferred revenue 0.5  (0.2)
Deferred rent and other liabilities 1.5  0.9

Net cash provided by operating activities 14.6  19.9
Investing activities    
Purchase of available-for-sale marketable securities (91.4)  (20.9)
Proceeds from the maturity of available-for-sale marketable securities 19.6  21.7
Purchase of property and equipment (34.9)  (22.0)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired —  0.4
Net cash used in investing activities (106.7)  (20.8)
Financing activities    
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 5.7  4.8
Proceeds from issuance of convertible debt, net of issuance costs 389.0  —
Proceeds from short-term borrowings 75.0  —
Repayment of short-term borrowings (75.0)  —
Repayment of long-term debt —  (2.3)
Net cash provided by financing activities 394.7  2.5
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1.2)  (0.2)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 301.4  1.4
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 94.5  86.1
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 395.9  $ 87.5
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing transactions:    
Issuance of common stock in connection with acquisition $ —  $ 7.2
Acquisition-related holdback liability $ —  $ 1.8
Assets acquired and financing obligation under build-to-suit leasing arrangement $ —  $ 6.0
Acquisition of property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 4.9  $ 3.8

See accompanying notes
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DexCom, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and Business
DexCom, Inc. is a medical device company focused on the design, development and commercialization of continuous glucose monitoring (“CGM”) systems

for ambulatory use by people with diabetes and by healthcare providers for the treatment of people with diabetes. Unless the context requires otherwise, the terms
“we,” “us,” “our,” the “company,” or “DexCom” refer to DexCom, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Basis of Presentation
We have incurred operating losses since our inception and have an accumulated deficit of $660.4 million at June 30, 2017 . As of June 30, 2017 , we had

available cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities totaling $496.6 million and working capital of $551.7 million . Our ability to transition to, and maintain,
profitable operations is dependent upon achieving a level of revenues adequate to support our cost structure. If events or circumstances occur such that we do not
meet our operating plan as expected, we may be required to reduce planned increases in compensation expenses and other operating expenses needed to support the
growth of our business which could have an adverse impact on our ability to achieve our intended business objectives. We believe our working capital resources
will be sufficient to fund our operations through at least June 30, 2018 .

We have prepared the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do
not include all of the information and disclosures required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, which
include only normal recurring adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation, have been included. Operating results for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2017 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2017 . These unaudited consolidated financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and related notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2016 included in the
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by us with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2017.

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of DexCom, Inc. and our wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and

transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Segment Reporting
An operating segment is identified as a component of a business that has discrete financial information available, and one for which the chief operating

decision maker must decide the level of resource allocation. In addition, the guidance for segment reporting indicates certain quantitative thresholds. None of the
operations of our subsidiaries meet the definition of an operating segment and are currently not material, but may become material in the future.

We currently consider our operations to be, and manage our business globally within, one reportable segment, which is consistent with how our President and
Chief Executive Officer, who is our chief operating decision maker, reviews our business, makes investment and resource allocation decisions and assesses
operating performance.

We sell our products through a direct sales force in the United States, Canada and portions of Europe, and through distribution arrangements in the United
States, Canada, Australia, New Zealand, and in portions of Europe, Asia, Latin America, the Middle East and Africa. DexCom, Inc. is domiciled in the United
States.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts

reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Significant estimates include excess or
obsolete inventories, valuation of inventory, warranty accruals, convertible debt, employee bonus, clinical trial expenses, allowance for bad debt and refunds and
rebates, including pharmacy rebates.
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Share-Based Compensation
Share-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date based on the estimated fair value of the award and is recognized ratably over the requisite

service period of the individual grants, which typically equals the vesting period. Shared-based compensation arrangements include Restricted Stock Units
(“RSUs”) and purchases of common stock at a discount under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP. We estimate the fair value of RSUs based on the
market price of our common stock on the date of grant and the fair value of ESPP purchase rights on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model.

As discussed below under " Recent Accounting Guidance", we adopted ASU 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718) (“ASU 2016-09”) in
the first quarter of 2017 and elected to account for forfeitures as they occur with the change applied on a modified retrospective basis with a cumulative effect
adjustment to accumulated deficit of $0.6 million . Prior to the adoption of this accounting standard we estimated at grant the likelihood that the award will
ultimately vest (the “pre-vesting forfeiture rate”), and revised the estimate, if necessary, in future periods if the actual forfeiture rate differed. We used our
historical data and company-specific events to estimate pre-vesting forfeitures and recorded stock-based compensation expense only for those awards that were
expected to vest.

We recorded $25.3 million and $55.9 million in share-based compensation expense during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 , compared to $27.6
million and $52.7 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 . At June 30, 2017 , unrecognized estimated compensation costs related to unvested
restricted stock units totaled $174.2 million and is expected to be recognized through 2020.

Revenue Recognition
We sell our durable systems and disposable units through a direct sales force in the United States, Canada and portions of Europe, and through distribution

arrangements in the United States , Canada , Australia , New Zealand , and in portions of Europe , Asia , Latin America , the Middle East , and Africa .
Components are individually priced and can be purchased separately or together. We receive payment directly from customers who use our products, as well as
from distributors, organizations and third-party payors. Our durable system includes a reusable transmitter, a receiver, a power cord and a USB cable. Disposable
sensors for use with the durable system are sold separately in packages of four. We provide free of charge software and mobile applications for use with our
durable systems and disposable sensors. The initial durable system price is generally not dependent upon the subsequent purchase of any amount of disposable
sensors.

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the price is fixed or
determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. Revenue on product sales is generally recognized upon shipment, which is when title and the risk of loss
have been transferred to the customer and there are no other post shipment obligations. With respect to customers who directly pay for products, the products are
generally paid for at the time of shipment using a customer’s credit card and do not include customer acceptance provisions. We recognize revenue from contracted
insurance payors based on the contracted rate. For non-contracted insurance payors, we obtain prior authorization from the payor and recognize revenue based on
the estimated collectible amount and historical experience. We also receive a prescription or statement of medical necessity and, for insurance reimbursement
customers, an assignment of benefits prior to shipment.

We provide a “ 30 -day money back guarantee” program whereby customers who purchase a durable system and a package of four disposable sensors may
return the durable system for any reason within thirty days of purchase and receive a full refund of the purchase price of the durable system. We accrue for
estimated returns, refunds and rebates, including pharmacy rebates, by reducing revenues and establishing a liability account at the time of shipment based on
historical experience. Returns have historically been immaterial. Allowances for rebates include contracted discounts with commercial payors and are amounts
owed after the final dispensing of the product by a distributor or retail pharmacy to a pharmacy benefit plan participant and are based upon contractual agreements
with private sector benefit providers. The allowance for rebates is based on contractual discount rates, expected utilization under each contract and our estimate of
the amount of inventory in the distribution channel that will become subject to such rebates. Our estimates for expected utilization for rebates are based on
historical rebate claims and to a lesser extent third party market research data. Rebates are generally invoiced and paid monthly or quarterly in arrears so that our
accrual consists of an estimate of the amount expected to be incurred for the current month's or quarter’s activity, plus an accrual for unpaid rebates from prior
periods, and an accrual for inventory in the distribution channel.

We have entered into distribution agreements with Byram Healthcare and its subsidiaries (“Byram”), RGH Enterprises (“Edgepark”) and other distributors
that allow the distributors to sell our durable systems and disposable units. The majority of our distributors stock our products, and we refer to these distributors as
Stocking Distributors, whereby the Stocking Distributors fulfill orders for our product from their inventory. We also have contracts with certain distributors that do
not stock our products, but rather products are shipped directly to the customer by us on behalf of our distributor, and we refer to these distributors as Drop-Ship
Distributors. Revenue is recognized based on contracted prices. Terms of distributor orders are
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generally Freight on Board (or Free Carrier (“FCA”) shipping point for international orders). Distributors do not have rights of return per their distribution
agreement outside of our standard warranty. The distributors typically have a limited time frame to notify us of any missing, damaged, defective or non-conforming
products. For any such products, we shall either, at our option, replace the portion of defective or non-conforming product at no additional cost to the distributor or
cancel the order and refund any portion of the price paid to us at that time for the sale in question. Shipping charges billed to customers are included in revenue
while related costs are included as cost of sales.

Warranty Accrual
Estimated warranty costs associated with a product are recorded at the time of shipment. We estimate future warranty costs by analyzing historical warranty

experience for the timing and amount of returned product, and expectations for future warranty activity based on changes and improvements to the product or
process that are, or will be in place in the future. These estimates are evaluated on at least a quarterly basis to determine the continued appropriateness of such
assumptions.

Foreign Currency
The financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars for financial reporting purposes. Assets and liabilities are translated at

period-end exchange rates, and revenue and expense transactions are translated at average exchange rates for the period. Translation related adjustments are
recognized as part of comprehensive income and are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss in the consolidated balance sheet. Gains and losses
resulting from certain intercompany transactions as well as transactions with customers and vendors that are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of each subsidiary give rise to foreign exchange gains or losses reflected in operations. To date the results of operations of these subsidiaries and related
translation adjustments and foreign exchange gains or losses have not been material in our consolidated results.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)
We report all components of comprehensive income (loss), including net income (loss), in the consolidated financial statements in the period in which they

are recognized. Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-
owner sources. Net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), including unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities and foreign currency translation
adjustments, are reported, net of their related tax effect, to arrive at comprehensive income (loss).

Inventory
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or market value on a part-by-part basis that approximates first in, first out. We make adjustments to reduce the cost of

inventory to its net realizable value, if required, for estimated excess, obsolete and potential scrapped inventories. Factors influencing these adjustments include
inventories on hand and on order compared to estimated future usage and sales for existing and new products, as well as judgments regarding quality control testing
data, and assumptions about the likelihood of scrap and obsolescence. Once written down the adjustments are considered permanent and are not reversed until the
related inventory is sold or disposed.

Our products require customized products and components that currently are available from a limited number of sources. We purchase certain components
and materials from single sources due to quality considerations, costs or constraints resulting from regulatory requirements.

Marketable Securities
We have classified our marketable securities with remaining maturity at purchase of more than three months and remaining maturities of one year or less as

short-term available-for-sale marketable securities. Marketable securities with remaining maturities of greater than one year are also classified as short-term
available-for-sale marketable securities as such marketable securities represent the investment of cash that is available for current operations. We carry our
marketable securities at fair value with unrealized gains and losses, if any, reported as a separate component of stockholders' equity and included in comprehensive
loss. Realized gains and losses are calculated using the specific identification method and recorded as interest income or expense. We invest in various types of
securities, including debt securities in government-sponsored entities, corporate debt securities, U.S. Treasury securities and commercial paper. We do not
generally intend to sell the investments and it is not more likely than not that we will be required to sell the investments before recovery of their amortized cost
bases, which may be at maturity.
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Fair Value Measurements

Our financial instruments consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses,
and Senior Convertible Notes.

The fair value hierarchy described by the authoritative guidance for fair value measurements is based on three levels of inputs, of which the first two are
considered observable and the last unobservable, that may be used to measure fair value and include the following:

Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2—Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in

markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or
liabilities.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
We carry our marketable securities at fair value. The carrying amounts of financial instruments, such as cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,

prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, are carried at cost, which approximate the related fair values due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments. For additional detail see Note 7 “Fair Value Measurements.”

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is stated at cost and depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally three years for computer equipment, four to

ten years for machinery and equipment, and five years for furniture and fixtures, using the straight-line method. Leasehold improvements are stated at cost and
amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the remaining lease term.

Goodwill
We test goodwill for impairment on an annual basis. Also, between annual tests we test for impairment if events and circumstances indicate it is more likely

than not that the fair value is less than the carrying value. Events that would indicate impairment and trigger an interim impairment assessment include, but are not
limited to, current economic and market conditions, including a decline in market capitalization, a significant adverse change in legal factors, business climate or
operational performance of the business and an adverse action or assessment by a regulator. The change in goodwill for the three and six months ended June 30,
2017 represents translation adjustments on our foreign currency denominated goodwill related to the acquisition of Nintamed, our distributor that served Germany,
Switzerland and Austria.

Recent Accounting Guidance

I n May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued authoritative guidance for Revenue from Contracts with Customers, to supersede
nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP. The core principle of the guidance is to recognize revenues when promised goods or services
are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration that is expected to be received for those goods or services. The guidance defines a five step
process to achieve this core principle and it is possible when the five step process is applied, more judgment and estimates may be required within the revenue
recognition process than required under existing U.S. GAAP, including identifying performance obligations in the contract, estimating the amount of variable
consideration to include in the transaction price and allocating the transaction price to each separate performance obligation. The updated standard permits the use
of either the retrospective or modified retrospective transition method and is effective for us in our first quarter of 2018. We are currently in the process of
completing the initial assessment of the impact that this new revenue recognition standard will have on our consolidated financial statements. As part of the initial
assessment, we are reviewing a representative sample of contracts across our various streams of revenue and geographies to identify potential differences that could
result from applying the requirements of the new standard. The analysis includes identifying whether there may be differences in timing of revenue recognition
under the new standard as well as assessing performance obligations, variable consideration and contract costs. We have not yet estimated the impact, if any, of the
new standard on the timing and pattern of our revenue recognition. We will continue to evaluate the future impact and method of adoption of ASU 2014 -09 and
related amendments on the Consolidated Financial Statements and related disclosures throughout 2017.

In July 2015, the FASB issued guidance to change the subsequent measurement of inventory from lower of cost or market to lower of cost and net realizable
value. The guidance requires that inventory accounted for under the first-in, first-out
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(FIFO) or average cost methods be measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value, where net realizable value represents the estimated selling price of
inventory in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation. The guidance was effective for us in the
first quarter of fiscal 2017 with no material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”), which require a lessee to recognize a lease payment liability and a
corresponding right of use asset on their balance sheet for all lease terms longer than 12 months, lessor accounting remains largely unchanged. ASU 2016-02 is
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning on or after December 15, 2018 and early adoption is permitted. We are currently
evaluating the effect this guidance will have on our consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718) (“ASU 2016-09”), which is intended to simplify several
areas of accounting for share-based payment arrangements. The amendments in this update cover such areas as the recognition of excess tax benefits and
deficiencies, the classification of those excess benefits on the statement of cash flows, an accounting policy election for forfeitures, the amount an employer can
withhold to cover income taxes and still qualify for equity classification and the classification of those taxes paid on the statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-09 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods. We adopted this standard in the first quarter of 2017.

We had excess tax benefits for which a benefit could not be previously recognized of approximately $161.0 million . Upon adoption, we recognized the
previously unrecognized excess tax benefits of $161.0 million deferred tax assets with an offsetting increase in our valuation allowance using a modified
retrospective method through a cumulative effect adjustment to the accumulated deficit, with no net impact on our financial statements. All excess tax benefits and
all tax deficiencies generated in the current and future periods will be recognized prospectively and recorded as income tax benefit or expense in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations in the reporting period in which they occur. Until such time that we release our valuation allowance against deferred tax assets, the tax
impact of any excess tax benefits and deficiencies will be offset with the change in our valuation allowance. In addition, we elected to account for forfeitures as
they occur with the change applied on a modified retrospective basis with a cumulative effect adjustment to accumulated deficit of $0.6 million . Due to the full
valuation allowance on the U.S. deferred tax assets, we have determined that none of the provisions of ASU 2016-09 will have a significant impact on our 2017
consolidated financial statements.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16, Accounting for Income Taxes - Intra-Entity Asset Transfer other than Inventory (Topic 740) (“ASU 2016-
16”), which would require the recognition of the tax expense from the sale of an asset other than inventory when the transfer occurs, rather than when the asset is
sold to a third party or otherwise recovered through use. The new guidance is effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The amendment should be applied on a modified retrospective basis through
a cumulative-effect adjustment directly to retained earnings as of the beginning period of adoption. We are considering the impact the adoption of ASU 2016-16
may have on our consolidated financial statements.

2. Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share
Basic net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by

the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period, without consideration for common stock equivalents. Diluted net income (loss) per
share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and, when dilutive, potential common share equivalents from outstanding
options and unvested RSUs settleable in shares of common stock (using the treasury-stock method), and potential common shares from convertible securities
(using the if-converted method). Because the Company reported a net loss for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and the three and six months ended June 30,
2016 , all potential dilutive common shares have been excluded from the computation of the diluted net income (loss) per share for all periods presented, as the
effect would have been anti-dilutive.
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share (in millions, except per share data):

 
Three Months Ended  

 June 30,  
Six Months Ended  

 June 30,

 2017  2016  2017  2016
Net income (loss) $ 2.9  $ (20.2)  $ (38.8)  $ (39.4)
Net income (loss) per common share:        
Basic $ 0.03  $ (0.24)  $ (0.45)  $ (0.48)
Diluted $ 0.03  $ (0.24)  $ (0.45)  $ (0.48)
        

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 86.4  83.6  85.8  82.8
Effect of potentially dilutive share-based awards 1.0 — — —

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 87.4  83.6  85.8  82.8

Outstanding anti-dilutive securities not included in diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders calculation (in millions):

 
Three Months Ended  

 June 30,  
Six Months Ended  

 June 30,

 2017  2016  2017  2016
Options outstanding to purchase common stock —  1.0  0.4  1.0
Unvested restricted stock units 0.1  3.9  3.0  3.9
Senior convertible notes 4.0  —  4.0  —

Total 4.1  4.9  7.4  4.9

3. Financial Statement Details (in millions)
Short-Term Marketable Securities, Available-for-Sale

Short-term marketable securities, consisting solely of debt securities, were as follows:

 June 30, 2017

 
Amortized

Cost  

Gross
Unrealized

Gains  

Gross
Unrealized

Losses  

Estimated
Market
Value

U.S. government agencies $ 70.6  $ —  $ —  $ 70.6
Commercial paper 25.2  —  —  25.2
Corporate debt 4.9  —  —  4.9

Total $ 100.7  $ —  $ —  $ 100.7

 December 31, 2016

 
Amortized

Cost  

Gross
Unrealized

Gains  

Gross
Unrealized

Losses  

Estimated
Market
Value

U.S. government agencies $ 22.2  $ —  $ —  $ 22.2
Corporate debt 3.8  —  —  3.8
Commercial paper 3.2  —  —  3.2

Total $ 29.2  $ —  $ —  $ 29.2

As of June 30, 2017 , the estimated market value of available-for-sale marketable securities with contractual maturities of up to one year and up to 17 months
were $83.5 million and $17.2 million , respectively.
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Inventory

 June 30, 2017  December 31, 2016
Raw materials $ 16.3  $ 20.1
Work-in-process 4.1  2.3
Finished goods 22.4  23.0

Total $ 42.8  $ 45.4

During 2016, we recorded charges of $3.5 million in cost of goods sold related to excess and obsolete receiver inventory primarily related to the February 23,
2016 customer notification regarding the audible alarms and alerts associated with our receivers which was classified as a voluntary Class 1 recall by the FDA.

Property and Equipment

 June 30, 2017  December 31, 2016
Building (1) $ 6.0  $ 6.0
Furniture and fixtures 4.7  5.8
Computer equipment 23.6  22.7
Machinery and equipment 32.1  31.4
Leasehold improvements 33.1  25.6
Construction in progress 74.2  65.1

Total 173.7  156.6
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (48.7)  (47.2)
Property and equipment, net $ 125.0  $ 109.4
(1) As described in Footnote 5 “Commitments and Contingencies,” although we do not legally own these premises, we are deemed the owner of the construction project during the construction period of our new manufacturing facility in
Mesa, Arizona under a build-to-suit lease arrangement.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

 June 30, 2017  December 31, 2016
Accounts payable trade $ 16.8  $ 24.5
Accrued tax, audit, and legal fees 13.6  4.5
Clinical trials 0.3  1.1
Accrued rebates 13.0  8.2
Accrued warranty 8.3  9.8
Accrued other 20.2  20.0

Total $ 72.2  $ 68.1

Accrued Warranty
Warranty costs are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations as product cost of sales. A reconciliation of our accrued warranty costs for the three

and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

 
Three Months Ended  

 June 30,  
Six Months Ended  

 June 30,

 2017  2016  2017  2016
Beginning balance $ 9.9  $ 5.7  $ 9.8  $ 3.3
Charges to costs and expenses 3.4  7.3  8.4  13.5
Costs incurred (5.0)  (5.1)  (9.9)  (8.9)
Ending balance $ 8.3  $ 7.9  $ 8.3  $ 7.9

Other Liabilities
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 June 30, 2017  December 31, 2016
Financing lease obligations $ 6.7  $ 6.7
Deferred rent 8.9  7.3
Other 0.7  2.6

Total $ 16.3  $ 16.6

4. Debt

0.75% Senior Convertible Notes due 2022

 June 30, 2017  December 31, 2016
0.75% Senior convertible notes due 2022:    

Principal amount $ 400.0  $ —
Unamortized debt discount (70.7)  —
Unamortized debt issuance costs (8.8)  —

Net carrying amount of senior convertible notes $ 320.5  $ —
Fair value of outstanding notes $ 409.7  $ —

In May 2017, we completed an offering of $350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 0.75% convertible senior notes due 2022 (the "2022 Notes") and, in
June 2017 the initial purchasers exercised their option to purchase an additional $50.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2022 Notes. The 2022 Notes have a
stated interest rate of 0.75% and a maturity date of May 15, 2022 . The net proceeds from the offering, after deducting initial purchasers' discounts and costs
directly related to the offering, were approximately $389.0 million . The 2022 Notes may be settled in cash, stock, or a combination thereof, solely at the
Company's discretion. The initial conversion rate of the 2022 Notes is 10.0918 shares per $1,000 principal amount, which is equivalent to a conversion price of
approximately $99.09 per share, subject to adjustments. The Company uses the if-converted method for assumed conversion of the 2022 Notes to compute the
weighted average shares of common stock outstanding for diluted earnings per share.

As upon conversion by the holders, we may elect to settle such conversion in shares of its common stock, cash, or a combination thereof, we accounted for
the cash conversion option as an equity instrument classified to stockholders’ equity, which resulted in recognizing $72.6 million in additional paid-in-capital
during 2017.

The interest expense recognized on the 2022 Notes during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 includes $0.4 million , $1.8 million and $0.2 million
for the contractual coupon interest, the accretion of the debt discount and the amortization of the debt issuance costs, respectively. The effective interest rate on the
2022 Notes is 5.5% , which includes the interest on the notes, amortization of the debt discount and debt issuance costs. The discount on the 2022 Notes is
amortized through February 15, 2022. Interest on the 2022 Notes began accruing upon issuance and is payable semi-annually on May 15 and November 15 of each
year.

Holders of the Notes who convert their Notes in connection with a make-whole fundamental change (as defined in the Indenture) or following the delivery by
DexCom of a notice of redemption are, under certain circumstances, entitled to an increase in the conversion rate.

Additionally, in the event of a fundamental change (as defined in the Indenture), holders of the Notes may require DexCom to repurchase all or a portion of
their Notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of Notes, plus any accrued and unpaid interest, including any additional interest, to, but excluding, the
repurchase date.

Holders of the Notes may convert all or a portion of their Notes at their option prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the business day immediately
preceding February 15, 2022, in multiples of $1,000 principal amount, only under the following circumstances:

• during any calendar quarter commencing after September 30, 2017 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported sale price of common stock
for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the immediately
preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the applicable conversion price of the Notes on each such trading day;
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• during the five business day period after any five consecutive trading day period in which the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of the Notes for
each day of that five day consecutive trading day period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of common stock and the
applicable conversion rate of the Notes on such trading day;

• if DexCom calls any or all of the Notes for redemption, at any time prior to the close on business on the scheduled trading day immediately preceding the
redemption date; or

• upon the occurrence of specified corporate transactions.
 On or after February 15, 2022, until 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the business day immediately preceding the maturity date, holders of the Notes may

convert all or a portion of their Notes regardless of the foregoing circumstances.
The redemption price will be equal to 100% of the principal amount of such 2022 Notes to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding,

the redemption date. No principal payments are due on the 2022 Notes prior to maturity. Other than restrictions relating to certain fundamental changes and
consolidations, mergers or asset sales and customary anti-dilution adjustments, the Indenture includes customary terms and covenants, including certain events of
default after which the Notes may be due and payable immediately. The Company is unaware of any current events or market conditions that would allow holders
to convert the 2022 Notes.

Revolving Credit Agreement
In June 2016, we entered into a $200.0 million revolving credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”), and amended in May 2017, with JPMorgan Chase Bank,

NA, as administrative agent, Bank of America, Silicon Valley Bank and Union Bank. In addition to allowing borrowings in US dollars, the Credit Agreement
provides a $25.0 million sublimit for borrowings in Canadian Dollars, Euros, British Pounds, Swedish Krona, Japanese Yen and any other currency that is
subsequently approved by JPMorgan Chase and each lender. The Credit Agreement also provides a sub-facility of up to $10.0 million for letters of credit, of which
$5.6 million is still available. The interest rate under the Credit Agreement ranges from 0.75% to 2.75% plus our choice of one of two base rates, LIBOR or a rate
based on the publicly announced JPMorgan Chase prime rate, the federal funds rate or the overnight bank funding rate. We will also pay a commitment fee of
between 0.25% and 0.45% , payable quarterly in arrears, on the average daily unused amount of the revolving facility based on our leverage ratio. The aggregate
debt issuance costs and fees incurred with respect to entering into the Credit Agreement were $0.7 million , which have been capitalized on our Consolidated
Balance Sheet within “Other Assets” and will be amortized through the maturity date of June 2021 on a straight line basis. The obligations of DexCom under the
Credit Agreement are guaranteed by DexCom’s existing and future wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries, and are secured by a first-priority security interest in
substantially all of the assets of DexCom and the guarantors, including all or a portion of the equity interests of DexCom’s domestic subsidiaries and first-tier
foreign subsidiaries but excluding real property and intellectual property (which is subject to a negative pledge).

Short-term borrowings
On March 3, 2017 we drew $75.0 million on the Credit Agreement under a six month term. We repaid the entire principal balance on May 19, 2017. As of

June 30, 2017 we had no outstanding borrowings under the Credit Agreement, and $200.0 million under the Credit Agreement remains available.
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5. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases
Under the office lease agreement, as amended (the “Office Lease”), with John Hancock Life Insurance Company (U.S.A.) (the “Landlord”) we lease

approximately 219,000 square feet of space in the buildings at 6340 Sequence Drive, 6310 Sequence Drive and 6290 Sequence Drive. The amended Office Lease
term extends through March 2022 and we have an option to renew the lease upon the expiration of the initial term for two additional five -year terms by giving
notice to the Landlord prior to the end of the initial term of the lease and any extension period, if applicable. Provided we are not in default under the Office Lease
and the Office Lease is still in effect, we generally have the right to terminate the lease starting at the 55 th month of the Office Lease. We have received $3.6
million of tenant improvement allowance associated with the Office Lease, which is recorded as a deferred rent obligation and amortized over the term of the lease
and reflected as a reduction to rent expense. Leasehold improvements associated with the tenant improvement allowance are included in Property and equipment,
net in our consolidated balance sheets. On February 1, 2016, we entered into a Sublease (the “Sublease”) with Entropic Communications, LLC with respect to the
building at 6350 Sequence Drive in San Diego, California (the “6350 Building”). Under the Sublease, we have leased approximately 132,600 square feet of space
in the 6350 Building. The Sublease term extends through January 2022.

On April 28, 2016, we entered into a certain Industrial Net Lease (the “Mesa Lease”) with PRA/LB, L.L.C. with respect to facilities in the building at 232
South Dobson Road in Mesa, Arizona (the “Mesa Building"). Under the Mesa Lease, we have leased approximately 148,797 square feet of space in the Mesa
Building, of which approximately 78,000 square feet was available to us on May 1, 2016 and the remaining portion of the Mesa Building will become available to
us on or around January 1, 2018. The term of the Mesa Lease extends through March 2028 with four options to extend the Mesa Lease term, each for five -year
periods. The Mesa Lease arrangement involves the construction of our new manufacturing facility where we are involved in the design and construction of the
leased space, including non-standard tenant improvements paid for by us. This arrangement is referred to as a build-to suit lease and for accounting purposes, we
are considered the owner of the construction project during the construction period. During the second quarter of 2016, we capitalized the fair value of the Mesa
Building of $6.0 million within “Property and Equipment, net,” and recorded a corresponding financing lease obligation liability of $6.0 million within “Other
Liabilities” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. We have concluded that the Mesa Lease does not qualify for “sale-leaseback” treatment due to prohibited
continuing involvement, accordingly the Mesa Lease will be treated as a financing arrangement.

We have also entered into other operating lease agreements, primarily for office and warehouse space, that expire at various times through July 2026. These
facility leases have annual rental increases ranging from approximately 2.5% to 4% . The difference between the straight-line expense over the term of the lease
and actual amounts paid are recorded as deferred rent.

Rental obligations, excluding real estate taxes, operating costs, and tenant improvement allowances, under all lease agreements as of June 30, 2017 were as
follows (in millions):

Fiscal Year Ending  
Remainder of 2017 $ 4.2
2018 9.9
2019 10.8
2020 11.2
2021 11.5
Thereafter 13.0

Total $ 60.6
 

Total rent expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 was $2.8 million and $5.6 million , compared to $2.3 million and $4.2 million for the
same periods in 2016 .

Litigation
On March 28, 2016, AgaMatrix, Inc. filed a patent infringement lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the District of Oregon, asserting

that certain of our products infringe certain patents held by AgaMatrix. On June 6, 2016, AgaMatrix filed a First Amended Complaint asserting the same three
patents. On August 25, 2016, we filed petitions for inter partes review with the Patent Trial and Appeal Board of the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office seeking a
determination that two of the three asserted patents are invalid under the U.S. patent law and those petitions were granted on March 6, 2017. Based on those grants,
most activity in the patent infringement lawsuit against us in the District of Oregon was stayed until the inter
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partes review of the Patent Trial and Appeal Board is completed. On March 8, 2017, we filed a petition for inter partes review with the Patent Trial and Appeal
Board seeking a determination that the third of the three asserted patents is invalid under U.S. patent law. This petition is still pending. It is our position that
AgaMatrix’s assertions of infringement have no merit. On August 6, 2016, DexCom filed a patent infringement lawsuit in the United States Central District Court
of California, asserting certain AgaMatrix products infringed a patent held by DexCom. On September 30, 2016 DexCom filed a First Amended Complaint
asserting the same patent. DexCom believes certain AgaMatrix single-point blood glucose monitoring products infringe the asserted patent. Neither the outcome of
the litigation nor the amount and range of potential fees associated with the litigation can be assessed at this time. As of June 30, 2017 , no amounts have been
accrued in respect of this litigation.

We are subject to various claims, complaints and legal actions that arise from time to time in the normal course of business, including commercial insurance,
product liability and employment related matters. In addition from time to time, we may bring claims or initiate lawsuits against various third parties with respect
to matters arising out of the ordinary course of our business, including commercial and employment related matters. We do not expect that the resolution of these
matters would, or will, have a material adverse effect or material impact on our consolidated financial position.

Purchase Commitments
We are party to various purchase arrangements related to our manufacturing and development activities including materials used in our CGM systems. As of

June 30, 2017 , we had purchase commitments with vendors totaling $70.7 million due within one year. There are no material purchase commitments due beyond
one year.

6. Development and Other Agreements
Collaboration with Verily Life Sciences

On August 10, 2015, we entered into a Collaboration and License Agreement (the “ Verily Collaboration Agreement ”) with Google Life Sciences LLC ,
now renamed Verily Life Sciences (“ Verily ”). Pursuant to the Verily Collaboration Agreement , we and Verily have agreed to jointly develop a series of next-
generation CGM products. The Verily Collaboration Agreement provides us with an exclusive license to use certain intellectual property of Verily related to the
development, manufacture and commercialization of the products contemplated under the Verily Collaboration Agreement . The Verily Collaboration Agreement
provides for the establishment of a joint steering committee, joint development committee and joint commercialization committee to oversee and coordinate the
parties’ activities under the collaboration. We and Verily have agreed to make committee decisions by consensus. Certain aspects of this collaboration were
clarified and amended on October 25, 2016.

Under the terms of Verily Collaboration Agreement we paid an upfront fee of $35.0 million through the issuance of 404,591 shares of our common stock.
We recorded $36.5 million in research and development expense in our consolidated statement of operations during 2015 related to the issuance of the 404,591
shares of our common stock, based on our stock price of $90.29 per share as of the date of Verily Collaboration Agreement . In addition, we will pay Verily up to
$65.0 million in additional milestones upon achievement of various development and regulatory objectives, which payments may be paid in cash or shares of our
common stock at our sole election, calculated based on the volume weighted average trading price during a period of twenty consecutive trading days ending on the
trading day prior to the date on which the applicable objective has been achieved.

In addition, Verily is eligible to receive tiered royalty payments associated with the commercialization of the products contemplated under the Verily
Collaboration Agreement , which are subject to regulatory approval. Unless we attain annual product sales subject to the Verily Collaboration Agreement in excess
of $750.0 million , there will be no royalty paid by us to Verily . Above this range, and upon marketing approval of the initial product contemplated by the Verily
Collaboration Agreement , or upon commercialization of any other DexCom product that incorporates Verily intellectual property, we will pay to Verily a royalty
percentage starting in the high single digits and declining to the mid-single digits based on our annual aggregate product sales.

The Verily Collaboration Agreement shall be terminable by either party (a) upon uncured material breach of the Verily Collaboration Agreement by the other
party, (b) if the second product contemplated by the Verily Collaboration Agreement has not been submitted to the FDA for approval by a specified date and (c) if
the annual net sales for the products developed with Verily under the Verily Collaboration Agreement are less than a specified aggregate dollar amount.
Additionally, we have the right to terminate the Verily Collaboration Agreement upon the expiration of the last to expire patent that covers a product developed
under the Verily Collaboration Agreement .

7. Fair Value Measurements
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We base the fair value of our Level 1 financial instruments that are in active markets using quoted market prices for identical instruments.

We obtain the fair value of our Level 2 financial instruments, which are not in active markets, from a primary professional pricing source using quoted
market prices for identical or comparable instruments, rather than direct observations of quoted prices in active markets. Fair value obtained from this professional
pricing source can also be based on pricing models whereby all significant observable inputs, including maturity dates, issue dates, settlement date, benchmark
yields, reported trades, broker-dealer quotes, issue spreads, benchmark securities, bids, offers or other market related data, are observable or can be derived from,
or corroborated by, observable market data for substantially the full term of the asset.

We validate the quoted market prices provided by our primary pricing service by comparing the fair values of our Level 2 marketable securities portfolio
balance provided by our primary pricing service against the fair values of our Level 2 marketable securities portfolio balance provided by our investment managers.

The following table represents our fair value hierarchy for our financial assets (cash equivalents and marketable securities) measured at fair value on a
recurring basis as of June 30, 2017 (in millions):

 Fair Value Measurements Using

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total
Cash equivalents $ —  $ 349.1  $ —  $ 349.1
Marketable securities, available for sale        

U.S. government agencies —  70.6  —  70.6
Commercial paper —  25.2  —  25.2
Corporate debt —  4.9  —  4.9

Total marketable securities, available for sale $ —  $ 100.7  $ —  $ 100.7

The following table represents our fair value hierarchy for our financial assets (cash equivalents and marketable securities) measured at fair value on a
recurring basis as of December 31, 2016 (in millions):

 Fair Value Measurements Using

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total
Cash equivalents $ —  $ 32.3  $ —  $ 32.3
Marketable securities, available for sale        

U.S. government agencies —  22.2  —  22.2
Corporate debt —  3.8  —  3.8
Commercial paper —  3.2  —  3.2

Total marketable securities, available for sale $ —  $ 29.2  $ —  $ 29.2

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 securities during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 . There were no transfers into
or out of Level 3 securities during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 .

The fair value, based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), of the Company’s outstanding 2022 Notes was $409.7 million at June 30, 2017 . See Note
4 to the Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion on the carrying value of the Company’s 2022 Notes.

8. Income Taxes
Our effective tax rate for the three months ended June 30, 2017 was 120.1% compared to a negative rate of 0.5% for the three months ended June 30, 2016.

Our effective tax rate was impacted primarily by a $17.1 million benefit related to the issuance of convertible debt. Under intraperiod allocation, the deferred tax
liability related to the equity component of convertible debt is a source of income that can be used to recognize the tax benefit of the current year loss through
continuing operations. The estimated tax benefit for the year is recorded at each interim period through the annual effective tax rate and may change with updates
to our earnings through the future quarters of 2017. The tax benefit related to the issuance of the convertible debt will not recur in future years. The income tax
benefit was offset by current income tax expense in profitable jurisdictions, withholding taxes, and state taxes.

We maintain a full valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets as of June 30, 2017 based on our assessment that it is not more likely than not these
future benefits will be realized before expiration.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document, including the following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, contains forward-looking
statements that are not purely historical regarding DexCom's or its management's intentions, beliefs, expectations and strategies for the future. These forward-
looking statements fall within the meaning of the federal securities laws that relate to future events or our future financial performance. In some cases, you can
identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “intend,” “potential” or
“continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. Forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this report, deal with future
events, are subject to various risks and uncertainties, and actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in those forward looking statements. The
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially are more fully described under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report and in our
other reports filed with the SEC. We assume no obligation to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this report or to conform these
forward-looking statements to actual results.

Overview
We are a medical device company primarily focused on the design, development and commercialization of continuous glucose monitoring (“CGM”) systems

for use by people with diabetes and by healthcare providers for the treatment of people with diabetes. Unless the context requires otherwise, the terms “we,” “us,”
“our,” the “company,” or “DexCom” refer to DexCom, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

From inception to 2006, we devoted substantially all of our resources to start-up activities, raising capital and research and development, including product
design, testing, manufacturing and clinical trials. Since 2006, we have devoted considerable resources to the commercialization of our continuous glucose
monitoring systems, including the G4 PLATINUM and G5 Mobile, as well as the continued research and clinical development of our technology platform.

From inception through  June 30, 2017 , we have generated $2.0 billion  of product and development grant and other (non-product) revenue, and we have
incurred operating losses in each year since our inception in May 1999. As of  June 30, 2017 , we had an accumulated deficit of  $660.4 million . We expect our
losses to continue as we proceed with our commercialization and research and development activities. We have financed our operations primarily through offerings
of equity securities and debt, and the sales of our products.

Financial Operations
Revenue

We sell our durable systems and disposable units through a direct sales force in the United States, Canada and portions of Europe, and through distribution
arrangements in the United States, Canada, Australia, New Zealand, and in portions of Europe, Asia, Latin America, the Middle East and Africa. We have contracts
with certain distributors, the majority of whom stock our products, and we refer to these distributors as Stocking Distributors, whereby the Stocking Distributors
fulfill orders for our product from their inventory. We also have contracts with certain distributors that do not stock our products, but rather products are shipped
directly to the customer by us on behalf of our distributor, and we refer to these distributors as Drop-Ship Distributors. We expect that revenues we generate from
the sales of our products will fluctuate from quarter to quarter. We typically experience seasonality with lower sales in the first quarter of each year, compared to
the previous fourth quarter, related to annual insurance deductible resets and unfunded flexible spending accounts.

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales includes direct labor and materials costs related to each product sold or produced, including assembly, test labor and scrap, as well as factory

overhead supporting our manufacturing operations. Factory overhead includes facilities, material procurement and control, manufacturing engineering, quality
assurance, supervision and management. These costs are primarily salary, fringe benefits, share-based compensation, facility expense, supplies and purchased
services. A portion of our costs are currently fixed due to our moderate level of production volumes compared to our potential capacity. All of our manufacturing
costs are included in cost of sales.

Research and Development
Our research and development expenses primarily consist of engineering and research expenses related to our continuous glucose monitoring technology,

clinical trials, regulatory expenses, quality assurance programs, materials and products for clinical trials. Research and development expenses are primarily related
to employee compensation, including salary, fringe benefits, share-based compensation, and temporary employee expenses. We also incur significant expenses to
operate our clinical trials including clinical site reimbursement, clinical trial product and associated travel expenses. Our research and development expenses also
include fees for design services, contractors and development materials.

Selling, General and Administrative
Our selling, general and administrative expenses primarily consist of salary, fringe benefits and share-based compensation for our executive, financial, sales,

marketing, information technology and administrative functions. Other significant expenses include commissions, marketing and advertising, IT software license
costs, insurance, professional fees for our outside legal counsel and independent auditors, litigation expenses, patent application expenses and consulting expenses.

Results of Operations
Quarter Ended June 30, 2017 Compared to June 30, 2016

Revenue, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit
Revenues increased $33.3 million to $170.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2017 compared to $137.3 million for the three months ended

June 30, 2016 based primarily on increased sales volume of our disposable sensors due to the continued growth of our installed base of customers using our G4
PLATINUM and G5 Mobile systems, and durable systems to both new and existing customers. Revenue attributable to our disposable sensors and durable systems
was approximately 70% and 30%, respectively, of revenue, for each of the three months ended June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2016 . Revenue from products shipped
to our distributors, which are primarily Stocking Distributors, for the three months ended June 30, 2017 was approximately $125.6 million or 74% of our revenue
compared to $95.3 million or 69% of our total revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2016 .



Cost of sales increased $1.3 million to $53.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2017 compared to $51.8 million for the three months ended June 30,
2016 , primarily due to increased sales volume. The gross profit of $117.5 million , or 69% for the three months ended June 30, 2017 increased $32.0 million
compared to $85.5 million , or 62% , for the same period in 2016 , primarily due to increased revenue and a decrease in warranty costs.

Research and Development. Research and development expense increased $9.0 million to $45.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2017 ,
compared to $36.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016 . The increase was primarily due to $5.2 million increase of expensed equipment, $4.3 million
in additional salaries, bonus and payroll related costs, and $0.4 million of additional facilities related costs, offset by a decrease of $0.8 million in share-based
compensation and a $0.8 million reduction of consulting expenses.

Selling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative expense increased $16.5 million to $85.8 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2017 compared to $69.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016 . The increase was primarily due to higher sales and customer support related
cost primarily due to increased headcount, and higher marketing costs to support revenue growth and the continued commercialization of our products in both the
United States and Europe. Significant elements of the increase in selling, general, and administrative expenses included $8.1 million in additional salaries, bonus,
and payroll related costs, $4.4 million in additional marketing costs, $2.0 million of additional software license expenses and $1.7 million of additional consulting
fees, offset by a decrease of $0.8 million in share-based compensation costs.

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased $3.0 million to $3.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2017 compared to $0.1 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2016 . The increase was primarily due to an additional $2.4 million of interest expense related to the 2022 Notes.

Income Tax Benefit. Our income tax benefit was $17.3 million on a pre-tax loss of $14.4 million , resulting in an effective tax rate of approximately 120%
for the three months ended June 30, 2017 , compared to income tax expense of $0.1 million on a pre-tax loss of $20.1 million and a negative effective tax rate of
0.5% for the three months ended June 30, 2016 . The current period benefit is primarily attributable to an income tax benefit for current year losses, as the deferred
tax liability created by the issuance of convertible debt is considered a source of income to recognize the tax benefit of the current year loss. The tax benefit is
offset by withholding and other income tax expense in profitable jurisdictions. 
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 Compared to June 30, 2016
Revenue, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit
Revenues increased $59.4 million to $312.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to $253.5 million for the six months ended June 30,

2016 based primarily on increased sales volume of our disposable sensors due to the continued growth of our installed base of customers using our G4 PLATINUM
and G5 Mobile systems and durable systems to both new and existing customers. Revenue attributable to our disposable sensors and durable systems was
approximately 70% and 30%, respectively, of total revenue, for each of the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 . Revenue from products shipped to our
distributors, which are primarily Stocking Distributors, for the six months ended June 30, 2017 was approximately $235.4 million or 75% of our revenue compared
to $184.2 million or 73% of our total revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2016 .

Cost of sales increased $8.4 million to $101.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to $92.9 million for the six months ended June 30,
2016 , primarily due to increased sales volume. The gross profit of $211.6 million , or 68% for the six months ended June 30, 2017 increased $51.0 million
compared to $160.6 million , or 63% for the same period in 2016 , primarily due to increased revenue and a decrease in warranty costs.

Research and Development. Research and development expense increased $24.9 million to $93.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017 , compared
to $68.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 . The increase was primarily due to $12.8 million in additional salaries, bonus and payroll related costs,
$5.0 million increase of expensed equipment, $2.5 million in additional share-based compensation, $2.0 million of additional clinical trial costs related to
development of our future products, and $1.2 million of additional facilities related costs.

Selling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative expense increased $40.8 million to $172.2 million for the six months ended June 30,
2017 , compared to $131.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 . The increase was primarily due to higher headcount related selling, marketing and
customer support costs to support revenue growth and the continued commercialization of our products. Significant elements of the increase in selling, general, and
administrative expenses included $19.3 million in additional salaries, bonus, and payroll related costs, $9.1 million of additional marketing costs, $4.6 million in
additional consulting fees, $2.6 million of additional software license costs, and $1.5 million in additional share-based compensation costs.

Interest Expense. Interest expense was $3.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2017 compared to $0.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016
and is related to our 2022 Notes and Revolving Credit Agreement. The increase was primarily due to an additional $2.4 million of interest expense related to the
2022 Notes.

Income Tax Benefit. Income tax benefit was $15.9 million on a pre-tax loss of $54.7 million , resulting in an effective tax rate of approximately 29% for the
six months ended June 30, 2017 , compared to income tax expense of $0.1 million on a pre-tax loss of $39.3 million and a negative effective tax rate of 0.3% for
the six months ended June 30, 2016 . The current period benefit is primarily attributable to an income tax benefit for current year losses, as the deferred tax liability
created by the issuance of convertible debt is considered a source of income to recognize the tax benefit of the current year loss. The tax benefit is offset by
withholding and other income tax expense in profitable jurisdictions. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
We have incurred losses since our inception in May 1999. As of June 30, 2017 , we had an accumulated deficit of $660.4 million and had working capital of

$551.7 million . To date, we have funded our operations primarily through offerings of equity securities and debt, and the sales of our products.
In June 2016, we entered into a $200.0 million Credit Agreement, including a subfacility of up to $10.0 million for letters of credit, of which $5.6 million is

still available. The revolving loans under the Credit Agreement will be available for general corporate purposes, including working capital and capital expenditures.
On March 3, 2017 we drew $75.0 million on the Credit Agreement under a six month term and we repaid the entire principal balance on May 19, 2017. As of
June 30, 2017 we had no outstanding borrowings under the Credit Agreement, and $200.0 million under the Credit Agreement remains available.

In May 2017, we completed an offering of $350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 0.75% convertible senior notes due 2022 (the "2022 Notes") and, in
June 2017 the initial purchasers exercised their option to purchase an additional $50.0 million aggregate principal amount. The 2022 Notes have a stated interest
rate of 0.75% and a maturity date of May 15, 2022 . Holders may elect to convert any time after February 15, 2022 for shares. The 2022 Notes may be settled in
cash, stock, or a combination thereof, solely at our discretion. We used a portion of the net proceeds of the offering of the 2022 Notes to repay $75.0 million of
borrowings under our existing credit facility. The remainder of the proceeds are available for general corporate purposes and capital expenditures, including
working capital needs and buildout of our manufacturing facility in Arizona. We may also use the net proceeds to expand our current business through in-licensing
or acquisitions of, or investments in, other businesses, products or technologies; however, we do not have any commitments with respect to any such acquisitions
or investments at this time.

Our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities totaled $496.6 million as of June 30, 2017 . Our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities
portfolio is primarily denominated in U.S. dollars and consists of investment grade, highly liquid securities of various holdings including obligations of U.S.
government sponsored enterprises, commercial paper, corporate debt, and money market funds. The change in our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities
during the six months ended June 30, 2017 was due to the factors described in the “Cash Flow Summary” below.

Cash Flow Summary
The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated (in millions):

 
Six Months Ended  

 June 30,  Change

 2017  2016   
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 14.6  $ 19.9  $ (5.3)
Net cash used in investing activities $ (106.7)  $ (20.8)  $ (85.9)
Net cash provided by financing activities $ 394.7  $ 2.5  $ 392.2

As of June 30, 2017 , we had $395.9 million of cash and cash equivalents compared to $94.5 million as of December 31, 2016 , an increase of $301.4 million
. The cash flows during the six months ended June 30, 2017 were related primarily to the following items:

Cash inflows:
• Net cash provided by operating activities of $14.6 million comprised of net loss of $38.8 million , offset by $54.6 million of net non-cash expenses.

Non-cash expenses of $71.7 million were primarily related to share-based compensation, depreciation and amortization, and non-cash interest
expense related to our senior convertible notes, and were partially offset by $17.1 million of deferred tax benefits related to our senior convertible
notes.

• Proceeds from issuance of common stock of $5.7 million pursuant to the exercise of then-outstanding stock options.
• Proceeds from short-term borrowings of $75.0 million .
• Proceeds from issuance of senior convertible notes, net of issuance costs, of $389.0 million .

Cash outflows:
• Capital expenditures of $34.9 million primarily related to purchase of manufacturing equipment, facility related build-outs and office equipment.
• Net cash outflow of $71.8 million as a result of marketable securities transactions.
• Repayment of short-term borrowings of $75.0 million .
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Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities . The decrease in cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to a decrease of $5.5 million in non-
cash expenses, offset by $0.6 million in lower net loss. The decrease in non-cash expenses was due to $17.1 million deferred tax benefit for the quarter ended
June 30, 2017 related to our senior convertible notes, partially offset by an increase in share-based compensation and non-cash interest expense related to our senior
convertible notes.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities. The change in cash used in investing activities was primarily due to $72.6 million net cash used as a result of
marketable securities transactions and an additional $12.9 million to purchase equipment to support facility related build-outs, manufacturing equipment and
information technology infrastructure.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities . The increase in cash provided by financing activities was due to $389.0 million proceeds from the issuance of
senior convertible notes, net of issuance costs, and $0.9 million increase in proceeds from the issuance of common stock pursuant to the exercise of then-
outstanding stock options.

Operating Capital and Capital Expenditure Requirements
We anticipate that we will continue to incur operating losses as we incur expenses and expand the commercialization of our approved products domestically

and internationally, develop additional continuous glucose monitoring products, and expand our marketing, manufacturing and corporate infrastructure.

We believe that our cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities balances, projected cash contributions from our commercial operations and $200.0 million
available under our Credit Agreement, of which $200.0 million remains available, will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash requirements with respect to the
continued scale-up of our commercialization activities, research and development activities, including clinical trials, the expansion of our marketing, manufacturing
and corporate infrastructure, and to meet our other anticipated cash needs through at least June 30, 2018 . If our available cash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, or if we develop additional products or new markets for our existing products, we may seek to sell
additional equity or debt securities or obtain an additional credit facility. The sale of additional equity and debt securities may result in additional dilution to our
stockholders. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of debt securities or preferred stock, these securities could have rights senior to those of our
common stock and could contain covenants that would restrict our operations. We may require additional capital beyond our currently forecasted amounts. Any
such required additional capital may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all. Additionally, we cannot guarantee that we will be successful in obtaining
additional cash contributions from future partnership arrangements. Our ability to transition to, and maintain profitable operations is dependent upon achieving a
level of revenues adequate to support our cost structure. If events or circumstances occur such that we do not meet our operating plan as expected, or if we are
unable to obtain additional financing, we may be required to reduce planned increases in compensation related expenses or other operating expenses related to
research, development, and commercialization activities, which could have an adverse impact on our ability to achieve our intended business objectives.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the development of continuous glucose monitoring technologies, we are unable to estimate
the exact amounts of capital outlays and operating expenditures associated with our current and anticipated clinical trials. Our future funding requirements will
depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:

• the revenue generated by sales of our approved products and other future products;
• the expenses we incur in manufacturing, developing, selling and marketing our products;
• the quality levels of our products and services;
• the third-party reimbursement of our products for our customers;
• our ability to efficiently scale our manufacturing operations to meet demand for our current and any future products;
• the costs, timing and risks of delays of additional regulatory approvals;
• the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights;
• the rate of progress and cost of our clinical trials and other development activities;
• the success of our research and development efforts;
• the emergence of competing or complementary technological developments;
• the terms and timing of any collaborative, licensing and other arrangements that we may establish; and
• the acquisition of businesses, products and technologies and our ability to integrate and manage any acquired businesses, products and technologies.

Contractual Obligations
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We are party to various purchase arrangements related to components used in manufacturing and research and development activities. As of June 30, 2017 ,
we had firm purchase commitments with certain vendors totaling approximately $70.7 million due within one year. There are no material purchase commitments
due beyond one year.

We are party to various leasing arrangements as described in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in
Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 and Note 4 to our Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-Q.
We have not entered into any significant new leasing arrangements during the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 .

The following table summarizes our outstanding contractual obligations as of June 30, 2017 and the effect those obligations are expected to have on our
liquidity and cash flows in future periods (in millions):  

Contractual Obligations:  Total  

Less
than

1 Year  
1-3

Years  
3-5

Years  

More
than

5 Years
Operating leases  $ 60.6  $ 4.2  $ 20.7  $ 22.7  $ 13.0
Senior convertible notes (1)  415.0  3.0  9.0  403.0  —
Purchase commitments  70.7  70.7  —  —  —

Total  $ 546.3  $ 77.9  $ 29.7  $ 425.7  $ 13.0

(1) Senior convertible notes were issued in May and June 2017 which are due in May 2022, obligations include both principal and interest. Although these notes mature in
2022, they may be converted into cash and shares of our common stock prior to maturity if certain conditions are met. Any conversion prior to maturity can result in
repayment of the principal amounts sooner than scheduled repayment as indicated in the table. See Note 4 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of
the terms of the senior convertible notes.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have not engaged in any off-balance sheet activities.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated financial statements, which we have prepared in

accordance with U.S. GAAP . The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements as well as the reported
revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments. We base our estimates on historical experience
and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.

Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016. Our accounting policies and estimates which are most critical to a full understanding and evaluation of our reported
financial results are described in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in Item 7 of our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016. There were no material changes to our critical accounting policies during the six months ended June 30,
2017 .

Recent Accounting Guidance

I n May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued authoritative guidance for Revenue from Contracts with Customers, to supersede
nearly all existing revenue recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP. The core principle of the guidance is to recognize revenues when promised goods or services
are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration that is expected to be received for those goods or services. The guidance defines a five step
process to achieve this core principle and it is possible when the five step process is applied, more judgment and estimates may be required within the revenue
recognition process than required under existing U.S. GAAP, including identifying performance obligations in the contract, estimating the amount of variable
consideration to include in the transaction price and allocating the transaction price to each separate performance obligation. The updated standard permits the use
of either the retrospective or
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modified retrospective transition method and is effective for us in our first quarter of 2018. We are currently in the process of completing the initial assessment of
the impact that this new revenue recognition standard will have on our consolidated financial statements. As part of the initial assessment, we are reviewing a
representative sample of contracts across our various streams of revenue and geographies to identify potential differences that could result from applying the
requirements of the new standard. The analysis includes identifying whether there may be differences in timing of revenue recognition under the new standard as
well as assessing performance obligations, variable consideration and contract costs. We have not yet estimated the impact, if any, of the new standard on the
timing and pattern of our revenue recognition. We will continue to evaluate the future impact and method of adoption of ASU 2014 -09 and related amendments on
the Consolidated Financial Statements and related disclosures throughout 2017.

In July 2015, the FASB issued guidance to change the subsequent measurement of inventory from lower of cost or market to lower of cost and net realizable
value. The guidance requires that inventory accounted for under the first-in, first-out (FIFO) or average cost methods be measured at the lower of cost and net
realizable value, where net realizable value represents the estimated selling price of inventory in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs
of completion, disposal, and transportation. The guidance was effective for us in the first quarter of fiscal 2017 with no material impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”), which require a lessee to recognize a lease payment liability and a
corresponding right of use asset on their balance sheet for all lease terms longer than 12 months, lessor accounting remains largely unchanged. ASU 2016-02 is
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning on or after December 15, 2018 and early adoption is permitted. We are currently
evaluating the effect this guidance will have on our consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718) (“ASU 2016-09”), which is intended to simplify several
areas of accounting for share-based payment arrangements. The amendments in this update cover such areas as the recognition of excess tax benefits and
deficiencies, the classification of those excess benefits on the statement of cash flows, an accounting policy election for forfeitures, the amount an employer can
withhold to cover income taxes and still qualify for equity classification and the classification of those taxes paid on the statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-09 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods. We will prospectively adopt this standard beginning
in the first quarter of 2017. We have excess tax benefits for which a benefit could not be previously recognized of approximately $161.0 million. Upon adoption the
balance of the unrecognized excess tax benefits will be reversed with the impact recorded to (accumulated deficit) retained earnings, including any change to the
valuation allowance as a result of the adoption. Due to the full valuation allowance on the U.S. deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2016, we do not expect any
impact to the financial statements as a result of this adoption in the first quarter of 2017.

We have excess tax benefits for which a benefit could not be previously recognized of approximately $161.0 million . Upon adoption, we recognized the
previously unrecognized excess tax benefits of $161.0 million deferred tax assets with an offsetting increase in our valuation allowance using a modified
retrospective method through a cumulative effect adjustment to the accumulated deficit, with no net impact on our financial statements.  All excess tax benefits and
all tax deficiencies generated in the current and future periods will be recognized prospectively and recorded as income tax benefit or expense in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations in the reporting period in which they occur. Until such time that we release our valuation allowance against deferred tax assets, the tax
impact of any excess tax benefits and deficiencies will be offset with the change in our valuation allowance. In addition, we elected to account for forfeitures as
they occur with the change applied on a modified retrospective basis with a cumulative effect adjustment to accumulated deficit of $0.6 million . Due to the full
valuation allowance on the U.S. deferred tax assets, we have determined that none of the provisions of ASU 2016-09 will have a significant impact our 2017
consolidated financial statements.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16, Accounting for Income Taxes - Intra-Entity Asset Transfer other than Inventory (Topic 740) ("ASU 2016-
16), which would require the recognition of the tax expense from the sale of an asset other than inventory when the transfer occurs, rather than when the asset is
sold to a third party or otherwise recovered through use. The new guidance is effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The amendment should be applied on a modified retrospective basis through
a cumulative-effect adjustment directly to retained earnings as of the beginning period of adoption. We are considering the impact the adoption of ASU 2016-16
may have on our consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Risk
The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve our capital for the purpose of funding operations while at the same time maximizing the

income we receive from our investments without significantly increasing risk. To achieve these objectives, our investment policy allows us to maintain a portfolio
of cash equivalents and short-term investments in a variety of securities, including money market funds, U.S. Treasury debt and corporate debt securities. Due to
the short-term nature of our investments, we believe that we have no material exposure to interest rate risk.

Foreign Currency Risk
A substantial portion of our operations are located in the United States, and the majority of our sales since inception have been made in United States dollars.

Accordingly, we have assessed that we do not have any material net exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations at this time. However, as our business
in markets outside of the United States continues to increase, we will be exposed to foreign currency exchange risk related to our foreign operations. Fluctuations in
the rate of exchange between the United States dollar and foreign currencies, primarily the British Pound, the Euro and the Swiss Franc, could adversely affect our
financial results, including our revenues, revenue growth rates, gross margins, income and losses as well as assets and liabilities.

We do not currently engage in hedging or similar transactions to reduce our foreign currency risks. We will continue to monitor and evaluate our internal
processes relating to foreign currency exchange, including the potential use of hedging strategies.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Regulations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 require public companies to maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” which are defined to

mean a company’s controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that it files or submits under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is accumulated and timely communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial
Officer, recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Interim Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this



report of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on their evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Interim Chief Financial Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective for this purpose.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during our last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to

materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitation on Effectiveness of Controls
It should be noted that any system of controls, however well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the

objectives of the system are met. The design of any control system is based, in part, upon the benefits of the control system relative to its costs. Control systems can
be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. In addition, over time,
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of these
and other inherent limitations of control systems, there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future
conditions, regardless of how remote.
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PART II OTHER INFORMATION  
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On March 28, 2016, AgaMatrix, Inc. filed a patent infringement lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the District of Oregon, asserting that
certain of our products infringe certain patents held by AgaMatrix. On June 6, 2016, AgaMatrix filed a First Amended Complaint asserting the same three patents.
On August 25, 2016, we filed petitions for inter partes review with the Patent Trial and Appeal Board of the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office seeking a
determination that two of the three asserted patents are invalid under the U.S. patent law and those petitions were granted on March 6, 2017. Based on those grants,
most activity in the patent infringement lawsuit against us in the District of Oregon was stayed until the inter partes review of the Patent Trial and Appeal Board is
completed. On March 8, 2017, we filed a petition for inter partes review with the Patent Trial and Appeal Board seeking a determination that the third of the three
asserted patents is invalid under U.S. patent law. This petition is still pending. It is our position that AgaMatrix’s assertions of infringement have no merit. On
August 6, 2016, DexCom filed a patent infringement lawsuit in the United States Central District Court of California, asserting certain AgaMatrix products
infringed a patent held by DexCom. On September 30, 2016 DexCom filed a First Amended Complaint asserting the same patent. DexCom believes certain
AgaMatrix single-point blood glucose monitoring products infringe the asserted patent. Neither the outcome of the litigation nor the amount and range of potential
fees associated with the litigation can be assessed at this time. As of June 30, 2017 , no amounts have been accrued in respect of this litigation.

We are subject to various claims, complaints and legal actions that arise from time to time in the normal course of business, including commercial insurance,
product liability and employment related matters. In addition from time to time, we may bring claims or initiate lawsuits against various third parties with respect
to matters arising out of the ordinary course of our business, including commercial and employment related matters. We do not believe we are party to any
currently pending legal proceedings, the outcome of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. There
can be no assurance that existing or future legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business or otherwise will not have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operations.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our short and long-term success is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, many of which involve factors that are difficult to predict or beyond our
control. Before making a decision to invest in, hold or sell our common stock, stockholders and potential stockholders should carefully consider the risks and
uncertainties described below, in addition to the other information contained in or incorporated by reference into this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as well as
the other information we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. If any of the following risks are realized, our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that case, the value of our common stock could decline and stockholders may lose all or
part of their investment. Furthermore, additional risks and uncertainties of which we are currently unaware, or which we currently consider to be immaterial,
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Refer to our disclaimer regarding forward-looking statements at
the beginning of our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Factors that May Affect our Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Risks Related to Our Business

We have incurred losses since inception and anticipate that we will incur continued losses in the future.
We have incurred operating losses in each year since our inception in May 1999, including operating losses of $38.8 million for the six months ended

June 30, 2017 . As of June 30, 2017 , we had an accumulated deficit of $660.4 million . We have financed our operations primarily through private and public
offerings of equity securities and debt, and the sales of our products. We have devoted substantial resources to:

• research and development relating to our continuous glucose monitoring systems;
• sales and marketing and manufacturing expenses associated with the commercialization of our G4 PLATINUM and G5 Mobile systems; and
• expansion of our workforce.
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We expect our research and development expenses to increase in connection with our clinical trials and other development activities related to our products,
including our next generation sensors, transmitters and sensor augmented insulin pumps, as well as other collaborations. We also expect that our general and
administrative expenses will continue to increase due to the additional operational and regulatory burdens applicable to public healthcare and medical device
companies. As a result, we expect we may continue to incur operating losses in the future. These losses, among other things, have had and will continue to have an
adverse effect on our stockholders' equity.

If we are unable to continue the development of an adequate sales and marketing organization, or if our direct sales organization is not successful, we may
have difficulty achieving market awareness and selling our products.

To achieve commercial success for the G4 PLATINUM and G5 Mobile systems and our future products, we must continue to develop and grow our sales
and marketing organization and enter into partnerships or other arrangements to market and sell our products. Developing and managing a direct sales organization
is a difficult, expensive and time consuming process. To be successful we must:

• recruit and retain adequate numbers of effective and experienced sales personnel;
• effectively train our sales personnel in the benefits and risks of our products;
• establish and maintain successful sales, marketing and education programs that educate endocrinologists, physicians and diabetes educators so they can

appropriately inform their patients about our products; and
• manage geographically dispersed sales and marketing operations.
We currently employ a direct sales force to market our products in the United States and are building a direct sales force in Canada and certain countries in

Europe. Our direct sales force calls directly on healthcare providers and people with diabetes throughout the applicable country to initiate sales of our products. Our
sales organization competes with the experienced, larger and well-funded marketing and sales operations of our competitors. We may not be able to successfully
manage our dispersed sales force, or increase our product sales at acceptable rates.

We have also entered into distribution arrangements to leverage existing distributors already engaged in the diabetes marketplace. Our United States
distribution partnerships are focused on accessing underrepresented regions and, in some instances, third-party payors that contract exclusively with distributors.
Our European and other international distribution partners call directly on healthcare providers and patients to market and sell our products in Canada, Australia,
New Zealand, and portions of Europe, Asia, Latin America, the Middle East and Africa. Because of the competition for their services, we may be unable to partner
with or retain additional qualified distributors. Further, we may not be able to enter into agreements with distributors on commercially reasonable terms, if at all.
Our distributors might not have the resources to continue to support our recent rapid growth.

We may require additional funding to continue the commercialization of our G4 PLATINUM and G5 Mobile systems, or the development and
commercialization of our future generation and other continuous glucose monitoring systems, including our sensor augmented insulin pump systems
developed in collaboration with Animas and Tandem and our collaboration with Verily (formerly Google Life Sciences).

Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. We expect to continue to spend substantial amounts on commercializing our
products, including growth of our manufacturing capacity, and on research and development, including conducting clinical trials for our next generation
ambulatory continuous glucose monitoring sensors and systems. Although we recently raised $389.0 million in net proceeds through the private sale of our
convertible notes, $75.0 million of which was used to repay our credit facility, and now have $200.0 million available to us under our credit facility, we may need
additional funds to continue the commercialization of our current products and to develop and commercialize our next generation sensors and systems. Additional
financing may not be available on a timely basis on terms acceptable to us, or at all. Any additional financing may be dilutive to stockholders or may require us to
grant a lender a security interest in our assets. The amount of funding we may need will depend on many factors, including:

• the revenue generated by sales of our products and other future products;
• the costs, timing and risks of delay of additional regulatory approvals;
• the expenses we incur in manufacturing, developing, selling and marketing our products;
• our ability to scale our manufacturing operations to meet demand for our current and any future products;
• the costs to produce our continuous glucose monitoring systems;
• the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights;
• the rate of progress and cost of our clinical trials and other development activities;
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• the success of our research and development efforts;
• the emergence of competing or complementary technologies;
• the terms and timing of any collaborative, licensing and other arrangements that we may establish;
• the cost of ongoing compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and third party payors' policies;
• the cost of obtaining and maintaining regulatory or payor clearance or approval for our current or future products including those integrated with other

companies' products; and
• the acquisition of businesses, products and technologies, although we currently have no commitments or agreements relating to any of these types of

transactions.

If adequate funds are not available, we may not be able to commercialize our products at the rate we desire and we may have to delay development or
commercialization of our other products or license to third parties the rights to commercialize products or technologies that we would otherwise seek to
commercialize. We also may have to reduce sales, marketing, customer support or other resources devoted to our products. Any of these factors could harm our
financial condition.

If we are unable to establish adequate sales, marketing and distribution capabilities or enter into and maintain arrangements with third parties to sell, market
and distribute our products, our business may be harmed.

We have entered into distribution arrangements to leverage established distributors already engaged in the diabetes marketplace. We have entered into
distribution agreements with Byram and Edgepark , pursuant to which we generated approximately 15% and 11% respectively, of our total revenue during the six
months ended June 30, 2017 . We cannot guarantee that these relationships will continue or that we will be able to maintain this volume of sales from these
relationships in the future. A substantial decrease or loss of these sales could have a material adverse effect on our operating performance. To the extent that we
enter into additional arrangements with third parties to perform sales, marketing, distribution and billing services in the United States, Europe or other countries,
our product margins could be lower than if we directly marketed and sold our products. To the extent that we enter into co-promotion or other marketing and sales
arrangements with other companies, any revenue received will depend on the skills and efforts of others, and we cannot predict whether these efforts will be
successful. In addition, market acceptance of our products by physicians and people with diabetes in Europe or other countries will largely depend on our ability to
demonstrate their relative safety, efficacy, reliability, cost-effectiveness and ease of use. If we are unable to do so, we may not be able to generate product revenue
from our sales efforts in Europe or other countries. Finally, if we are unable to establish and maintain adequate sales, marketing and distribution capabilities,
independently or with others, we may not be able to generate adequate product revenue and may not become profitable.

Although many third-party payors have adopted some form of coverage policy on continuous glucose monitoring devices, our products do not yet have simple
broad-based contractual coverage with most third-party payors and we frequently experience administrative challenges in obtaining reimbursement for our
customers. If we are unable to obtain adequately broad reimbursement at acceptable prices for our products or any future products from third-party payors, we
will be unable to generate significant revenue.

As a medical device company, reimbursement from Medicare, other national healthcare systems, and private third-party healthcare payors is an important
element of our success. In January 2017, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, established a classification of “Therapeutic Continuous Glucose
Monitors” as durable medical equipment under Medicare Part B, subject to payment by Medicare under certain coverage conditions to be determined by CMS, by
local Medicare Administrative Contractors or on a patient claim by claim basis. This is a decision we had pursued for many years and which was made possible by
the FDA’s decision in December 2016 to approve a non-adjunctive indication, or use, for our G5 Mobile system. In March 2017, CMS Medicare Administrative
Contractors issued interim instructions for individual claim adjudication providing instructions and billing codes for the reimbursement of individual claims for
therapeutic CGM reimbursement that apply to our G5 Mobile system and in May 2017, CMS Medicare Administrative Contractors issued a revision to an existing
joint Local Coverage Determination, or LCD, which establishes the Medicare conditions of coverage for therapeutic CGM. Similarly, in September 2016,
Germany's Federal Joint Committee agreed to provide reimbursement for continuous glucose monitoring systems under certain conditions which we believe are
met by our G4 Platinum and G5 Mobile systems.

A number of regulatory and commercial hurdles remain relating to wide scale sales to Medicare beneficiaries. If we are unable to successfully address these
hurdles, reimbursement of our products may be limited to a smaller subset of people with diabetes covered by Medicare or to those people with diabetes covered by
third-party payors that have adopted policies for CGM devices allowing for coverage of these devices if certain conditions are met. Adverse coverage or
reimbursement decisions relating to our products by CMS, its Medicare Administrative Contractors, other state or federal payors, and/or third-party commercial
payors could significantly reduce reimbursement, which could have an impact on the acceptance of, and
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demand for, our products and the prices that our customers are willing to pay for them.
As of August 1, 2017 , the seven largest private third-party payors, in terms of the number of covered lives, have issued coverage policies for the category of

CGM devices. In addition, we have negotiated contracted rates with all seven of those third-party payors for the purchase of our products by their members.
However, people with diabetes without insurance that covers our products will have to bear the financial cost of them. In the United States, people with diabetes
using existing single-point finger stick devices are generally reimbursed all or part of the product cost by Medicare or other third-party payors. The commercial
success of our products in both domestic and international markets will substantially depend on whether timely and comprehensive third-party reimbursement is
widely available for individuals that use them. While many third-party payors have adopted some form of coverage policy on CGM devices, typically, though not
exclusively, under durable medical equipment benefits, those coverage policies frequently require significant medical documentation in order for policy holders to
obtain reimbursement, and as a result, we have difficulty improving the efficiency of our customer service group. Moreover, it is not uncommon for federal and/or
state agencies and their contractors to conduct periodic routine billing and compliance reviews that may entail extensive documentation requests, cooperation with
which may require significant time and resources.

In addition, Medicare, Medicaid, health maintenance organizations and other third-party payors are increasingly attempting to contain healthcare costs by
limiting both coverage and the level of reimbursement of new medical devices, and, as a result, they may not cover or provide adequate payment for our products.
In order to obtain additional reimbursement arrangements, including under pharmacy benefits, we may have to agree to a net sales price lower than the net sales
price we might charge in other sales channels. Our revenue may be limited by the continuing efforts of government and third-party payors to contain or reduce the
costs of healthcare through various increasingly sophisticated means, such as requiring prospective reimbursement and second opinions, purchasing in groups, or
redesigning benefits. We are unable to predict what effect the current or any future healthcare reform will have on our business, or the effect these matters will
have on our customers. Our dependence on the commercial success of the G4 PLATINUM and G5 Mobile systems makes us particularly susceptible to any cost
containment or reduction efforts. Accordingly, unless government and other third-party payors provide adequate coverage and reimbursement for the G4
PLATINUM and G5 Mobile systems, people without coverage who have diabetes may not use our products. Furthermore, payors are increasingly basing
reimbursement rates on factors such as the efficacy of the product, and clinical outcomes associated with the product, and any factors that negatively impact the
efficacy or clinical outcomes (or cause a perception of any such negative impact), such as the results of a clinical trial, a product defect, or a product recall, could
negatively impact the reimbursement rate.

In some foreign markets, pricing and profitability of medical devices are subject to government control. In the United States, we expect that there will
continue to be federal and state proposals for similar controls. Also, the trends toward managed healthcare in the United States and legislative efforts intended to
reduce the cost of government insurance programs could significantly influence the purchase of healthcare services and products and may result in lower prices for
our products or the exclusion of our products from reimbursement programs.

Uncollectible uninsured and patient due accounts could adversely affect our results of operations.

The primary collection risks for our accounts receivable relate to the uninsured patient accounts and patient accounts for which the primary insurance carrier
has paid the amounts covered by the applicable agreement, but patient responsibility amounts (exclusions, deductibles and copayments) remain outstanding. In the
event that we are unsuccessful in collecting payments owed by patients, and/or experience increases in the amount, or deterioration in the collectability, of
uninsured and patient due accounts receivable, this could adversely affect our cash flows and results of operations. We may also be adversely affected by the
growth in patient responsibility accounts as a result of increases in the adoption of plan structures, due to evolving health care policy and insurance landscapes that
shift greater responsibility for care to individuals through greater exclusions and copayment and deductible amounts.

We may never receive approval or clearance from the FDA and other governmental agencies to market our next generation CGM systems, expanded
indications for use of current and future generation CGM systems, future software platforms, or any other products under development.

Our continuous glucose monitoring systems are classified by the FDA as premarket approval, or PMA , medical devices. The PMA process requires us to
prove the safety and efficacy of our systems to the FDA 's satisfaction. This process can be expensive, prolonged and uncertain, requires detailed and
comprehensive scientific and human clinical data, and may never result in the FDA granting a PMA . Any future system or expanded indications for use of current
generation systems will require approval of the applicable regulatory authorities. In addition, we intend to seek either 510(k) clearances or PMA approvals for
certain changes and modifications to our existing software platform, but cannot predict when, if ever, those changes and modifications will be approved.
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A new 510(k) clearance or PMA is required for any modification to a 510(k)-cleared device that could significantly affect its safety or effectiveness, or that
constitutes a major change in its intended use, design, or manufacture. FDA may disagree with our assessment of whether a new clearance or approval is required if
we modify our products. If we do not seek a new clearance or approval when they believe one was necessary, they could order us to stop marketing or recall the
product, and they could seek a seizure, injunction, criminal prosecution, or take other enforcement action.
The FDA can refuse to grant a 510(k) clearance or delay, limit or deny approval of a PMA application or supplement for many reasons, including:

• the system may not be deemed by the FDA to be substantially equivalent to appropriate predicate devices;
• the system may not satisfy the FDA 's safety or efficacy requirements;
• the data from pre-clinical studies and clinical trials may be insufficient to support approval;
• the manufacturing process or facilities used may not meet applicable requirements; and
• changes in FDA approval policies or adoption of new regulations may require additional data.

Even if approved or cleared by the FDA or foreign regulatory agencies, future generations of our CGM systems, expanded indications for use of current and
future generation CGM systems, our software platform or any other continuous glucose monitoring system under development, may not be approved or cleared for
the indications that are necessary or desirable for successful commercialization. We may not obtain the necessary regulatory approvals or clearances to market
these continuous glucose monitoring systems in the United States or outside of the United States. Any delay in, or failure to receive or maintain, approval or
clearance for our products could prevent us from generating revenue from these products or achieving profitability. The uncertain timing of regulatory approvals
for future generations of our products could subject our current inventory to excess or obsolescence charges, which could have an adverse effect on our operating
results.

If we are unable to successfully complete the pre-clinical studies or clinical trials necessary to support additional PMA  or 510(k) applications or supplements,
we may be unable to commercialize our continuous glucose monitoring systems under development, which could impair our financial position.

To support these and any future additional PMA or 510(k) applications or supplements, we together with our partners, must successfully complete pre-
clinical studies, bench-testing, and clinical trials that will demonstrate that the product is safe and effective. Product development, including pre-clinical studies and
clinical trials, is a long, expensive and uncertain process and is subject to delays and failure at any stage. Furthermore, the data obtained from the studies and trials
may be inadequate to support approval of a PMA or 510(k) application and the FDA may request additional clinical data in support of those applications, which
may result in significant additional clinical expenses and may delay product approvals. While we have in the past obtained, and may in the future obtain, an
investigational device exemption, or IDE, prior to commencing clinical trials for our products, FDA approval of an IDE application permitting us to conduct testing
does not mean that the FDA will consider the data gathered in the trial to be sufficient to support approval of a PMA or 510(k) application or supplement, even if
the trial's intended safety and efficacy endpoints are achieved. Additionally, since 2009, the FDA has significantly increased the scrutiny applied to its oversight of
companies subject to its regulations, including 510(k) and PMA submissions, by hiring new investigators and increasing the frequency and scope of its inspections
of manufacturing facilities. The ongoing review by FDA 's Center for Devices and Radiological Health of the 510(k) process could complicate the product approval
process for certain of our and our partner’s products, although we cannot predict the effect of such procedural changes and cannot ascertain if such changes will
have a substantive impact on the approval of our products or our partners’ products. If we fail to adequately respond to any changes to the 510(k) submission
process and associated matters, our business may be adversely impacted.

Unexpected changes to the FDA or foreign regulatory approval processes could also delay or prevent the approval of our products submitted for review. For
example, as part of the 21 st Century Cures Act passed in 2016, Congress enacted several reforms that further affect medical device regulation both pre- and post-
approval. In addition, the FDA is in the process of reviewing the 510(k) approval process and criteria and has announced initiatives to improve the current pre- and
post-market regulatory processes and requirements associated with infusion pumps and other home use medical devices. As part of this effort, the FDA is
reviewing the adverse event reporting and recall processes for insulin pumps. Any change in the laws or regulations that govern the clearance and approval
processes relating to our current and future products could make it more difficult and costly to obtain clearance or approval for new products, or to produce, market
and distribute existing products. The data contained in our submission, including data drawn from our clinical trials, may not be sufficient to support approval of
our products or additional or expanded indications. Medical device company stock prices have declined significantly in certain circumstances where companies
have failed to meet expectations in regards to the timing of regulatory approval. If the FDA 's response causes product approval delays, or is not favorable for any
of our products, our stock price could decline substantially.
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The commencement or completion of any of our clinical trials may be delayed or halted, or be inadequate to support approval of a PMA or 510(k) application
or supplement, for numerous reasons, including, but not limited to, the following:

• the FDA or other regulatory authorities do not approve a clinical trial protocol or a clinical trial, or place a clinical trial on hold;
• patients do not enroll in clinical trials at the rate we expect;
• patients do not comply with trial protocols;
• patient follow-up does not occur at the rate we expect;
• patients experience adverse side effects;
• patients die during a clinical trial, even though their death may not be related to our products;
• institutional review boards, or IRBs, and third-party clinical investigators may delay or reject our trial protocol;
• third-party clinical investigators decline to participate in a trial or do not perform a trial on our anticipated schedule or consistent with the investigator

agreements, clinical trial protocol, good clinical practices or other FDA or IRB requirements;
• DexCom or third-party organizations do not perform data collection, monitoring and analysis in a timely or accurate manner or consistent with the

clinical trial protocol or investigational or statistical plans;
• third-party clinical investigators have significant financial interests related to DexCom or the study that the FDA deems to make the study results

unreliable, or DexCom or investigators fail to disclose such interests;
• regulatory inspections of our clinical trials or manufacturing facilities may, among other things, require us to undertake corrective action or suspend or

terminate our clinical trials;
• changes in governmental regulations, policies or administrative actions applicable to our trial protocols;
• the interim or final results of the clinical trial are inconclusive or unfavorable as to safety or efficacy; and
• the FDA concludes that our trial design is inadequate to demonstrate safety and efficacy.
The results of pre-clinical studies do not necessarily predict future clinical trial results, and prior clinical trial results might not be repeated in subsequent

clinical trials. Additionally, the FDA may disagree with our interpretation of the data from our pre-clinical studies and clinical trials, or may find the clinical trial
design, conduct or results inadequate to prove safety or efficacy, and may require us to pursue additional pre-clinical studies or clinical trials, which could further
delay the approval of our products. If we are unable to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our products in our clinical trials to the FDA 's satisfaction, we will be
unable to obtain regulatory approval to market our products in the United States. In addition, the data we collect from our current clinical trials, our pre-clinical
studies and other clinical trials may not be sufficient to support FDA approval, even if our endpoints are met.

We may also conduct clinical studies to demonstrate the relative or comparative effectiveness of continuous glucose monitoring devices for the treatment of
diabetes. These types of studies, which often require substantial investment and effort, may not show adequate, or any, clinical benefit for the use of continuous
glucose monitoring devices.

Health care policy changes, including U.S. health care reform legislation, may have a material adverse effect on our business.

In response to perceived increases in health care costs in recent years, there have been and continue to be proposals by the federal government, state
governments, regulators, and third-party payors to control these costs and, more generally, to reform the U.S. health care system. Certain of these proposals could
limit the prices we are able to charge for our products or the amounts of reimbursement available for our products and could limit the acceptance and availability of
our products. The adoption of some or all of these proposals could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Comprehensive healthcare legislation, signed into law in the United States in March 2010-the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by
the Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively, the “ACA”) imposes certain stringent compliance, recordkeeping, and
reporting requirements on companies in various sectors of the life sciences industry, with which we may need to comply, and enhanced penalties for non-
compliance with the new healthcare regulations. However, there are many programs and requirements under the ACA for which the consequences are not fully
understood, and it is unclear what the full impact will ultimately be from the ACA. Costs of compliance with this legislation, or any future amendments thereto,
may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The ACA also focuses on a number of Medicare provisions aimed at improving quality and decreasing costs. It is
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uncertain at this point what negative unintended consequences these provisions will have on patient access to new technologies. The Medicare provisions include
value-based payment programs, increased funding of comparative effectiveness research, reduced hospital payments for avoidable readmissions and hospital
acquired conditions, and pilot programs to evaluate alternative payment methodologies that promote care coordination, such as bundled physician and hospital
payments.

Other legal, regulatory and commercial policy influences are subjecting our industry to significant changes, and we cannot predict whether new regulations
or policies will emerge from U.S. federal or state governments, foreign governments, or third party payors. Government and commercial payors may, in the future,
consider healthcare policies and proposals intended to curb rising healthcare costs, including those that could significantly affect reimbursement for healthcare
products such as our systems. These policies have included, and may in the future include: basing reimbursement policies and rates on clinical outcomes, the
comparative effectiveness, and costs of different treatment technologies and modalities; imposing price controls and taxes on medical device providers; and other
measures. Future significant changes in the healthcare systems in the United States or elsewhere could also have a negative impact on the demand for our current
and future products. These include changes that may reduce reimbursement rates for our products and changes that may be proposed or implemented by the current
or future laws or regulations.

The ACA included an annual excise tax on the sale of medical devices equal to 2.3% of the price of the device starting on January 1, 2013, which does not
include, under Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) guidance, our existing systems as they are medical devices deemed to be generally purchased by the general
public at retail under such legislation. The Protecting Americans from Tax Hikes Act of 2015 was enacted on December 18, 2015, which suspended the medical
device excise tax until the end of 2017, but the excise tax’s status is unclear for 2018 and subsequent years, particularly in light of efforts to repeal and replace the
ACA. Under the ACA, the total cost to the medical device industry is expected to be approximately $20 billion over 10 years.

As of June, 2017, we believe that our current CGM products were exempt from the excise tax, except for our G4 PLATINUM system for professional use
which is subject to the excise tax. The current tax liability related to our G4 PLATINUM system for professional use is immaterial, but may become material in the
future. Notwithstanding our belief, if the IRS were to determine that this tax applies to any of our current or future products, our future operating results could be
harmed, which in turn could cause the price of our stock to decline. In addition, because of the uncertainty surrounding these issues, the impact of this tax has not
been reflected in our forward guidance.

Currently, the U.S. Congress is acting on legislation intended to repeal and replace the ACA. We cannot predict whether the ACA will be repealed, replaced,
or modified or how such repeal, replacement or modification may be timed or structured. As a result, we cannot quantify or predict the effect of such repeal,
replacement, or modification might have on our business and results of operations. However, any changes that lower reimbursement for our products or reduce
medical procedure volumes could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
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We conduct business in a heavily regulated industry and if we fail to comply with applicable laws and government regulations, we could become subject to
penalties or be required to make significant changes to our operations.

The healthcare industry generally, and our business specifically, is subject to extensive foreign, federal, state and local laws and regulations, including those
relating to:

• the pricing of our products and services;
• the distribution of our products and services;
• billing for services;
• the obligation to report and return identified overpayments;
• financial relationships with physicians and other referral sources;
• inducements and courtesies given to physicians and other health care providers and patients;
• labeling products;
• the characteristics and quality of our products and services;
• confidentiality, maintenance and security issues associated with medical records and individually identifiable health and other personal information;
• medical device reporting;
• prohibitions on kickbacks, also referred to as anti-kickback laws or regulations;
• any scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program;
• physician payment disclosure requirements;
• personal health information;
• privacy;
• data protection;
• mobile communications;
• false claims; and
• professional licensure.
These laws and regulations are extremely complex and, in some cases, still evolving. If our operations are found to violate any of the foreign, federal, state or

local laws and regulations which govern our activities, we may be subject to litigation, government enforcement actions, and applicable penalties associated with
the violation, potentially including civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, exclusion from participation in certain payor programs or curtailment of our
operations. Compliance obligations under these various laws are oftentimes detailed and onerous, further contributing to the risk that we could be found to be out of
compliance with particular requirements. The risk of being found in violation of these laws and regulations is further increased by the fact that many of them have
not been fully interpreted by the regulatory authorities or the courts, and their provisions are open to a variety of interpretations.

The FDA, CMS, the Office of Inspector General for the Department of Health and Human Services, the Department of Justice, states' attorneys general and
other governmental authorities actively enforce the laws and regulations discussed above. In the United States, medical device manufacturers have been the target
of numerous government prosecutions and investigations alleging violations of law, including claims asserting impermissible off-label promotion of medical
devices, payments intended to influence the referral of federal or state healthcare business, and submission of false claims for government reimbursement. While
we make every effort to comply with applicable laws, we cannot rule out the possibility that the government or other third parties could interpret these laws
differently and challenge our practices under one or more of these laws. This likelihood of allegations of non-compliance is increased by the fact that under certain
federal and state laws applicable to our business, individuals, known as relators, may bring an action alleging violations of such laws, and potentially be awarded a
share of any damages or penalties ultimately awarded to the applicable government body.

Any action against us alleging a violation of these laws or regulations, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal
expenses and divert our management's time and attention from the operation of our business.

In addition, the laws and regulations impacting or affecting our business may change significantly in the future. Any new laws or regulations may adversely
affect our business. A review of our business by courts or regulatory authorities may result in a determination that could adversely affect our operations. Also, the
regulatory environment applicable to our business may change in a way that restricts or adversely impacts our operations.
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Our failure to comply with laws, regulations and contract requirements relating to reimbursement of health care goods and services may subject us to
penalties and adversely impact our reputation, business, financial condition and cash flows.

Our products are purchased principally by individual patients, who may be eligible for insurance coverage of their devices from various third-party payors,
such as governmental programs ( e.g. , Medicare, Medicaid and comparable non-U.S. programs), private insurance plans, and managed care plans. The ability of
our customers to obtain appropriate reimbursement for products and services from third-party payors is critical because it affects which products customers
purchase and the prices they are willing to pay. As a result, our products are subject to regulation regarding quality and cost by the U.S. Department for Health &
Human Services, including CMS, as well as comparable state and non-U.S. agencies responsible for reimbursement and regulation of health care goods and
services. The principal U.S. federal laws that implicate reimbursement issues include those that prohibit (i) the filing of false or improper claims for federal
payment, known as the federal civil False Claims Act, (ii) unlawful inducements for the referral of business reimbursable under federally-funded health care
programs, known as the federal health care program Anti-Kickback Statute, and (iii) health care service providers from seeking reimbursement for providing
certain services to a patient who was referred by a physician who has certain types of direct or indirect financial relationships with the service provider, known as
the physician self-referral law, or the "Stark Law." Many states have similar laws that apply to reimbursement by state Medicaid and other government-funded
programs, as well as, in some cases, to all payors. In addition, the federal overpayment statute, as interpreted by CMS, requires the report and return of identified
overpayments received from federal health care programs within 60 days of identification and quantification, and requires the exercise of reasonable diligence to
investigate credible information regarding potential overpayments. Insurance companies can also bring a private cause of action claiming treble damages against a
manufacturer for causing a false claim to be filed under the federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, RICO. Additionally, as a manufacturer of
U.S. FDA‑approved devices reimbursable by federal healthcare programs, we are subject to the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, which requires us to
annually report certain payments and other transfers of value we make to U.S.-licensed physicians or U.S. teaching hospitals.

We may be subject to these (and other) laws regulating the provision of, and reimbursement for, health care goods and services, both in our capacity as a
medical device manufacturer and/or as a supplier of covered items and services to federal health care program beneficiaries, with respect to which items and
services we submit claims for reimbursement from such programs. The laws and regulations of health care goods and services that apply to us, including those
described above, are subject to evolving interpretations and enforcement discretion. As part of our compliance program, we have reviewed our sales contracts,
marketing materials, and billing practices (among others) to reduce the risk of non-compliance with these and other foreign, federal and state laws. If a
governmental authority was to conclude that we are not in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, we and our officers and employees could be subject to
criminal and civil penalties, including, for example, exclusion from participation as a supplier of product to beneficiaries covered by CMS. Any failure to comply
with laws, regulations or contractual requirements relating to reimbursement and health care goods and services could adversely affect our reputation, business,
financial condition and cash flows.

With respect to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, Congress and the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services Office of Inspector General, or OIG,
have established a large number of statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors. An arrangement that fits squarely into an exception or safe harbor is immune
from prosecution under the Anti-Kickback Statute. We train and educate employees and marketing representatives on the Anti-Kickback Statute and their
obligations thereunder, and we endeavor to comply with the applicable safe harbors. However, some of our arrangements, like many other common and non-
abusive arrangements, may implicate the Anti-Kickback Statute and are not covered by a safe harbor, but nevertheless do not implicate any of the statute’s
principal policy objectives and, as such, likely do not pose a material risk of program abuse or warrant the imposition of sanctions. However, we cannot offer
assurance that arrangements that do not squarely meet an exception or safe harbor will not be found to violate the Anti-Kickback Statute. Allegations of violations
of the Anti-Kickback Statute may be brought under the federal Civil Monetary Penalty Law, which requires a lower burden of proof than other fraud and abuse
laws, including the Anti-Kickback Statute.

Our financial relationships with referring physicians and their immediate family members must comply with the Stark Law by meeting an applicable
exception. We attempt to structure our relationships to meet an exception to the Stark Law, but the regulations implementing the exceptions are detailed and
complex, and we cannot assure you that every relationship complies fully with the Stark Law. Unlike the Anti-Kickback Statute, failure to meet an exception under
the Stark Law results in a violation of the Stark Law, even if such violation is technical in nature.

Additionally, if we violate the Anti-Kickback Statute or Stark Law, or if we improperly bill for our services, or retain overpayments longer than 60 days
after identification, or fail to act with reasonable diligence to investigate credible information regarding potential overpayments, we may be found to violate the
federal civil False Claims Act, either under a suit brought by the government or by a private person under a  qui tam relator, or “whistleblower,” suit.

33



Table of Contents

We could become the subject of governmental investigations, claims and litigation.
Health care companies are subject to numerous investigations by various governmental agencies. Further, under the False Claims Act, private parties have

the right to bring  qui tam , or “whistleblower,” suits against companies that submit false claims for payments to, or improperly retain overpayments from, the
government. Some states have adopted similar state whistleblower and false claims provisions. Depending upon whether the underlying conduct alleged in such
inquiries or investigations could be considered systemic, the resolution could have a material, adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, and
liquidity.

Governmental agencies and their agents, such as CMS Medicare Administrative Contractors and other CMS contractors, as well as the OIG, state Medicaid
programs, and other state and federal agencies may conduct audits of our operations, relating to covered items and services including those furnished to
beneficiaries, health care providers and distributors. Private payors may conduct similar post-payment audits, and we also perform internal audits and monitoring.
Depending on the nature of the conduct found in such audits and whether the underlying conduct could be considered systemic, the resolution of these audits could
have a material, adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and liquidity.

CMS contracts with Recovery Audit Contractors, or RACs, on a contingency fee basis to conduct post-payment reviews to detect and correct improper
payments in the fee-for-service Medicare program. The ACA expanded the RAC program’s scope to include managed Medicare plans and Medicaid claims. RAC
denials are appealable; however, there currently are significant delays in the assignment of new Medicare appeals to Administrative Law Judges, which negatively
impacts our ability to appeal RAC payment denials. In addition, CMS employs various other program integrity contractors-including zone program integrity
contractors (ZPICs), Medicaid integrity contractors (MICs), and unified program integrity contractors (UPICs)-to perform post-payment audits of claims and
identify overpayments, and state Medicaid agencies and other contractors have increased their review activities.

We are not presently aware of any governmental investigations involving our executives or us. However, any future investigations of our executives, our
managers or us could result in significant liabilities or penalties to us, as well as adverse publicity. Should we be found out of compliance with any of these laws,
regulations or programs, depending on the nature of the findings, our business, our financial position and our results of operations could be negatively impacted.

Laws and regulations governing the export of our products could adversely impact our business.
The U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control, and the Bureau of Industry and Security at the U.S. Department of Commerce,

administer certain laws and regulations that restrict U.S. persons and, in some instances, non-U.S. persons, in conducting activities, and transacting business with or
making investments in certain countries, governments, entities and individuals subject to U.S. economic sanctions. Due to our international operations, we are
subject to such laws and regulations, which are complex, restrict our business dealings with certain countries and individuals, and are constantly changing. Further
restrictions may be enacted, amended, enforced or interpreted in a manner that materially impacts our operations.

Violations of these regulations are punishable by civil penalties, including fines, denial of export privileges, injunctions, asset seizures, debarment from
government contracts and revocations or restrictions of licenses, as well as criminal fines and imprisonment. We have established procedures designed to assist
with our compliance with such laws and regulations. However, we have only limited experience dealing with these laws and regulations and we cannot guarantee
that our procedures will effectively prevent us from violating these regulations in every transaction in which we may engage. Any such violation could adversely
affect our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.

34



Table of Contents

If our manufacturing capabilities are insufficient to produce an adequate supply of product at appropriate quality levels, our growth could be limited and our
business could be harmed.

We currently have limited resources and facilities for commercially manufacturing sufficient quantities of product to meet expected demand. In the past, we
have had difficulty scaling our manufacturing operations to provide a sufficient supply of product to support our commercialization efforts. From time to time, we
have also experienced brief periods of backorder and, at times, have had to limit the efforts of our sales force to introduce our products to new customers. We have
focused significant effort on continual improvement programs in our manufacturing operations intended to improve quality, yields and throughput. We have made
progress in manufacturing to enable us to supply adequate amounts of product to support our commercialization efforts; however, we cannot guarantee that supply
will not be constrained in the future. In order to produce our products in the quantities we anticipate will be necessary to meet market demand, we will need to
increase our manufacturing capacity by a significant factor over the current level. In addition, we will have to modify our manufacturing design, reliability and
process if and when our next generation sensor technologies are approved and commercialized. There are technical challenges to increasing manufacturing
capacity, including equipment design and automation, materials procurement, manufacturing site expansion, problems with production yields and quality control
and assurance. Continuing to develop commercial-scale manufacturing facilities will require the investment of substantial additional funds and the hiring and
retention of additional management, quality assurance, quality control and technical personnel who have the necessary manufacturing experience. The scaling of
manufacturing capacity is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, and may lead to variability in product quality or reliability, increased construction timelines,
as well as resources required to design, install and maintain manufacturing equipment, among others, all of which can lead to unexpected delays in manufacturing
output. In addition, any changes to our manufacturing processes may require FDA submission and approval and our facilities may have to undergo additional
inspections by the FDA and corresponding state agencies. We may be unable to adequately maintain, develop and expand our manufacturing process and
operations or obtain FDA and state agency approval of our facilities in a timely manner or at all. If we are unable to manufacture a sufficient supply of our current
products or any future products for which we may receive approval, maintain control over expenses or otherwise adapt to anticipated growth, or if we
underestimate growth, we may not have the capability to satisfy market demand and our business will suffer.

Additionally, the production of our products must occur in a highly controlled and clean environment to minimize particles and other yield- and quality-
limiting contaminants. Weaknesses in process control or minute impurities in materials may cause a substantial percentage of defective products. If we are not able
to maintain stringent quality controls, or if contamination problems arise, our clinical development and commercialization efforts could be delayed, which would
harm our business and our results of operations.

We also require the suppliers and business partners of components or services for our products to comply with law and certain of our policies regarding
sourcing practices, but we do not control them or their practices. If any supplier or business partner violates laws or implements unethical practices, there could be
disruptions to our supply chain, cancellation of our orders, terminations of the relationship with the partner or damage to our reputation.

In the future, if our products have material defects or errors, this could result in loss or delay of revenues, delayed market acceptance, damaged reputation,
diversion of development resources, legal claims, increased insurance costs or increased service and warranty costs, any of which could harm our business. Such
defects or errors could also prompt us to amend certain warning labels or narrow the scope of the use of our products, either of which could hinder our success in
the market.

Since the first commercial launch of our products in 2006, we have had periodic field failures related to our products, including reports of sensor errors,
sensor failures, broken sensors, receiver malfunctions, audible alarms and alert failures, and transmitter failures. To comply with the FDA 's medical device
reporting requirements, we have filed reports of all such product field failures. Although we believe we have taken and are taking appropriate actions aimed at
reducing or eliminating field failures, we cannot guarantee that we will not have additional failures going forward.
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We depend upon third-party suppliers, making us vulnerable to supply problems and price fluctuations, which could harm our business.
We rely on OnCore Manufacturing Services to manufacture and supply circuit boards for our receiver and transmitter; we rely on Semiconductor Corp. to

manufacture and supply the application specific integrated circuit that is incorporated into the transmitter; we rely on DSM PTG, Inc. to manufacture certain
polymers used to synthesize our polymeric biointerface membranes for our products; and we rely on The Tech Group to supply our injection molded components.
Each of these suppliers other than OnCore is a single-source supplier. In some cases, our agreements with these and our other suppliers can be terminated by either
party upon short notice. Our contract manufacturers also rely on single-source suppliers to manufacture some of the components used in our products. Our
manufacturers and suppliers may encounter problems during manufacturing for a variety of reasons, including failure to follow specific protocols and procedures,
failure to comply with applicable regulations, failed FDA audit or inspection, equipment malfunction and environmental factors, any of which could delay or
impede their ability to meet our demand. If our single-source suppliers shift their manufacturing and assembly sites to other locations, these new sites may require
additional FDA approval and inspection. Should any such FDA approval be delayed, or such inspection require corrective action, our supply of critical components
may be constrained or eliminated. Our reliance on these outside manufacturers and suppliers also subjects us to other risks that could harm our business, including:

• we may not be able to obtain adequate supply in a timely manner or on commercially reasonable terms;
• our products are technologically complex and it is difficult to develop alternative supply sources;
• we are not a major customer of many of our suppliers, and these suppliers may therefore give other customers' needs higher priority than ours;
• our suppliers may make errors in manufacturing components that could negatively affect the efficacy or safety of our products or cause delays in

shipment of our products;
• we may have difficulty locating and qualifying alternative suppliers for our single-source supplies;
• switching components may require product redesign and submission to the FDA of a PMA supplement or possibly a separate PMA , either of which

could significantly delay production;
• our suppliers manufacture products for a range of customers, and fluctuations in demand for the products these suppliers manufacture for others may

affect their ability to deliver components to us in a timely manner;
• our suppliers may make obsolete components that are critical to our products; and
• our suppliers may encounter financial hardships unrelated to our demand for components, including those related to changes in global economic

conditions, which could inhibit their ability to fulfill our orders and meet our requirements.
 

We may not be able to quickly establish additional or replacement suppliers, particularly for our single-source components, in part because of the FDA
inspection and approval process and because of the custom nature of various parts we design. Any interruption or delay in the supply of components or materials,
or our inability to obtain components or materials from alternate sources at acceptable prices in a timely manner, could impair our ability to meet the demand of our
customers and cause them to cancel orders or switch to competitive products.

Potential long-term complications from our current or future products or other continuous glucose monitoring systems under development may not be revealed
by our clinical experience to date.

Based on our experience, complications from use of our products may include sensor errors, sensor failures, broken sensors, lodged sensors or skin irritation
under the adhesive dressing of the sensor. Inflammation or redness, swelling, minor infection, and minor bleeding at the sensor insertion site are also possible risks
with an individual's use of our products. However, if unanticipated long-term side-effects result from the use of our products or other glucose monitoring systems
we have under development, we could be subject to liability and the adoption of our systems may become more limited. With respect to our G4 PLATINUM and
G5 Mobile systems, our clinical trials have been limited to seven days of continuous use. It is possible that the results from our clinical studies and trials may not
be indicative of the clinical results obtained when we examine the patients at later dates. We cannot assure you that repeated, long-term use would not result in
unanticipated adverse effects, potentially even after the sensor is removed.
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If we or our suppliers or distributors fail to comply with ongoing regulatory requirements, or if we have unanticipated problems with our products, the products
could be subject to restrictions or withdrawal from the market.

Any product for which we obtain marketing approval will be subject to continual review and periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatory bodies,
which may include inspection of our manufacturing processes, post-approval clinical data and promotional activities for such product. The FDA 's MDR
regulations require that we report to the FDA any incident in which our product may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury, or in which our
product malfunctioned and, if the malfunction were to recur, it would likely cause or contribute to a death or serious injury.

If FDA determines that there is a reasonable probability that a device intended for human use would cause serious, adverse health consequences or death, the
agency may issue a cease distribution and notification order and a mandatory recall order. We may also decide to recall a product voluntarily if we find a material
deficiency, including unacceptable risks to health, manufacturing defects, design errors, component failures, labeling defects, or other issues. Recalls of our
products could divert attention of our management and have an adverse effect on our reputation, financial condition, and operating results.

As an example of the difficulty of complying with the regulatory requirements associated with the manufacture of our products, on February 23, 2016, we
issued a customer notification via the DexCom website and certified mail regarding the audible alarms and alerts associated with our DexCom G4 PLATINUM and
DexCom G5 Mobile receivers. This was classified as a voluntary Class 1 recall by the FDA . The issue with the audible alarms and alerts was identified as a result
of our continuous review of complaints received from our customers. A failure of the audible alarms and alerts may cause our customers to not detect a severe
hypoglycemic (low glucose) or hyperglycemic (high glucose) event. We have implemented a solution for the audible alarms and alerts issue identified in the
customer notification. We notified the FDA that we believe all required actions with respect to the customer notification have been completed. We are currently
awaiting the FDA ’s response.

We and our suppliers are also required to comply with the FDA 's Quality System Regulation, or QSR and other regulations, which cover the methods and
documentation of the design, testing, production, control, selection and oversight of suppliers or contractors, quality assurance, labeling, packaging, storage,
complaint handling, shipping and servicing of our products. The FDA enforces the QSR through unannounced inspections. We currently manufacture our products
at our headquarters facilities in San Diego, California. In these facilities we have more than 8,000 square feet of laboratory space and approximately 18,000 square
feet of controlled environment rooms. During a routine FDA post-approval facility inspection ending on November 7, 2013, the FDA issued a Form 483 with
several observations regarding DexCom MDR procedures and complaint reportability determinations. DexCom responded to the observations on November 26,
2013. On March 14, 2014, we received a warning letter from the FDA related to administrative deficiencies in filing MDRs, also referred to as the 2014 Warning
Letter. On April 2, 2014, we responded to the 2014 Warning Letter. On April 16, 2015, the FDA initiated an on-site inspection intended to both close out the 2014
Warning Letter and conduct our normal biennial quality system inspection. The FDA completed its inspection with no observations. On May 21, 2015, the FDA
issued a letter closing the 2014 Warning Letter. During a routine FDA post-market inspection ending on March 29, 2016, the FDA issued a Form 483 with one
observation regarding the DexCom MDR procedure specific to retrospective MDR filing when a change in complaint reportability is made. On April 19, 2016
DexCom responded to this observation. On June 2, 2016 we received a copy of the final Establishment Inspection Report from the FDA, which we believe reflects
the resolution of this observation without further FDA action.

Compliance with ongoing regulatory requirements can be complex, expensive and time-consuming. Failure by us or one of our suppliers or distributors to
comply with statutes and regulations administered by the FDA , competent authorities and other regulatory bodies, or failure to take adequate response to any
observations, could result in, among other things, any of the following actions:

• warning letters or untitled letters that require corrective action;
• delays in approving or refusal to approve our continuous glucose monitoring systems;
• fines and civil or criminal penalties;
• unanticipated expenditures;
• FDA refusal to issue certificates to foreign governments needed to export our products for sale in other countries;
• suspension or withdrawal of clearance or approval by the FDA or other regulatory bodies;
• product recall or seizure;
• administrative detention;
• interruption of production, partial suspension, or complete shutdown of production;
• interruption of the supply of components from our key component suppliers;
• operating restrictions;
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• court consent decrees;
• FDA orders to repair, replace, or refund the cost of devices;
• injunctions; and
• criminal prosecution.
The effect of these events can be difficult to quantify. If any of these actions were to occur, it would harm our reputation and cause our product sales and

profitability to suffer. In addition, we believe events that could be classified as reportable events pursuant to MDR regulations are generally underreported by
physicians and users, and any underlying problems could be of a larger magnitude than suggested by the number or types of MDR s filed by us. Furthermore, our
key component suppliers may not currently be or may not continue to be in compliance with applicable regulatory requirements.

Even if regulatory approval or clearance of a product is granted, the approval or clearance may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which the
product may be marketed or contain requirements for costly post-marketing testing or surveillance to monitor the safety or efficacy of the product. Later discovery
of previously unknown problems with our products, including software bugs, unanticipated adverse events or adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency,
manufacturing problems, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements such as the QSR , MDR reporting, or other post-market requirements may result in
restrictions on such products or manufacturing processes, withdrawal of the products from the market, voluntary or mandatory recalls, fines, suspension of
regulatory approvals, product seizures, injunctions, the imposition of civil or criminal penalties, or criminal prosecution. In addition, our distributors have rights to
create marketing materials for their sales of our products, and may not adhere to contractual, legal or regulatory limitations that are imposed on their marketing
efforts.

We are subject to claims of infringement or misappropriation of the intellectual property rights of others, which could prohibit us from shipping affected
products, require us to obtain licenses from third parties or to develop non-infringing alternatives, and subject us to substantial monetary damages and
injunctive relief. We may also be subject to other claims or suits.

Third parties have asserted, and may assert infringement or misappropriation claims against us with respect to our current or future products. We are aware of
numerous patents issued to third parties that may relate to aspects of our business, including the design and manufacture of continuous glucose monitoring sensors
and membranes, as well as methods for continuous glucose monitoring. Whether a product infringes a patent involves complex legal and factual issues, the
determination of which is often uncertain. Therefore, we cannot be certain that we have not infringed the intellectual property rights of such third parties or others.
Our competitors may assert that our continuous glucose monitoring systems or the methods we employ in the use of our systems are covered by U.S. or foreign
patents held by them. This risk is exacerbated by the fact that there are numerous issued patents and pending patent applications relating to self-monitored glucose
testing systems in the medical technology field. Because patent applications may take years to issue, there may be applications now pending of which we are
unaware that may later result in issued patents that our products infringe. There could also be existing patents of which we are unaware that one or more
components of our system may inadvertently infringe. As the number of competitors in the market for continuous glucose monitoring systems grows, the
possibility of inadvertent patent infringement by us or a patent infringement claim against us increases.
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On March 28, 2016, AgaMatrix, Inc. filed a patent infringement lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the District of Oregon, asserting that
certain of our products infringe certain patents held by AgaMatrix.  On June 6, 2016, AgaMatrix filed a First Amended Complaint asserting the same three patents.
On August 25, 2016, we filed petitions for inter partes review with the Patent Trial and Appeal Board of the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office seeking a
determination that two of the three asserted patents are invalid under the U.S. patent law and those petitions were granted on March 6, 2017. Based on those grants,
most activity in the patent infringement lawsuit against us in the District of Oregon was stayed until the inter partes review of the Patent Trial and Appeal Board is
completed. On March 8, 2017, we filed a petition for inter partes review with the Patent Trial and Appeal Board seeking a determination that the third of the three
asserted patents is invalid under U.S. patent law. This petition is still pending. It is our position that AgaMatrix’s assertions of infringement have no merit. On
August 6, 2016, DexCom filed a patent infringement lawsuit in the United States Central District Court of California, asserting certain AgaMatrix products
infringed a patent held by DexCom. On September 30, 2016 DexCom filed a First Amended Complaint asserting the same patent. DexCom believes certain
AgaMatrix single-point blood glucose monitoring products infringe the asserted patent. Neither the outcome of the litigation nor the amount and range of potential
fees associated with the litigation can be assessed at this time. As of June 30, 2017 , no amounts have been accrued in respect of this litigation. Any infringement or
misappropriation claim could cause us to incur significant costs, place significant strain on our financial resources, divert management's attention from our business
and harm our reputation. If the relevant patents are upheld as valid and enforceable and we are found to infringe such patents, we could be prohibited from selling
our product that is found to infringe unless we could obtain licenses to use the technology covered by the patent or are able to design around the patent. We may be
unable to obtain a license on terms acceptable to us, if at all, and we may not be able to redesign our products to avoid infringement. Even if we are able to redesign
our products to avoid an infringement claim, we may not receive FDA approval for such changes in a timely manner or at all. A court could also order us to pay
compensatory damages for such infringement, plus prejudgment interest and could, in addition, treble the compensatory damages and award attorney fees. These
damages could be substantial and could harm our reputation, business, financial condition and operating results. A court also could enter orders that temporarily,
preliminarily or permanently enjoin us and our customers from making, using, selling or offering to sell one or more of our products, or could enter an order
mandating that we undertake certain remedial activities. Depending on the nature of the relief ordered by the court, we could become liable for additional damages
to third parties.

Any adverse determination in litigation or interference proceedings to which we are or may become a party relating to patents or other intellectual property
rights could subject us to significant liabilities to third parties or require us to seek licenses from other third parties. Furthermore, if we are found to willfully
infringe third-party patents, we could, in addition to other penalties, be required to pay treble damages and/or attorneys' fees for the prevailing party. Although
patent and intellectual property disputes in the medical device area have often been settled through licensing or similar arrangements, costs associated with such
arrangements may be substantial and would likely include ongoing royalties. We may be unable to obtain necessary intellectual property licenses on satisfactory
terms. If we do not obtain any such necessary licenses, we may not be able to redesign our products to avoid infringement and any redesign may not receive FDA
approval in a timely manner or at all. Adverse determinations in a judicial or administrative proceeding or failure to obtain necessary intellectual property licenses
could prevent us from manufacturing and selling our products, which would have a significant adverse impact on our business.

In addition, from time to time, we are subject to various claims and suits arising out of the ordinary course of business, including commercial or employment
related matters. Although individually we do not expect these claims or suits to have a material adverse effect on DexCom, in the aggregate they may divert
significant time and resources from our staff.

Our inability to adequately protect our intellectual property could allow our competitors and others to produce products based on our technology, which could
substantially impair our ability to compete.

Our success and our ability to compete depend, in part, upon our ability to maintain the proprietary nature of our technologies. We rely on a combination of
patent, copyright and trademark law, and trade secrets and nondisclosure agreements to protect our intellectual property. However, such methods may not be
adequate to protect us or permit us to gain or maintain a competitive advantage. Our patent applications may not issue as patents in a form that will be
advantageous to us, or at all. Our issued patents, and those that may issue in the future, may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented, which could limit our
ability to stop competitors from marketing related products. In addition, there are numerous recent changes to the patent laws and proposed changes to the rules of
the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, which may have a significant impact on our ability to protect our technology and enforce our intellectual property rights. For
example, in September 2011, the United States enacted sweeping changes to its patent system under the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, including changes that
would transition the United States from a “first-to-invent” system to a “first-to-file” system and alter the processes for challenging issued patents. These changes
could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents.
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To protect our proprietary rights, we may in the future need to assert claims of infringement against third parties. The outcome of litigation to enforce our
intellectual property rights in patents, copyrights, trade secrets or trademarks is highly unpredictable, could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources,
and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations regardless of the final outcome of such litigation. In the event
of an adverse judgment, a court could hold that some or all of our asserted intellectual property rights are not infringed, invalid or unenforceable, and could award
attorney fees.

Despite our efforts to safeguard our unpatented and unregistered intellectual property rights, we may not succeed in doing so or the steps taken by us in this
regard may not be adequate to detect or deter misappropriation of our technology or to prevent an unauthorized third party from copying or otherwise obtaining and
using our products, technology or other information that we regard as proprietary. In addition, third parties may be able to design around our patents. Furthermore,
the laws of foreign countries may not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States.

We operate in a highly competitive market and face competition from large, well-established medical device manufacturers with significant resources, and, as a
result, we may not be able to compete effectively.

The market for glucose monitoring devices is intensely competitive, subject to rapid change and significantly affected by new product introductions and other
market activities of industry participants. In selling the G4 PLATINUM and G5 Mobile systems, we compete directly with Roche Diabetes Care, a division of
Roche Diagnostics; LifeScan, Inc., a division of Johnson & Johnson; the Diabetes Care division of Abbott Laboratories, and Panasonic Healthcare Holdings’
Ascensia Diabetes Care (formerly Bayer Diabetes Care), each of which manufactures and markets products for the single-point finger stick device market.
Collectively, these companies currently account for substantially all of the worldwide sales of self-monitored glucose testing systems.

Several companies are developing or commercializing short-term continuous or flash glucose monitoring products that compete directly with our products.
Medtronic, Inc. has filed for FDA approval to commercialize a standalone continuous glucose monitoring product called Guardian Connect. In 2015 Abbott
Diabetes Care, Inc. launched a consumer flash glucose monitoring system, FreeStyle Libre, outside the United States and has filed to receive FDA approval for this
consumer flash glucose monitoring system. Abbott received FDA approval for a blinded, professional-use version of this system in September 2016. In addition,
we believe that others, including Roche, are developing invasive and non-invasive continuous glucose monitoring systems.

Also, Medtronic, and other third parties, have developed, or are developing, insulin pumps augmented with continuous glucose monitoring systems that
provide, among other things, the ability to automate basal insulin dosing and to suspend insulin administration while the user's glucose levels are low. Medtronic
received FDA approval for its 670G insulin delivery system in September 2016 and launched this system in 2017.

Some of the companies developing or marketing competing devices are publicly traded or divisions of publicly traded companies, and these companies
possess several competitive advantages over us, including:

• significantly greater name recognition;
• established relations with healthcare professionals, customers and third-party payors;
• established distribution networks;
• additional lines of products, and the ability to offer rebates or bundle products to offer higher discounts or incentives to gain a competitive advantage;
• greater experience in conducting research and development, manufacturing, clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approval for products and marketing

approved products;
• the ability to integrate multiple products to provide additional features beyond continuous glucose monitoring; and
• greater financial and human resources for product development, sales and marketing, and patent litigation.

As a result, we may not be able to compete effectively against these companies or their products, which may adversely impact our business.
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We enter into collaborations with third parties that may not result in the development of commercially viable products or the generation of significant future
revenues.

In the ordinary course of our business, we enter into collaborative arrangements to develop new products and to pursue new markets, such as our agreements
with Animas and Tandem , to integrate our continuous glucose monitoring technology into their respective insulin delivery systems, and our agreement with Verily
to develop a series of next-generation continuous glucose monitoring products. We also have entered into an OUS Commercialization Agreement with Animas
pursuant to which Animas retains the right to develop and market outside the United States an ambulatory insulin pump that is combined with our continuous
glucose monitoring technology which has been branded the Vibe. In May 2011, we, together with Animas , received CE Mark certification for the Vibe, allowing it
to be marketed in the countries that recognize CE Mark approval. Animas received FDA approval for the Vibe system in December 2014. On September 9, 2015
Tandem received FDA approval for its sensor augmented insulin delivery system, the t:slim G4™ Insulin Pump. We entered into a development agreement with
Insulet in 2008 and again in 2015 but have not yet launched a commercial product from that collaboration. We also previously entered into a collaboration
agreement with Roche which neither resulted in a commercially viable product nor is anticipated to result in significant additional revenues for the foreseeable
future.

As a result of these development relationships, our operating results depend, to some extent, on the ability of our development partners to successfully
commercialize their insulin delivery systems. Any factors that may limit our partners’ ability to achieve widespread adoption of their systems, including
competitive pressures, technological breakthroughs for the treatment or prevention of diabetes, adverse regulatory or legal actions relating to insulin pump
products, or changes in reimbursement rates or policies of third-party payors relating to insulin pumps or similar products, could have an adverse impact on our
operating results. For example, UnitedHealthcare announced, effective July 1, 2016, that UnitedHealthcare Community Plan and Commercial members will no
longer have an in-network choice among providers of insulin pumps, and designated Medtronic as its preferred, in-network provider. We do not have a
development relationship with Medtronic, which has developed an insulin pump augmented with its proprietary continuous glucose monitoring system. The
decision by UnitedHealthcare to establish Medtronic as its preferred provider of insulin pumps could result in a material reduction in the number of insulin pumps
sold by other insulin pump manufacturers, including Animas, Tandem, and Insulet. In addition, it is possible that other large third-party payors will establish
preferred providers of insulin pumps, which may or may not include the pumps produced by our development partners.

Many of the companies that we collaborate with are also competitors or potential competitors who may decide to terminate our collaborative arrangement. In
the event of such a termination, we may be required to devote additional resources to product development and commercialization, we may need to cancel some
development programs and we may face increased competition. Additionally, similar to the agreement with Roche, collaborations may not result in the
development of products that achieve commercial success and could be terminated prior to developing any products. Former collaborators may use the experience
and insights they develop in the course of their collaborations with us to initiate or accelerate their development of products that compete with our products, which
may create competitive disadvantages for us. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that any of our collaborations will result in the successful development of a
commercially viable product or result in significant additional future revenues.

In addition, our development timelines are highly dependent on our ability to achieve clinical endpoints and regulatory requirements and to overcome
technology challenges, and may be delayed due to scheduling issues with patients and investigators, requests from institutional review boards, product performance
and manufacturing supply constraints, among other factors. In addition, support of these clinical trials requires significant resources from employees involved in
the production of our products, including research and development, manufacturing, quality assurance, and clinical and regulatory personnel. Even if our
development and clinical trial efforts succeed, the FDA may not approve the combined products or may require additional product testing and clinical trials before
approving the combined products, which would result in product launch delays and additional expense. If approved by the FDA , the combined products may not
achieve acceptance in the marketplace by physicians and people with diabetes.
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Technological breakthroughs by us or our competitors could materially impact sales of current or future generations of our products.
The glucose monitoring market is subject to rapid technological change and product innovation. Our products are based on our proprietary technology, but a

number of companies and medical researchers are pursuing new technologies for the monitoring of glucose levels. FDA or other regulators' approval of a
commercially viable continuous glucose monitor or sensor produced by one of our competitors could significantly reduce market acceptance of our systems. As
discussed above in the risk factor entitled “ We operate in a highly competitive market and face competition from large, well-established medical device
manufacturers with significant resources, and, as a result, we may not be able to compete effectively ,” several of our competitors are in various stages of
developing continuous or flash glucose monitors or sensors, including non-invasive and invasive devices, and the FDA has approved several of these competing
products. In addition, the National Institutes of Health and other supporters of diabetes research are continually seeking ways to prevent, cure or improve treatment
of diabetes. Therefore, our products may be rendered obsolete by technological breakthroughs in diabetes monitoring, treatment, prevention or cure.

In addition, in the periods leading up to the launch of new or upgraded versions of our continuous glucose monitoring products, our customers’ anticipation
of the release of those products may cause them to cancel, change or delay current period purchases of our current products, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We face the risk of product liability claims and may not be able to maintain or obtain insurance.
Our business exposes us to the risk of product liability claims that is inherent in the testing, manufacturing and marketing of medical devices, including those

which may arise from the misuse (including system hacking or other unauthorized access by third parties to our systems) or malfunction of, or design flaws in, our
products. We may be subject to product liability claims if our products cause, or merely appear to have caused, an injury. Claims may be made by customers,
healthcare providers or others selling our products. The risk of product liability claims may increase now that our G5 Mobile system has obtained indications and
approved labeling in the United States, in Canada, and in the countries utilizing the CE Mark that allow for our patients to make diabetes treatment decisions with
our CGM technology in conjunction with only two finger sticks required for calibration of the system. The risk of claims may also increase if our products are
subject to a product recall or seizure. An example of the difficulty of complying with the regulatory requirements associated with the manufacture of our products,
we issued notifications to our customers regarding the audible alarms and alerts associated with our receivers, as discussed earlier in the risk factor entitled “ If we
or our suppliers or distributors fail to comply with ongoing regulatory requirements, or if we experience unanticipated problems with our products, the products
could be subject to restrictions or withdrawal from the market. ”

Although we have product liability and clinical trial liability insurance that we believe is appropriate, this insurance is subject to deductibles and coverage
limitations. Our current product liability insurance may not continue to be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all, and, if available, the coverage may not be
adequate to protect us against any future product liability claims. Further, if additional products are approved for marketing, we may seek additional insurance
coverage. If we are unable to obtain insurance at an acceptable cost or on acceptable terms with adequate coverage or otherwise protect against potential product
liability claims, we will be exposed to significant liabilities, which may harm our business. A product liability claim, recall or other claim with respect to uninsured
liabilities or for amounts in excess of insured liabilities could result in significant costs and significant harm to our business.

We may be subject to claims against us even if the apparent injury is due to the actions of others or misuse of the device. Our customers, either on their own
or following the advice of their physicians, may use our products in a manner not described in the products' labeling and that differs from the manner in which it
was used in clinical studies and approved by the FDA . For example, our current systems are designed to be used by an individual continuously for up to seven
days, but the individual might be able to circumvent the safeguards designed into the systems and use the products for longer than seven days. Off-label use of
products by customers is common, and any such off-label use of our products could subject us to additional liability. The CE Mark and the recent HealthCanada
and FDA approvals for our G5 Mobile system include indications that allow patients to make diabetes treatment decisions based on the information generated by
such system, although both regulators still require finger stick calibrations twice per day. In addition, other regulatory agencies may in the future approve similar
diabetes treatment indications. We expect that such diabetes treatment indications could expose us to additional liability. These liabilities could prevent or interfere
with our product commercialization efforts. Defending a suit, regardless of merit, could be costly, could divert management attention and might result in adverse
publicity, which could result in the withdrawal of, or inability to recruit, clinical trial volunteers or result in reduced acceptance of our products in the market.
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We may be subject to fines, penalties and injunctions if we are determined to be promoting the use of our products for unapproved off-label uses.
Although we believe our promotional materials and training methods are conducted in compliance with FDA and other regulations, if the FDA determines

that our promotional materials or training constitutes promotion of an unapproved use, the FDA could request that we modify our training or promotional materials
or subject us to regulatory enforcement actions, including the issuance of a warning letter, injunction, seizure, civil fine and criminal penalties. It is also possible
that other federal, state or foreign enforcement authorities might take action if they consider promotional or training materials to constitute promotion of an
unapproved use, which could result in significant fines or penalties under other statutory authorities, such as laws prohibiting false claims for reimbursement.

We are subject to complex and evolving U.S. and foreign laws and regulations regarding privacy, data protection, and other matters. Many of these laws and
regulations are subject to change and uncertain interpretation, and could result in claims, changes to our business practices, monetary penalties, increased
cost of operations, or declines in user growth or engagement, or otherwise harm our business.

We are subject to a number of foreign, federal and state laws and regulations protecting the use and confidentiality of certain patient health and personal
information, including patient records, and restricting the use and disclosure of that protected information. These laws include foreign, federal and state medical
privacy laws, breach notification laws and foreign, federal and state consumer protection laws.

In addition, foreign data protection, privacy, and other laws and regulations can be more restrictive than those in the United States. For example, data
localization laws in some countries generally mandate that certain types of data collected in a particular country be stored and/or processed within that country. We
could be subject to audits in Europe and around the world, particularly in the areas of consumer and data protection, as we continue to grow and expand our
operations. Legislators and regulators may make legal and regulatory changes, or interpret and apply existing laws, in ways that make our products less useful to
our customers, require us to incur substantial costs, expose us to unanticipated civil or criminal liability, or cause us to change our business practices. These
changes or increased costs could negatively impact our business and results of operations in material ways.

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store sensitive data, such as our proprietary business information and that of our clients as well as
personally identifiable information of our customers, including full names, social security numbers, addresses, and birth dates, in our data centers and on our
networks. Our employees may also have access to, receive and use personal health information in the ordinary course of our business. The secure processing,
maintenance and transmission of this information is critical to our operations. Despite our security measures and business controls, our information technology and
infrastructure may be vulnerable to attacks by hackers, breached due to employee error, malfeasance or other disruptions or subject to the inadvertent or intentional
unauthorized release of information. Any such occurrence could compromise our networks and the information stored thereon could be accessed, publicly
disclosed, lost or stolen. Any such access, disclosure or other loss of information could (i) result in legal claims or proceedings, and liability under laws that protect
the privacy of personal information and regulatory penalties, (ii) disrupt our operations and the services we provide to our clients and (iii) damage our reputation,
any of which could adversely affect our profitability, revenue and competitive position.

Security breaches and other disruptions could compromise our information and expose us to liability, which would cause our business and reputation to suffer
and could subject us to substantial liabilities.

The Administrative Simplification Provisions of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act ("HIPAA"), as amended, and implementing
regulations, extensively regulate the use and disclosure of individually identifiable health information, known as “protected health information,” and require
covered entities, including health plans and most health care providers, to implement administrative, physical and technical safeguards to protect the security of
such information. Certain provisions of the security and privacy regulations apply to business associates (entities that handle protected health information on behalf
of covered entities), and business associates are subject to direct liability for violation of these provisions. In addition, a covered entity may be subject to penalties
as a result of a business associate violating HIPAA, if the business associate is found to be an agent of the covered entity. We are also subject to laws and
regulations in foreign countries covering data privacy and other protection of health and employee information that may be more onerous than corresponding U.S.
laws, including in particular the laws of Europe.

Covered entities must report breaches of unsecured protected health information to affected individuals without unreasonable delay and notification must also
be made to the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Office for Civil Rights (OCR) and, in certain situations involving large breaches, to the media.
Various state laws and regulations may also require us to notify affected individuals and state agencies in the event of a data breach involving individually
identifiable
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information.
Violations of the HIPAA privacy and security regulations may result in criminal and civil penalties. The U.S. Department of Health & Human Services,

Office for Civil Rights, or OCR, enforces the regulations and performs compliance audits. In addition to enforcement by OCR, state attorneys general are
authorized to bring civil actions seeking either injunction or damages in response to violations that threaten the privacy of state residents. OCR may resolve HIPAA
violations through informal means, such as allowing a covered entity to implement a corrective action plan, but OCR has the discretion to move directly to impose
monetary penalties and is required to impose penalties for violations resulting from willful neglect. We follow and maintain a HIPAA compliance plan, which we
believe complies with the HIPAA privacy and security regulations, but there can be no assurance that OCR or other regulators will agree. The HIPAA privacy
regulations and security regulations have and will continue to impose significant costs on us in order to comply with these standards.

There are numerous other laws and legislative and regulatory initiatives at the federal and state levels addressing privacy and security concerns. We remain
subject to federal or state privacy-related laws that are more restrictive than the privacy regulations issued under HIPAA. These laws vary and could impose
additional penalties. For example, the Federal Trade Commission uses its consumer protection authority to initiate enforcement actions in response to data
breaches.

In May 2018, the General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, becomes effective in the European Union. The GDPR represents a significant change in the
data privacy and security laws applicable in the European Union, and in many ways increases the requirements on companies like DexCom in complying with
European Union law. We are currently planning for that effectiveness. It is a complex regulation that will impose additional procedures, documentation and
restrictions, and as the GDPR becomes effective and its provisions are interpreted by European Union agencies, it could negatively impact our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Cybersecurity risks and cyber incidents could result in the compromise of confidential data or critical data systems and give rise to potential harm to customers,
remediation and other expenses, expose us to liability under HIPAA, consumer protection laws, or other common law theories, subject us to litigation and
federal and state governmental inquiries, damage our reputation, and otherwise be disruptive to our business and operations.

Cyber incidents can result from deliberate attacks or unintentional events. We collect and store on our networks sensitive information, including intellectual
property, proprietary business information and personally identifiable information of our customers. The secure maintenance of this information and technology is
critical to our business operations. We have implemented multiple layers of security measures to protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of this data
and the systems and devices that store and transmit such data. We utilize current security technologies, and our defenses are monitored and routinely tested
internally and by external parties. Despite these efforts, threats from malicious persons and groups, new vulnerabilities and advanced new attacks against
information systems create risk of cybersecurity incidents. These incidents can include, but are not limited to, gaining unauthorized access to digital systems for
purposes of misappropriating assets or sensitive information, corrupting data, or causing operational disruption. Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized
access, disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems change frequently and may not immediately produce signs of intrusion, we may be unable to anticipate
these incidents or techniques, timely discover them, or implement adequate preventative measures.

These threats can come from a variety of sources, ranging in sophistication from an individual hacker to malfeasance by employees, consultants or other
service providers to state-sponsored attacks. Cyber threats may be generic, or they may be custom-crafted against our information systems. Over the past several
years, cyber-attacks have become more prevalent and much harder to detect and defend against. Our network and storage applications may be vulnerable to cyber-
attack, malicious intrusion, malfeasance, loss of data privacy or other significant disruption and may be subject to unauthorized access by hackers, employees,
consultants or other service providers. In addition, hardware, software or applications we develop or procure from third parties may contain defects in design or
manufacture or other problems that could unexpectedly compromise information security. Unauthorized parties may also attempt to gain access to our systems or
facilities through fraud, trickery or other forms of deceiving our employees, contractors and temporary staff.

There can be no assurance that we will not be subject to cybersecurity incidents that bypass our security measures, impact the integrity, availability or privacy
of personal health information or other data subject to privacy laws or disrupt our information systems, devices or business, including our ability to deliver services
to our customers. As a result, cybersecurity, physical security and the continued development and enhancement of our controls, processes and practices designed to
protect our enterprise, information systems and data from attack, damage or unauthorized access remain a priority for us. As cyber threats continue to evolve, we
may be required to expend significant additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any
cybersecurity vulnerabilities. The occurrence of any of these events could result in (i) harm to customers; (ii) business interruptions and delays; (iii) the loss,
misappropriation, corruption or unauthorized access of data; (iv) litigation, including potential class action litigation, and potential liability under privacy, security
and consumer protection laws or other applicable laws; (v) reputational damage and (vi) foreign, federal and state
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governmental inquiries, any of which could have a material, adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations and harm our business reputation.

Failure to protect our information technology infrastructure against cyber-based attacks, network security breaches, service interruptions, or data corruption
could significantly disrupt our operations and adversely affect our business and operating results.

We rely on information technology and telephone networks and systems, including the Internet, to process and transmit sensitive electronic information and
to manage or support a variety of business processes and activities, including sales, billing, customer service, procurement and supply chain, manufacturing, and
distribution. We use enterprise information technology systems to record, process, and summarize financial information and results of operations for internal
reporting purposes and to comply with regulatory financial reporting, legal, and tax requirements. Our information technology systems, some of which are
managed by third-parties, may be susceptible to damage, disruptions or shutdowns due to computer viruses, ransomware or other malware, attacks by computer
hackers, failures during the process of upgrading or replacing software, databases or components thereof, power outages, hardware failures, telecommunication
failures, user errors or catastrophic events. Although we have developed systems and processes that are designed to protect customer information and prevent data
loss and other security breaches, including systems and processes designed to reduce the impact of a security breach at a third party vendor, such measures cannot
provide absolute security. If our systems are breached or suffer severe damage, disruption or shutdown and we are unable to effectively resolve the issues in a
timely manner, our business and operating results may significantly suffer and we may be subject to litigation, government enforcement actions and other actions
for which we could face financial liability and other adverse consequences which may include:

• additional government oversight of our operations;
• loss of existing customers;
• difficulty in attracting new customers;
• problems in determining product cost estimates and establishing appropriate pricing;
• difficulty in preventing, detecting, and controlling fraud;
• disputes with customers, physicians, and other health care professionals;
• increases in operating expenses, incurrence of expenses, including remediation costs;
• loss of revenues;
• product development delays;
• disruption of key business operations; and
• diversion of attention of management and key information technology resources.

The failure to comply with U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws in non-U.S. jurisdictions could materially adversely
affect our business and result in civil and/or criminal sanctions.

The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws in non-U.S. jurisdictions generally prohibit companies and their
intermediaries from making improper payments to non-U.S. government officials and, in some instances, other persons for the purpose of obtaining or retaining
business. Because of the predominance of government-sponsored healthcare systems around the world, most of our customer relationships outside of the United
States are with governmental entities and are therefore potentially subject to such anti-bribery laws. Global enforcement of anti-corruption laws has increased
substantially in recent years, with more frequent voluntary self-disclosures by companies, aggressive investigations and enforcement proceedings by U.S. and
foreign governmental agencies, and assessment of significant fines and penalties against companies and individuals. Our international operations create the risk of
unauthorized payments or offers of payments by one of our employees, consultants, sales agents, or distributors, because these parties are not always subject to our
control. It is our policy to implement safeguards to educate our employees and agents on these legal requirements and discourage improper practices. However, our
existing safeguards and any future improvements may prove to be less than effective, and our employees, consultants, sales agents, or distributors may engage in
conduct for which we might be held responsible. In addition, the government agencies may seek to hold us liable for successor liability for anti-corruption law
violations committed by any companies in which we invest or that we acquire. Any alleged or actual violations of these regulations may subject us to government
scrutiny, severe criminal or civil sanctions and other liabilities, including exclusion from government contracting, and could disrupt our business, and result in a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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The majority of our operations are conducted at five facilities in San Diego, California. Any disruption at these facilities could increase our expenses.
We take precautions to safeguard our facilities, which include manufacturing protocols, insurance, health and safety protocols, and off-site storage of

computer data. However, a natural disaster, such as a fire, flood, earthquake, an act of terrorism, cyber-attack or other disruptive event could cause substantial
delays in our operations, damage or destroy our manufacturing equipment, inventory, or records and cause us to incur additional expenses. Earthquakes are of
particular significance since our primary manufacturing facilities in California are located in an earthquake-prone area. In the event our existing manufacturing
facilities or equipment are affected by man-made or natural disasters, we may be unable to manufacture products for sale or meet customer demands or sales
projections. If our manufacturing operations were curtailed or ceased, it would seriously harm our business. The insurance we maintain against fires, floods,
earthquakes and other natural disasters and similar events may not be adequate to cover our losses in any particular case. We are currently constructing a second
facility outside of California, in Mesa, Arizona, to help mitigate these risks but we do not expect it to commence manufacturing operations until 2018 at the
earliest.

Expanded capacity in our new manufacturing facility may not be fully available until the end of 2018, which may impede or delay our ability to manufacture
one or more of our continuous glucose monitoring products in quantities sufficient to meet market demand.

Our new manufacturing facility in Mesa, Arizona, designed to manufacture current and next generation sensors and transmitters, may not be completed or
qualified in accordance with our current plans. There are risks associated with expanding our manufacturing capacity by opening such a facility that include but are
not limited to contractor issues and delays, licensing and permitting delays or rejections, limitations and delays on the installation of new or custom-ordered
equipment, issues associated with validating such equipment, and processes or other aspects of insuring GMP manufacturing. There are many aspects of the project
that rely on third party contractors and subcontractors, and we and they may encounter delays. If the Mesa facility is not completed and qualified during 2018, there
initially will be additional personnel costs and production inefficiencies that could potentially impact manufacturing. If completion was delayed significantly into
2019, we may be unable to meet anticipated demand for our CGM systems during the delay.
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Our products may not continue to achieve market acceptance.
We expect that sales of our G4 PLATINUM system, which consists of a handheld receiver, reusable transmitter and disposable sensor, and our G5 Mobile

system which consists of a handheld receiver, reusable transmitter, disposable sensors and a smartphone application that securely identifies, receives, deciphers and
displays information transmitted by the transmitter, will account for substantially all of our product revenue for the foreseeable future. If and when we receive FDA
or other regulators' approval for and begin commercialization of our next generation continuous glucose monitoring systems and sensors, we expect most patients
will migrate onto those systems. Notwithstanding our prior experience in selling our products, we might be unable to successfully expand the commercialization of
our products on a wide scale for a number of reasons, including:

• the FDA approval of our G5 Mobile system in the United States in August 2015 and the approval to sell our G5 Mobile system in the countries that
recognize our CE Mark in September 2015 means that we have relatively limited experience selling our G5 Mobile system;

• the approval for a Pediatric Indication of our G5 Mobile system in the United States in 2014 and the countries that recognize our CE Mark in 2013 means
that we have limited experience selling and marketing the G5 Mobile system to persons aged two to 17 years or their legal guardians;

• widespread market acceptance of our products by physicians and people with diabetes will largely depend on our ability to demonstrate their relative
safety, efficacy, reliability, cost-effectiveness and ease of use;

• the limited size of our sales force;
• we may not have sufficient financial or other resources to adequately expand the commercialization efforts for our products;
• our FDA and other regulatory submissions may be delayed, or approved with limited product labeling;
• we may not be able to manufacture our products in commercial quantities or at an acceptable cost;
• people with diabetes do not generally receive broad reimbursement from third-party payors for their purchase of our products since many payors require

that a policy holder meet specific medical criteria to qualify for reimbursement, which may reduce widespread use of our products;
• the uncertainties associated with establishing and qualifying new manufacturing facilities;
• except for the G5 Mobile, our systems are not labeled as a replacement for the information that is obtained from single-point finger stick devices (and

even the G5 Mobile continues to require twice-daily finger sticks for calibration);
• people with diabetes will need to incur the costs of our systems in addition to single-point finger stick devices;
• the relative immaturity of the continuous glucose monitoring market internationally, and the general absence of international reimbursement of continuous

glucose monitoring devices by third-party payors and government healthcare providers outside the United States;
• the introduction and market acceptance of competing products and technologies;
• our inability to obtain sufficient quantities of supplies at appropriate quality levels from our single-source and other key suppliers;
• our inability to manufacture products that perform in accordance with expectations of consumers; and
• rapid technological change may make our technology and our products obsolete.

Our G4 PLATINUM and G5 Mobile systems are more invasive than many other self-monitored glucose testing systems, including single-point finger stick
devices, and people with diabetes may be unwilling to insert a sensor in their body, especially if their current diabetes management involves no more than two
finger sticks per day. Moreover, people with diabetes may not perceive the benefits of continuous glucose monitoring and may be unwilling to change their current
treatment regimens. In addition, physicians tend to be slow to change their medical treatment practices because of perceived liability risks arising from the use of
new products. Physicians may not recommend or prescribe our products unless and until (i) there is more long-term clinical evidence to convince them to alter their
existing treatment methods, (ii) there are additional recommendations from prominent physicians that our products are effective in monitoring glucose levels and
(iii) reimbursement or insurance coverage is more widely available. We cannot predict when, if ever, physicians and people with diabetes may adopt more
widespread use of continuous glucose monitoring systems, including our systems. If our systems do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by people with
diabetes, physicians and healthcare payors, we may not generate significant product revenue and we may not become profitable.
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Current uncertainty in global economic and political conditions makes it particularly difficult to predict product demand and other related matters and makes
it more likely that our actual results could differ materially from expectations.

Our operations and performance depend on worldwide economic and political conditions. These conditions have been adversely impacted by continued
global economic uncertainty, political instability and military hostilities in multiple geographies, concerns over the downgrade of U.S. sovereign debt and
continued sovereign debt, monetary and financial uncertainties in Europe and other foreign countries. These include potential reductions in the overall stability and
suitability of the Euro as a single currency, given the economic and political challenges facing individual Eurozone countries. These conditions have made and may
continue to make it difficult for our customers and potential customers to afford our products, and could cause our customers to stop using our products or to use
them less frequently. If that were to occur, our revenue may decrease and our performance may be negatively impacted. In addition, the pressure on consumers to
absorb more of their own health care costs has resulted in some cases in higher deductibles and limits on durable medical equipment, which may cause seasonality
in purchasing patterns. Furthermore, during economic uncertainty, our customers have had job losses and may continue to have issues gaining timely access to
sufficient health insurance or credit, which could result in their unwillingness to purchase products or impair their ability to make timely payments to us. We
cannot predict the reoccurrence of any economic slowdown or the strength or sustainability of the economic recovery, worldwide, in the United States, or in our
industry. These and other economic factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We depend on clinical investigators and clinical sites to enroll patients in our clinical trials and other third parties to manage the trials and to perform related
data collection and analysis, and, as a result, we may face costs and delays that are outside of our control.

We rely on clinical investigators and clinical sites to enroll patients in our clinical trials and other third parties to manage the trial and to perform related data
collection and analysis. However, we may not be able to control the amount and timing of resources that clinical sites may devote to our clinical trials. If these
clinical investigators and clinical sites fail to enroll a sufficient number of patients in our clinical trials or fail to ensure compliance by patients with clinical
protocols or fail to comply with regulatory requirements, we will be unable to complete these trials, which could prevent us from obtaining regulatory approvals for
our products. Our agreements with clinical investigators and clinical sites for clinical testing place substantial responsibilities on these parties and, if these parties
fail to perform as expected, our trials could be delayed or terminated. If these clinical investigators, clinical sites or other third parties do not carry out their
contractual duties or obligations or fail to meet expected deadlines, or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to their failure
to adhere to our clinical protocols, regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated, or the clinical data may
be rejected by the FDA, and we may be unable to obtain regulatory approval for, or successfully commercialize, our products.

We may be liable for contamination or other harm caused by materials that we handle, and changes in environmental regulations could cause us to incur
additional expense.

Our research and development and clinical processes involve the handling of potentially harmful biological materials as well as hazardous materials. We are
subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, handling, storage and disposal of hazardous and biological materials and we incur
expenses relating to compliance with these laws and regulations. If violations of environmental, health and safety laws occur, we could be held liable for damages,
penalties and costs of remedial actions. These expenses or this liability could have a significant negative impact on our financial condition. We may violate
environmental, health and safety laws in the future as a result of human error, equipment failure or other causes. Environmental laws could become more stringent
over time, imposing greater compliance costs and increasing risks and penalties associated with violations. We are subject to potentially conflicting and changing
regulatory agendas of political, business and environmental groups. Changes to or restrictions on permitting requirements or processes, hazardous or biological
material storage or handling might require an unplanned capital investment or relocation. Failure to comply with new or existing laws or regulations could harm
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to a variety of market and financial risks due to our international operations that could adversely affect those operations or our profitability and
operating results.

Our operations in countries outside the United States, which accounted for approximately 18% of our revenues for the quarter ended June 30, 2017 , are
accompanied by certain financial and other risks. In addition to opening offices in the United Kingdom, Germany and Canada recently, in connection with
distributor acquisitions and otherwise, we intend to continue to pursue growth opportunities in sales outside the United States, especially in Europe, which could
expose us to greater risks associated with international sales and operations. Our profitability and international operations are, and will continue to be, subject to a
number of risks and potential costs, including:

• local product preferences and product requirements;
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• longer-term receivables than are typical in the United States;
• fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;
• less intellectual property protection in some countries outside the United States than exists in the United States;
• trade protection measures and import and export licensing requirements;
• workforce instability;
• political and economic instability; and
• the potential payment of U.S. income taxes on certain earnings of our subsidiaries outside the United States upon repatriation.
While it is impossible for us to predict whether these and other proposals will be implemented, or how they will ultimately impact us, they may materially

impact our results of operations if, for example, our profits earned abroad are subject to U.S. income tax, or we are otherwise disallowed deductions as a result of
these profits.

As another example, changes in foreign currency exchange rates may reduce the reported value of our foreign currency denominated revenues, expenses, and
cash flows. We cannot predict changes in currency exchange rates, the impact of exchange rate changes, nor the degree to which we will be able to manage the
impact of currency exchange rate changes.

As a final example, on June 23, 2016, the United Kingdom, or U.K., held a referendum in which voters approved an exit from the European Union,
commonly referred to as “Brexit.” As a result of the referendum, it is expected that the U.K. government will begin negotiating the terms of the U.K.’s future
relationship with the European Union. Although it is unknown what those terms will be, it is possible that there will be greater restrictions on imports and exports
and on the movement of people between the U.K. and European Union countries, and increased regulatory complexities.

Failure to obtain regulatory approval in foreign jurisdictions will prevent us from marketing our products abroad.
We conduct limited commercial and marketing efforts in Canada, Europe, Australia, New Zealand, Asia, Latin America, the Middle East and Africa with

respect to our continuous glucose monitoring systems and may seek to market our products in other regions in the future. Outside the United States, we can market
a product only if we receive a marketing authorization and, in some cases, pricing approval, from the appropriate regulatory authorities. The approval procedure
varies among countries and can involve additional testing, and the time required to obtain approval may differ from that required to obtain FDA approval. The
foreign regulatory approval process may include all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA approval in addition to other risks. We may not obtain foreign
regulatory approvals on a timely basis, if at all. Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries, and approval by one
foreign regulatory authority does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other foreign countries or by the FDA . In addition, in order to obtain the approval
of our products in certain foreign jurisdictions, we may need to obtain a Certificate to Foreign Government from the FDA . The FDA may refuse to issue a
Certificate to Foreign Government in certain instances, including without limitation, during the pendency of any outstanding warning letter. As a result, we may not
be able to file for regulatory approvals and may not receive necessary approvals to commercialize our products in any market outside the United States on a timely
basis, or at all.

Our success will depend on our ability to attract and retain our personnel.
We depend to a significant degree on our senior management, especially Kevin Sayer, our President and Chief Executive Officer. Our success will depend on

our ability to retain our senior management and to attract and retain qualified personnel in the future, including sales persons, scientists, clinicians, engineers and
other highly skilled personnel. Competition for senior management personnel, as well as sales persons, scientists, clinicians and engineers, is intense and we may
not be able to retain our personnel. The loss of the services of members of our senior management, scientists, clinicians or engineers could prevent the
implementation and completion of our objectives, including the commercialization of our current products and the development and introduction of additional
products. The loss of a member of our senior management or our professional staff would require the remaining executive officers to divert immediate and
substantial attention to seeking a replacement. Each of our officers may terminate their employment at any time without notice and without cause or good reason.
Additionally, volatility or a lack of positive performance in our stock price may adversely affect our ability to retain key employees.

We expect to continue to expand our operations and grow our research and development, manufacturing, sales and marketing, product development and
administrative operations. We expect this expansion to place a significant strain on our management and it will require hiring a significant number of qualified
personnel. Accordingly, recruiting and retaining such personnel will be critical to our success. There is intense competition from other companies and research and
academic institutions for qualified personnel in the areas of our activities. If we fail to identify, attract, retain and motivate these skilled personnel, we may be
unable to continue our development and commercialization activities.
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We may face risks associated with acquisitions of companies, products and technologies and our business could be harmed if we are unable to address these
risks.

If we are presented with appropriate opportunities, we could acquire or make other investments in complementary companies, products or technologies. In
May 2016, we acquired Nintamed, our distributor in Germany, Switzerland and Austria. We may not realize the anticipated benefit of our acquisitions, or the
realization of the anticipated benefits may require greater expenditures than anticipated by us. We will likely face risks, uncertainties and disruptions associated
with the integration process, including difficulties in the integration of the operations and services of any acquired company, integration of acquired technology
with our products, diversion of our management's attention from other business concerns, the potential loss of key employees or customers of the acquired
businesses and impairment charges if future acquisitions are not as successful as we originally anticipate. If we fail to successfully integrate other companies,
products or technologies that we acquire, our business could be harmed. Furthermore, we may have to incur debt or issue equity securities to pay for any future
acquisitions or investments, the issuance of which could be dilutive to our existing stockholders. In addition, our operating results may suffer because of
acquisition-related costs or amortization expenses or charges relating to acquired intangible assets.

Compliance with regulations relating to public company corporate governance matters and reporting is time consuming and expensive.
Many laws and regulations, notably those adopted in connection with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer

Protection Act, new SEC regulations and The NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules, impose obligations on public companies, such as ours, which have increased
the scope, complexity and cost of corporate governance, reporting and disclosure practices. Compliance with these laws and regulations, including enhanced new
disclosures, has required and will continue to require substantial management time and oversight and the incurrence of significant accounting and legal costs. The
effects of new laws and regulations remain unclear and will likely require substantial management time and oversight and require us to incur significant additional
accounting and legal costs. Additionally, changes to existing accounting rules or standards, such as the potential requirement that U.S. registrants prepare financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, may adversely impact our reported financial results and business, and may require us to
incur greater accounting fees.

If we are unable to successfully maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in our reported financial
information and our stock price and our business may be adversely impacted.

As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and our management is required to evaluate the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting as of the end of each fiscal year. If we are not successful in maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting, there could be inaccuracies or omissions in the consolidated financial information we are required to file with the SEC. Additionally, even if there are no
inaccuracies or omissions, we will be required to publicly disclose the conclusion of our management that our internal control over financial reporting or disclosure
controls and procedures are not effective. These events could cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, adversely impact our stock
price, result in increased costs to remediate any deficiencies, attract regulatory scrutiny or lawsuits that could be costly to resolve and distract management’s
attention, limit our ability to access the capital markets or cause our stock to be delisted from The NASDAQ Global Select Market or any other securities exchange
on which it is then listed.

We could be subject to changes in our tax rates, new U.S. or international tax legislation or additional tax liabilities.
We are subject to taxes in the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions, where a number of our subsidiaries are organized. Due to economic and

political conditions, tax rates in various jurisdictions may be subject to change. Our effective tax rates could be affected by changes in the mix of earnings in
countries with differing statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, or changes in tax laws or their interpretation, both in and
outside the United States.

Our tax returns and other tax matters also are subject to examination by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities and governmental bodies.
We regularly assess the likelihood of an adverse outcome resulting from these examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision for taxes. We cannot
guarantee the outcome of these examinations. If our effective tax rates were to increase, particularly in the United States, or if the ultimate determination of our
taxes owed is for an amount in excess of amounts previously accrued, our financial condition, operating results and cash flows could be adversely affected.
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Valuation of share-based payments, which we are required to perform for purposes of recording compensation expense under authoritative guidance for share-
based payment, involves assumptions that are subject to change and difficult to predict.

We record compensation expense in the consolidated statement of operations for share-based payments, such as employee stock options, restricted stock
units and employee stock purchase plan shares, using the fair value method. The requirements of the authoritative guidance for share-based payment have and will
continue to have a material effect on our future financial results reported under U.S. GAAP and make it difficult for us to accurately predict the impact on our
future financial results.

For instance, estimating the fair value of share-based payments is highly dependent on assumptions regarding the future exercise behavior of our employees
and changes in our stock price. If there are errors in our input assumptions for our valuations models, we may inaccurately calculate actual or estimated
compensation expense for share-based payments.

The authoritative guidance for share-based payment could also adversely impact our ability to provide accurate guidance on our future financial results as
assumptions that are used to estimate the fair value of share-based payments are based on estimates and judgments that may differ from period to period. We may
also be unable to accurately predict the amount and timing of the recognition of tax benefits associated with share-based payments as they are highly dependent on
the exercise behavior of our employees and the price of our stock relative to the exercise price of each outstanding stock option.

For those reasons, among others, the authoritative guidance for share-based payment may create variability and uncertainty in the share-based compensation
expense we will record in future periods, which could adversely impact our stock price and increase our expected stock price volatility as compared to prior
periods.

Changes in financial accounting standards or practices or existing taxation rules or practices may cause adverse unexpected revenue and/or expense
fluctuations and affect our reported results of operations.

A change in accounting standards or practices or a change in existing taxation rules or practices can have a significant effect on our reported results and may
even affect our reporting of transactions completed before the change is effective. New accounting pronouncements and taxation rules and varying interpretations
of accounting pronouncements and taxation practice have occurred and may occur in the future. The method in which we market and sell our products may have an
impact on the manner in which we recognize revenue. In addition, changes to existing rules or the questioning of current practices may adversely affect our
reported financial results or the way we conduct our business. Additionally, changes to existing accounting rules or standards, such as the potential requirement that
U.S. registrants prepare financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, may adversely impact our reported financial results
and business, and may further require us to incur greater accounting fees.

The SEC “ conflict minerals” rule has caused us to incur additional expenses, could limit the supply and increase the cost of certain metals used in
manufacturing our products, and could make us less competitive in our target markets.

We are required to disclose information related to the origin, source and chain of custody of specified minerals, known as conflict minerals, that are
necessary to the functionality or production of products manufactured or contracted to be manufactured. The requirement mandates companies to obtain sourcing
data from suppliers, engage in supply chain due diligence, and file annually with the SEC a specialized disclosure report on Form SD covering the prior calendar
year. The rule could limit our ability to source at competitive prices and to secure sufficient quantities of certain minerals (or derivatives thereof) used in the
manufacture of our products, specifically tantalum, tin, gold and tungsten, as the number of suppliers that provide conflict-free minerals may be limited. In
addition, we have incurred, and may continue to incur, material costs associated with complying with the rule, such as costs related to the determination of the
origin, source and chain of custody of the minerals used in our products, the adoption of conflict minerals-related governance policies, processes and controls, and
possible changes to products or sources of supply as a result of such activities. Within our supply chain, we may not be able to sufficiently verify the origins of the
relevant minerals used in our products through the data collection and due diligence procedures that we implement, which may harm our reputation. Furthermore,
we may encounter challenges in satisfying those customers that require that all of the components of our products be certified as conflict free, and if we cannot
satisfy these customers, they may choose a competitor’s products.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
Our stock price is highly volatile and investing in our stock involves a high degree of risk, which could result in substantial losses for investors.

Historically, the market price of our common stock, like the securities of many other medical products companies, fluctuates and could continue to be
volatile in the future. From January 1, 2017 through August 1, 2017 , the closing price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market was as high as
$85.49 per share and as low as $58.25 per share.
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The market price of our common stock is influenced by many factors that are beyond our control, including the following:
• securities analyst coverage or lack of coverage of our common stock or changes in their estimates of our financial performance;
• variations in quarterly operating results;
• future sales of our common stock by our stockholders;
• investor perception of us and our industry;
• announcements by us or our competitors of significant agreements, acquisitions or capital commitments;
• changes in market valuation or earnings of our competitors;
• general economic conditions;
• regulatory actions;
• legislation and political conditions; and
• terrorist acts.
Please also refer to the factors described above in this “Risk Factors” section. In addition, the stock market in general has experienced extreme price and

volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated and disproportionate to the operating performance of companies in our industry. These broad market and
industry factors may materially reduce the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating performance.

Securities class action litigation has often been brought against public companies that experience periods of volatility in the market prices of their securities.
Securities class action litigation could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management's attention and resources.

If our financial performance fails to meet the expectations of investors and public market analysts, the market price of our common stock could decline.
Our revenues and operating results may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter. We believe that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results

may not be meaningful and should not be relied on as an indication of our future performance. If quarterly revenues or operating results fall below the expectations
of investors or public market analysts, the trading price of our common stock could decline substantially. Factors that might cause quarterly fluctuations in our
operating results include:

• our inability to manufacture an adequate supply of product at appropriate quality levels and acceptable costs;
• possible delays in our research and development programs or in the completion of any clinical trials;
• a lack of acceptance of our products in the marketplace by physicians and people with diabetes;
• the inability of customers to receive reimbursements from third-party payors;
• failures to comply with regulatory requirements, which could lead to withdrawal of products from the market;
• our failure to continue the commercialization of any of our continuous glucose monitoring systems;
• competition;
• inadequate financial and other resources; and
• global and political economic conditions, political instability and military hostilities.

Failure to comply with covenants in our revolving credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank and other syndicate lenders could result in our inability to
borrow additional funds and adversely impact our business.

We have entered into a revolving credit agreement and a pledge and security agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank and four other lenders to fund our business
operations. These agreements impose numerous financial and other restrictive covenants on our operations, including covenants relating to our general profitability
and our liquidity. As of June 30, 2017 , we were in compliance with the covenants imposed by the loan and security agreement. If we violate these or any other
covenants, any outstanding amounts under these agreements could become due and payable prior to their stated maturity dates, each lender could proceed against
any collateral in our operating accounts and our ability to borrow funds in the future may be restricted or eliminated. These restrictions may also limit our ability to
borrow additional funds and pursue other business opportunities or strategies that we would otherwise consider to be in our best interests.

Increasing our financial leverage could affect our operations and profitability .
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The current maximum available credit under our multi-currency revolving credit facility is $200.0 million , all of which remains available after we used a
portion of the proceeds raised in our 2017 notes offering to repay our outstanding facility borrowings. Our leverage ratio may affect the availability to us of
additional capital resources as well as our operations in several ways, including:

• the terms on which credit may be available to us could be less attractive, both in the economic terms of the credit and the legal covenants;
• the possible lack of availability of additional credit;
• the potential for higher levels of interest expense to service or maintain our outstanding debt;
• the possibility of additional borrowings in the future to repay our indebtedness when it comes due; and
• the possible diversion of capital resources from other uses.

While we believe we will have the ability to service our debt and obtain additional resources in the future if and when needed, that will depend upon our
results of operations and financial position at the time, the then-current state of the credit and financial markets, and other factors that may be beyond our control.
Therefore, we cannot give assurances that sufficient credit will be available on terms that we consider attractive, or at all, if and when necessary or beneficial to us.

The issuance of shares by us in the future or sales of shares by our stockholders may cause the market price of our common stock to drop significantly, even if
our business is performing well.

This issuance of shares by us in the future, including by conversion of our convertible notes in certain circumstances, or sales of shares by our stockholders
may cause the market price of our common stock to decline, perhaps significantly, even if our business is performing well. The market price of our common stock
could also decline if there is a perception that sales of our shares are likely to occur in the future. This might also make it more difficult for us to sell equity
securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate. Also, we may issue securities in connection with future financings and acquisitions, and
those shares could dilute the holdings of other stockholders.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance the operation and expansion

of our business, and we do not expect to declare or pay any dividends in the foreseeable future and the terms of our credit agreement restrict our ability to declare
or pay any dividends. As a result, stockholders may only receive a return on their investment in our common stock if the market price of our common stock
increases.
Anti-takeover effects of our charter documents and Delaware law could make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest difficult, thereby depressing the trading
price of our common stock.

In addition, there are provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions in the Delaware General Corporation Law, that may
discourage, delay or prevent a change of control that might otherwise be beneficial to stockholders. For example:

• our Board of Directors may, without stockholder approval, issue shares of preferred stock with special voting or economic rights;
• our stockholders do not have cumulative voting rights and, therefore, each of our directors can only be elected by holders of a majority of our

outstanding common stock;
• a special meeting of stockholders may only be called by a majority of our Board of Directors, the Chairman of our Board of Directors, or our Chief

Executive Officer;
• our stockholders may not take action by written consent;
• our Board of Directors is divided into three classes, only one of which is elected each year; and
• we require advance notice for nominations for election to the Board of Directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at

stockholder meetings

Risks Related to our Convertible Senior Notes
We have indebtedness in the form of convertible senior notes, which could adversely affect our financial health and our ability to respond to changes in our
business.

In May 2017, we completed an offering of $350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 0.75% convertible senior notes due 2022 ("Notes”) and, in June
2017 the initial purchasers exercised their option to purchase an additional $50.0 million aggregate principal amount of notes (the “Notes Offering”). As a result of
the Notes Offering, we incurred $400.0 million
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principal amount of indebtedness, the principal amount of which we may be required to pay at maturity in 2022. Holders of the notes will have the right to require
us to repurchase their notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental change at a purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be purchased,
plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. In addition, the indenture for the notes provides that we are required to repay amounts due under the indenture in the event
that there is an event of default for the notes that results in the principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, becoming due prior to maturity date for the notes.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to repay this indebtedness when due, or that we will be able to refinance this indebtedness on acceptable terms or at
all.

As a result of our level of increased debt after the completion of the Notes Offering:

• our vulnerability to adverse general economic conditions and competitive pressures will be heightened;

• we will be required to dedicate a larger portion of our cash flow from operations to interest payments, limiting the availability of cash for other
purposes;

• our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry maybe more limited; and

• our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, general corporate purposes or other
purposes may be impaired.

We cannot be sure that our leverage resulting from the level of increased debt after the completion of the Notes Offering will not materially and adversely
affect our ability to finance our operations or capital needs or to engage in other business activities. In addition, we cannot be sure that additional financing will be
available when required or, if available, will be on terms satisfactory to us. Further, even if we are able to obtain additional financing, we may be required to use
such proceeds to repay a portion of our debt.

We may be unable to repurchase the Notes upon a fundamental change when required by the holders or repay prior to maturity any accelerated amounts due
under the notes upon an event of default or redeem the Notes unless specified conditions are met under our credit facility, and our future debt may contain
limitations on our ability to pay cash upon conversion, repurchase or repayment of the Notes.

Holders of the Notes will have the right to require us to repurchase their Notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental change at a purchase price equal to
100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be purchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but not including, the fundamental change purchase date. In
addition, the indenture for the Notes provides that we are required to repay amounts due under the indenture in the event that there is an event of default for the
Notes that results in the principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, becoming due prior to maturity date for the Notes. In addition, upon conversion of the
Notes, unless we elect to deliver solely shares of our common stock to settle such conversion (other than cash in lieu of any fractional share), we will be required to
make cash payments in respect of the Notes being converted. However, we may not have enough available cash or be able to obtain financing at the time we are
required to repurchase Notes surrendered upon a fundamental change or repay prior to maturity any accelerated amounts or pay cash for Notes being converted.

In addition, our ability to purchase the Notes or repay prior to maturity any accelerated amounts under the Notes upon an event of default or pay cash
upon conversions of the Notes may be limited by law, by regulatory authority or by agreements governing our indebtedness outstanding at the time, including our
credit facility. Under our current credit facility we are only permitted to use cash to purchase the notes or repay prior to maturity any accelerated amounts under the
Notes if we meet certain conditions that are defined under the Credit Agreement. We may not meet these conditions in the future. Our failure to repurchase Notes at
a time when the repurchase is required by the indenture (whether upon a fundamental change or otherwise under the indenture) or pay cash payable on future
conversions of the Notes as required by the indenture would constitute a default under the indenture. A default under the indenture or the fundamental change itself
could also lead to a default under agreements governing our existing or future indebtedness, including our credit facility. If the repayment of the related
indebtedness were to be accelerated after any applicable notice or grace periods, we may not have sufficient funds to repay the indebtedness, repurchase the Notes
or make cash payments upon conversions thereof.

Servicing our debt requires a significant amount of cash, and we may not have sufficient cash flow from our business to pay our substantial debt.

Our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal of, to pay interest on or to refinance our indebtedness, including the Notes, depends on our future
financial condition and operating performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive and other factors beyond our control. Our business may not
continue to generate cash flow from operations in the future sufficient to satisfy our obligations under the Notes, our existing indebtedness and any future
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indebtedness we may incur and to make necessary capital expenditures. We may not maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us
to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on (as well as any cash due upon conversion of) our debt, including the Notes.

If we are unable to generate such cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as reducing or delaying investments or capital
expenditures, selling assets, refinancing or obtaining additional equity capital on terms that may be onerous or highly dilutive. These alternative measures may not
be successful and may not permit us to meet our scheduled debt servicing obligations. Further, we may need to refinance all or a portion of our debt on our before
maturity, and our ability to refinance the Notes, existing indebtedness or future indebtedness will depend on the capital markets and our financial condition at such
time. We may not be able to engage in any of these activities on commercially reasonable terms or at all, which could result in a default on the Notes or our current
and future indebtedness.

Our credit facility imposes restrictions on us that may adversely affect our ability to operate our business.
Our credit facility contains restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters which may make it

more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. In addition, our credit facility and the
agreements governing the notes each contain, cross-default provisions whereby a default under one agreement would likely result in cross defaults under
agreements covering other borrowings. For example, the occurrence of a default with respect to any indebtedness or any failure to repay debt when due in an
amount in excess of $25 million would cause a cross default under the indenture governing the Notes, as well as under our credit facility. The occurrence of a
default under any of these borrowing arrangements would permit the holders of the Notes or the lenders under our credit facility to declare all amounts outstanding
under those borrowing arrangements to be immediately due and payable. If the Note holders or the trustee under the indenture governing the Notes or the lenders
under our credit facility accelerate the repayment of borrowings, we cannot assure you that we will have sufficient assets to repay those borrowings.
Conversion of the Notes will, to the extent we deliver shares upon conversion of such Notes, dilute the ownership interest of existing stockholders, including
holders who had previously converted their Notes, or may otherwise depress our stock price.

The conversion of some or all of the Notes will dilute the ownership interests of existing stockholders to the extent we deliver shares upon conversion of
any of the Notes. Any sales in the public market of the common stock issuable upon such conversion could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our
common stock. In addition, the existence of the Notes may encourage short selling by market participants because the conversion of the Notes could be used to
satisfy short positions, or anticipated conversion of the Notes into shares of our common stock could depress our stock price.
The conditional conversion feature of the Notes, if triggered, may adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.

In the event the conditional conversion feature of the Notes is triggered, holders of the Notes will be entitled to convert the Notes at any time during
specified periods at their option. If one or more holders elect to convert their Notes, unless we elect to satisfy our conversion obligation by delivering solely shares
of our common stock (other than cash in lieu of any fractional share), we would be required to settle a portion or all of our conversion obligation through the
payment of cash, which could adversely affect our liquidity. In addition, even if holders of the Notes do not elect to convert their Notes, we could be required under
applicable accounting rules to reclassify all or a portion of the outstanding principal of the Notes as a current rather than long-term liability, which would result in a
material reduction of our net working capital.
The accounting method for convertible debt securities that may be settled in cash, such as the Notes, may have a material effect on our reported financial
results.

Under GAAP, an entity must separately account for the debt component and the embedded conversion option of convertible debt instruments that may be
settled entirely or partially in cash upon conversion, such as the Notes we are offering, in a manner that reflects the issuer’s economic interest cost. The effect of
the accounting treatment for such instruments is that the value of such embedded conversion option would be treated as original issue discount for purposes of
accounting for the debt component of the Notes, and that original issue discount is amortized into interest expense over the term of the Notes using an effective
yield method. As a result, we will be required to record a greater amount of non-cash interest expense because of the amortization of the original issue discount to
the Notes’ face amount over the term of the Notes and because of the amortization of the debt issuance costs. Accordingly, we will report lower net income (or
greater operating losses) in our financial results because of the recognition of both the current period’s amortization of the debt discount and the Notes’ coupon
interest, which could adversely affect our reported or future financial results, the trading price of our common stock and the trading price of the Notes.

In addition, convertible debt instruments (such as the Notes) that may be settled entirely or partly in cash are currently accounted for utilizing the if-
converted method, the effect of which is that conversion will not be assumed for purposes of
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computing diluted earnings per share if the effect would be antidilutive. Under the if-converted method, for diluted earnings per share purposes, convertible debt is
antidilutive whenever its interest, net of tax and nondiscretionary adjustments, per common share obtainable on conversion exceeds basic earnings per share.
Dilutive securities that are issued during a period and dilutive convertible securities for which conversion options lapse, or for which related debt is extinguished
during a period, will be included in the denominator of diluted earnings per share for the period that they were outstanding. Likewise, dilutive convertible securities
converted during a period will be included in the denominator for the period prior to actual conversion. Moreover, interest charges applicable to the convertible
debt will be added back to the numerator. We cannot be sure that the accounting standards in the future will continue to permit the use of the if-converted method.
If we are unable to use the if-converted method in accounting for the shares issuable upon conversion of the Notes, then our diluted earnings per share would be
adversely affected.

In addition, if the conditional conversion feature of the Notes is triggered, even if holders do not elect to convert their Notes, we could be required under
applicable accounting rules to reclassify all or a portion of the outstanding principal of the Notes as a current rather than long-term liability, which would result in a
material reduction of our net working capital.
The fundamental change repurchase feature of the Notes may delay or prevent an otherwise beneficial attempt to take over DexCom.

The terms of the Notes require us to repurchase the Notes in the event of a fundamental change. A takeover of DexCom would trigger an option of the
holders of the Notes to require us to repurchase the Notes. In addition, if a make-whole fundamental change occurs prior to the maturity date of the Notes, we will
in some cases be required to increase the conversion rate for a holder that elects to convert its Notes in connection with such make-whole fundamental change.
Furthermore, the indenture for the Notes prohibits us from engaging in certain mergers or acquisitions unless, among other things, the surviving entity assumes our
obligations under the notes. These and other provisions of the indenture may have the effect of delaying or preventing a takeover of DexCom.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
As further described in our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 12, 2017, in May 2017 we issued through a private placement

$350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 0.75% convertible senior notes due 2022. In June 2017, we issued an additional $50.0 million in principal amount
pursuant to the initial purchasers’ exercise of their 30 day over allotment, for aggregate gross proceeds of $400.0 million. The notes are convertible into shares of
our common stock on the terms set forth in the indenture governing the notes.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.

 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

None.
 
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
The following exhibits are filed as a part of this report.

 

    Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
Number   Exhibit Description  Form     

File
No.   

Date of
First
Filing   

Exhibit
Number   

Provided
Herewith

3.1
 

Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as
amended  —       —     —     —     X
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4.1

 

Indenture, dated as of May 12, 2017,
between DexCom, Inc. and U.S. Bank
National Association (including the
form of 0.75% Convertible Senior
Notes due 2022)  8-K    000-51222   5/12/2017   4.1    

                  
10.42

 
Amended and Restated 2015 Equity
Incentive Plan, as amended  —       —     —     —     X

                  
10. 43  Form of Indemnity Agreement  —       —     —     —     X

                  
10.44  Severance and Change in Control Plan  8-K    000-51222   6/6/2017   10.2    

                  
10.45

 
Form of Participation Agreement to the
Severance and Change in Control Plan  8-K    000-51222   6/6/2017   10.3    

                  
10.46

 

First Amendment to Credit Agreement
dated June 17, 2016 by and among
DexCom, Inc., the Lenders, and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, as
Administrative Agent.  —       —     —     —     X

                  
10.47

 

Standard Form of Agreement dated
May 1, 2017, by and between DexCom,
Inc. and Skanska USA Building Inc.  —     —    —    —    X

                  
31.01

  

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act
Rule 13a-14(a).  —       —     —     —     X

       
31.02

  

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act
Rule 13a-14(a).  —       —     —     —     X

       
32.01

  

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and
Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-
14(b).*  —       —     —     —     X

       
32.02

  

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and
Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-
14(b).*  —       —     —     —     X

       
101.INS   XBRL Instance Document                X
       
101.SCH

  
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
Document                X

       
101.CAL

  
XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Calculation Linkbase Document                X

       
101.DEF

  
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
Linkbase Document                X

       
101.LAB

  
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label
Linkbase Document                X
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101.PRE

  
XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Presentation Linkbase Document                X

   
* This certification is not deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. Such

certification will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
except to the extent that DexCom specifically incorporates it by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

     

  
DEXCOM, INC.

(Registrant)
   

Dated: August 1, 2017  By:  /s/   K EVIN  R. S AYER

    
Kevin R. Sayer,

President & Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
   

Dated: August 1, 2017  By:  /s/   K EVIN  S UN

    

Kevin Sun,
Vice President & Interim Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial

and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 3.1

CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT OF RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF DEXCOM, INC.

DexCom, Inc., a Delaware corporation, does hereby certify that the following amendment to the corporation’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation have
been duly adopted in accordance with the provisions of Section 242 of the Delaware General Corporation Law:

The first paragraph of Article IV of the Restated Certificate of Incorporation, relating to Authorization of Shares is amended to be and read as follows:

“The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the corporation has authority to issue is 205,000,000 shares, consisting of two classes:
200,000,000 shares of Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share, and 5,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value per share.”

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, said corporation has caused this Certificate of Amendment to be signed by its duly authorized officer this 31st day of May,
2017 and the foregoing facts stated herein are true and correct.
 

  DEXCOM, INC.
    

  By: /s/ Kevin Sayer
  Kevin Sayer, Chief Executive Officer



DEXCOM, INC.

RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

DexCom, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the Delaware General Corporation Law, hereby certifies as follows:

The name of the corporation is DexCom, Inc. The date of filing its original Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State was May 13, 1999.

This Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the corporation attached hereto as Exhibit A , which is incorporated herein by this reference, and which restates,
integrates and further amends the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation of this corporation as previously amended or supplemented, has been duly adopted
by the corporation's Board of Directors, by a majority of the outstanding stock of the corporation and by a majority of the outstanding stock of each class or series
of stock of the corporation entitled to vote thereon as a class in accordance with Sections 242 and 245 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, with the approval
of the corporation's stockholders having been given by written consent without a meeting in accordance with Section 228 of the Delaware General Corporation
Law.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, said corporation has caused this Restated Certificate of Incorporation to be signed by its duly authorized officer under the seal of
the corporation this             day of                        , 2005.

  DEXCOM, INC.
  By:   
  Andrew P. Rasdal

  President and Chief Executive Officer

RESTATED

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF

DEXCOM, INC.

ARTICLE I

The name of the corporation is DexCom, Inc.

ARTICLE II

The address of the corporation's registered office in the State of Delaware is 1209 Orange Street in the City of Wilmington, County of New Castle. The name
of its registered agent at such address is The Corporation Trust Company.

ARTICLE III

The purpose of the corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law of the
State of Delaware.

ARTICLE IV

The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the corporation has authority to issue is 105,000,000 shares, consisting of two classes: 100,000,000
shares of Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share, and 5,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value per share.



The Board of Directors is authorized, subject to any limitations prescribed by the law of the State of Delaware, to provide for the issuance of the shares of
Preferred Stock in one or more series, and, by filing a Certificate of Designation pursuant to the applicable law of the State of Delaware, to establish from time to
time the number of shares to be included in each such series, to fix the designation, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of each such series and any
qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, and to increase or decrease the number of shares of any such series (but not below the number of shares of such
series then outstanding). The number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock may also be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares thereof then
outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the stock of the corporation entitled to vote, unless a vote of any other holders is required
pursuant to a certificate or certificates establishing a series of Preferred Stock.

Except as otherwise expressly provided in any Certificate of Designation designating any series of Preferred Stock pursuant to the foregoing provisions of
this Article IV, any new series of Preferred Stock may be designated, fixed and determined as provided herein by the Board of Directors without approval of the
holders of Common Stock or the holders of Preferred Stock, or any series thereof, and any such new series may have powers, preferences and rights, including,
without limitation, voting rights, dividend rights, liquidation rights, redemption rights and conversion rights, senior to, junior to or pari passu with the rights of the
Common Stock, the Preferred Stock, or any future class or series of Preferred Stock or Common Stock.

Each outstanding share of Common Stock shall entitle the holder thereof to one vote on each matter properly submitted to the stockholders of the corporation
for their vote; provided , however , that, except as otherwise required by law, holders of Common Stock shall not be entitled to vote on any amendment to this
Certificate of Incorporation (including any Certificate of Designations relating to any series of Preferred Stock) that relates solely to the terms of one or more
outstanding series of Preferred Stock if the holders of such affected series are entitled, either separately or together as a class with the holders of one or more other
such series, to vote thereon pursuant to this Certificate of Incorporation (including any Certificate of Designations relating to any series of Preferred Stock).

ARTICLE V

The Board of Directors of the corporation shall have the power to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the corporation. Subject to the rights of the holders of
any series of Preferred Stock, no director may be removed except for cause by the holders of a majority of the voting power of the shares then entitled to vote at an
election of directors.

ARTICLE VI

For the management of the business and for the conduct of the affairs of the corporation, and in further definition, limitation and regulation of the powers of
the corporation, of its directors and of its stockholders or any class thereof, as the case may be, it is further provided that:

(A)  The conduct of the affairs of the corporation shall be managed under the direction of the Board of Directors. In addition to the powers and authority
expressly conferred upon them by statute or by this Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws of the corporation, the directors are hereby empowered to exercise all
such powers and do all such acts and things as may be exercised or done by the corporation. The number of directors shall be fixed from time to time exclusively
by resolution of the Board of Directors.

(B)  Notwithstanding the foregoing provision of this Article VI, each director shall hold office until such director's successor is elected and qualified, or
until such director's earlier death, resignation or removal. No decrease in the authorized number of directors constituting the Board of Directors shall shorten the
term of any incumbent director.

(C)  Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock, any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors for any cause, and any newly
created directorship resulting from any increase in the authorized number of directors, shall, unless (i) the Board of Directors determines by resolution that any
such vacancies or newly created directorships shall be filled by the stockholders or (ii) as otherwise provided by law, be filled only by the affirmative vote of a
majority of the directors then in office, although less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director, and not by the stockholders. Any director elected in
accordance with the preceding sentence shall hold office for a term expiring at the annual meeting of shareholders at which the term of office of the class to which
the director has been assigned expires or until such director's successor shall have been duly elected and qualified. No decrease in the authorized number of
directors shall shorten the term of any incumbent director.

(D)  Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect additional directors under specified circumstances, the directors shall be
divided, with respect to the time for which they severally hold office, into three classes designated as Class I, Class II and Class III, respectively. The term of office
of the Class I directors shall expire at the corporation's first annual meeting of stockholders following the closing of the corporation's initial public offering
pursuant to



an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, covering the offer and sale of Common Stock to the public (the "Initial Public
Offering"), the term of office of the Class II directors shall expire at the corporation's second annual meeting of stockholders following the closing of the Initial
Public Offering, and the term of office of the Class III directors shall expire at the corporation's third annual meeting of stockholders following the closing of the
Initial Public Offering. At each annual meeting of stockholders following the closing of the Initial Public Offering, directors elected to succeed those directors of
the class whose terms then expire shall be elected for a term of office to expire at the third succeeding annual meeting of stockholders after their election, with each
director to hold office until his or her successor shall have been duly elected and qualified, or until such director's earlier death, resignation or removal.

(F)  Election of directors need not be by written ballot unless the Bylaws of the corporation shall so provide.

(G)  No action shall be taken by the stockholders of the corporation except at an annual or special meeting of stockholders called in accordance with the
Bylaws of the corporation, and no action shall be taken by the stockholders by written consent.

(H)  Advance notice of stockholder nominations for the election of directors of the corporation and of business to be brought by stockholders before any
meeting of stockholders of the corporation shall be given in the manner provided in the Bylaws of the corporation. Business transacted at special meetings of
stockholders shall be confined to the purpose or purposes stated in the notice of meeting.

ARTICLE VII

To the fullest extent permitted by law, no director of the corporation shall be personally liable for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a
director. Without limiting the effect of the preceding sentence, if the Delaware General Corporation Law ("GCL") is hereafter amended to authorize the further
elimination or limitation of the liability of a director, then the liability of a director of the corporation shall be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted
by the GCL, as so amended.

Neither any amendment nor repeal of this Article VII, nor the adoption of any provision of this Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article VII,
shall eliminate, reduce or otherwise adversely affect any limitation on the personal liability of a director of the corporation existing at the time of such amendment,
repeal or adoption of such an inconsistent provision.
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DEXCOM, INC.

AMENDED AND RESTATED 2015 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

(March 16, 2017)

1. PURPOSE . The purpose of this Plan is to provide incentives to attract,  retain and motivate eligible persons whose present and potential contributions are important to the success of the
Company, and any Parents and Subsidiaries that exist now or in the future, by offering them an opportunity to participate in the Company’s future performance through the grant of Awards.
Capitalized terms not defined elsewhere in the text are defined in Section 28.

2. SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN .

2.1. Number of Shares Available . Subject to Sections 2.5, and 21 and any other applicable provisions hereof, the total number of Shares reserved and available for grant and issuance pursuant to
this Plan as of the date of adoption of this Plan by the Board, is 7,600,000 Shares, plus (i) Shares that are subject to stock options or other awards granted under the Company’s 2005 Equity
Incentive Plan (the “ Prior Plan ”) on the Effective Date (as defined below), that cease to be subject to such stock options or other awards by forfeiture or otherwise after the Effective Date for
any reason other than the exercise of a stock option or SAR, (ii) Shares issued under the Prior Plan that are repurchased by the Company at the original issue price; or (iii) Shares that are subject
to stock options or other awards granted under the Prior Plan that otherwise terminate without Shares being issued.

2.2. Lapsed, Returned Awards .  Shares subject  to Awards,  and Shares issued under this  Plan under any Award, will  again be available  for grant and issuance in connection with subsequent
Awards under this Plan to the extent such Shares: (a) are subject to issuance upon exercise of an Option or SAR granted under this Plan but which cease to be subject to the Option or SAR for
any reason other than exercise of the Option or SAR; (b) are subject to Awards granted under this Plan that are forfeited or are repurchased by the Company at the original issue price; (c) are
subject to Awards granted under this Plan that otherwise terminate without such Shares being issued; or (d) are surrendered pursuant to an Exchange Program. To the extent an Award under this
Plan is paid out in cash rather than Shares, such cash payment will not result in reducing the number of Shares available for issuance under this Plan. Shares used to pay the exercise price of an
Award, Shares withheld to satisfy the tax withholding obligations related to an Award or Shares repurchased by the Company for any reason other than Shares repurchased at their original issue
price, in each case will not become available for future grant or sale under this Plan. Except as set forth above, any Awards granted including but not limited to Awards granted as SARs shall
reduce the number of shares granted on a one-for-one Share for Share basis and any Shares withheld shall not again be made available for Awards under the Plan. To the extent that any Award
is  forfeited,  repurchased  or  terminates  without  Shares  being  issued,  Shares  may  again  be  available  for  issuance  under  this  Plan.  For  the  avoidance  of  doubt,  Shares  that  otherwise  become
available  for  grant  and issuance because of  the provisions of  this  Section 2.2 shall  not  include Shares subject  to  Awards that  initially  became available  because of  the substitution clause in
Section 21.2 hereof.

2.3. Minimum Share Reserve . At all times the Company shall reserve and keep available a sufficient number of Shares as shall be required to satisfy the requirements of all outstanding Awards
granted under this Plan.

2.4. Limitations . No more than 7,600,000 Shares shall be issued pursuant to the exercise of ISOs.

2.5. Adjustment  of  Shares .  If  the  number  of  outstanding  Shares  is  changed  by  an  extraordinary  cash  dividend,  a  stock  dividend,  recapitalization,  spin-off,  stock  split,  reverse  stock  split,
subdivision, combination, reclassification or similar change in the capital structure of the Company, without consideration, then (a) the number of Shares reserved for issuance and future grant
under this Plan set forth in Sections 2.1 and 2.2, (b) the Exercise Prices of and number of Shares subject to outstanding Options and SARs, (c) the number of Shares subject to other outstanding
Awards,  (d)  the  maximum number  of  Shares  that  may  be  issued  as  ISOs  set  forth  in  Section  2.4,  and  (e)  the  maximum number  of  Shares  that  may  be  issued  to  an  individual  or  to  a  new
Employee in any one calendar year set  forth in Section 3 or to a Non-Employee Director in Section 12 shall  be proportionately adjusted,  subject  to any required action by the Board or the
stockholders of the Company and in compliance with applicable securities laws; provided that fractions of a Share will not be issued but will either be replaced by a cash payment equal to the
Fair  Market  Value of  such fraction of  a  Share or  will  be rounded up (down in the case of  ISOs) to  the nearest  whole Share,  as  determined by the Committee;  and provided further  that  the
Exercise Price of any Option may not be decreased to below the par value of the Shares.

2.6. Vesting / Acceleration Restriction . Awards shall not provide for any vesting prior to at least twelve (12) months from grant. In addition, the Committee will not permit the discretionary
acceleration of vesting of Awards. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may permit (i) acceleration of vesting of Awards in the event of the Participant’s death or Disability, or Change
of Control and (ii) the vesting of Awards on any basis prior to twelve (12) months from grant or any acceleration of vesting of Awards representing up to an aggregate of five percent (5%) of the
Shares reserved and available for grant under the Plan.

3. ELIGIBILITY . ISOs may be granted only to an eligible Employee. All other Awards may be granted to an eligible Employee, Consultant, Director or Non-Employee Director; provided
such Consultant,  Director  or Non-Employee Director renders bona fide services not  in connection with the offer and sale of  securities  in a capital-raising transaction.  No Participant  will  be
eligible to be granted more than 1,000,000 Shares in any calendar year under this Plan pursuant to the grant of Awards except that a new Employee (including a new Employee who is also an
officer or director of the Company or any Parent, Subsidiary or Affiliate) is eligible to be granted up to a maximum of 2,000,000 Shares in the calendar year in which such Employee commences
employment.

4. ADMINISTRATION .



4.1. Committee Composition; Authority . This Plan will be administered by the Committee or by the Board acting as the Committee. Subject to the general purposes, terms and conditions of this
Plan, and to the direction of the Board, the Committee will have full power to implement and carry out this Plan, except, however, the Board shall establish the terms for the grant of an Award to
Non-Employee Directors. The Committee will have the authority to:

(a) construe and interpret this Plan, any Award Agreement and any other agreement or document executed pursuant to this Plan;

(b) prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to this Plan or any Award;

(c) select persons to receive Awards;

(d) determine the form and terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the terms of this Plan, of any Award granted hereunder. Such terms and conditions include, but are not limited to, the
exercise price, subject to Section 2.6, the time or times when Awards may vest and be exercised (which may be based on performance criteria) or settled, subject to Section 2.6, any vesting
acceleration or waiver of forfeiture restrictions, the method to satisfy tax withholding obligations or any other tax liability legally due, and any restriction or limitation regarding any Award or
the Shares relating thereto, based in each case on such factors as the Committee will determine;

(e) determine the number of Shares or other consideration subject to Awards;

(f) determine the Fair Market Value and interpret the applicable provisions of this Plan and the definition of Fair Market Value in connection with circumstances that impact the Fair Market
Value, if necessary;

(g) determine  whether  Awards  will  be  granted  singly,  in  combination  with,  in  tandem with,  in  replacement  of,  or  as  alternatives  to,  other  Awards  under  this  Plan  or  any  other  incentive  or
compensation plan of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company;
 
(h) grant waivers of Plan or Award conditions;

(i) determine the vesting, exercisability and payment of Awards;

(j) correct any defect, supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in this Plan, any Award or any Award Agreement;

(k) determine whether an Award has been earned;

(l) determine the terms and conditions of any, and to institute any Exchange Program approved by stockholders;

(m) reduce or waive any criteria with respect to Performance Factors;

(n) adjust Performance Factors to take into account changes in law and accounting or tax rules as the Committee deems necessary or appropriate to reflect the impact of extraordinary or unusual
items, events or circumstances to avoid windfalls or hardships, including without limitation (i) restructurings, discontinued operations, extraordinary items, and other unusual or non-recurring
charges, (ii) an event either not directly related to the operations of the Company or not within the reasonable control of the Company’s management, or (iii) a change in accounting standards
required by generally accepted accounting principles, provided that such adjustments are consistent with the regulations promulgated under Section 162(m) of the Code with respect to persons
whose compensation is subject to Section 162(m) of the Code;

(o) adopt terms and conditions, rules and/or procedures (including the adoption of any subplan under this Plan and any country addenda to the Award Agreements) relating to the operation and
administration of this Plan to accommodate grants to participants residing outside of the United States and comply with the requirements of local law and procedures;

(p) make all other determinations necessary or advisable for the administration of this Plan; and

(q) delegate any of the foregoing to a subcommittee consisting of one or more executive officers pursuant to a specific delegation as permitted by applicable law, including Section 157(c) of the
Delaware General Corporation Law.

4.2. Committee Interpretation and Discretion . Any determination made by the Committee with respect to any Award shall be made in its sole discretion at the time of grant of the Award or,
unless in contravention of any express term of this Plan or Award, at any later time, and such determination shall be final and binding on the Company and all persons having an interest in any
Award under  this  Plan.  Any dispute  regarding the  interpretation  of  this  Plan  or  any  Award Agreement  shall  be  submitted  by  the  Participant  or  Company to  the  Committee  for  review.  The
resolution of such a dispute by the Committee shall be final and binding on the Company and the Participant. The Committee may delegate to one or more executive officers the authority to
review and resolve disputes with respect to Awards held by Participants who are not Insiders, and such resolution shall be final and binding on the Company and the Participant.

4.3. Section 162(m) of the Code and Section 16 of the Exchange Act . When necessary or desirable for an Award to qualify as “performance-based compensation” under Section 162(m) of the
Code the Committee shall include at least two persons who are “outside directors” (as defined under Section 162(m) of the Code) and at least two such “outside directors” shall approve the grant
of such Award and timely determine (as applicable) the Performance Period and any Performance Factors applicable to the vesting or settlement of any portion of such Award. When required by
Section 162(m) of the Code, prior to settlement of any such Award at least two such “outside directors” then serving on the Committee shall determine and certify in writing the extent to which
the performance goals based on such Performance Factors have been timely achieved and the extent to which the Shares subject to such Award have thereby been earned. Awards granted to
Participants who are subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act must be approved by two or more “non-employee directors” (as defined in the regulations



promulgated under Section 16 of the Exchange Act). To preserve its original intent at the time of grant with respect to the Performance Factors, and provided that such adjustments are consistent
with the regulations promulgated under Section 162(m) of the Code, the Committee, in its sole discretion, may adjust the performance goals and Performance Factors to account for changes in
law and accounting and to make such adjustments as the Committee deems necessary or appropriate to reflect the impact of extraordinary or unusual items, events or circumstances to avoid
windfalls or hardships, including without limitation (i) restructurings, discontinued operations, extraordinary items, and other unusual or non-recurring charges, (ii) an event either not directly
related to the operations of the Company or not within the reasonable control of the Company’s management, or (iii) a change in accounting standards required by generally accepted accounting
principles.

4.4. Documentation .  The Award Agreement  for  a  given  Award,  this  Plan  and any other  documents  may be  delivered  to,  and accepted  by,  a  Participant  or  any other  person in  any manner
(including electronic distribution or posting) that meets applicable legal requirements.

4.5. Foreign Award Recipients . Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, in order to comply with the laws and practices in countries other than the United States in which the
Company and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates operate or have employees or other individuals eligible for Awards, the Committee, in its sole discretion, shall have the power and authority to: (i)
determine which Subsidiaries and Affiliates shall be covered by this Plan; (ii) determine which individuals outside the United States are eligible to participate in this Plan, which may include
individuals who provide services to the Company, Subsidiary or Affiliate under an agreement with a foreign nation or agency; (iii) modify the terms and conditions of any Award granted to
individuals who are located outside the United States or who are foreign nationals to comply with applicable foreign laws, policies, customs and practices; (iv) establish subplans and modify
exercise procedures and other terms and procedures, to the extent determined necessary or advisable by the Committee and provided that (a) no such subplans and/or modifications shall increase
the share limitations contained in Section 2.1 hereof and (b) in such instance, such subplans and/or modifications shall be attached to this Plan as appendices; and (v) take any action, before or
after  an  Award  is  made,  that  the  Committee  determines  to  be  necessary  or  advisable  to  obtain  approval  or  comply  with  any  local  governmental  regulatory  exemptions  or  approvals.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may not take any actions hereunder, and no Award shall be granted, that would violate the Exchange Act or any other applicable United States
securities law, the Code or any other applicable United States governing statute or law.

5. OPTIONS . An Option is the right but not the obligation to purchase a Share, subject to certain conditions, if applicable, granted to an eligible Employee, Consultant or Director. All Options
shall be granted pursuant to an Award Agreement.

5.1. Terms of Options . Each Option granted under this Plan will be identified as an Incentive Stock Options within the meaning of the Code (“ ISO ”) or a Nonqualified Stock Option (“ NSO ”).
Applicable conditions may be based on completion of a specified number of years of service with the Company or upon satisfaction of performance goals based on Performance Factors during a
Performance Period as set out in advance in the Award Agreement. Prior to the grant of an Option that is being earned upon satisfaction of performance goals based on Performance Factors, the
Committee shall: (a) determine the nature, length and starting date of any Performance Period for the Option; (b) select from among the Performance Factors to be used to measure performance
goals, if any; and (c) determine the number of Shares that may be earned by the Participant. Performance Periods may overlap and a Participant may participate simultaneously with respect to
Options that are subject to different Performance Periods and having performance goals based on different Performance Factors and other criteria.

5.2. Date of Grant . An Option’s date of grant will be that date on which the Committee makes the determination to grant such Option, or any such future date specified by the Committee. The
Award Agreement will be delivered to the Participant within a reasonable time after the date of grant.

5.3. Exercise Period . Subject to Section 2.6, Options will vest and be exercisable within the times or upon the conditions as set forth in the Award Agreement; provided , however , that no
Option will be exercisable after the expiration of ten (10) years from the date of grant; and provided further that no ISO granted to a person who, at the time the ISO is granted, directly or by
attribution  owns  more  than  ten  percent  (10%)  of  the  total  combined  voting  power  of  all  classes  of  stock  of  the  Company  or  of  any  Parent  or  Subsidiary  of  the  Company  (“ Ten Percent
Stockholder ”) will be exercisable after the expiration of five (5) years from the date the ISO is granted. The Committee also may provide for Options to vest and be exercisable at one time or
from time  to  time,  periodically  or  otherwise  (including,  without  limitation,  upon  the  attainment  during  a  Performance  Period  of  performance  goals  based  on  Performance  Factors),  in  such
number of Shares or percentage of Shares as the Committee determines.

5.4. Exercise Price . The Exercise Price of an Option will be determined by the Committee when the Option is granted; provided that: (i) the Exercise Price of an Option will be not less than one
hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value of the Shares on the date of grant and (ii) the Exercise Price of any ISO granted to a Ten Percent Stockholder will be not less than one hundred
ten  percent  (110%)  of  the  Fair  Market  Value  of  the  Shares  on  the  date  of  grant.  Payment  for  the  Shares  purchased  must  be  made  in  accordance  with  Section  11  of  this  Plan,  the  Award
Agreement and any procedures established by the Company.

5.5. Method of Exercise .  Any  Option  granted  hereunder  will  vest  and  be  exercisable  at  such  times  and  under  such  conditions  as  determined  by  the  Committee  and  set  forth  in  the  Award
Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions of this Plan. An Option may not be exercised for a fraction of a Share. An Option will be deemed exercised when the Company receives: (i)
notice of exercise (in such form as the Committee may specify from time to time) from the person entitled to exercise the Option, and (ii) full payment for the Shares with respect to which the
Option is  exercised plus payment or provision for applicable withholding taxes.  Shares issued upon exercise of an Option will  be issued in the name of the Participant.  Notwithstanding the
exercise of the Option, until such time as the Shares are issued (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company), no
right to vote or receive dividends or any other rights as a stockholder will exist with respect to the Shares. The Company will issue (or cause to be issued) such Shares promptly after the Option
is exercised. No adjustment will be made for a dividend or other right for which the record date is prior to the date the Shares are issued, except as provided in Section 2.5 of this Plan. Exercising
an Option in any manner will decrease the number



of Shares thereafter available, both for purposes of this Plan and for sale under the Option, by the number of Shares as to which the Option is exercised.

(a) Termination of Service . If the Participant’s Service terminates for any reason except a termination by the Company for Cause or because of the Participant’s death or Disability, then the
Participant may exercise such Participant’s Options only to the extent that such Options would have been exercisable by the Participant on the date Participant’s Service terminates, no later than
three (3) months after the date Participant’s Service terminates (or such shorter or longer time period as may be determined by the Committee, with any exercise beyond three (3) months after
the date Participant’s Service terminates deemed to be the exercise of an NSO), but in any event no later than the expiration date of the Options.

(b) Death . If the Participant’s Service terminates because of the Participant’s death (or the Participant dies within three (3) months after Participant’s Service terminates for any reason except a
termination  by  the  Company  for  Cause  or  because  of  the  Participant’s  Disability),  then  the  Participant’s  Options  may  be  exercised  only  to  the  extent  that  such  Options  would  have  been
exercisable by the Participant on the date Participant’s Service terminates and must be exercised by the Participant’s legal representative, or authorized assignee, no later than twelve (12) months
after the date Participant’s Service terminates (or such shorter or longer time period as may be determined by the Committee), but in any event no later than the expiration date of the Options.

(c) Disability . If the Participant’s Service terminates because of the Participant’s Disability, then the Participant’s Options may be exercised only to the extent that such Options would have
been exercisable by the Participant on the date Participant’s Service terminates and must be exercised by the Participant (or the Participant’s legal representative or authorized assignee) no later
than twelve (12) months after the date Participant’s Service terminates (with any exercise beyond (a) three (3) months after the date Participant’s employment terminates when the termination of
Service is for a Disability that is not a “permanent and total disability” as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code, or (b) twelve (12) months after the date Participant’s employment terminates
when the termination of Service is for a Disability that is a “permanent and total disability” as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code, deemed to be exercise of an NSO), but in any event no
later than the expiration date of the Options.

(d) Cause . If the Participant is terminated by the Company for Cause, then Participant’s Options shall expire on the date Service terminates, or at such later time and on such conditions as are
determined by the Committee, but in any event no later than the expiration date of the Options. Unless otherwise provided in the Award Agreement, Cause shall have the meaning set forth in
this Plan.

5.6. Limitations on Exercise . The Committee may specify a minimum number of Shares that may be purchased on any exercise of an Option, provided that such minimum number will not
prevent a Participant from exercising the Option for the full number of Shares for which it is then exercisable.

5.7. Limitations on ISOs . With respect to Awards granted as ISOs, to the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value of the Shares with respect to which such ISOs are exercisable for the first
time by the Participant during any calendar year (under all plans of the Company and any Parent or Subsidiary) exceeds one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000), such Options will be treated as
NSOs. For purposes of this Section 5.7, ISOs will be so evaluated in the order in which they were granted, beginning with the grant first in time. The Fair Market Value of the Shares will be
determined as of the Option’s date of grant. In the event that the Code or the regulations promulgated thereunder are amended after the Effective Date to provide for a different limit on the Fair
Market Value of Shares permitted to be subject  to ISOs, such different limit  will  be automatically incorporated herein and will  apply to any Options granted after the effective date of such
amendment.

5.8. Modification, Extension or Renewal . The Committee may modify, extend or renew outstanding Options and authorize the grant of new Options in substitution therefor, provided that any
such action may not, without the written consent of a Participant, impair any of such Participant’s rights under any Option previously granted. Subject to Section 18, the Committee may (a)
reduce the Exercise Price of outstanding Options or (b) grant Options in substitution for cancelled options or other Awards authorized under the Plan. Any outstanding ISO that is modified,
extended, renewed or otherwise altered will be treated in accordance with Section 424(h) of the Code.

5.9. Notice of Disqualifying Dispositions of Shares Acquired on Exercise of an ISO . If a Participant sells or otherwise disposes of any Shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of an ISO on or
before the later of (a) the date two years after the Date of Grant, and (b) the date one year after the exercise of the ISO (in either case, a “ Disqualifying Disposition ”), the Company may require
the Participant to immediately notify the Company in writing of such Disqualifying Disposition.

5.10. No Disqualification . Notwithstanding any other provision in this Plan, no term of this Plan relating to ISOs will be interpreted, amended or altered, nor will any discretion or authority
granted under this Plan be exercised, so as to disqualify this Plan under Section 422 of the Code or, without the consent of the Participant affected, to disqualify any ISO under Section 422 of the
Code

5.11. Termination of Service . Except as otherwise set forth in the Award Agreement or as otherwise determined by the Committee, vesting ceases on the date Participant’s Service terminates.

6. RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS . A Restricted Stock Award is an offer by the Company to sell Shares subject to restrictions (“ Restricted Stock ”) to an eligible Employee, Consultant,
or Director. The Committee will determine to whom an offer will be made, the number of Shares the Participant may purchase, the Purchase Price, the restrictions applicable to the Shares and
all other terms and conditions of the Restricted Stock Award, subject to this Plan.

6.1. Restricted  Stock  Purchase  Agreement .  All  purchases  under  a  Restricted  Stock  Award  will  be  evidenced  by  an  Award  Agreement.  Except  as  may  otherwise  be  provided  in  an  Award
Agreement, a Participant accepts a Restricted Stock Award by signing and delivering to the



Company an Award Agreement with full payment of the Purchase Price plus payment or provision for applicable withholding taxes, within thirty (30) days from the date the Award Agreement
was  delivered  to  the  Participant.  If  the  Participant  does  not  accept  such  Award  within  thirty  (30)  days,  then  such  Restricted  Stock  Award  will  terminate,  unless  the  Committee  determines
otherwise.

6.2. Purchase Price . The Purchase Price for a Restricted Stock Award will be determined by the Committee and may be less than Fair Market Value but not less than the par value of the Shares
on the date the Restricted Stock Award is granted. Payment of the Purchase Price must be made in accordance with Section 11 of this Plan, and the Award Agreement and in accordance with
any procedures established by the Company.

6.3. Terms of Restricted Stock Awards . Subject to Section 2.6, Restricted Stock Awards will be subject to such restrictions as the Committee may impose or are required by law. Applicable
restrictions  may  be  based  on  completion  of  a  specified  number  of  years  of  service  with  the  Company  or  upon  satisfaction  of  performance  goals  based  on  Performance  Factors  during  a
Performance  Period  as  set  out  in  advance  in  the  Award  Agreement.  Prior  to  the  grant  of  a  Restricted  Stock  Award  that  is  being  earned  upon  satisfaction  of  performance  goals  based  on
Performance Factors, the Committee shall: (a) determine the nature, length and starting date of any Performance Period for the Restricted Stock Award; (b) select from among the Performance
Factors to be used to measure performance goals, if any; and (c) determine the number of Shares that may be earned by the Participant. Performance Periods may overlap and a Participant may
participate simultaneously with respect to Restricted Stock Awards that are subject to different Performance Periods and having performance goals based on different Performance Factors and
other criteria.

6.4. Termination of Service . Except as otherwise set forth in the Award Agreement or as otherwise determined by the Committee, vesting ceases on the date Participant’s Service terminates.

7. STOCK BONUS AWARDS . A Stock Bonus Award is an award of Shares made to an eligible Employee, Consultant, or Director in consideration for Services to be rendered or for past
Services already rendered to the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary, as permitted by law. All Stock Bonus Awards shall be made pursuant to an Award Agreement. No payment from the
Participant will be required for Shares awarded pursuant to a Stock Bonus Award.

7.1. Terms of Stock Bonus Awards . Subject to Section 2.6, the Committee will determine to whom a Stock Bonus Award will be made, the number of Shares under the Stock Bonus Award, the
restrictions,  if  any,  applicable  to such Shares and all  other  terms and conditions of  the Stock Bonus Award,  subject  to  this  Plan.  Applicable restrictions may be based upon completion of  a
specified number of years of service with the Company or upon satisfaction of performance goals based on Performance Factors during a Performance Period as set out in advance in the Award
Agreement. Prior to the grant of any Stock Bonus Award that is being earned upon satisfaction of performance goals, the Committee shall: (a) determine the nature, length and starting date of
any Performance Period for the Stock Bonus Award; (b) select from among the Performance Factors to be used to measure performance goals; and (c) determine the number of Shares that may
be awarded to the Participant. Performance Periods may overlap and a Participant may participate simultaneously with respect to Stock Bonus Awards that are subject to different Performance
Periods and performance goals based on different Performance Factors and other criteria.

7.2. Form of Payment to Participant . As determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, a Stock Bonus Award may be paid in the form of cash, whole Shares, or a combination thereof,
based on the Fair Market Value (as of the date of payment) of the Shares earned under such Stock Bonus Award.

7.3. Termination of Service . Except as otherwise set forth in the Award Agreement or as otherwise determined by the Committee, vesting ceases on the date Participant’s Service terminates.
 
8. STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS . A Stock Appreciation Right (“ SAR ”) is an award to an eligible Employee, Consultant, or Director that may be settled in cash, or Shares (which may
consist of Restricted Stock), having a value equal to (a) the difference between the Fair Market Value on the date of exercise over the Exercise Price multiplied by (b) the number of Shares with
respect to which the SAR is being settled (subject to any maximum number of Shares that may be issuable as specified in an Award Agreement). All SARs shall be made pursuant to an Award
Agreement.

8.1. Terms of SARs . The Committee will determine the terms of each SAR including, without limitation: (a) the number of Shares subject to the SAR; (b) the Exercise Price and the time or
times during which the SAR may be settled; (c) the consideration to be distributed on settlement of the SAR; and (d) the effect of the Participant’s termination of Service on each SAR. The
Exercise Price of the SAR will be determined by the Committee when the SAR is granted, and may be not less than Fair Market Value or the par value of the Shares. A SAR may be awarded
upon satisfaction of Performance Factors, if any, during any Performance Period as are set out in advance in the Award Agreement. Prior to the grant of any SAR that is being earned upon
satisfaction  of  performance  goals,  then  the  Committee  will:  (x)  determine  the  nature,  length  and  starting  date  of  any  Performance  Period  for  each  SAR;  and  (y)  select  from  among  the
Performance Factors to be used to measure the performance, if any. Performance Periods may overlap and Participants may participate simultaneously with respect to SARs that are subject to
different Performance Periods and performance goals based on different Performance Factors and other criteria.

8.2. Exercise Period and Expiration Date . Subject to Section 2.6, a SAR will be exercisable within the times or upon the occurrence of events determined by the Committee and set forth in the
Award Agreement. The SAR Agreement shall set forth the expiration date; provided that no SAR will be exercisable after the expiration of ten (10) years from the date the SAR is granted. The
Committee  may  also  provide  for  SARs  to  become  exercisable  at  one  time  or  from  time  to  time,  periodically  or  otherwise  (including,  without  limitation,  upon  the  attainment  during  a
Performance  Period  of  performance  goals  based  on  Performance  Factors),  in  such  number  of  Shares  or  percentage  of  the  Shares  subject  to  the  SAR  as  the  Committee  determines.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the rules of Section 5.6 also will apply to SARs.



8.3. Form of Settlement . Upon exercise of a SAR, a Participant will be entitled to receive payment from the Company in an amount determined by multiplying (i) the difference between the
Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of exercise over the Exercise Price; times (ii) the number of Shares with respect to which the SAR is exercised (subject to any maximum number of
Shares  that  may  be  issuable  as  specified  in  an  Award  Agreement).  At  the  discretion  of  the  Committee,  the  payment  from the  Company  for  the  SAR exercise  may  be  in  cash,  in  Shares  of
equivalent  value,  or  in  some combination  thereof.  The  portion  of  a  SAR being  settled  may be  paid  currently  or  on  a  deferred basis  with  such interest  or  dividend equivalent,  if  any,  as  the
Committee determines, provided that the terms of the SAR and any deferral satisfy the requirements of Section 409A of the Code.

8.4. Termination of Service . Except as otherwise set forth in the Award Agreement or as otherwise determined by the Committee, vesting ceases on the date Participant’s Service terminates.

9. RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS . A Restricted Stock Unit (“ RSU ”) is an award to an eligible Employee, Consultant, or Director covering a number of Shares that may be settled in cash, or
by issuance of those Shares (which may consist of Restricted Stock). All RSUs shall be made pursuant to an Award Agreement.

9.1. Terms of RSUs . Subject to Section 2.6, the Committee will determine the terms of an RSU including, without limitation: (a) the number of Shares subject to the RSU; (b) the time or times
during which the RSU may be settled; (c) the consideration to be distributed on settlement; and (d) the effect of the Participant’s termination of Service on each RSU. An RSU may be awarded
upon satisfaction of such performance goals based on Performance Factors during any Performance Period as are set out in advance in the Award Agreement. Prior to the grant of any RSU that
is being earned upon satisfaction of performance goals, the Committee will: (x) determine the nature, length and starting date of any Performance Period for the RSU; (y) select from among the
Performance Factors to be used to measure the performance, if any; and (z) determine the number of Shares deemed subject to the RSU. Performance Periods may overlap and participants may
participate simultaneously with respect to RSUs that are subject to different Performance Periods and performance goals based on different Performance Factors and other criteria.

9.2. Form and Timing of Settlement . Payment of earned RSUs shall be made as soon as practicable after the date(s) determined by the Committee and set forth in the Award Agreement. The
Committee, in its sole discretion, may settle earned RSUs in cash, Shares, or a combination of both. The Committee may also permit a Participant to defer payment under a RSU to a date or
dates after the RSU is earned provided that the terms of the RSU and any deferral satisfy the requirements of Section 409A of the Code.

9.3. Termination of Service . Except as otherwise set forth in the Award Agreement or as otherwise determined by the Committee, vesting ceases on the date Participant’s Service terminates.

10. PERFORMANCE AWARDS . A Performance Award is an award to an eligible Employee, Consultant, or Director of Performance Shares or a cash bonus denominated in Shares that may
be settled in cash, or by issuance of those Shares (which may consist of Restricted Stock). Grants of Performance Awards shall be made pursuant to an Award Agreement.

10.1. Terms of Performance Awards . Subject to Section 2.6, the Committee will determine the terms of a Performance Award including, without limitation: (a) the number of Shares or amount
of cash subject to the Performance Award; (b) the time or times during which the Performance Award may be settled; and (c) the consideration to be distributed on settlement, and the effect of
the Participant’s termination of Service on each Performance Award. A Performance Award may be awarded upon satisfaction of performance goals based on Performance Factors during any
Performance Period as set out in advance in the Award Agreement. Prior to the grant of any Performance Award that is being earned upon satisfaction of performance goals, the Committee will:
(x) determine the nature, length and starting date of any Performance Period for the Performance Award; (y) select from among the Performance Factors to be used to measure such performance
goals, if any; and (z) determine the number of Shares deemed subject to the Performance Award. Performance Periods may overlap and participants may participate simultaneously with respect
to Performance Awards that  are subject  to  different Performance Periods and performance goals based on different  Performance Factors and other  criteria.  No Participant  will  be eligible  to
receive cash-based Awards of (i) more than $5,000,000 of value in the calendar year grant for all such Awards with a Performance Period greater than one (1) year, or (ii) more than $3,000,000
of value in the calendar year grant for all such Awards with a Performance Period of one (1) year or less.

10.2. Termination of Service . Except as otherwise set forth in the Award Agreement or as otherwise determined by the Committee, vesting ceases on the date Participant’s Service terminates.

11. PAYMENT FOR SHARE PURCHASES . Payment from a Participant for Shares purchased pursuant to this Plan may be made in cash or by check or, where approved for the Participant
by the Committee and where permitted by law (and to the extent not otherwise set forth or prohibited in the applicable Award Agreement):

(a) by cancellation of indebtedness of the Company to the Participant;

(b) by surrender of Shares held by the Participant that have a Fair Market Value on the date of surrender equal to the aggregate exercise price of the Shares as to which said Award will be
exercised or settled;

(c) by waiver of compensation due or accrued to the Participant for services rendered or to be rendered to the Company or a Parent or Subsidiary of the Company;

(d) by consideration received by the Company pursuant to a broker-assisted or other form of cashless exercise program implemented by the Company in connection with this Plan;



 
(e) by any combination of the foregoing; or

(f) by any other method of payment as is permitted by applicable law.

Unless determined otherwise by the Committee, all payments under any of the methods indicated above shall be made in United States dollars.

12. GRANTS TO NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS . Non-Employee Directors are eligible to receive any type of Award offered under this Plan except ISOs. Awards pursuant to this Section
12 may be automatically made pursuant to policy adopted by the Board, or made from time to time as determined in the discretion of the Board. The aggregate number of Shares subject to
Awards granted under this Section 12 to a Non-Employee Director in any calendar year shall not exceed 30,000 Shares.

12.1. Eligibility . Awards pursuant to this Section 12 shall be granted only to Non-Employee Directors. A Non-Employee Director who is elected or re-elected as a member of the Board will be
eligible to receive an Award under this Section 12.

12.2. Vesting, Exercisability and Settlement . Except as set forth in Section 6 and 21, Awards shall vest, be exercisable and be settled as determined by the Board. With respect to Options and
SARs, the exercise price granted to Non-Employee Directors shall be not less than the Fair Market Value of the Shares at the time that such Option or SAR is granted.

12.3. Election to receive Awards in Lieu of Cash . A Non-Employee Director may elect to receive his or her annual retainer payments and/or meeting fees from the Company in the form of cash
or Awards or in a combination thereof, as determined by the Board. Such Awards shall be issued under this Plan. An election under this Section 12.3 shall be filed with the Company on the form
prescribed by the Company.

13. WITHHOLDING TAXES .

13.1. Withholding Generally . Whenever Shares are to be issued in satisfaction of Awards granted under this Plan or the applicable tax event occurs, the Company may require the Participant to
remit to the Company, or to the Parent, Subsidiary or Affiliate employing the Participant, an amount sufficient to satisfy applicable U.S. federal, state, local and international withholding tax
requirements or any other tax or social insurance liability legally due from the Participant prior to the delivery of Shares pursuant to exercise or settlement of any Award. Whenever payments in
satisfaction  of  Awards  granted  under  this  Plan  are  to  be  made  in  cash,  such  payment  will  be  net  of  an  amount  sufficient  to  satisfy  applicable  U.S.  federal,  state,  local  and  international
withholding tax and social insurance requirements or any other tax liability legally due from the Participant.

13.2. Stock Withholding . The Committee, or its delegate(s), as permitted by applicable law, in its sole discretion and pursuant to such procedures as it may specify from time to time and to
limitations of local law, may require or permit a Participant to satisfy such tax withholding obligation or any other tax liability legally due from the Participant, in whole or in part by (without
limitation) (i) paying cash, (ii) electing to have the Company withhold otherwise deliverable cash or Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum statutory amount required to be
withheld, (iii) delivering to the Company Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum amount required to be withheld or (iv) withholding from the proceeds of the sale of otherwise
deliverable Shares acquired pursuant to an Award either through a voluntary sale or through a mandatory sale arranged by the Company. The Fair Market Value of the Shares to be withheld or
delivered will be determined as of the date that the taxes are required to be withheld.

14. TRANSFERABILITY .

14.1. Transfer Generally . Unless determined otherwise by the Committee or pursuant to Section 14.2, an Award may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated, transferred, or disposed of in
any  manner  other  than  by  will  or  by  the  laws  of  descent  and  distribution.  If  the  Committee  makes  an  Award  transferable,  including,  without  limitation,  by  instrument  to  an  inter  vivos  or
testamentary trust in which the Awards are to be passed to beneficiaries upon the death of the trustor (settlor) or by gift or by domestic relations order to a Permitted Transferee, such Award will
contain such additional terms and conditions as the Committee deems appropriate. All Awards shall be exercisable: (i) during the Participant’s lifetime only by (A) the Participant, or (B) the
Participant’s guardian or legal representative; (ii) after the Participant’s death, by the legal representative of the Participant’s heirs or legatees; and (iii) in the case of all awards except ISOs, by a
Permitted Transferee.

14.2. Beneficiaries . Each Participant under this Plan may, from time to time, name any beneficiary or beneficiaries (who may be named contingently or successively) to whom any benefit under
this Plan is to be paid in case of such Participant’s death before he or she receives any or all of such benefit. Each such designation shall revoke all prior designations by the same Participant,
shall be in a form prescribed by the Committee, and will be effective only when filed by such Participant in writing with the Company during such Participant’s lifetime. In the absence of any
such beneficiary designation, benefits remaining unpaid or rights remaining unexercised at such Participant’s death shall be paid to or exercised by such Participant’s executor, administrator, or
legal representative.

15. PRIVILEGES OF STOCK OWNERSHIP; RESTRICTIONS ON SHARES .

15.1. Voting  and  Dividends .  No  Participant  will  have  any  of  the  rights  of  a  stockholder  with  respect  to  any  Shares  until  the  Shares  are  issued  to  the  Participant,  except  for  any  Dividend
Equivalent Rights permitted by an applicable Award Agreement. After Shares are issued to the Participant, the Participant will be a stockholder and have all  the rights of a stockholder with
respect to such Shares, including the right to vote and receive all dividends or other distributions made or paid with respect to such Shares; provided , that if such Shares are Restricted Stock,
then any new, additional or different securities the Participant may become entitled to receive with respect to such Shares by virtue of



a stock dividend, stock split or any other change in the corporate or capital structure of the Company will be subject to the same restrictions as the Restricted Stock; provided , further , that the
Participant will have no right to such stock dividends or stock distributions with respect to Unvested Shares, and any such dividends or stock distributions shall be accrued and paid only at such
time if any, as such Unvested Shares become vested Shares. The Committee, in its discretion, may provide in the Award Agreement evidencing any Award that the Participant shall be entitled to
Dividend Equivalent  Rights  with respect  to  the payment  of  cash dividends on Shares  subject  to  such Award during the period beginning on the  date  the Award is  granted and ending,  with
respect to each Share subject to the Award, on the earlier of the date on which the Award is exercised or settled or the date on which they are forfeited; provided , that under no circumstances
may  Dividend  Equivalent  Rights  be  granted  for  any  Option  or  SAR and provided, further, that  no  Dividend  Equivalent  Right  shall  be  paid  with  respect  to  Unvested  Shares,  and  any  such
dividends or stock distributions shall be accrued and paid only at such time, if any, as such Unvested Shares become vested Shares. Such Dividend Equivalent Rights, if any, shall be credited to
the Participant in the form of additional whole Shares as of the date of payment of such cash dividends on Shares

15.2. Restrictions on Shares . At the discretion of the Committee, the Company may reserve to itself and/or its assignee(s) a right to repurchase (a “ Right of Repurchase ”) a portion of any or
all Unvested Shares held by a Participant following such Participant’s termination of Service at any time within ninety (90) days after the later of the date Participant’s Service terminates and the
date the Participant purchases Shares under this Plan, for cash and/or cancellation of purchase money indebtedness, at the Participant’s Purchase Price or Exercise Price, as the case may be.

16. CERTIFICATES . All Shares or other securities whether or not certificated,  delivered under this Plan will  be subject to such stock transfer orders,  legends and other restrictions as the
Committee may deem necessary or advisable, including restrictions under any applicable U.S. federal, state or foreign securities law, or any rules, regulations and other requirements of the SEC
or any stock exchange or automated quotation system upon which the Shares may be listed or quoted and any non-U.S. exchange controls or securities law restrictions to which the Shares are
subject.

17. ESCROW;  PLEDGE  OF  SHARES . To  enforce  any  restrictions  on  a  Participant’s  Shares,  the  Committee  may  require  the  Participant  to  deposit  all  certificates  representing  Shares,
together with stock powers or other instruments of transfer approved by the Committee, appropriately endorsed in blank, with the Company or an agent designated by the Company to hold in
escrow until such restrictions have lapsed or terminated, and the Committee may cause a legend or legends referencing such restrictions to be placed on the certificates. Any Participant who is
permitted to execute a promissory note as partial or full consideration for the purchase of Shares under this Plan will be required to pledge and deposit with the Company all or part of the Shares
so purchased as collateral to secure the payment of the Participant’s obligation to the Company under the promissory note; provided , however , that the Committee may require or accept other
or  additional  forms  of  collateral  to  secure  the  payment  of  such  obligation  and,  in  any  event,  the  Company  will  have  full  recourse  against  the  Participant  under  the  promissory  note
notwithstanding any pledge of the Participant’s Shares or other collateral. In connection with any pledge of the Shares, the Participant will be required to execute and deliver a written pledge
agreement in such form as the Committee will from time to time approve. The Shares purchased with the promissory note may be released from the pledge on a pro rata basis as the promissory
note is paid.

18. EXCHANGE AND BUYOUT OF AWARDS . An Exchange Program, including but not limited to any repricing of Options or SARs is not permitted without prior stockholder approval.

19. SECURITIES LAW AND OTHER REGULATORY COMPLIANCE . An Award will not be effective unless such Award is in compliance with all applicable U.S. and foreign federal
and state securities  and exchange control  laws,  rules and regulations of any governmental  body,  and the requirements of any stock exchange or automated quotation system upon which the
Shares may then be listed or quoted, as they are in effect on the date of grant of the Award and also on the date of exercise or other issuance. Notwithstanding any other provision in this Plan, the
Company will have no obligation to issue or deliver certificates for Shares under this Plan prior to: (a) obtaining any approvals from governmental agencies that the Company determines are
necessary or  advisable;  and/or  (b)  completion of  any registration or  other  qualification of  such Shares under  any state  or  federal  or  foreign law or  ruling of  any governmental  body that  the
Company determines to be necessary or advisable. The Company will be under no obligation to register the Shares with the SEC or to effect compliance with the registration, qualification or
listing requirements of any foreign or state securities laws, exchange control laws, stock exchange or automated quotation system, and the Company will have no liability for any inability or
failure to do so.

20. NO OBLIGATION TO EMPLOY . Nothing in this Plan or any Award granted under this Plan will confer or be deemed to confer on any Participant any right to continue in the employ of,
or to continue any other relationship with, the Company or any Parent, Subsidiary or Affiliate or limit in any way the right of the Company or any Parent, Subsidiary or Affiliate to terminate
Participant’s employment or other relationship at any time.

21. CORPORATE TRANSACTIONS .

21.1. Assumption or Replacement of Awards by Successor . In the event that the Company is subject to a Corporate Transaction, outstanding Awards acquired under this Plan shall be subject to
the documentation evidencing the Corporate Transaction, which need not treat all outstanding Awards in an identical manner. Such agreement, without the Participant’s consent, shall provide
for one or more of the following with respect to all outstanding Awards as of the effective date of such Corporate Transaction.

(a) The continuation of an outstanding Award by the Company (if the Company is the successor entity).

(b) The assumption of an outstanding Award by the successor or acquiring entity (if any) of such Corporate Transaction (or by its parents,  if  any), which assumption, will  be binding on all
selected Participants; provided that the exercise price and the number and nature of shares issuable upon exercise of any such option or stock appreciation right, or any award that is subject to
Section 409A of the Code, will be



adjusted appropriately pursuant to Section 424(a) of the Code.
 
(c) The substitution by the successor or acquiring entity in such Corporate Transaction (or by its parents, if any) of an equivalent award with substantially the same terms for such outstanding
Award (except that the exercise price and the number and nature of shares issuable upon exercise of any such option or stock appreciation right, or any award that is subject to Section 409A of
the Code, will be adjusted appropriately pursuant to Section 424(a) of the Code).

(d) A payment to the Participant equal to the excess of (i) the Fair Market Value of the Shares subject to the Award as of the effective date of such Corporate Transaction over (ii) the Exercise
Price or Purchase Price of Shares, as the case may be, subject to the Award in connection with the cancellation of the Award. Such payment will be made in the form of cash, cash equivalents, or
securities  of  the  surviving  corporation  or  its  parent  with  a  Fair  Market  Value  equal  to  the  required  amount.  The  successor  corporation  may  provide  substantially  similar  consideration  to
Participants as was provided to stockholders (after taking into account the existing provisions of the Awards). Subject to Section 409A of the Code, such payment may be made in installments,
may  be  deferred  until  the  date  or  dates  when  the  Award  would  have  become  exercisable  or  such  Shares  would  have  vested,  and  such  payment  may  be  subject  to  vesting  based  on  the
Participant’s  continuing  such  payment  initially  will  be  calculated  without  regard  to  whether  or  not  the  Award  is  then  exercisable  or  such  Shares  are  then  vested.  In  addition,  any  escrow,
holdback, earnout or similar provisions in the agreement for such Corporate Transaction may apply to such payment to the same extent and in the same manner as such provisions apply to the
holders of Shares. If the Exercise Price of the Shares subject to an Option exceeds the Fair Market Value of such Shares, then the Option may be cancelled without making a payment to the
Participant. For purposes of this subsection, the Fair Market Value of any security will be determined without regard to any vesting conditions that may apply to such security.

The Board shall  have full  power and authority to assign the Company’s right to repurchase or re-acquire or forfeiture rights to such successor or acquiring corporation. Notwithstanding the
foregoing,  solely  upon  a  Corporate  Transaction  in  which  the  successor  or  acquiring  corporation  refuses  to  assume,  convert,  replace  or  substitute  Awards,  as  provided  above,  pursuant  to  a
Corporate Transaction notwithstanding any other provision in this Plan to the contrary, and unless otherwise determined by the Committee, all Awards granted under this Plan shall accelerate in
full as of the time of consummation of the Corporate Transaction. In such event, the Committee will notify the Participant in writing or electronically that such Award will be exercisable for a
period  of  time  determined  by  the  Committee  in  its  sole  discretion,  and  such  Award  will  terminate  upon  the  expiration  of  such  period.  Awards  need  not  be  treated  similarly  in  a  Corporate
Transaction.

21.2. Assumption of Awards by the Company . The Company, from time to time, also may substitute or assume outstanding awards granted by another company, whether in connection with an
acquisition of such other company or otherwise, by either; (a) granting an Award under this Plan in substitution of such other company’s award; or (b) assuming such award as if it had been
granted  under  this  Plan  if  the  terms  of  such  assumed award  could  be  applied  to  an  Award granted  under  this  Plan.  Such  substitution  or  assumption  will  be  permissible  if  the  holder  of  the
substituted or assumed award would have been eligible to be granted an Award under this Plan if the other company had applied the rules of this Plan to such grant. In the event the Company
assumes an award granted by another company, the terms and conditions of such award will remain unchanged ( except that the Purchase Price or the Exercise Price, as the case may be, and the
number and nature of Shares issuable upon exercise or settlement of any such Award will be adjusted appropriately pursuant to Section 424(a) of the Code). In the event the Company elects to
grant a new Option in substitution rather than assuming an existing option, such new Option may be granted with a similarly adjusted Exercise Price. Substitute Awards shall not reduce the
number of Shares authorized for grant under this Plan or authorized for grant to a Participant in a calendar year.

21.3. Non-Employee Directors’ Awards .  Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary herein, in the event of a Corporate Transaction, the vesting of all  Awards granted to Non-Employee
Directors shall  accelerate and such Awards shall  become exercisable (as applicable)  in full  prior to the consummation of such event  at  such times and on such conditions as the Committee
determines.
 
22. ADOPTION AND STOCKHOLDER APPROVAL . This Plan shall  be submitted for the approval of the Company’s stockholders,  consistent with applicable laws, within twelve (12)
months before or after the date this Plan is adopted by the Board.

23. TERM OF PLAN/GOVERNING LAW . Unless earlier terminated as provided herein, this Plan will become effective on the Effective Date and will terminate ten (10) years from the date
this Plan is adopted by the Board. After this Plan is terminated or expires, no Awards may be granted but Awards previously granted shall remain outstanding in accordance with their applicable
terms and conditions and this Plan’s terms and conditions. This Plan and all Awards granted hereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware
(excluding its conflict of laws rules).

24. AMENDMENT OR TERMINATION OF PLAN . The Board may at  any time terminate  or  amend this  Plan in  any respect,  including,  without  limitation,  amendment  of  any form of
Award Agreement or instrument to be executed pursuant to this Plan; provided , however , that the Board will not, without the approval of the stockholders of the Company, amend this Plan in
any manner that requires such stockholder approval; provided further , that a Participant’s Award shall be governed by the version of this Plan then in effect at the time such Award was granted.

25. NONEXCLUSIVITY OF THE PLAN; UNFUNDED PLAN . Neither the adoption of this Plan by the Board, the submission of this Plan to the stockholders of the Company for approval,
nor any provision of this Plan will be construed as creating any limitations on the power of the Board to adopt such additional compensation arrangements as it may deem desirable, including,
without limitation, the granting of stock awards and bonuses otherwise than under this Plan, and such arrangements may be either generally applicable or applicable only in specific cases.

26. INSIDER TRADING POLICY . Each Participant who receives an Award shall comply with any policy adopted by the Company from time to time covering transactions in the Company’s
securities by Employees, officers and/or directors of the Company.



 

27. ALL  AWARDS  SUBJECT  TO  COMPANY  CLAWBACK  OR  RECOUPMENT  POLICY . All  Awards  held  by  an  executive  officer  shall  be  subject  to  clawback,  recoupment  or
forfeiture (i) to the extent that such executive officer is determined to have engaged in fraud or intentional illegal conduct materially contributing to a financial restatement, as determined by the
Board in its sole discretion, (ii) as provided under any clawback, recoupment or forfeiture policy adopted by the Board or (iii) required by law. Such clawback, recoupment or forfeiture policy,
in addition to any other remedies available under applicable law, may require the cancellation of outstanding Awards and the recoupment of any gains realized with respect to Awards.

28. DEFINITIONS . As used in this Plan, and except as elsewhere defined herein, the following terms will have the following meanings:

28.1. “ Affiliate ” means (i)  any entity  that,  directly or  indirectly,  is  controlled by,  controls  or  is  under common control  with,  the Company and (ii)  any entity  in which the Company has a
significant equity interest, in either case as determined by the Committee, whether now or hereafter existing.

28.2. “ Award ” means any award under this Plan, including any Option, Restricted Stock, Stock Bonus, Stock Appreciation Right, Restricted Stock Unit or award of Performance Shares.

28.3. “ Award Agreement ” means, with respect to each Award, the written or electronic agreement between the Company and the Participant setting forth the terms and conditions of the Award
and country-specific appendix thereto for grants to non-U.S. Participants, which shall be in substantially a form (which need not be the same for each Participant) that the Committee (or in the
case of Award agreements that are not used for Insiders, the Committee’s delegate(s)) has from time to time approved, and will comply with and be subject to the terms and conditions of this
Plan.
 
28.4. “ Board ” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

28.5. “ Cause ” means termination of the Participant’s Service on the basis of the Participant’s conviction (or a plea of nolo contendere ) of fraud, misappropriation, embezzlement or any other
act  or  acts  of  dishonesty  constituting  a  felony  and  resulting  or  intended  to  result  directly  or  indirectly  in  a  substantial  gain  or  personal  enrichment  to  the  Participant  at  the  expense  of  the
Company or any Subsidiary.

28.6. “ Code ” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

28.7. “ Committee ” means the Compensation Committee of the Board or those persons to whom administration of this Plan, or part of this Plan, has been delegated as permitted by law.

28.8. “ Common Stock ” means the common stock of the Company.

28.9. “ Company ” means Dexcom, Inc., or any successor corporation.

28.10. “ Consultant ” means any person, including an advisor or independent contractor, engaged by the Company or a Parent, Subsidiary or Affiliate to render services to such entity.

28.11. “ Corporate Transaction ” means the occurrence of any of the following events: (i) any “person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) becomes the
“beneficial  owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act),  directly or indirectly,  of securities of the Company representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the total  voting power
represented by the Company’s then-outstanding voting securities;  provided, however, that  for purposes of this subclause (i) the acquisition of additional securities by any one Person who is
considered to own more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of the securities of the Company will not be considered a Corporate Transaction; (ii) the consummation of the sale,
transfer or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets; (iii) the consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other corporation, other
than a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by
being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or its parent) more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power represented by the voting securities of the Company or such
surviving entity or its parent outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation; (iv) any other transaction which qualifies as a “corporate transaction” under Section 424(a) of the Code
wherein the stockholders of the Company give up all of their equity interest in the Company (except for the acquisition, sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the outstanding shares of the
Company) or (v) a change in the effective control of the Company that occurs on the date that a majority of members of the Board is replaced during any twelve (12) month period by members
of the Board whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the members of the Board prior to the date of the appointment or election. For purpose of this subclause (v), if any
Person is considered to be in effective control of the Company, the acquisition of additional control of the Company by the same Person will not be considered a Corporate Transaction. For
purposes of this definition, Persons will be considered to be acting as a group if they are owners of a corporation that enters into a merger, consolidation, purchase or acquisition of stock, or
similar business transaction with the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that any amount constituting deferred compensation (as defined in Section 409A of the Code) would
become payable under this Plan by reason of a Corporate Transaction, such amount shall become payable only if the event constituting a Corporate Transaction would also qualify as a change in
ownership or effective control of the Company or a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of the Company, each as defined within the meaning of Code Section 409A, as
it has been and may be amended from time to time, and any proposed or final Treasury Regulations and IRS guidance that has been promulgated or may be promulgated thereunder from time to
time.

Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  a  Corporate  Transaction  shall  not  be  deemed  to  result  from  any  transaction  precipitated  by  the  Company’s  insolvency,  appointment  of  a  conservator,  or
determination by a regulatory agency that the Company is insolvent, nor from any transaction



the sole purpose of which is to change the state of the Company’s incorporation or to create a holding company that will be owned in substantially the same proportions by the persons who held
the Company’s securities immediately before such transaction.

28.12. “ Director ” means a member of the Board.

28.13. “ Disability ” means in the case of ISOs, total and permanent disability as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code and in the case of other Awards, that the Participant is unable to engage
in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period
of not less than 12 months.

28.14. “ Dividend Equivalent Right ” means the right of a Participant, granted at the discretion of the Committee or as otherwise provided by the Plan, to receive a credit for the account of such
Participant in an amount equal to the cash dividends paid on one Share for each Share represented by an Award held by such Participant.

28.15. “ Effective Date ” means the date the Plan is approved by the stockholders of the Company which shall be within twelve (12) months of the approval of the Plan by the Board.

28.16. “ Employee ” means any person, including officers and Directors, providing services as an employee to the Company or any Parent, Subsidiary or Affiliate. Neither service as a Director
nor payment of a director’s fee by the Company will be sufficient to constitute “employment” by the Company.

28.17. “ Exchange Act ” means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

28.18. “ Exchange Program ” means a program pursuant to which (i) outstanding Awards are surrendered, cancelled or exchanged for cash, the same type of Award or a different Award (or
combination thereof) or (ii) the exercise price of an outstanding Award is increased or reduced.

28.19. “ Exercise Price ” means, with respect to an Option, the price at which a holder may purchase the Shares issuable upon exercise of an Option and with respect to a SAR, the price at
which the SAR is granted to the holder thereof.

28.20. “ Fair Market Value ” means, as of any date, the value of a Share determined as follows:

(a) if such Common Stock is publicly traded and is then listed on a national securities exchange, its closing price on the date of determination on the principal national securities exchange on
which the Common Stock is listed or admitted to trading as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such other source as the Committee deems reliable;

(b) if  such  Common  Stock  is  publicly  traded  but  is  neither  listed  nor  admitted  to  trading  on  a  national  securities  exchange,  the  average  of  the  closing  bid  and  asked  prices  on  the  date  of
determination as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such other source as the Committee deems reliable; or

(c) if none of the foregoing is applicable, by the Board or the Committee in good faith.

28.21. “ Insider ” means an officer or director of the Company or any other person whose transactions in the Company’s Common Stock are subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

28.22. “ IRS ” means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

28.23. “ Non-Employee Director ” means a Director who is not an Employee of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary.
 
28.24. “ Option ” means an award of an option to purchase Shares pursuant to Section 5.

28.25. “ Parent ” means any corporation (other than the Company) in an unbroken chain of corporations ending with the Company if each of such corporations other than the Company owns
stock possessing fifty percent (50%) or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock in one of the other corporations in such chain.

28.26. “ Participant ” means a person who holds an Award under this Plan.

28.27. “ Performance Award ” means cash or stock granted pursuant to Section 10 or Section 12 of this Plan.

28.28. “ Performance Factors ” means any of the factors selected by the Committee and specified in an Award Agreement, from among the following objective measures, either individually,
alternatively or in any combination, applied to the Company as a whole or any business unit or Subsidiary, either individually, alternatively, or in any combination, on a GAAP or non-GAAP
basis, and measured, to the extent applicable on an absolute basis or relative to a pre-established target, to determine whether the performance goals established by the Committee with respect to
applicable Awards have been satisfied:

(a) Profit Before Tax;

(b) Billings;

(c) Revenue;



(d) Net revenue;

(e) Earnings (which may include earnings before interest and taxes, earnings before taxes, and net earnings, or as otherwise adjusted);

(f) Operating income;

(g) Operating margin;

(h) Operating profit;

(i) Controllable operating profit, or net operating profit;

(j) Net Profit;

(k) Gross margin;

(l) Operating expenses or operating expenses as a percentage of revenue;

(m) Net income;

(n) Earnings per share;

(o) Total stockholder return;
 
(p) Market share;

(q) Return on assets or net assets;

(r) The Company’s stock price;

(s) Growth in stockholder value relative to a pre-determined index;

(t) Return on equity;

(u) Return on invested capital;

(v) Cash Flow (including free cash flow or operating cash flows)

(w) Cash conversion cycle;

(x) Economic value added;

(y) Individual confidential business objectives;

(z) Contract awards or backlog;

(aa) Overhead or other expense reduction;

(bb) Credit rating;

(cc) Strategic plan development and implementation;

(dd) Succession plan development and implementation;

(ee) Improvement in workforce diversity;

(ff) Customer indicators;

(gg) New product invention or innovation;

(hh) Attainment of research and development milestones;

(ii) Improvements in productivity;

(jj) Bookings;

(kk) Attainment of objective operating goals and employee metrics; and

(ll) Any other metric that is capable of measurement as determined by the Committee.



 

28.29. “ Performance Period ” means the period of service determined by the Committee, not to exceed five (5) years, during which years of service or performance is to be measured for the
Award.

28.30. “ Performance Share ” means an Award granted pursuant to Section 10 or Section 12 of this Plan.
 
28.31. “ Permitted Transferee ” means any child, stepchild, grandchild, parent, stepparent, grandparent, spouse, former spouse, sibling, niece, nephew, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law,
daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law (including adoptive relationships) of the Employee, any person sharing the Employee’s household (other than a tenant or employee), a trust in
which these persons (or the Employee) have more than 50% of the beneficial interest, a foundation in which these persons (or the Employee) control the management of assets, and any other
entity in which these persons (or the Employee) own more than 50% of the voting interests.

28.32. “ Person ” shall have the meaning as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act.

28.33. “ Plan ” means this DexCom, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.

28.34. “ Purchase Price ” means the price to be paid for Shares acquired under this Plan, other than Shares acquired upon exercise of an Option or SAR.

28.35. “ Restricted Stock Award ” means an award of Shares pursuant to Section 6 or Section 12 of this Plan, or issued pursuant to the early exercise of an Option.

28.36. “ Restricted Stock Unit ” means an Award granted pursuant to Section 9 or Section 12 of this Plan.

28.37. “ SEC ” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

28.38. “ Securities Act ” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

28.39. “ Service ” shall mean service as an Employee, Consultant,  Director or Non-Employee Director, to the Company or a Parent,  Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Company, subject to such
further limitations as may be set forth in this Plan or the applicable Award Agreement. An Employee will not be deemed to have ceased to provide Service in the case of (i) medical leave, (ii)
military leave, or (iii) any other leave of absence approved by the Company. In the case of any Employee on an approved leave of absence, Awards shall not vest during such leave of absence,
except as may be required by applicable Law. At such time as such Employee returns to regular and continuous service with the Company following the leave of absence, the vesting schedule
applicable to the Awards shall recommence, with the total period of the vesting schedule extended by a number of days equal to the total number of days of Employee’s leave of absence, except
that in no event may an Award be exercised after the expiration term set forth in the Award Agreement. Similarly, if Employee’s schedule reduces to a less than a full-time service arrangement,
Awards shall vest on a proportionately and commensurately slower schedule, except that in no event may an Award be exercised after the expiration term set forth in the Award Agreement. No
fractional shares may be issued. In the event of military leave, if required by applicable laws, vesting shall continue for the longest period that vesting continues under any other statutory or
Company approved leave of absence and, upon a Participant’s returning from military leave (under conditions that would entitle him or her to protection upon such return under the Uniform
Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act), he or she shall be given vesting credit with respect to Awards to the same extent as would have applied had the Participant continued to
provide  services  to  the  Company throughout  the  leave  on the  same terms as  he  or  she  was  providing services  immediately  prior  to  such leave.  Except  as  set  forth  in  this  Section  28.39,  an
employee shall have terminated employment as of the date he or she ceases to provide Services (regardless of whether the termination is in breach of local employment laws or is later found to
be invalid) and employment shall not be extended by any notice period or garden leave mandated by local law, provided however , that a change in status from an employee to a consultant or
advisor shall not terminate the service provider’s Service, unless determined by the Committee, in its discretion. The Committee will have sole discretion to determine whether a Participant has
ceased to provide Services and the effective date on which the Participant ceased to provide Services.

28.40. “ Shares ” means shares of the Company’s Common Stock and the common stock of any successor security.

28.41. “ Stock Appreciation Right ” means an Award granted pursuant to Section 8 or Section 12 of this Plan.

28.42. “ Stock Bonus ” means an Award granted pursuant to Section 7 or Section 12 of this Plan.

28.43. “ Subsidiary ”  means  any  corporation  (other  than  the  Company)  in  an  unbroken  chain  of  corporations  beginning  with  the  Company  if  each  of  the  corporations  other  than  the  last
corporation in the unbroken chain owns stock possessing fifty percent (50%) or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock in one of the other corporations in such chain.

28.44. “ Treasury Regulations ” means regulations promulgated by the United States Treasury Department.

28.45. “ Unvested Shares ” means Shares that have not yet vested or are subject to a right of repurchase in favor of the Company (or any successor thereto).



Exhibit 10.43

INDEMNITY AGREEMENT

This Indemnity Agreement (this “ Agreement ”), shall be effective on the first date of service to DexCom, Inc., and is made by and
between DexCom, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “ Company ”), and [_____], a director and/or officer of the Company (the “ Indemnitee
”).

RECITALS

A.    The Company is  aware that  competent  and experienced persons are  increasingly reluctant  to  serve as  directors  or  officers  of
corporations unless  they are  protected by comprehensive liability  insurance and/or  indemnification,  due to  increased exposure to  litigation
costs and risks resulting from their service to such corporations, and because the exposure frequently bears no reasonable relationship to the
compensation of such directors and officers;

B.    Based on their experience as business managers, the Board of Directors of the Company (the “ Board ”) has concluded that, to
retain and attract talented and experienced individuals to serve as officers and directors of the Company, and to encourage such individuals to
take the business  risks necessary for  the success of  the Company,  it  is  necessary for  the Company contractually to  indemnify officers  and
directors and to assume for itself maximum liability for expenses and damages in connection with claims against such officers and directors
in connection with their service to the Company;

C.    Section 145 of the General Corporation Law of Delaware, under which the Company is organized (the “ Law ”) empowers the
Company to indemnify by agreement its officers, directors, employees and agents, and persons who serve, at the request of the Company, as
directors, officers, employees or agents of other corporations or enterprises, and expressly provides that the indemnification provided by the
Law is not exclusive; and

D.    The Company desires and has requested the Indemnitee to serve or continue to serve as a director or officer of the Company free
from undue concern for claims for damages arising out of or related to such services to the Company.

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:

1. Definitions.

1.1      Agent . For the purposes of this Agreement, “ agent ” of the Company means any person who is or was a director or
officer  of  the Company or a subsidiary of the Company; or  is  or  was serving at  the request  of,  for  the convenience of,  or  to represent  the
interest of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company as a director or officer of another foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, joint
venture, trust or other enterprise or an affiliate of the Company; or was a director or officer of a foreign or domestic corporation which was a
predecessor corporation of the Company, or was a director or officer of another enterprise or affiliate of the Company at the request of, for the
convenience of, or to represent the interests of such predecessor corporation. The term “ enterprise ” includes any employee benefit plan of
the Company, its subsidiaries, affiliates and predecessor corporations.
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1.2      Expenses . For purposes of this Agreement, “ expenses ” includes all direct and indirect costs of any type or nature
whatsoever (including, without limitation, all attorneys’ fees and related disbursements and other out-of-pocket costs) actually and reasonably
incurred  by  the  Indemnitee  in  connection  with  the  investigation,  defense  or  appeal  of  a  proceeding  or  establishing  or  enforcing  a  right  to
indemnification or advancement of expenses under this Agreement.

1.3      Proceeding . For the purposes of this Agreement, “ proceeding ” means any threatened, pending or completed action,
suit or other proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or any other type whatsoever.

1.4      Subsidiary . For purposes of this Agreement, “ subsidiary ” means any corporation of which more than fifty percent
(50%)  of  the  outstanding  voting  securities  is  owned  directly  or  indirectly  by  the  Company,  by  the  Company  and  one  or  more  of  its
subsidiaries or by one or more of the Company’s subsidiaries.

2.      Agreement to Serve . The Indemnitee agrees to serve and/or continue to serve as an agent of the Company, at the will of the
Company  (or  under  separate  agreement,  if  such  agreement  exists),  in  the  capacity  the  Indemnitee  currently  serves  as  an  agent  of  the
Company,  faithfully  and  to  the  best  of  his  ability,  so  long  as  he  or  she  is  duly  appointed  or  elected  and  qualified  in  accordance  with  the
applicable provisions of the charter documents of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company; provided , however , that the Indemnitee
may at any time and for any reason resign from such position (subject to any contractual obligation that the Indemnitee may have assumed
apart from this Agreement), and the Company or any subsidiary shall have no obligation under this Agreement to continue the Indemnitee in
any such position.

3.      Directors’  and  Officers’  Insurance . The  Company  shall,  to  the  extent  that  the  Board  determines  it  to  be  economically
reasonable, maintain a policy of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance (“ D&O Insurance ”), on such terms and conditions as may be
approved by the Board.

4.      Mandatory Indemnification . Subject to Section 9 below, the Company shall indemnify the Indemnitee:

4.1      Third Party Actions . If the Indemnitee is a person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any
proceeding (other than an action by or in the right of the Company) by reason of the fact that he is or was an agent of the Company, or by
reason  of  anything  done  or  not  done  by  him  in  any  such  capacity,  against  any  and  all  expenses  and  liabilities  of  any  type  whatsoever
(including,  but  not  limited  to,  judgments,  fines,  ERISA excise  taxes  or  penalties  and  amounts  paid  in  settlement)  actually  and  reasonably
incurred  by  him in  connection  with  the  investigation,  defense,  settlement  or  appeal  of  such  proceeding  if  he  acted  in  good  faith  and  in  a
manner  he  reasonably  believed  to  be  in,  or  not  opposed  to,  the  best  interests  of  the  Company  and,  with  respect  to  any  criminal  action  or
proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful; and

4.2      Derivative Actions . If the Indemnitee is a person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any
proceeding by or in the right of the Company to procure a
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judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that he is or was an agent of the Company, or by reason of anything done or not done by him in any
such capacity, against any amounts paid in settlement of any such proceeding and all  expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him in
connection with the investigation, defense, settlement or appeal of such proceeding if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably
believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Company; except that no indemnification under this subsection shall be made in
respect  of  any  claim,  issue  or  matter  as  to  which  such person shall  have  been finally  adjudged to  be  liable  to  the  Company by  a  court  of
competent jurisdiction due to willful misconduct of a culpable nature in the performance of his duty to the Company, unless and only to the
extent  that  the  Court  of  Chancery  or  the  court  in  which  such  proceeding  was  brought  shall  determine  upon  application  that,  despite  the
adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such
amounts which the Court of Chancery or such other court shall deem proper.

4.3      Exception for Amounts Covered by Insurance . Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall not be obligated
to indemnify the Indemnitee for expenses or liabilities of any type whatsoever (including, but not limited to, judgments, fines, ERISA excise
taxes or penalties and amounts paid in settlement) to the extent such have been paid directly to the Indemnitee by D&O Insurance.

5.      Partial Indemnification and Contribution .

5.1      Partial Indemnification . If the Indemnitee is entitled under any provision of this Agreement to indemnification by
the  Company for  some or  a  portion  of  any  expenses  or  liabilities  of  any  type  whatsoever  (including,  but  not  limited  to,  judgments,  fines,
ERISA excise taxes or penalties and amounts paid in settlement) incurred by him or her in the investigation, defense, settlement or appeal of a
proceeding but is not entitled, however, to indemnification for all of the total amount thereof, then the Company shall nevertheless indemnify
the Indemnitee for such total amount except as to the portion thereof to which the Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification.

5.2      Contribution . If the Indemnitee is not entitled to the indemnification provided in Section 4 for any reason other than
the statutory limitations set forth in the Law, then in respect of any threatened, pending or completed proceeding in which the Company is
jointly  liable  with  the  Indemnitee  (or  would  be  if  joined  in  such  proceeding),  the  Company  shall  contribute  to  the  amount  of  expenses
(including  attorneys’  fees),  judgments,  fines  and  amounts  paid  in  settlement  actually  and  reasonably  incurred  and  paid  or  payable  by  the
Indemnitee  in  such  proportion  as  is  appropriate  to  reflect  (i)  the  relative  benefits  received  by  the  Company  on  the  one  hand  and  the
Indemnitee on the other hand from the transaction from which such proceeding arose and (ii) the relative fault of the Company on the one
hand and of the Indemnitee on the other hand in connection with the events which resulted in such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement
amounts, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of the Company on the one hand and of the Indemnitee on
the  other  hand  shall  be  determined  by  reference  to,  among other  things,  the  parties’  relative  intent,  knowledge,  access  to  information  and
opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts. The Company agrees
that it would not be just and equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 5.2 were determined by pro rata allocation
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or any other method of allocation that does not take account of the foregoing equitable considerations.

6.      Mandatory Advancement of Expenses .

6.1      Advancement . Subject to Section 9.1 below and except as prohibited by law, the Company shall advance all expenses
incurred by the Indemnitee in connection with the investigation, defense, settlement or appeal of any proceeding to which the Indemnitee is a
party or is threatened to be made a party by reason of the fact that the Indemnitee is or was an agent of the Company or by reason of anything
done or not done by him in any such capacity. The Indemnitee hereby undertakes to promptly repay such amounts advanced only if, and to
the extent that, it shall ultimately be determined that the Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified by the Company under the provisions of
this Agreement, the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of the Company, the Law or otherwise. The advances to be made hereunder shall
be paid by the Company to the Indemnitee within thirty (30) days following delivery of a written request therefor by the Indemnitee to the
Company.

6.2      Exception . Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 6, the Company shall not be obligated to advance
any expenses to the Indemnitee arising from a lawsuit  filed directly by the Company against  the Indemnitee if  an absolute majority of the
members of the Board reasonably determines in good faith, within thirty (30) days of the Indemnitee’s request to be advanced expenses, that
the facts known to them at the time such determination is made demonstrate clearly and convincingly that the Indemnitee acted in bad faith. If
such a determination is made, the Indemnitee may have such decision reviewed by another forum, in the manner set forth in Sections 8.3, 8.4
and 8.5 hereof, with all references therein to “indemnification” being deemed to refer to “advancement of expenses,” and the burden of proof
shall be on the Company to demonstrate clearly and convincingly that, based on the facts known at the time, the Indemnitee acted in bad faith.
The Company may not avail itself of this Section 6.2 as to a given lawsuit if, at any time after the occurrence of the activities or omissions
that are the primary focus of the lawsuit, the Company has undergone a change in control. For this purpose, a change in control shall mean a
given person or group of affiliated persons or groups increasing their beneficial ownership interest in the Company by at least twenty (20)
percentage points without advance Board approval.

7.      Notice and Other Indemnification Procedures .

7.1     Promptly after  receipt  by the Indemnitee of  notice of  the commencement of  or  the threat  of  commencement of  any
proceeding, the Indemnitee shall, if the Indemnitee believes that indemnification with respect thereto may be sought from the Company under
this Agreement, notify the Company of the commencement or threat of commencement thereof.

7.2     If,  at  the  time  of  the  receipt  of  a  notice  of  the  commencement  of  a  proceeding  pursuant  to  Section  7.1  hereof,  the
Company has D&O Insurance in effect, the Company shall give prompt notice of the commencement of such proceeding to the insurers in
accordance  with  the  procedures  set  forth  in  the  respective  policies.  The  Company shall  thereafter  take  all  necessary  or  desirable  action  to
cause such insurers to pay, on behalf of the
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Indemnitee, all amounts payable as a result of such proceeding in accordance with the terms of such D&O Insurance policies.

7.3     In the event the Company shall be obligated to advance the expenses for any proceeding against the Indemnitee, the
Company,  if  appropriate,  shall  be  entitled  to  assume  the  defense  of  such  proceeding,  with  counsel  approved  by  the  Indemnitee  (which
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld), upon the delivery to the Indemnitee of written notice of its election to do so. After delivery of
such notice, approval of such counsel by the Indemnitee and the retention of such counsel by the Company, the Company will not be liable to
the Indemnitee under this Agreement for any fees of counsel subsequently incurred by the Indemnitee with respect to the same proceeding,
provided that: (a) the Indemnitee shall have the right to employ his or her own counsel in any such proceeding at the Indemnitee’s expense
and (b) if (i) the employment of counsel by the Indemnitee has been previously authorized by the Company, (ii) the Indemnitee shall have
reasonably concluded that there may be a conflict of interest between the Company and the Indemnitee in the conduct of any such defense or
(iii)  the  Company  shall  not,  in  fact,  have  employed  counsel  to  assume  the  defense  of  such  proceeding,  then  the  fees  and  expenses  of  the
Indemnitee’s counsel shall be at the expense of the Company.

8.      Determination of Right to Indemnification .

8.1     To the extent the Indemnitee has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any proceeding referred to in
Section  4.1  or  4.2  of  this  Agreement  or  in  the  defense  of  any  claim,  issue  or  matter  described  therein,  the  Company  shall  indemnify  the
Indemnitee against expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him or her in connection with the investigation, defense or appeal of such
proceeding, or such claim, issue or matter, as the case may be.

8.2     In the event that Section 8.1 is inapplicable, or does not apply to the entire proceeding, the Company shall nonetheless
indemnify the Indemnitee unless the Company shall prove by clear and convincing evidence to a forum listed in Section 8.3 below that the
Indemnitee has not met the applicable standard of conduct required to entitle the Indemnitee to such indemnification.

8.3     The Indemnitee shall be entitled to select the forum in which the validity of the Company’s claim under Section 8.2
hereof that the Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification will be heard from among the following, except that the Indemnitee can select a
forum consisting of the stockholders of the Company only with the approval of the Company:

(a)    A quorum of the Board consisting of directors who are not parties to the proceeding for which indemnification is
being sought;

(b)    The stockholders of the Company;

(c)     Legal  counsel  mutually  agreed  upon  by  the  Indemnitee  and  the  Board,  which  counsel  shall  make  such
determination in a written opinion;
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(d)     A  panel  of  three  arbitrators,  one  of  whom  is  selected  by  the  Company,  another  of  whom is  selected  by  the
Indemnitee and the last of whom is selected by the first two arbitrators so selected; or

(e)    The Court of Chancery of Delaware.

8.4     As soon as practicable, and in no event later than thirty (30) days after the forum has been selected pursuant to Section
8.3 above, the Company shall, at its own expense, submit to the selected forum its claim that the Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification,
and the Company shall act in the utmost good faith to assure the Indemnitee a complete opportunity to defend against such claim.

8.5     If the forum selected in accordance with Section 8.3 hereof is not a court, then after the final decision of such forum is
rendered, the Company or the Indemnitee shall have the right to apply to the Court of Chancery of Delaware, for the purpose of appealing the
decision of such forum, provided that such right is executed within sixty (60) days after the final decision of such forum is rendered. If the
forum selected in accordance with Section 8.3 hereof is a court, then the rights of the Company or the Indemnitee to appeal any decision of
such court shall be governed by the applicable laws and rules governing appeals of the decision of such court.

8.6     Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement to the contrary, the Company shall indemnify the Indemnitee
against all expenses incurred by the Indemnitee in connection with any hearing or proceeding under this Section 8 involving the Indemnitee
and  against  all  expenses  incurred  by  the  Indemnitee  in  connection  with  any  other  proceeding  between  the  Company  and  the  Indemnitee
involving the interpretation or enforcement of the rights of the Indemnitee under this Agreement unless a court of competent jurisdiction finds
that each of the material claims and/or defenses of the Indemnitee in any such proceeding was frivolous or not made in good faith.

9.      Exceptions . Any other provision herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the Company shall not be obligated pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement:

9.1      Claims Initiated by Indemnitee . To indemnify or advance expenses to the Indemnitee with respect to proceedings or
claims  initiated  or  brought  voluntarily  by  the  Indemnitee  and  not  by  way  of  defense, except with  respect  to  proceedings  specifically
authorized  by  the  Board  or  brought  to  establish  or  enforce  a  right  to  indemnification  and/or  advancement  of  expenses  arising  under  this
Agreement,  the  charter  documents  of  the  Company  or  any  subsidiary  or  any  statute  or  law  or  otherwise,  but  such  indemnification  or
advancement of expenses may be provided by the Company in specific cases if the Board finds it to be appropriate; or

9.2      Unauthorized  Settlements . To  indemnify  the  Indemnitee  hereunder  for  any  amounts  paid  in  settlement  of  a
proceeding unless the Company consents in advance in writing to such settlement, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld; or

9.3      Securities Law Actions . To indemnify the Indemnitee on account of any suit in which judgment is rendered against
the Indemnitee for an accounting of profits made from the purchase or sale by the Indemnitee of securities of the Company pursuant to the
provisions of
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Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and amendments thereto or similar provisions of any federal, state or
local statutory law; or

9.4      Unlawful  Indemnification . To indemnify  the  Indemnitee  if  a  final  decision  by  a  court  having  jurisdiction  in  the
matter shall determine that such indemnification is not lawful. In this respect, the Company and the Indemnitee have been advised that the
Securities and Exchange Commission takes the position that indemnification for liabilities arising under the federal securities laws is against
public policy and is, therefore, unenforceable and that claims for indemnification should be submitted to appropriate courts for adjudication.

10.      Non-Exclusivity . The provisions for indemnification and advancement of expenses set forth in this Agreement shall not be
deemed exclusive of any other rights which the Indemnitee may have under any provision of law, the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation
or  Bylaws,  the  vote  of  the  Company’s  stockholders  or  disinterested  directors,  other  agreements  or  otherwise,  both  as  to  action  in  the
Indemnitee’s  official  capacity  and  to  action  in  another  capacity  while  occupying  his  position  as  an  agent  of  the  Company,  and  the
Indemnitee’s rights hereunder shall continue after the Indemnitee has ceased acting as an agent of the Company and shall inure to the benefit
of the heirs, executors and administrators of the Indemnitee.

11.      General Provisions .

11.1      Interpretation of Agreement . It is understood that the parties hereto intend this Agreement to be interpreted and
enforced so as to provide indemnification and advancement of expenses to the Indemnitee to the fullest extent now or hereafter permitted by
law, except as expressly limited herein.

11.2      Severability . If any provision or provisions of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable for
any reason whatsoever, then: (a) the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement (including, without
limitation, all portions of any paragraphs of this Agreement containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable that are
not themselves invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby; and (b) to the fullest extent possible,
the  provisions  of  this  Agreement  (including,  without  limitation,  all  portions  of  any  paragraphs  of  this  Agreement  containing  any  such
provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that are not themselves invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to give
effect to the intent manifested by the provision held invalid, illegal or unenforceable and to give effect to Section 11.1 hereof.

11.3      Modification and Waiver . No supplement, modification or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding unless
executed in writing by both of the parties hereto. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a
waiver of any other provision hereof (whether or not similar), nor shall such waiver constitute a continuing waiver.

11.4      Subrogation . In the event of full payment under this Agreement, the Company shall be subrogated to the extent of
such payment to all of the rights of recovery of the Indemnitee, who shall execute all documents required and shall do all acts that may be
necessary
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or desirable to secure such rights and to enable the Company effectively to bring suit to enforce such rights.

11.5      Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, which shall together constitute one
agreement.

11.6      Successors and Assigns . The terms of this Agreement shall bind, and shall inure to the benefit of, the successors and
assigns of the parties hereto.

11.7      Notice . All notices, requests, demands and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall
be deemed duly given: (a) if delivered by hand and signed for by the party addressee; or (b) if mailed by certified or registered mail,  with
postage prepaid, on the third business day after the mailing date. Addresses for notice to either party are as shown on the signature page of
this Agreement or as subsequently modified by written notice.

11.8      Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed exclusively by and construed according to the laws of the State
of Delaware, without giving effect to that body of laws pertaining to conflict of laws.

11.9      Consent to Jurisdiction . The Company and the Indemnitee each hereby irrevocably consent to the jurisdiction of
the courts of the State of Delaware for all purposes in connection with any action or proceeding that arises out of or relates to this Agreement.

11.10      Attorneys’ Fees . In the event Indemnitee is required to bring any action to enforce rights under this Agreement
(including, without limitation, the expenses of any Proceeding described in Section 1.3) the Indemnitee shall be entitled to all reasonable fees
and  expenses  in  bringing  and  pursuing  such  action,  unless  a  court  of  competent  jurisdiction  finds  each  of  the  material  claims  of  the
Indemnitee in any such action was frivolous and not made in good faith.

[Remainder of Page Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Indemnity Agreement effective as of the date first written
above.

COMPANY – DEXCOM, INC. INDEMNITEE:

By: __________________________ __________________________________
Name: __________________________  

Title: __________________________  

Address: __________________________ Address: __________________________
__________________________________ __________________________________

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO DEXCOM, INC. INDEMNITY AGREEMENT]
DexCom, Inc. Confidential



Exhibit 10.46

FIRST AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “ Amendment ”),  dated as of May 8, 2017, is entered into by and
among DEXCOM, INC., a Delaware corporation (the “ Borrower ”), the Lenders described below party hereto, and JPMORGAN CHASE
BANK,  NATIONAL  ASSOCIATION,  a  national  banking  association,  as  administrative  agent  for  the  Lenders  (in  such  capacity,  the  “
Administrative Agent ”). Unless otherwise specified herein, capitalized terms used in this Amendment shall have the meanings ascribed to
them in the Credit Agreement (as hereinafter defined).

WHEREAS,  the  Borrower,  certain  financial  institutions  parties  thereto  (the  “ Lenders ”),  the  Administrative  Agent,  and  Bank  of
America, N.A. and Silicon Valley Bank, as Co-Syndication Agents, are parties to that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of June 17, 2016 (as
amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “ Credit Agreement ”);

WHEREAS, the Borrower has also requested that the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders amend the Credit Agreement
as set forth herein; and

WHEREAS, on the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders have agreed to amend
the Credit Agreement as set forth herein.

NOW,  THEREFORE,  for  and  in  consideration  of  the  premises  and  mutual  agreements  herein  contained  and  for  the  purposes  of
setting forth the terms and conditions of this Amendment and for other valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be bound, hereby agree as follows:

1.     Amendments to Credit Agreement .  Subject  to the terms and conditions of this Amendment,  the Credit  Agreement is hereby
amended as follows:

(a)     Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following definitions in the appropriate alphabetical
order:

“ Convertible  Notes ”  means  unsecured  convertible  notes  of  the  Borrower  in  an  aggregate  principal  amount  of  not  more  than
$460,000,000.

“ Liquidity ” means, with respect to the Borrower at any date, the sum of unrestricted domestic cash, cash equivalents and other short
term domestic investments of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on such date, determined in accordance with GAAP.

(b)     Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby further amended by amending and restating the definition of “Fixed Charges”
set forth therein in its entirety to read as follows:

“ Fixed Charges ” means, for any period, without duplication, cash Interest Expense plus the scheduled principal payments on all
Long-Term Debt (other than on the Convertible Notes) in the four consecutive fiscal quarters immediately following the end of such period,
all calculated for the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

(c)      Section  1.01 of  the  Credit  Agreement  is  hereby  further  amended  by  amending  and  restating  the  definition  of  “Restricted
Payment” set forth therein in its entirety to read as follows:

“ Restricted Payment ” means any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or other property) with respect to any
Equity Interests in the Borrower or any Subsidiary, or any payment
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(whether in cash, securities or other property), including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on account of the purchase, redemption,
retirement,  acquisition,  cancellation  or  termination  of  any  such  Equity  Interests  in  the  Borrower  or  any  option,  warrant  or  other  right  to
acquire any such Equity Interests in the Borrower, but excluding any payment of principal of any of the Convertible Notes, any payment on
account of the purchase, redemption, retirement, repayment, acquisition, cancellation or termination of Convertible Notes, and any settlement
of the Convertible Notes on the conversion thereof, whether in cash, securities, other property or a combination thereof.

(d)     Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby further amended by amending and restating the definition of “Total Leverage
Ratio” set forth therein in its entirety to read as follows:

“ Total  Leverage  Ratio ”  means,  on  any  date,  the  ratio  of  (a)  Total  Indebtedness  on  such  date minus Liquidity  in  excess  of
$100,000,000 to (b) EBITDA for the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters ended on or most recently prior to such date.

(e)     Section 6.04(c) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“(c) (i) loans or advances made by the Borrower to any Loan Party and made by any Loan Party to the Borrower or any other Loan
Party, (ii) loans or advances made by any Subsidiary that is not a Loan Party to the Borrower or any Loan Party or to any non-Loan Party,
(iii) loans or advances made by the Borrower or any Loan Party to any foreign Subsidiary (other than DexCom (UK) Ltd.) that is not a Loan
Party, provided that the aggregate amount of such loans or advances under this clause (iii) shall not exceed $5,000,000 in any fiscal year and
(iv) loans, advances or other investments made by the Borrower or any Loan Party to DexCom (UK) Ltd., provided that the aggregate amount
of such loans or advances under this clause (iv) shall not exceed (x) $125,000,000 for the period from January 1, 2017 through December 31,
2018,  so  long  as  any  such  loans  and  advances  are  evidenced  by  an  intercompany  note  the  original  of  which  has  been  delivered  to  the
Administrative Agent along with an executed assignment, and (y) $25,000,000 for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019 and each fiscal
year ending thereafter;”

(f)     Section 6.06 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“SECTION 6.06. Restricted Payments; Certain Payments of Indebtedness .

(a)  The  Borrower  will  not,  and  will  not  permit  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  to,  declare  or  make,  or  agree  to  pay  or  make,  directly  or
indirectly, any Restricted Payment, except (i) the Borrower may declare and pay dividends with respect to its Equity Interests payable solely
in additional shares of its common stock, (ii) Subsidiaries of the Borrower may declare and pay dividends ratably with respect to their Equity
Interests, (iii) the Borrower may make Restricted Payments pursuant to and in accordance with stock option plans or other benefit plans for
management, directors or employees of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, (iv) other Restricted Payments not to exceed $50,000,000 in the
aggregate  during  any  four  consecutive  fiscal  quarters  so  long  as  after  giving  effect  thereto  (x)  the  Borrower  shall  have  not  less  than
$25,000,000 of Liquidity and (y) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing and (v) any other Restricted Payments
so long as after giving effect thereto (w) pro forma Total Leverage Ratio is less than or equal to 1.75 to 1.00, (x) the Borrower is in pro forma
compliance with each of the covenants contained in Section 6.13 , (y) the Borrower shall have not less than $25,000,000 of Liquidity and (z)
no  Default  or  Event  of  Default  shall  have  occurred  and  be  continuing; provided , however ,  that  this Section  6.06 shall  not  prohibit  the
repurchase  of  Equity  Interests  pursuant  to  any  accelerated  stock  repurchase  or  similar  agreement  so  long  as  any  payment  made  by  the
Borrower with respect to such
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repurchase is permitted under this Section 6.06(a) (without regard to this proviso) at the time of such payment.

(b)    The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, pay or make, directly or indirectly, any cash payment of principal of
any of the Convertible Notes, or any cash payment on account of the purchase, redemption, settlement on conversion, retirement, acquisition,
cancellation or termination of any such Indebtedness, unless (i) the Borrower is in pro forma compliance with each of the covenants contained
in Section 6.13 , (ii) the Borrower shall have not less than $100,000,000 of Liquidity on a pro forma basis, (iii) no Default or Event of Default
shall have occurred and be continuing, in each case of clauses (i), (ii) and (iii), on the date of such payment and giving effect thereto and (iv)
in  the  case  of  redemption,  the  Borrower  shall  deliver  to  the  Administrative  Agent  a  certificate  of  a  Financial  Officer  to  effect  that  the
Borrower is in compliance with the conditions set forth in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) of this Section 6.06(b) ; provided that for the avoidance of
doubt, this Section 6.06(b) shall not restrict (x) the payment of interest (including any additional interest payable upon specified events) on
the  Convertible  Notes  or  (y)  the  settlement  of  conversion  of  Convertible  Notes  for  securities,  other  property  (excluding  cash)  or  a
combination thereof); provided further that clause (ii) of this Section 6.06(b) shall not apply in the case of any settlement on conversion for
cash.”

(g)     Clause (g) of Article VII of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“(g)  any  event  or  condition  occurs  that  results  in  any  Material  Indebtedness  becoming  due  prior  to  its  scheduled  maturity  or  that
enables or permits (with or without the giving of notice, the lapse of time or both) the holder or holders of any Material Indebtedness or any
trustee or agent on its or their behalf to cause any Material Indebtedness to become due, or to require the prepayment, repurchase, redemption
or defeasance thereof, prior to its scheduled maturity; provided that this clause (g) shall not apply to (i) secured Indebtedness that becomes
due as a result of the voluntary sale or transfer of the property or assets securing such Indebtedness, (ii) any event or condition that gives a
holder  the  right  to  convert  any  Convertible  Note  (other  than  an  event  of  default  under  the  Convertible  Notes),  (iii)  any  conversion  of  the
Convertible  Notes  (and the settlement  thereof,  whether  in  securities,  other  property  (excluding cash)  or  a  combination thereof)  or  (iv)  any
purchase, redemption, retirement, settlement on conversion for cash, acquisition, cancellation or termination of any Convertible Notes that is
permitted by Section 6.06(b) ;”

2.     Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness . This Amendment shall not become effective unless (a) the Administrative Agent shall
have received a copy of this Amendment, in form and substance acceptable to the Administrative Agent, executed by the Borrower and the
Required Lenders, (b) the representations and warranties contained herein shall be true and correct and no Default or Event of Default shall
exist  on  the  date  hereof,  (c)  the  Borrower  shall  have  paid  to  the  Administrative  Agent,  for  the  benefit  of  each  of  the  Lenders  that  have
executed this Amendment on or prior to May 4, 2017, a work fee in an amount equal to $5,000 for each such consenting Lender and (d) the
Borrower  shall  have  paid  all  reasonable  out  of  pocket  costs  and  expenses  of  or  incurred  by  the  Administrative  Agent,  including  but  not
limited  to,  fees  and  disbursements  of  counsel  to  the  Administrative  Agent,  in  connection  with  the  preparation,  negotiation,  execution  and
delivery of this Amendment, in each case that have been invoiced prior to the date of this Amendment.

3.     Representations . The Borrower hereby represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders that: (a) it has all
necessary  power  and  authority  to  execute  and  deliver  this  Amendment  and  perform  its  obligations  hereunder,  (b)  no  Default  or  Event  of
Default  exists  both before  and after  giving effect  to  this  Amendment,  (c)  this  Amendment  and the Credit  Agreement,  as  amended hereby,
constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Borrower and are enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with their terms,
subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
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moratorium  or  other  laws  affecting  creditors’  rights  generally  and  subject  to  general  principles  of  equity,  regardless  of  whether
considered in a proceeding in equity or at law, (d) all Liens created under the Loan Documents continue to be first-priority (subject only to
Permitted  Encumbrances)  perfected  Liens,  (e)  all  representations  and  warranties  of  the  Borrower  contained  in  the  Credit  Agreement,  as
amended hereby,  are  true and correct  in  all  material  respects  (without  duplication of  any materiality  qualifiers  set  forth  therein)  as  though
made on and as of the date hereof (except to the extent such representations and warranties relate to an earlier date, in which case they are true
and correct in all material respects (without duplication of any materiality qualifiers set forth therein) as of such date) and (f) the execution
and delivery of this Amendment will not contravene or result in a violation of any material contract or agreement to which the Borrower is a
party.

4.      Ratification .  Except  as  expressly  modified  by  this  Amendment,  all  of  the  terms,  provisions  and  conditions  of  the  Credit
Agreement,  as  heretofore  amended,  shall  remain  unchanged  and  in  full  force  and  effect.  Except  as  herein  specifically  agreed,  the  Credit
Agreement and each other Loan Document are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force and effect according to their terms.
Except as specifically set forth herein, the execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not operate as a waiver of any right,
power, privilege or remedy of the Administrative Agent or the Lenders under the Credit Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents, or
constitute a waiver of any provision of the Credit Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents. This Amendment shall not constitute a
course of dealing with the Administrative Agent or the Lenders at variance with the Credit Agreement or the other Loan Documents such as
to require further notice by such Person to require strict compliance with the terms of the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents in
the future. The Borrower acknowledges and expressly agrees that the Administrative Agent and each Lender reserves the right to, and does in
fact,  require  strict  compliance  with  all  terms  and provisions  of  the  Credit  Agreement  (as  expressly  modified  by  this  Amendment)  and  the
other Loan Documents.

5.     Miscellaneous .

(a)     Governing Law . This Amendment shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the law of the State of New York.

(b)     WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL . EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY
APPLICABLE  LAW,  ANY  RIGHT  IT  MAY  HAVE  TO  A  TRIAL  BY  JURY  IN  ANY  LEGAL  PROCEEDING  DIRECTLY  OR
INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AMENDMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY
(WHETHER  BASED  ON  CONTRACT,  TORT  OR  ANY  OTHER  THEORY).  EACH  PARTY  HERETO  (A)  CERTIFIES  THAT  NO
REPRESENTATIVE,  AGENT  OR  ATTORNEY  OF  ANY  OTHER  PARTY  HAS  REPRESENTED,  EXPRESSLY  OR  OTHERWISE,
THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER
AND  (B)  ACKNOWLEDGES  THAT  IT  AND  THE  OTHER  PARTIES  HERETO  HAVE  BEEN  INDUCED  TO  ENTER  INTO  THIS
AMENDMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION.

(c) Counterparts;  Effectiveness .  This  Amendment  may  be  executed  in  counterparts  (and  by  different  parties  hereto  on  different
counterparts),  each  of  which  shall  constitute  an  original,  but  all  of  which  when  taken  together  shall  constitute  a  single  contract.  This
Amendment  shall  become  effective  as  provided  in Section  2 hereof  and  when  the  Administrative  Agent  shall  have  received  counterparts
hereof which, when taken together, bear the signatures of each of the other parties hereto, and thereafter shall be binding upon and inure to
the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this
Amendment by telecopy or other
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electronic transmission shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Amendment.

(d)     Entire Agreement . This Amendment and the other Loan Documents constitute the entire understanding of the parties hereto
and thereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof and any prior agreements, whether written or oral, with respect thereto are
superseded hereby.

(e)     Severability of Provisions . Any provision of this Amendment held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction
shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity, legality
and  enforceability  of  the  remaining  provisions  hereof;  and  the  invalidity  of  a  particular  provision  in  a  particular  jurisdiction  shall  not
invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.

(f)     Successors and Assigns . The provisions of this Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto
and their respective successors and assigns permitted under the Credit Agreement.

(g)     Construction . The parties acknowledge and agree that this Amendment shall not be construed more favorably in favor of any
party  hereto  based  upon  which  party  drafted  the  same,  it  being  acknowledged  that  all  parties  hereto  contributed  substantially  to  the
negotiation of this Amendment.

(h)     Incorporation . This Amendment shall form a part of the Credit Agreement, and all references to the Credit Agreement shall
mean  that  document  as  hereby  modified.  Upon  the  effectiveness  of  this  Amendment,  each  reference  in  the  Credit  Agreement  to  “this
Agreement”, “hereunder”, “hereof”, “herein” or words of similar import shall mean and be a reference to the Credit Agreement as amended
hereby.

(i)     No Prejudice; No Impairment . This Amendment shall not prejudice, limit, restrict or impair any rights, privileges, powers or
remedies  of  the  Administrative  Agent  or  the  Lenders  under  the  Credit  Agreement  or  any  other  Loan  Documents  as  hereby  amended.  The
Administrative Agent and each Lender reserves, without limitation, all rights which the Administrative Agent and each Lender has now or in
the future against any guarantor or endorser of the Obligations.

[ Signatures Immediately Follow ]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this First Amendment to Credit
Agreement as of the date first written above.

BORROWER:

By:     /s/ Kevin Sun                
Name:      Kevin Sun
Title:    Vice President Finance and Interim Chief

Financial Officer

Signature Page to First Amendment to Credit Agreement



LENDERS:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., individually and as
Administrative Agent

By: /s/ Ling Li                
Name: Ling Li
Title: Executive Director



Bank of America, N . A .

as a Lender

By: /s/ Alexander D. Lurie            
Name: Alexander D. Lurie
Title: Senior Vice President



Union Bank as a Lender

By: /s/ James Kordas            
Name: James Kordas
Title: Director



MUFG Union Bank, N.A., as a Lender

By: /s/ James Kordas            
Name: James Kordas
Title: Director



Silicon Valley Bank, as a Lender

By: /s/ Kevin Fleischman        
Name: Kevin Fleischman
Title: Vice President



Bank of the West, as a Lender

By: /s/ Jason Antrim        
Name: Jason Antrim
Title: Vice President
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Exhibit 10.47

AGREEMENT made as of the « 1st » day of « May » in the year «2017 »
(In words, indicate day, month and year.)

BETWEEN the Owner:
(Name, legal status, address and other information)

DexCom, Inc.
6340 Sequence Drive
San Diego, CA 92121
Attn: James Gillard
« »

and the Contractor:
(Name, legal status, address and other information)

Skanska USA Building Inc.
4742 N. 24 th Street, Suite 165
Phoenix, AZ 85016
Attn: Ross Vroman
« »

for the following Project:
(Name, location and detailed description)

«Phase 2 Tenant Improvements at »
«232 South Dobson Road,
Mesa, AZ 85202 »

The Architect:
(Name, legal status, address and other information)

Mansour Architecture Corporation
6498 Weathers Place, Suite 100
San Diego, CA 92121
Attn: Anthony Mansour      ·
« »

The Owner and Contractor agree as follows.

ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS: The author of this document has added information needed for its completion. The author may also have revised the text of the
original AIA standard form. An Additions and Deletions Report that notes added information as well as revisions to the standard form text is available from the
author and should be reviewed.

This document has important legal consequences. Consultation with an attorney is encouraged with respect to its completion or modification.

This document is not intended for use in competitive bidding.

AIA Document A201™-2007, General Conditions of the Contract for Construction, is adopted in this document by reference. Do not use with other general
conditions unless this document is modified.

Electronic copying of any portion of this AIA® Document to another electronic file is prohibited and constitutes a violation of copyright laws as set forth in the
footer of this document.
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ARTICLE 1   THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS
The Contract Documents consist of this Agreement, as modified herein by the parties, Conditions of the Contract (General, Supplementary and other Conditions),
Drawings, Specifications, Addenda issued prior to execution of this Agreement, the Exhibits to this Agreement, other documents listed in this Agreement and
Modifications issued after execution of this Agreement, all of which form the Contract, and are as fully a part of the Contract as if attached to this Agreement or
repeated herein. The Contract represents the entire and integrated agreement between the parties hereto and supersedes prior negotiations, representations or
agreements, either written or oral. If anything in the other Contract Documents, other than a Modification, is inconsistent with this Agreement, then conflicts or
discrepancies shall be resolved in the following descending order of priority: (i) approved revisions and addenda, including the GMP Amendment, of later date take
precedence over those of earlier date or original documents; (ii) this Agreement (including the exhibits; (iii) modifications to the General Conditions; (iv) the
General Conditions; and (v) Drawings and Specifications, where Drawings govern Specifications for quantity and location and Specifications govern Drawings for
quality and performance. In the event of ambiguity in quantity or quality, the greater quantity and the better quality shall govern. Work not particularly detailed or
specified shall be performed in the same manner as similar portions of the Work that are detailed or specified. Owner and Contractor entered into that certain
Master Services Agreement dated as of January 12, 2016, which agreement concerns a different subject matter than this Agreement, remains in full force and effect
and is not superseded by the Contract Documents.
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ARTICLE 2   THE WORK OF THIS CONTRACT
The Contractor shall fully execute the Work described in the Contract Documents, except as specifically indicated in the Contract Documents to be the
responsibility of others.

§ 2.1 Contractor shall provide all general contractor services, and shall perform all the work required by the Contract Documents for the complete construction of
the Project in accordance with the Contract Documents, which shall include, but not be limited to, relocation of existing utilities. Contractor shall provide and
furnish all materials, supplies, equipment and tools, implements, and all other facilities, and all other labor, supervision, transportation, utilities, storage, services,
sales taxes, appliances and all other services as and when required for or in connection with the complete construction of the Project, including any off site
construction shown on the Contract Documents (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Work"). The phrase "the complete construction of the Project" means to
perform the totality of the obligations imposed upon Contractor by the Contract Documents or reasonably inferable therefrom as necessary to complete the Work
and the Project and to provide a fully complete and operational construction solution, in Contractor’s exercise of its best professional judgment, to the standards
generally conveyed in the Contract Documents and customarily found in the construction industry for projects similar in size and scope to the Project.

ARTICLE 3   RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES
The Contractor accepts the relationship of reliance and confidence established by this Agreement and covenants with the Owner to cooperate with Owner, Owner's
project manager, Gary Ghio with G2 Facilities Management Consulting (“Project Manager”) (provided, however, Owner may designate a different Project
Manager by written notice to Contractor), and the Architect, and to exercise the Contractor’s best skill, efforts and judgment in furthering the interests of the
Owner; to furnish efficient business administration and supervision; to furnish at all times an adequate supply of workers and materials; and to perform the Work in
an expeditious and economical manner consistent with the Owner’s interests. The Owner agrees to furnish and approve, in a timely manner, information required
by the Contractor and to make payments to the Contractor in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents. Contractor shall not be required to
provide professional services that constitute the practice of architecture or engineering. Contractor shall not be responsible for the adequacy of the design criteria
required by the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 4   DATE OF COMMENCEMENT AND SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION
§ 4.1 The date for the commencement of the Work (the "Commencement Date") shall be set forth in a Notice to Proceed (NTP) issued by Owner concurrent with
execution of this Agreement. However, the NTP shall not be effective, and Contractor shall have no obligation to commence its Work, until Owner has fulfilled the
following conditions precedent and has delivered to Contractor copies of the building permit required to be obtained by the Owner for the commencement of the
Work at the site, if any, and certificates of insurance for all insurance required to be provided by Owner, including the builder’s risk insurance;

(2)    evidence sufficient to reasonably satisfy Contractor of Owner’s financing for the Project; and
(3)    reasonable access to the site.

If Owner does not issue an effective NTP, Contractor shall have no obligation to commence the Work, or any part of the Work, until Owner satisfies the above
conditions precedent to the effectiveness of the NTP.
.
(Insert the date of commencement, if it differs from the date of this Agreement or, if applicable, state that the date will be fixed in a notice to proceed.)

« »
« »May 8, 2017

§ 4.2 The Contract Time shall be measured from the Commencement Date, subject to adjustments in Contract Time as expressly provided in the Contract
Documents.

§ 4.3 The Contractor shall diligently prosecute the Work and achieve Substantial Completion of the entire Work for the Project not later than the Substantial
Completion date established in a written amendment to be signed by Owner and Contractor and delivered to each other setting forth the schedule for completion of
each milestone of the Work, the deadline for Substantial Completion and the Guaranteed Maximum Price (the “GMP Amendment”), subject to
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adjustments of this Contract Time as provided in the Contract Documents (the "Substantial Completion Deadline"). Time is of the essence of this Agreement for
meeting the milestones of Substantial and Final Completion.
(Insert number of calendar days. Alternatively, a calendar date may be used when coordinated with the date of commencement. If appropriate, insert requirements
for earlier Substantial Completion of certain portions of the Work.)

« »

Portion of Work  Substantial Completion date
   

, subject to adjustments of this Contract Time as provided in the Contract Documents.

(Insert provisions, if any, for liquidated damages relating to failure to achieve Substantial Completion on time, or for bonus payments for early completion of the
Work.)

«Liquidated damages established as set forth in Section 4.5 below. »

§  4.4 The Contractor agrees to complete all of the Work in accordance with the Contractor’s Schedule included in the GMP Amendment.

§ 4.5 Liquidated Damages. The Owner and the Contractor acknowledge and agree that if the Contractor does not timely achieve Substantial Completion by the
Substantial Completion Deadline set forth in the GMP Amendment, (a) the Owner will suffer substantial loss of income and revenue and other damages and losses,
including, without limitation, loss of business and loss or damage to reputation, business relationships, goodwill, and loss of use of the property, and (b) the actual
amount of damages which the Owner would suffer would be extremely difficult and impracticable to ascertain. Accordingly, the Owner and the Contractor agree
that:

(a)    If the Contractor does not timely achieve Substantial Completion by the deadline set forth in the GMP Amendment, then the following
sums shall constitute a reasonable estimate of the amount of damages for such delay, and the Contractor shall pay such sums to the Owner as liquidated
damages for each day or portion of a day that Substantial Completion is delayed beyond the deadline within thirty (30) calendar days upon Owner’s
invoice to the Contractor:

One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00 ) for each day of unexcused delay.

(b)    In no event shall the liquidated damages, in the aggregate, exceed 10 percent (10%) of Contractors Fee. The liquidated damages set forth above are
the sole and exclusive remedy for Contractor’s failure to achieve Substantial Completion by the deadline set forth in the GMP Amendment.

Final completion shall occur no later than thirty (30) days after Substantial Completion. Failure to achieve Final Completion before the expiration of such thirty
(30)-day period will result in liquidated damages of Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) per day for each day in excess of thirty (30) days after Substantial Completion
until Final Completion is achieved, subject to the cap set forth above.

ARTICLE 5   CONTRACT SUM
§ 5.1 The Owner shall pay the Contractor the Contract Sum in current funds for the Contractor’s performance of the Contract, in accordance with, and subject to
the terms of the conditions of the Contract Documents. The Contract Sum shall be the lesser of (a) Cost of the Work as defined in Article 7 plus the Contractor’s
Fee and (b) the Guaranteed Maximum Price. A Schedule of Billable Rates is attached hereto as Exhibit C and incorporated herein.

§ 5.1.1 The Contractor’s Fee:
(State a lump sum, percentage of Cost of the Work or other provision for determining the Contractor’s Fee.)

«four and 00/100 percent (4.0%) of the Cost of Work.

§ 5.1.2 The method of adjustment of the Contractor’s Fee for changes in the Work:
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«In connection with any changes in the Work which increase the Contract Sum, the Contractor’s Fee shall be increased by an amount equal to four and 00/100
percent (4.0%) of that portion of the Cost of the Work incurred as a result of such changes in the Work, and in connection with any changes in the Work which
decrease the Contract Sum, the Contractor’s Fee shall be reduced by an amount equal to four and 00/100 percent (4.0%) of that portion of the Cost of the Work
reduced as a result of such changes in the Work. »

§ 5.1.3 Limitations, if any, on a Subcontractor’s overhead and profit for increases in the cost of its portion of the Work:

«Limitations, if any, will be agreed upon by Contractor and Owner on a trade-by-trade basis ( and may be set forth in the amendment to this Agreement which
documents, if applicable, the agreed-upon Guaranteed Maximum Price). »

§ 5.1.4 Rental rates for Contractor-owned equipment shall not exceed the amounts set forth in Section 7.5.2 hereof .

§ 5.1.5 Unit prices, if any:
(Identify and state the unit price; state the quantity limitations, if any, to which the unit price will be applicable.)

Item  Units and Limitations  Price Per Unit ($0.00)
     

§ 5.2 GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE
§ 5.2.1 The Contract Sum is guaranteed by the Contractor not to exceed a maximum amount (the "Guaranteed Maximum Price") established in the GMP
Amendment, subject to additions and deductions by Change Order as provided in the Contract Documents. Costs which would cause the Guaranteed Maximum
Price to be exceeded shall be paid by the Contractor without reimbursement by the Owner. Contractor acknowledges and agrees that the Guaranteed Maximum
Price includes all inflationary costs and adjustments, and labor and material escalations, in connection with the performance of the Work so long as Owner satisfies
its express obligations under the Schedule and timely issues the NTP . The Guaranteed Maximum Price shall not be adjusted due to any such inflationary costs
and/or escalation events so long as Owner satisfies its express obligations under the Schedule and timely issues the NTP. There shall be no shared savings clause in
this Agreement. All savings will accrue to the Owner.
(Insert specific provisions if the Contractor is to participate in any savings.)

« »

§ 5.2.1.1 At a time to be mutually agreed upon by the Owner and the Contractor, the Contractor shall prepare a Guaranteed Maximum Price proposal for the
Owner’s review and written acceptance. The Guaranteed Maximum Price in the proposal shall be the sum of the Contractor’s reasonable estimate of the Cost of the
Work, including contingencies described in Section 5.2.1.4, and the Contractor’s Fee.

§ 5.2.1.2 To the extent that the Drawings and Specifications are anticipated to require further development, the Contractor shall provide in the Guaranteed
Maximum Price for such further development consistent with the Contract Documents and reasonably inferable therefrom. Such further development does not
include such things as changes in scope, systems, kinds and quality of materials, finishes or equipment, all of which, if required, shall be incorporated by Change
Order.

§ 5.2.1.3 The Contractor shall include with the Guaranteed Maximum Price proposal a written statement of its basis, which shall include the following:
.1A list of the Drawings and Specifications, including all Addenda thereto, and the Conditions of the Contract;
.2A list of the clarifications and assumptions made by the Contractor in the preparation of the Guaranteed Maximum Price proposal, including

assumptions to supplement the information provided by the Owner and contained in the Drawings and Specifications;
.3A statement of the proposed Guaranteed Maximum Price, including a statement of the estimated Cost of the Work organized by trade categories or

systems, allowances, contingency, and the Contractor’s Fee;
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.4The anticipated date of Substantial Completion upon which the proposed Guaranteed Maximum Price is based (i.e., the proposed “Substantial
Completion Deadline”); and

.5A date by which the Owner must accept or reject the Guaranteed Maximum Price, which shall not be less than 30 days from the date of the Guaranteed
Maximum Price proposal (it being agreed if Owner does not accept or reject the Guaranteed Maximum Price proposal in writing, it shall be
deemed rejected).

§ 5.2.1.4 In preparing the Contractor’s Guaranteed Maximum Price proposal, the Contractor shall include its contingency for the Contractor’s exclusive use
(hereinafter the “Construction Contingency”) as necessary to cover those costs considered reimbursable as the Cost of the Work but not included in a Change
Order, and to the extent not paid for by insurance, or Subcontractor defaults. Subject to the prior written consent of Owner, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld, the Construction Contingency shall be available for the Contractor’s exclusive use at any time to cover costs intended to be covered by the
Contract Documents, including at the time of Final Payment, for reimbursement of costs and expenses (1) reasonably incurred by Contractor in performing the
Work, (2) of a type that are reimbursable under this Agreement as a Cost of the Work, and (3) that are not otherwise the basis for a Change Order (it being
understood that the Construction Contingency shall not be used to fund any Work which would otherwise be subject to a Change Order); including, by way of
example, but not limited to, (a) Work items inadvertently omitted during the estimating and bidding process, (b) schedule recovery costs associated with normal
weather, (c) cost increases due to unanticipated local labor and material market conditions, (d) interfacing omissions between and from the various categories of
work; and (e) additional costs incurred due to the withdrawal or disqualification of a subcontractor bid forming the basis for the GMP prior to signing of a written
subcontract, provided, however, Contractor shall not be entitled to reimbursement for any costs attributable to its negligence or willful misconduct or the failure of
Contractor to perform its obligations under this Agreement. Contractor shall furnish the Owner with a monthly Contingency Log showing all reimbursements from
the Construction Contingency. Costs and expenses reimbursable from the Construction Contingency shall not exceed the amount of the Construction Contingency
identified as an element of the Guaranteed Maximum Price set forth in the GMP Amendment. When the Construction Contingency is exhausted, all costs and
expenses that would qualify for reimbursement from the Construction Contingency shall be borne by Contractor unless such costs and expenses are otherwise
compensable under the terms of this Agreement and do not cause the Guaranteed Maximum Price to be exceeded. Any amount remaining in the Construction
Contingency at Final Payment shall be counted as savings that shall accrue solely to Owner.

§ 5.2.1.5 The Contractor shall meet with the Owner to review the Guaranteed Maximum Price proposal. In the event that the Owner discovers any inconsistencies
or inaccuracies in the information presented, it shall notify the Contractor, who shall promptly make appropriate adjustments to the Guaranteed Maximum Price
proposal, its basis, or both, as the case may be.

§ 5.2.1.6 If the Owner notifies the Contractor in writing that the Owner has accepted the Guaranteed Maximum Price proposal before the date specified in the
Guaranteed Maximum Price proposal, the Guaranteed Maximum Price proposal shall be deemed effective without further acceptance from the Contractor.
Following acceptance of a Guaranteed Maximum Price, the Owner and Contractor shall execute the Guaranteed Maximum Price Amendment amending this
Agreement, a copy of which the Owner shall provide to the Architect. The Guaranteed Maximum Price Amendment shall set forth the agreed upon Guaranteed
Maximum Price with the information and assumptions upon which it is based.

§ 5.2.1.7 The Contractor shall not incur any cost to be reimbursed as part of the Cost of the Work prior to the commencement of the Construction Phase, unless the
Owner, in its sole and absolute discretion, provides prior written authorization for such costs “Initial Release Work.”) Written authorization for Initial Release
Work shall be provided by an Approval Letter in the form at Exhibit A . All Initial Release Work performed pursuant to the Approval Letters shall be performed in
accordance with the Contract Documents unless otherwise specified in the Approval Letter.  All Initial Release Work, if any, shall be deemed to be included in the
scope of the Work pursuant to the Contract Documents. The Approval Letters constitute the basis upon which Initial Release Work shall be performed and upon
which the Contractor shall be paid for the Initial Release Work and, unless and until the GMP is agreed to by the Owner, the Contractor shall not proceed with any
other Work. The GMP shall include the cost of any Initial Release Work authorized pursuant to the Approval Letter issued prior to the establishment of the GMP.

§ 5.2.1.8 The Owner shall provide the revisions to the Drawings and Specifications to incorporate the agreed-upon assumptions and clarifications contained in the
Guaranteed Maximum Price Amendment. The Owner shall promptly
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furnish those revised Drawings and Specifications to the Contractor as they are revised and approved by Owner. The Contractor shall promptly notify the Owner of
any inconsistencies between the Guaranteed Maximum Price Amendment and the revised Drawings and Specifications.

§ 5.2.2 The Guaranteed Maximum Price is based on the following alternates, if any, which are described in the Contract Documents and are hereby accepted by the
Owner:
(State the numbers or other identification of accepted alternates. If bidding or proposal documents permit the Owner to accept other alternates subsequent to the
execution of this Agreement, attach a schedule of such other alternates showing the amount for each and the date when the amount expires.)

«To be set forth in GMP Amendment. »

§ 5.2.3 Allowances included in the Guaranteed Maximum Price, if any:
(Identify allowance and state exclusions, if any, from the allowance price.)

Item  Price
   

To be set forth in GMP Amendment.

§ 5.2.4 Not used.

§ 5.2.5 To the extent that the Drawings and Specifications are anticipated to require further development by the Architect, the Contractor has provided in the
Guaranteed Maximum Price for such further development consistent with the Contract Documents and reasonably inferable therefrom. Such further development
does not include such things as changes in scope, systems, kinds and quality of materials, finishes or equipment, all of which, if required, shall be incorporated by
Change Order.

ARTICLE 6   CHANGES IN THE WORK
§ 6.1 Adjustments to the Guaranteed Maximum Price on account of changes in the Work may be determined by any of the methods listed in Section 7.3.3 of AIA
Document A201–2007, General Conditions of the Contract for Construction.

§ 6.2 In calculating adjustments to subcontracts (except those awarded with the Owner’s prior consent on the basis of cost plus a fee), the terms “cost” and “fee” as
used in Section 7.3.3.3 of AIA Document A201–2007 and the term “costs” as used in Section 7.3.7 of AIA Document A201–2007 shall have the meanings
assigned to them in AIA Document A201–2007 and shall not be modified by Articles 5, 7 and 8 of this Agreement. Adjustments to subcontracts awarded with the
Owner’s prior consent on the basis of cost plus a fee shall be calculated in accordance with the terms of those subcontracts.

§ 6.3 In calculating adjustments to the Guaranteed Maximum Price, the terms “cost” and “costs” as used in the above-referenced provisions of AIA Document
A201–2007 shall mean the Cost of the Work as defined in Article 7 of this Agreement and the term “fee” shall mean the Contractor’s Fee as defined in Section
5.1.1 of this Agreement.

§ 6.4 No change in the Work, whether by way of alteration or addition to the Work, shall be the basis of an addition to the Guaranteed Maximum Price or a change
in the Contract Time unless and until such alteration or addition has been authorized by a written Change Order or Construction Change Directive executed and
issued in accordance with and in strict compliance with the requirements of the Contract Documents. This requirement is of the essence of the Contract Documents.
Accordingly, no course of conduct or dealings between the parties, nor express or implied acceptance of alterations or additions to the Work, and no claim that the
Owner has been unjustly enriched by any alteration or addition to the Work, whether there is in fact any such unjust enrichment, shall be the basis for any claim to
an increase in the Guaranteed Maximum Price or change in the Contract Time.
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ARTICLE 7   COSTS TO BE REIMBURSED
§ 7.1 COST OF THE WORK
§ 7.1.1 The term Cost of the Work shall mean costs necessarily incurred by the Contractor in the proper performance of the Work. Such costs shall be at rates not
higher than the standard paid at the place of the Project except with prior written consent of the Owner. The Cost of the Work shall include only the items set forth
in this Article 7.

§ 7.1.2 The "Lump Sum General Conditions” shall include the following categories of Work as further described in Exhibit C :

• Wages or salaries of on-site personnel directly employed by the Contractor to supervise the Work at the site. Wages or salaries of supervisory and
administrative personnel directly employed by the Contractor engaged in the performance of the Work and located at the Site or working off-Site but only
for that portion of their time required for the Work

• Travel, accommodations and meals for Contractor’s personnel necessarily and directly incurred in connection with the performance of the Work.
• Travel to Owners office and other ADC’s sites as specifically described in Exhibit C .
• Expenses incurred in accordance with the Contractor’s standard written personnel policy for relocation and temporary living allowance of the Contractor’s

personnel required for the Work.
• Reasonable costs of expenses incurred in operating, maintaining and demobilizing the Site office, including the cost of office furniture, telephones,

internet, postage, express delivery charges, computing equipment, software, printing equipment, office supplies, photocopying and other miscellaneous
expenses as detailed in Exhibit C .

• Accounting and data processing costs related to the Work, including the cost of information technologies support services, check processing charges and
document archiving.

• On-site meeting expenses
• Preparation and management of the Contractor’s loss prevention program including safety orientations for all site personnel and visitors, site safety

signage, the cost for the Contractor’s sponsored safety incentive program for all project participants, and any required drug testing.
• Personal protective equipment including, hardhats, safety glasses, safety vests, gloves for Contractor’s employees and visitors to the Site.
• Preparation and management of the Contractor’s quality control program.
• Preparation and periodic update of the construction master project schedule.
• Drug testing for Skanska employees
• Temporary jobsite signage
• Blue print reproduction

The Lump Sum General Conditions shall be adjusted as part of any adjustment of the Contract Sum due to changes, excused delays or other circumstances
extending the Contract Time. In such event, the lump sum amount for General Conditions shall be increased or decreased, as the case may be, by the additional or
decreased General Conditions Costs incurred or saved by Contractor during the extended period, with the Schedule of Billable Rates attached hereto as Exhibit C
being used to determine the supervisory and administrative personnel costs associated with the adjustment.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Owner shall not be charged under any other provision of this Agreement for items covered under
the Lump Sum General Conditions. Where any open cost is subject to the Owner’s prior written approval, the Contractor shall obtain this approval prior to
incurring the cost.

§ 7.2 LABOR COSTS
§ 7.2.1 Wages of construction workers directly employed by the Contractor to perform the construction of the Work at the site or, with the Owner’s prior written
approval, at off-site workshops are included in the Lump Sum General Conditions.

§ 7.2.2 Wages or salaries of the Contractor’s supervisory and administrative personnel when stationed at the site are included in the Lump Sum General Conditions.
(If it is intended that the wages or salaries of certain personnel stationed at the Contractor’s principal or other offices shall be included in the Cost of the Work,
identify in Article 15, the personnel to be included, whether for all or only part of their time, and the rates at which their time will be charged to the Work.)
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§ 7.2.3 Wages and salaries of the Contractor’s supervisory or administrative personnel engaged at factories, workshops or on the road, in expediting the production
or transportation of materials or equipment required for the Work are included in the Lump Sum General Conditions.

§ 7.2.4 Costs paid or incurred by the Contractor for taxes, insurance, contributions, assessments and benefits required by law or collective bargaining agreements
and, for personnel not covered by such agreements, customary benefits such as sick leave, medical and health benefits, holidays, vacations and pensions, provided
such costs are based on wages and salaries included in the Cost of the Work under Sections 7.2.1 through 7.2.3 are included in the Lump Sum General Conditions.

§ 7.2.5 Bonuses, profit sharing, incentive compensation and any other discretionary payments paid to anyone hired by the Contractor or paid to any Subcontractor
or vendor, with the Owner’s prior written approval.

§ 7.3 SUBCONTRACT COSTS
Payments made by the Contractor to Subcontractors in accordance with the requirements of the subcontracts.

§ 7.4 COSTS OF MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT INCORPORATED IN THE COMPLETED CONSTRUCTION
§ 7.4.1 Costs, including transportation and storage, of materials and equipment incorporated or to be incorporated in the completed construction.

§ 7.4.2 Costs of materials described in the preceding Section 7.4.1 in excess of those actually installed to allow for reasonable waste and spoilage. Unused excess
materials, if any, shall become the Owner’s property at the completion of the Work or, at the Owner’s option, shall be sold by the Contractor. Any amounts realized
from such sales shall be credited to the Owner as a deduction from the Cost of the Work.

§ 7.5 COSTS OF OTHER MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT, TEMPORARY FACILITIES AND RELATED ITEMS
§ 7.5.1 Costs of transportation, storage, installation, maintenance, dismantling and removal of materials, supplies, temporary facilities, machinery, equipment and
hand tools not customarily owned by construction workers that are provided by the Contractor at the site and fully consumed in the performance of the Work. Costs
of materials, supplies, temporary facilities, machinery, equipment and tools that are not fully consumed shall be based on the cost or value of the item at the time it
is first used on the Project site less the value of the item when it is no longer used at the Project site. Costs for items not fully consumed by the Contractor shall
mean fair market value.

§ 7.5.2 Rental charges for temporary facilities, machinery, equipment and hand tools not customarily owned by construction workers that are provided by the
Contractor at the site and costs of transportation, installation, minor repairs, dismantling and removal. The total rental cost of any Contractor-owned item may not
exceed the purchase price of any comparable item. Rates of Contractor-owned equipment and quantities of equipment shall be subject to the Owner’s prior written
approval.

§ 7.5.3 Costs of removal of debris from the site of the Work and its proper and legal disposal.

§ 7.5.4 Costs of document reproductions, facsimile transmissions and long-distance telephone calls, postage and parcel delivery charges, telephone service at the
site and reasonable petty cash expenses of the site office are included in the Lump Sum General Conditions.

§ 7.5.5 Costs of materials and equipment suitably stored off the site at a mutually acceptable location, subject to the Owner’s prior written approval.

§ 7.6 MISCELLANEOUS COSTS
§ 7.6.1 Contractor’s Controlled Insurance Program shall be charged at 1.89–% of the Cost of Work(excluding the insurance and SubGuard costs set forth in this
Section). Contractor’s Builder’s Risk Insurance shall be charged at 0.8% of the Cost of Work (excluding the insurance and SubGuard costs set forth in this
Section). SubGuard shall be charged at 0.9% of the Cost of Work (excluding the (i) Cost of Work for each contract of $250,000.00 or less with any Subcontractor
or supplier, and (ii) insurance and SubGuard costs set forth in this Section).

§ 7.6.2 Sales, use or similar taxes imposed by a governmental authority that are related to the Work and for which the Contractor is liable.
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§ 7.6.3 Fees and assessments for permits (other than the building permit which Owner will obtain), licenses and inspections for which the Contractor is required by
the Contract Documents to pay.

§ 7.6.4 Fees of laboratories for tests required by the Contract Documents, except those related to defective or nonconforming Work for which reimbursement is
excluded by Section 13.5.3 of AIA Document A201–2007 or by other provisions of the Contract Documents, and which do not fall within the scope of Section
7.7.3.

§ 7.6.5 Royalties and license fees paid for the use of a particular design, process or product required by the Contract Documents; the cost of defending suits or
claims for infringement of patent rights arising from such requirement of the Contract Documents; and payments made in accordance with legal judgments against
the Contractor resulting from such suits or claims and payments of settlements made with the Owner’s consent. However, such costs of legal defenses, judgments
and settlements shall not be included in the calculation of the Contractor’s Fee or subject to the Guaranteed Maximum Price. If such royalties, fees and costs are
excluded by the last sentence of Section 3.17 of AIA Document A201–2007 or other provisions of the Contract Documents, then they shall not be included in the
Cost of the Work.

§ 7.6.6 Intentionally Deleted.

§ 7.6.7 Deposits lost for causes other than the Contractor’s negligence or failure to fulfill a specific responsibility in the Contract Documents.

§ 7.6.8 Legal mediation and arbitration costs, including attorneys’ fees, other than those arising from disputes between the Owner and Contractor, reasonably
incurred by the Contractor after the execution of this Agreement in the performance of the Work with the Owner’s prior approval, which shall not be unreasonably
withheld.

§ 7.6.9 Subject to the Owner’s prior written approval, reasonable, out-of-pocket expenses incurred in accordance with the Contractor’s standard written personnel
policy for relocation and temporary living allowances of the Contractor’s personnel required for the Work.

§ 7.6.10 That portion of the reasonable, out-of-pocket expenses of the Contractor’s supervisory or administrative personnel incurred while traveling in discharge of
duties connected with, and necessary for, the Work. Such expenses shall be subject to Owner’s prior written approval.

§ 7.7 OTHER COSTS AND EMERGENCIES
§ 7.7.1 Other reasonable, out-of-pocket costs incurred in the performance of the Work if, and to the extent, approved in advance in writing by the Owner.

§ 7.7.2 Costs incurred in taking action to prevent threatened damage, injury or loss in case of an emergency affecting the safety of persons and property, as
provided in Section 10.4 of AIA Document A201–2007 (not caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Contractor and/or its Subcontractors of any tier).

§ 7.7.3 Costs of repairing or correcting damaged or nonconforming Work executed by the Contractor, Subcontractors or suppliers, provided that such damaged or
nonconforming Work was not caused by negligence or failure to fulfill a specific responsibility of the Contractor or its Subcontractor and only to the extent that the
cost of repair or correction is not recovered by the Contractor from insurance, sureties, Subcontractors, suppliers, or others.

§ 7.8 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
§ 7.8.1 For purposes of Section 7.8, the term “related party” shall mean a parent, subsidiary, affiliate or other entity having common ownership or management
with the Contractor; any entity in which any stockholder in, or management employee of, the Contractor owns any interest in excess of ten percent in the aggregate;
or any person or entity which has the right to control the business or affairs of the Contractor. The term “related party” includes any member of the immediate
family of any person identified above.

§ 7.8.2 If any of the costs to be reimbursed arise from a transaction between the Contractor and a related party, the Contractor shall notify the Owner in writing of
the specific nature of the contemplated transaction, including the identity of the related party and the anticipated cost to be incurred, before any such transaction is
consummated or cost incurred. If the Owner, after such written notification, authorizes the proposed transaction, then the cost incurred shall be included as a cost to
be reimbursed, and the Contractor shall procure the Work, equipment, goods
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or service from the related party, as a Subcontractor, according to the terms of Article 10. If the Owner fails to authorize the transaction, in writing, the Contractor
shall procure the Work, equipment, goods or service from some person or entity other than a related party according to the terms of Article 10.

ARTICLE 8   COSTS NOT TO BE REIMBURSED
§ 8.1 The Cost of the Work shall not include the items listed below:

.1Salaries and other compensation of the Contractor’s personnel stationed at the Contractor’s principal office or offices other than the site office, except as
specifically provided in Section 7.2. or as may be expressly provided in Article 15;

.2Expenses of the Contractor’s principal office and offices other than the site office;

.3Overhead and general expenses, except as may be expressly included in Article 7;

.4The Contractor’s capital expenses, including interest on the Contractor’s capital employed for the Work;

.5Except as provided in Section 7.7.3 of this Agreement, costs due to the negligence or failure of the Contractor, Subcontractors and suppliers or anyone
directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable to fulfill a specific responsibility of the Contract;

.6Any cost not specifically and expressly described in Article 7;

.7Costs, other than costs included in Change Orders approved by the Owner, that would cause the Guaranteed Maximum Price to be exceeded;

.
8

Any cost that is counted more than once (e.g., an item that is part of the General Condition Items may not also be counted as part of the other Cost of
Work);

.9Amounts required to be paid by Contractor for federal, state or local income or franchise taxes;

.10Unless otherwise agreed by Owner in writing, any acceleration costs, including any and all overtime wages, arising as a result of delay in carrying out
the Work caused by Contractor or its Subcontractors of any tier;

.11Any costs or expenses in connection with any indemnity provided by Contractor pursuant to the Contract Documents;

.12Costs associated with Contractor’s failure to obtain any and all applicable permits for which Contractor is responsible in a timely manner, as more
fully described in the General Conditions; and

.13 The costs incurred by Contractor resulting from the failure of Contractor or its Subcontractors to coordinate their work with the work of Owner and
its contractors, if any, or otherwise to fail to comply with written directives of Owner not in conflict with the Schedule.

ARTICLE 9   DISCOUNTS, REBATES AND REFUNDS
§ 9.1 Cash discounts obtained on payments made by the Contractor shall accrue to the Owner if (1) before making the payment, the Contractor included them in an
Application for Payment and received payment from the Owner, or (2) the Owner has deposited funds with the Contractor with which to make payments;
otherwise, cash discounts shall accrue to the Contractor. Trade discounts, rebates, refunds and amounts received from sales of surplus materials and equipment
shall accrue to the Owner, and the Contractor shall make provisions so that they can be obtained.

§ 9.2 Amounts that accrue to the Owner in accordance with the provisions of Section 9.1 shall be credited to the Owner as a deduction from the Cost of the Work.

ARTICLE 10   SUBCONTRACTS AND OTHER AGREEMENTS
§ 10.1 Those portions of the Work that the Contractor does not customarily perform with the Contractor’s own personnel shall be performed under subcontracts or
by other appropriate agreements with the Contractor. The Owner may designate specific persons from whom, or entities from which, the Contractor shall obtain
bids. For each trade, Contractor shall obtain at least three (3) bids from Subcontractors and from suppliers of materials or equipment fabricated especially for the
Work and shall deliver such bids to the Architect. The Owner shall then determine, with the advice of the Contractor and the Architect, which bids will be
accepted. The Contractor shall not be required to contract with anyone to whom the Contractor has reasonable objection.

§ 10.2 When a specific bidder (1) is recommended to the Owner by the Contractor; (2) is qualified to perform that portion of the Work; and (3) has submitted a bid
that conforms to the requirements of the Contract Documents without reservations or exceptions, but the Owner requires that another bid be accepted, then the
Contractor may require that a Change Order be issued to adjust the Guaranteed Maximum Price by the difference between the bid of
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the person or entity recommended to the Owner by the Contractor and the amount of the subcontract or other agreement actually signed with the person or entity
designated by the Owner.

§ 10.3 Subcontracts or other agreements shall conform to the applicable payment provisions of this Agreement, and shall not be awarded on the basis of cost plus a
fee without the prior consent of the Owner. If the Subcontract is awarded on a cost-plus a fee basis, the Contractor shall provide in the Subcontract for the Owner to
receive the same audit rights with regard to the Subcontractor as the Owner receives with regard to the Contractor in Article 11, below.

ARTICLE 11   ACCOUNTING RECORDS
The Contractor shall keep full and detailed records and accounts related to the cost of the Work and exercise such controls as may be necessary for proper financial
management under this Contract and to substantiate all costs incurred. The accounting and control systems shall be satisfactory to the Owner. The Owner and the
Owner’s auditors shall, during regular business hours and upon reasonable notice, be afforded access to, and shall be permitted to audit and copy, the Contractor’s
records and accounts, including complete documentation supporting accounting entries, books, correspondence, instructions, drawings, receipts, subcontracts,
Subcontractor’s proposals, purchase orders, vouchers, memoranda and other data relating to this Contract. Owner agrees that the lump sum amounts, rates,
multipliers and other fixed percentages and amounts to which it has agreed in writing that Contractor may charge as a Cost of the Work are subject to Owner’s
audit rights only for Owner to confirm that such rates, quantities, hours, multipliers, percentages or amounts have been charged by Contractor in accordance with
this Agreement, and that the composition of such rates, multipliers, percentages or amounts are not subject to audit by the Owner. The Contractor shall preserve
these records for a period of three years after final payment, or for such longer period as may be required by law.

ARTICLE 12   PAYMENTS
§ 12.1 PROGRESS PAYMENTS
§ 12.1.1 Based upon monthly Applications for Payment submitted to the Architect, Project Manager and Owner by the Contractor, including any supporting
documentation reasonably required by Owner and Certificates for Payment issued by the Architect, the Owner shall make progress payments on account of the
Contract Sum to the Contractor as provided below and elsewhere in the Contract Documents.

§ 12.1.2 The period covered by each Application for Payment shall be one calendar month ending on the last day of the month, or as follows:

«On or before the twentieth (20 th ) day of the calendar month covered by an Application for Payment, the Owner (or its representative or Project Manager) and the
Contractor shall meet to review a preliminary draft of the Application for Payment for such month (hereinafter referred to as a "Pencil Draw") prepared by the
Contractor, which Pencil Draw shall be consistent with the requirements of the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall promptly revise the Pencil Draw in
accordance with any objection or recommendation of the Owner that is consistent with the requirements of the Contract Documents. On or before the twenty-first
(21 st ) day of such calendar month covered by an Application for Payment (or, if such day is not a business day, then the next succeeding business day), the
Contractor and Owner shall walk the job to determine whether modification to the Pencil Draw should be made. A final Pencil Draw shall then be submitted by the
Contractor to the Owner as the Application for Payment for such month, which is due by the first (1 st ) day of the month immediately following the month in which
the Pencil Draw was first submitted. »

§ 12.1.3 Provided that a complete Application for Payment is received by the Architect and the Owner, not later than the 1st day of a month, the Owner shall make
payment of the certified amount to the Contractor not later than the 1st day of the following month. If an Application for Payment is received by the Architect after
the application date fixed above, payment shall be made by the Owner not later than thirty ( 30 ) days after the Owner receives the Application for Payment, or
such lesser time as is required by Arizona law.
(Federal, state or local laws may require payment within a certain period of time.)

§ 12.1.4 With each Application for Payment, the Contractor shall submit any evidence reasonably required by the Owner or Architect to demonstrate that cash
disbursements already made by the Contractor on account of the Cost of the Work equal or exceed (1) progress payments already received by the Contractor; less
(2) that portion of those payments attributable to the Contractor’s Fee; plus (3) payrolls for the period covered by the present Application for Payment. Further,
with each Application for Payment, Contractor shall certify to Owner that except for claims
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previously submitted in writing, as of the date of each Application for Payment, Contractor has no claims for an increase in the Guaranteed Maximum Price.

§ 12.1.5 Each Application for Payment shall be based on the most recent schedule of values submitted by the Contractor in accordance with the Contract
Documents. The schedule of values shall allocate the entire Guaranteed Maximum Price among the various portions of the Work, except that the Contractor’s Fee
shall be shown as a single separate item. The schedule of values shall be prepared in such form and supported by such data to substantiate its accuracy as the
Owner and Architect may require. This schedule, unless objected to by the Owner or Architect, shall be used as a basis for reviewing the Contractor’s Applications
for Payment.

§ 12.1.6 Applications for Payment shall show the percentage of completion of each portion of the Work as of the end of the period covered by the Application for
Payment. The percentage of completion shall be the lesser of (1) the percentage of that portion of the Work which has actually been completed; or (2) the
percentage obtained by dividing (a) the expense that has actually been incurred by the Contractor on account of that portion of the Work for which the Contractor
has made or intends to make actual payment prior to the next Application for Payment by (b) the share of the Guaranteed Maximum Price allocated to that portion
of the Work. The Contractor shall ensure that each Application for Payment is accompanied by the following items: (a) certification by the Contractor that the
Work for which payment is being sought has been completed in accordance with the Contract Documents and all applicable permits; (b) a conditional waiver and
release of lien upon progress payment that complies with the Arizona statutory waiver form, ARS § 33-1008, for the Contractor, each Subcontractor and each Sub-
Subcontractor for which payment is being sought in the total amount of the progress payment being requested; (c) an unconditional waiver and release of lien upon
progress payment that complies with the Arizona statutory waiver form, ARS § 33-1008 for the Contractor with respect to all Work previously billed and paid
through the preceding Application for Payment; (d) an unconditional waiver and release of lien upon progress payment that complies with the Arizona statutory
waiver form, ARS § 33-1008, for each Subcontractor and Sub-Subcontractor with respect to all Work previously billed and paid through the preceding Application
for Payment; and (e) a log of all Change Orders and other Modifications issued through the date of the Application for Payment.

§ 12.1.7 Subject to other provisions of the Contract Documents, the amount of each progress payment shall be computed as follows:
.1Take that portion of the Guaranteed Maximum Price properly allocable to completed Work as determined by multiplying the percentage of completion

of each portion of the Work by the share of the Guaranteed Maximum Price allocated to that portion of the Work in the schedule of values, less
retainage of ten percent (10%). Pending final determination of cost to the Owner of changes in the Work, amounts not in dispute shall be included
as provided in Section 7.3.9 of the General Conditions;

.2Add that portion of the Guaranteed Maximum Price properly allocable to materials and equipment delivered and suitably stored at the site for
subsequent incorporation in the Work, or if approved in advance by the Owner, suitably stored off the site at a location agreed upon in writing,
less retainage of five percent (5%);

.3Add the Contractor’s Fee, less retainage of «zero » percent ( « 0 » %).The Contractor’s Fee shall be computed upon the Cost of the Work at the rate
stated in Section 5.1.1 or, if the Contractor’s Fee is stated as a fixed sum in that Section, shall be an amount that bears the same ratio to that fixed-
sum fee as the Cost of the Work bears to a reasonable estimate of the probable Cost of the Work upon its completion;

    
.4Subtract the aggregate of previous payments made by the Owner;
.5Subtract the shortfall, if any, indicated by the Contractor in the documentation required by Section 12.1.4 to substantiate prior Applications for Payment,

or resulting from errors subsequently discovered by the Owner’s auditors in such documentation; and
.6Subtract amounts, if any, for which the Architect (or Owner) has withheld or nullified a Certificate for Payment as provided in Section 9.5 of the

General Conditions and as allowed by the Arizona Prompt Pay Act, § 32-1129.01 et seq ., if applicable.

§ 12.1.8 The Owner and the Contractor shall agree upon a (1) mutually acceptable procedure for review and approval of payments to Subcontractors and (2) the
percentage of retainage held on Subcontracts, and the Contractor shall execute subcontracts in accordance with those agreements. At Substantial Completion all
retainage shall be released to Contractor less fifty percent (50%) of such retainage.
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§ 12.1.9 In taking action on the Contractor’s Applications for Payment, the Architect shall be entitled to rely on the accuracy and completeness of the information
furnished by the Contractor and shall not be deemed to represent that the Architect has made a detailed examination, audit or arithmetic verification of the
documentation submitted in accordance with Section 12.1.4 or other supporting data; that the Architect has made exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections; or
that the Architect has made examinations to ascertain how or for what purposes the Contractor has used amounts previously paid on account of the Contract. Such
examinations, audits and verifications, if required by the Owner, will be performed by the Owner’s auditors acting in the sole interest of the Owner.

§ 12.2 FINAL PAYMENT
§ 12.2.1 Final payment, constituting the entire unpaid balance of the Contract Sum, shall be made by the Owner to the Contractor within thirty (30) days or such
lesser time as is required by Arizona law.

.1the Contractor has fully performed the Contract (including all Punch List work) except for the Contractor’s responsibility to correct Work as provided in
Section 12.2.2 of the General Conditions, and to satisfy other requirements, if any, which extend beyond final payment;

.2the Contractor has submitted a final accounting for the Cost of the Work and a final Application for Payment;

.3a final Certificate for Payment has been issued by the Architect;

.4 a Temporary Certificate of Occupancy has been issued by the appropriate governmental agencies or all governmental sign-offs for Work; and

.5 a Conditional Waiver and Release of Lien Upon Final Payment has been issued by Contractor and all of its Subcontractors, materialmen, vendors
and suppliers of all tiers.

Owner shall have no obligation to make final payment of the Contract Sum until Contractor has property served and recorded a Notice of Completion of all of the
Work pursuant to applicable Arizona law.

§ 12.2.2 As a condition to Owner's obligation to pay Contractor the Final Payment, (a) final building inspections shall have been completed and sign-offs on
building permits by the appropriate governmental agency shall have been delivered by Contractor to Owner, Architect and Project Manager, (b) the Project shall
have been completed in accordance with the Contract Documents; (c) Contractor must have delivered to Owner and Project Manager a final certificate certifying
Substantial Completion of the Project in accordance with the Contract Documents; and (d) as-built plans for the entire Project shall have been delivered to Owner
in PDF and hard copy formats.

§ 12.2.3 If the Owner’s auditors report the Cost of the Work as substantiated by the Contractor’s final accounting to be less than claimed by the Contractor, the
Contractor shall be entitled to request mediation of the disputed amount without seeking an initial decision pursuant to Section 15.2 of A201–2007. A request for
mediation shall be made by the Contractor within 30 days after the Contractor’s receipt of a copy of the Architect’s final Certificate for Payment. Failure to request
mediation within this 30-day period shall result in the substantiated amount reported by the Owner’s auditors becoming binding on the Contractor. Pending a final
resolution of the disputed amount, the Owner shall pay the Contractor the amount certified in the Architect’s final Certificate for Payment.

§ 12.2.4 The Owner’s final payment to the Contractor shall be made no later than thirty (30) days after the issuance of the Architect’s final Certificate for Payment
and satisfaction of all other requirements under Sections 12.2.1 and 12.2.2.

« »

§ 12.2.5 If, subsequent to final payment and at the Owner’s request, the Contractor incurs costs described in Article 7 and not excluded by Article 8 to correct
defective or nonconforming Work, the Owner shall reimburse the Contractor such costs and the Contractor’s Fee applicable thereto on the same basis as if such
costs had been incurred prior to final payment, but not in excess of the Guaranteed Maximum Price. If the Contractor has participated in savings as provided in
Section 5.2, the amount of such savings shall be recalculated and appropriate credit given to the Owner in determining the net amount to be paid by the Owner to
the Contractor.

ARTICLE 13   DISPUTE RESOLUTION
§ 13.1 INITIAL DECISION MAKER
The Architect will serve as Initial Decision Maker pursuant to Section 15.2 of AIA Document A201–2007, unless the parties appoint below another individual, not
a party to the Agreement, to serve as Initial Decision Maker.
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(If the parties mutually agree, insert the name, address and other contact information of the Initial Decision Maker, if other than the Architect.)

« »
« »
« »
« »

§ 13.2 BINDING DISPUTE RESOLUTION
For any Claim subject to, but not resolved by mediation pursuant to Section 15.3 of AIA Document A201–2007, the method of binding dispute resolution shall be
as follows:
(Check the appropriate box. If the Owner and Contractor do not select a method of binding dispute resolution below, or do not subsequently agree in writing to a
binding dispute resolution method other than litigation, Claims will be resolved by litigation in a court of competent jurisdiction.)

[ X ]    Arbitration pursuant to Section 15.4 of AIA Document A201-2007

[ ]    Litigation in a court of competent jurisdiction

[ ]    Other (specify)

« »

ARTICLE 14   TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION
§ 14.1 Subject to the provisions of Section 14.2 below, the Contract may be terminated by the Owner or the Contractor as provided in Article 14 of AIA Document
A201–2007.

§ 14.2 If the Owner terminates the Contract for cause as provided in Article 14 of AIA Document A201–2007, the amount, if any, to be paid to the Contractor
under Section 14.2.4 of AIA Document A201–2007 shall not cause the Guaranteed Maximum Price to be exceeded, nor shall it exceed an amount calculated as
follows:

.1Take the Cost of the Work incurred by the Contractor to the date of termination;

.2Add the Contractor’s Fee computed upon the Cost of the Work to the date of termination at the rate stated in Section 5.1.1 or, if the Contractor’s Fee is
stated as a fixed sum in that Section, an amount that bears the same ratio to that fixed-sum Fee as the Cost of the Work at the time of termination
bears to a reasonable estimate of the probable Cost of the Work upon its completion; and

.3Subtract the aggregate of previous payments made by the Owner.

§ 14.3 The Owner shall also pay the Contractor fair compensation, either by purchase or rental at the election of the Owner, for any equipment owned by the
Contractor that the Owner elects to retain and that is not otherwise included in the Cost of the Work under Section 14.2.1. To the extent that the Owner elects to
take legal assignment of subcontracts and purchase orders (including rental agreements), the Contractor shall, as a condition of receiving the payments referred to
in this Article 14, execute and deliver all such papers and take all such steps, including the legal assignment of such subcontracts and other contractual rights of the
Contractor, as the Owner may require for the purpose of fully vesting in the Owner the rights and benefits of the Contractor under such subcontracts or purchase
orders.

§ 14.4 The Work may be suspended by the Owner as provided in Article 14 of AIA Document A201–2007; in such case, the Guaranteed Maximum Price and
Contract Time shall be increased as provided in Section 14.3.2 of AIA Document A201–2007, except that the term “profit” shall be understood to mean the
Contractor’s Fee as described in Sections 5.1.1 and Section 6.4 of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 15   MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
§ 15.1 Where reference is made in this Agreement to a provision of AIA Document A201–2007 or another Contract Document, the reference refers to that
provision as amended or supplemented by other provisions of the Contract Documents.
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§ 15.2 Payments due and unpaid under the Contract shall bear interest from the date payment is due at the rate stated below, or in the absence thereof, at the legal
rate prevailing from time to time at the place where the Project is located.
(Insert rate of interest agreed upon, if any.)

« » % « »

§ 15.3 The Owner’s representative:
(Name, address and other information)

Gary Ghio
G2 Facilities Management Consulting

Telephone:858-449-2301
Email:gary@gsquaredfmc.com

Unless and until Owner notifies Contractor to the contrary or otherwise provides Contractor with different instructions, Gary Ghio is hereby designated by Owner
as its authorized representative to make decisions for, and receive information on behalf of, Owner in connection with the Work, provided, however, all written
notices required to Owner under the Contract Documents shall also be given to Owner at its address on Page 1 of this Agreement and to the following: Dexcom,
6340 Sequence Drive, San Diego, CA 92121, Attn: Timothy F. O’Brien, Director Legal Affairs. In addition, all submissions or notices made by Contractor to the
Architect shall simultaneously be made to Owner’s representative.

§ 15.4 The Contractor’s representative:
(Name, address and other information)

Kevin E. Devlin, Project Executive
Skanska USA Building Inc.
4742 N. 24 th Street, Suite 165
Phoenix, AZ 85016
Mobile: 1 787 466 8204
Kevin.Devlin@skanska.com
« »

§ 15.5 Neither the Owner’s nor the Contractor’s representative shall be changed without ten days’ written notice to the other party.

§ 15.6 Other provisions.

§ 15.6.1 Contractor covenants that all the Work shall be done in a good and workmanlike manner and that all materials furnished and used in connection therewith
shall be new and meet the criteria provided in the Contract Documents. Contractor shall cause all materials and other parts of the Work to be readily available as
and when required or needed for or in connection with the construction of the Project.

§ 15.6.2 In performing its obligations under this Agreement, the Contractor shall be deemed an independent contractor and not an agent or employee of the Owner.

§ 15.6.3 Contractor agrees to make such revisions to this Agreement as may be reasonably required by Owner’s construction lender, if any, and Contractor agrees
to comply with customary requirements of construction and permanent lenders which may be reasonably imposed as a condition to payments due under this
Agreement. Contractor further agrees to execute a mutually agreed upon consent of the Owner’s assignment of this Agreement to Owner’s lender within ten (10)
days following a request therefor on such form as the lender may reasonably require.

§ 15.6.4 If any term, covenant or condition of the Contract Documents, or the application thereof to any persons or circumstance shall to any extent be invalid or
unenforceable, then the remainder of the Contract Documents or the application of the term, covenant or condition to persons or circumstances other than those as
to which it is held
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invalid or unenforceable shall not be affected thereby, and each term, covenant and condition of the Contract Documents shall be valid and enforceable to the
fullest extent permitted by law.

§ 15.6.5 Owner may designate from time to time by written notice to Contractor one or more Owner’s representatives or other parties to deal with Contractor on
matters pertaining to administration of the provisions of the Contract Documents. However, only those signatories designated in writing by Owner shall have the
authority to approve Change Orders increasing or decreasing the Guaranteed Maximum Price or extending the Contract Time.

§ 15.6.6 The parties agree and declare that Contractor and Owner are separate and independent entities and that Contractor has full responsibility for performance
of Work and direction of the work force, subject to and under the duty of Contractor to cooperate with Owner and other contractors. Contractor recognizes that in
the performance of its Work it will be required to work side by side with other contractors and representatives of Owner on the job site. Owner, Contractor and /or
other contractors may or may not be signatory to collective bargaining agreements of the various labor organizations. Contractor agrees that should there be
picketing or a threat of picketing by any labor organization at or near the site, (i) Contractor shall immediately notify Owner in writing of such circumstances and
(ii) Owner may establish or require Contractor to establish a reserve gate system and may require Contractor’s and Owner’s employees, suppliers and
subcontractors to use one or more designated gates. In that event, it shall be the affirmative obligation of Contractor as a material consideration of this Agreement
to ensure that its employees, suppliers and Subcontractors use only the gate(s) or other entry way(s) so designated. Notwithstanding the establishment or non-
establishment of a reserve gate system, it shall be the continuing obligation of Contractor (and its Subcontractors) to properly staff the job with qualified and skilled
workmen and employees without interruption or delay and without any increase to the Guaranteed Maximum Price. Contractor agrees to cooperate fully and
promptly with Owner and its representatives and attorneys with respect to any labor dispute that should arise on the site, including but not limited to the giving of
testimony and evidence to the agent or judge of the National Labor Relations Board or in connection with proceedings in State or Federal court. Contractor agrees
to undertake or cause to be undertaken in a prompt and expeditious manner, all action involved to resolve and/or minimize the consequences of any labor dispute
that should arise on the site. Contractor hereby warrants that it is not now nor will Contractor be delinquent in the payment or reporting to any labor management
benefit trust fund and further warrants that Contractor is not now nor will Contractor appear on any delinquency list published by any labor management benefit
trust fund. Contractor indemnifies, defends and holds Owner entirely harmless from and against all costs, claims, liabilities, damages, delays, losses and expenses
(including attorneys’ fees and costs) arising directly or indirectly from Contractor’s failure to comply with the provisions of this Section 15.6.6.

§ 15.6.7 The Contractor and Owner entered into that certain Nondisclosure Agreement dated as of November 19, 2015 (“NDA”) in order to protect certain
confidential information of Owner, as further set forth in the NDA. Contractor and Owner hereby incorporate the terms, provisions and obligations of the NDA in
this Agreement.

ARTICLE 16   ENUMERATION OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS
§ 16.1 The Contract Documents, except for Modifications issued after execution of this Agreement, are enumerated in the sections below.

§ 16.1.1 The Agreement is this executed AIA Document A102–2007, Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor.

§ 16.1.2 The General Conditions (as modified) are attached hereto as Exhibit C .

§ 16.1.3 The Supplementary and other Conditions of the Contract:

Document  Title  Date  Pages
       

§ 16.1.4 The Specifications:
(Either list the Specifications here or refer to an exhibit attached to this Agreement.)
«See list of Exhibits at 16.1.7.2. »
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Section  Title  Date  Pages
       

§ 16.1.5 The Drawings:
(Either list the Drawings here or refer to an exhibit attached to this Agreement.)
« See list of Exhibits at 16.1.7.2. »

Number  Title  Date
     

§ 16.1.6 The Addenda, if any:

Number  Date  Pages
     

Portions of Addenda relating to bidding requirements are not part of the Contract Documents unless the bidding requirements are also enumerated in this Article
16.

§ 16.1.7 Additional documents, if any, forming part of the Contract Documents:
.1AIA Document E201™–2007, Digital Data Protocol Exhibit, if completed by the parties, or the following:

« »

.2Other documents, if any, listed below:

Exhibit A – Approval Letter
Exhibit B Clarifications and Assumptions to GMP
Exhibit C – Lump Sum General Conditions & Schedule of Billable Rates
Exhibit D – Drawings
Exhibit E – Specifications
Exhibit F – CCIP Insurance Exhibit

ARTICLE 17   INSURANCE AND BONDS
 
§ 17.1.1 Contractor Controlled Insurance Program . Contractor will satisfy the requirements of Section 11.1.1 of the General Conditions through a project
specific Contractor Controlled Insurance Program (“CCIP”) as described in Exhibit F , which will afford similar coverage for the Subcontractors, in the minimum
coverage amounts set forth below in this Article 17, with insurance written on an occurrence basis purchased from and maintained in a company or companies
which have a Best’s Rating of “A/VIII” or above and which are lawfully authorized to do business in the State of Arizona. The program will be administered
through the Contractor and will be billed at the value set forth in the A102 Agreement, and will be included on all change orders though Final Completion. The
Contractor is responsible for all deductibles. The CCIP will include coverage for completed operations through the statute of repose for the State of Arizona. The
Owner, Contractor and all tiers of Subcontractors that enter the Project site are expected to be covered, except structural demolition and abatement Subcontractors,
if there are any. Any instances where work is contracted by the Owner directly (other than with Contractor) or with separate contractors are not covered by the
CCIP. The Owner is required to obtain insurance from those parties, if any.

No cost saving have been guaranteed to Owner by Contractor and Contractor is not responsible for deducts in regard to any accounting for the CCIP.

§ 17.1.1.1 Workers’ Compensation
Coverage A. Statutory Benefits
Coverage B. Employers Liability
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Bodily injury by accident:             $2,000,000 each accident
Bodily injury by disease:                 $2,000,000 policy limit
Bodily injury by disease:                $2,000,000 each employee

§ 17.1.1.2 Commercial General Liability
Commercial General Liability coverage (equivalent in coverage to ISO Form CG 00 01 with an edition date of at least 11/88) of not less than:

Each Occurrence Limit:                        $2,000,000
Personal Advertising Injury Limit:                    $2,000,000
Products/Completed Operations Aggregate Limit:            $4,000,000
General Aggregate Limit (other than Products/Completed Operations    $4,000,000

§ 17.1.1.3 Excess Liability Umbrella
Excess Liability or Umbrella coverage of not less than and including all above liability policies in the underlying.

Each Occurrence                            $25,000,000
General Aggregate                        $25,000,000

ALL OF 17.1 SUBJECT TO SKANSKA RISK MANAGEMENT REVIEW
§ 17.2 INSURANCE REQUIRED OF THE OWNER
The Owner shall purchase and maintain liability insurance, including waivers of subrogation, as set forth in Sections 11.2 of the General Conditions.
This Agreement entered into as of the day and year first written above.

   

THE OWNER  

DexCom, Inc.   
a Delaware corporation

s/ Thomas Mead

By: Thomas Mead
Its: Controller
Date: May 22, 2017  

THE CONTRACTOR  

Skanska USA Building Inc.

s/ Ross A. Vroman

By: Ross A. Vroman
Its: Area General Manager, EVP
Date: May 23, 2017
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EXHIBIT A

EXAMPLE APPROVAL LETTER

 
 

   

May 16, 2016  AWARD APPROVAL LETTER NO. 014

DexCom
6340 Sequence Drive
San Diego, CA 92121     m
 

     

Attention:  Gary Ghio   
Project:  DexCom Phoenix – Phase One
  Phoenix, AZ   
  
Subject:  Subcontractor /Vendor Award Recommendation
  Bid Package No.:  4415014-012
  Trade:  Fire Sprinkler System
  Subcontractor:  Fire Protection Systems
  Award Amount:  $832,500

In accordance with the Agreement, we submit as follows our Bid Package Report and Award recommendation for the above Subcontract. We have included the
final bid leveling sheet detailing the costs proposals provided. The award to Fire PS was based on the price, availability and schedule to complete the Fire Sprinkler
scope items.

Note, as directed by DexCom, this Approval Letter includes the design and installation of the sprinkler system. If the supply of materials and install is wanted
at a later date, an official AL will need to be signed.

Attached is the bid leveling sheet and proposals issued previously on January 08 th , 2016 from the fire sprinkler bidders for your reference. Fire alarm, wiring of
equipment, permits have been excluded. Also excluded are sprinklers under the equipment platform. Proposals are based off of the 10/22/15 drawings and
specifications.
 

1.0 Bid Submission Results and Analysis:
 

   

Vendor:  Firetrol Protection Systems
Fire PS  $832,500
Olympic  $880,028
Aero  $954,650
American  $968,200

2.0 Pricing Details:
 



 a) Included/Excluded in the amount of this award is ALLOWANCE/Alternates:

 1. EXCLUDED ALLOWANCE – Fire/Jockey Pumps/Control Panel $205,000  

 2. EXCLUDED ALLOWANCE – Sprinkler System under Equipment Platform per Fire Marshall $140,000  

 3. EXCLUDED Alternate – Nitrogen Gen System $49,385 plus Skanska’s Markups  

 
4. EXCLUDED Alternate – Credit to not remove the underground ductile pipe noted on FP-101A and cap

riser with blindflange at riser stub up. ($17,000)  
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b)    Recommended amount of this award. (Please refer to attached Bid Leveling Documentation for additional breakdown.)

As directed by DexCom, the price below only includes the design costs associated to the fire sprinkler system.

         

Fire PS (Design Only)          $ 45,000  
CCIP   1.88%       $ 846.00  
Subguard   0.90%       $ 405.00  
Builders Risk   1.25%       $ 563.00  
Skanska - Fee   3.25%       $ 1,521.00  
TAX       EXCLUDED  
       Total:       $ 48,335.00  

As issued previously, the complete system for the fire sprinkler system for design, supply and install is as follows:



         

Fire PS          $ 832,500  
CCIP   1.88%       $ 15,651.00  
Subguard   0.90%       $ 7,493.00  
Builders Risk   1.25%       $ 10,406.00  
Skanska - Fee   3.25%       $ 28,147.00  
TAX       EXCLUDED  
       Total:       $ 894,197.00  

**Note: Taxes have been excluded from this AL. A specific AL for taxes will be issued if taxes are ever to be included.
 

3.0 Alternates. The Award Recommendation amount includes the following alternates ( as noted above ):

 ☒ The Award Recommendation amount does not incorporate any alternates

 OR

 ☐ The Award Recommendation amount includes the following alternates/allowances:

 5. EXCLUDED ALLOWANCE – Fire/Jockey Pumps/Control Panel $205,000

We have evaluated the Sub-contractors proposal, and have determined that the Sub-contractor has included the full scope of work. Any deviations from the original
drawings, specifications, bid package documents or subcontract documents are clearly delineated in the revised scope of work which shall become part of the
subcontract documents. The following documents shall be incorporated into the subcontract documents:

       

  A  CM’s standard form of subcontract agreement with no changes
  B  CM’s project schedule dated  N/A
  C  Site Logistics Plan dated  N/A
  D  Issue for       Construction         specifications dated                10/22/2015         
  E  Pre-Bid Meeting Minutes dated    Dec. 2015
  F  Meeting minutes from Scope review meeting dated                       N/A                    
  G  Bid Addendum (a) No(s).   2                                          Dated                                       
  H  Other items as appropriate

Exhibit A - Approval Letter - Fire Sprinkler System 2

4.0 Schedule. We have reviewed the subcontractor’s proposal, and proposed execution of the scope, and confirm that the subcontractor will work to the
Project Schedule as defined in the Contract Documents. Please note key schedule dates/durations:
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5.0 M/WBE Participation.
We hereby recommend that the award of this sub-contract is made to Fire PS for the purchase order price of:

 
The recommended Contractor is not  a M/WBE and has submitted a M/WBE utilization plan, which lists     0%          Dollars ($      0        ) of M/WBE
participation.

  Forty Eight Thousand Three Hundred Thirty Five                                                                  $48,335.00             Dollars                        
In making this recommendation, we have carried out certain checks and procedures to satisfy ourselves as to the present capability of (Firetrol) to perform the sub-
contract work; details of these are given on the attached Bid Recording Sheet.

If you are in agreement with the above recommendation, please sign where indicated below and return one signed copy of this letter authorizing us to award the
subcontract. Upon receipt of this signed approval letter we will incorporate the committed sub-contract price and pending items into our next Anticipated Cost
Report.
 

   

Sincerely,   

  
DexCom
 

Todd Kadjan  Approved By:                                                  
Project Manager   
  

  
Date:                                                                   
 

Cc: Kevin Devlin, Skanska USA Building

 Ian Miles, Aligned Energy
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EXHIBIT B

CLARIFICATIONS AND ASSUMPTIONS TO GMP
 

Exhibit B
GMP Assumptions & Clarifications

- N/A – to be issued when GMP is established
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EXHIBIT C

LUMP SUM GENERAL CONDITIONS & SCHEDULE OF BILLABLE RATES
 

EXHIBIT “C”

SCHEDULE OF BILLABLE RATES
 



     

Project Executive
  $

 
135/hr

 
 
 

Projects Manager
  $

 
100/hr

 
 
 

Superintendent
  $

 
125/hr

 
 
 

Preconstruction Director
  $

 
100/hr

 
 
 

MEP Coordinator
  $

 
135/hr

 
 
 

Mechanical Estimator
  $

 
100/hr

 
 
 

C/S/A Estimator
  $

 
100/hr

 
 
 

Electrical Estimator
  $

 
100/hr

 
 
 

Accounting
  $

 
70/hr

 
 
 

Director of Accounting
  $

 
80/hr

 
 
 

 

     

Alternates, Unit Prices, and Labor Rates
(05/2009 ed. Rev. 1)  

Page 1 of 1
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EXHIBIT D

DRAWINGS
 

Exhibit D – Drawings

N/A – Drawing List to be issued when GMP is established.
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EXHIBIT E

SPECIFICATIONS
 

Exhibit E – Specifications

N/A – no final specifications have been issued on the project to date.
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EXHIBIT F

CCIP INSURANCE EXHIBIT

F O R M S
 

 
Forward the completed Enrollment Application to the Aon administrator identified at the bottom of page 2 of this form. The administrator prior to the start of your work on-site
must receive this form.

EXHIBIT 1 – Sample Enrolled Off-Site Certificate of Insurance



             
 

ACORD ©                                   CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE
  

 

ISSUE DATE: CURRENT DATE
 

PRODUCER
Insurance Agent’s Name
And Address
  

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND
CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS CERTIFICATE
DOES NOT AMEND. EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE
POLICIES BELOW
 

TELEPHONE #  COMPANIES AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURED
 

COMPANY A
 LETTER  

INSURANCE CARRIER

Subcontractor’s Name and Address
 

COMPANY B
 LETTER   

Sample Certificate for Enrolled Parties
 

COMPANY c
 LETTER   

Required Insurance
 

COMPANY D
 LETTER   

COVERAGES
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED, NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN. THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

CO
LTR  

TYPE OF
INSURANCE  POLICY NO.  

POLICY EFF. DATE
MM/DD/YY  

POLICY EXP.
DATE

MM/DD/YY  
ALL LIMITS

 
A

 

GENERAL LIABILITY
☒  COMMERCIAL GEN. LIABILITY
☐  CLAIMS MADE ☒  OCCUR.
☐ OWNER’S & CONTRACTOR’S

PROT.
☒   PER PROJECT AGGREGATE      
     ENDORSEMENT

 

 
Policy Number  

     

GENERAL
AGGREGATE
PRODUCTS-
COMP/OPS
AGGREGATE
PERSONAL &
ADVERTISING
INJURY EACH
OCCURRENCE
FIRE DAMAGE
(Any one fire)
MEDICAL
EXPENSE (Any
one person)  

$2,000,000
$2,000,000
$1,000,000
$1,000,000

A

 

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY
☒  ANY AUTO
☐ ALL OWNED AUTOS
☐ SCHEDULED AUTOS
☒  HIRED AUTOS
☒  NON-OWNED AUTOS

 

 
Policy Number

     

COMBINED
SINGLE LIMIT
BODILY INJURY
(Per person)
BODILY INJURY
(Per accident)
PROPERTY
DAMAGE  

$1,000,000

A

 

EXCESS LIABILITY
☒  UMBRELLA
☐  OTHER THAN UMBRELLA FORM  

 
Policy Number      

EACH
OCCURRENCE
AGGREGATE  

$5,000,000
$5,000,000

A

 

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION
AND

EMPLOYER’S LIABILITY

 

 
Policy Number

     

STATUTORY
LIMITS ☒   Florida
 (Each accident)
(Disease-policy
limit)
(Disease-each
employee)  

 
$500,000
$500,000
$500,000



A

 

OTHER: EQUIPMENT FLOATER

 

Policy Number

     

Limit equal to Full Coverage of
Subcontractor’s owned or rented
machinery, equipment, tools, &
temporary structures not designed to
become a permanent part of the Work

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/LOCATIONS/VEHICLES/SPECIAL ITEMS: RE: Work performed at the Skanska USA Building ABC Project. Certificate Holders are
Additional Insureds on a Primary and Non-contributing basis on the General Liability (ISO endorsement CG 20 10-11/85 or its equivalent), Automobile and Excess/Umbrella
Liability Policies. Waiver of Subrogation in favor of Certificate Holders applies to all policies. GL and WC coverage apply off-site.
CERTIFICATE HOLDER    CANCELLATION       

Skanska USA Building Inc., Skanska USA, Inc. Indemnified Parties, any other
parties as required by the Owner contract, Skanska Inc., and their respective
directors, officers, employees and affiliates and ALL ENROLLED PARTIES
c/o Aon Risk Services, Inc.
4 Overlook Point
Lincolnshire, IL 60069
Attention:
  

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, THE ISSUING COMPANY WILL ENDEAVOR
TO  MAIL 30  DAYS WRITTEN NOTICE TO THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER NAMED
TO THE LEFT, BUT FAILURE TO MAIL SUCH NOTICE SHALL IMPOSE NO
OBLIGATION OR LIABILITY OF ANY KIND UPON THE COMPANY, ITS AGENTS
OR REPRESENTATIVES.

  
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE
By:              (original signature)
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EXHIBIT 2 – Sample Excluded On/Off-Site Certificate of Insurance
 

             
 

ACORD ©                                   CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE
  

 

ISSUE DATE: CURRENT DATE
 

PRODUCER
Insurance Agent’s Name
And Address
  

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION
ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE
HOLDER. THIS CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AMEND, EXTEND OR
ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES BELOW
 

TELEPHONE#  COMPANIES AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURED
 

COMPANY A
 LETTER  

INSURANCE CARRIER

Name and Address
 

COMPANY B
 LETTER   

Sample Certificate for   Excluded Parties
 

COMPANY c
 LETTER   

Required Insurance
 

COMPANY D
 LETTER   

COVERAGES
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED, NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN. THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.



CO
LTR  

TYPE OF
INSURANCE  POLICY NO.  

POLICY EFF.
DATE

MM/DD/YY  

POLICY EXP.
DATE

MM/DD/YY  
ALL LIMITS

 
A

 

GENERAL LIABILITY
☒  COMMERCIAL GEN. LIABILITY
☐ CLAIMS MADE ☒  OCCUR.
☐ OWNER’S & CONTRACTOR’S

PROT.
☒   PER PROJECT AGGREGATE         ENDORSEMENT                

 

 
Policy Number

     

GENERAL
AGGREGATE
PRODUCTS-
COMP/OPS
AGGREGATE
PERSONAL &
ADVERTISING
INJURY EACH
OCCURRENCE
FIRE DAMAGE
(Any one fire)
MEDICAL
EXPENSE (Any
one person)  

$2,000,000
$2,000,000
$1,000,000
$1,000,000

A

 

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY
☒  ANY AUTO
☐ ALL OWNED AUTOS
☐ SCHEDULED AUTOS
☒  HIRED AUTOS
☒  NON-OWNED AUTOS

 

 
Policy Number 

     

COMBINED
SINGLE LIMIT
BODILY
INJURY (Per
person) BODILY
INJURY (Per
accident)
PROPERTY
DAMAGE  

$1,000,000

A

 

EXCESS LIABILITY
☒  UMBRELLA
☐  OTHER THAN UMBRELLA FORM  

 
Policy Number      

EACH
OCCURRENCE
AGGREGATE  

$5,000,000
$5,000,000

A

 

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION
AND

EMPLOYER’S LIABILITY

 

 
Policy Number

     

STATUTORY
LIMITS ☒  
Florida   (Each
accident)
(Disease-policy
limit)
(Disease-each
employee)
  

 
$500,000
$500,000
$500,000

A

 

OTHER: EQUIPMENT FLOATER

 

Policy Number

     

Limit equal to Full Coverage of
Subcontractor’s owned or rented
machinery, equipment, tools, &
temporary structures not designed
to become a permanent part of
the Work

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/LOCATIONS/VEHICLES/SPECIAL ITEMS: RE: Work performed at the Skanska USA Building ABC Project. Certificate Holders are
Additional Insureds on a Primary and Non-contributing basis on the General Liability (ISO endorsement CG 20 10-11/85 or its equivalent - attached a copy with this
Certificate of Insurance), Automobile and Excess/Umbrella Liability Policies. Waiver of Subrogation in favor of Certificate Holders applies to all policies. ALL COVERAGES
LISTED APPLY ON AND OFF-SITE FOR ALL OPERATIONS OF THE INSURED.

    CANCELLATION       
Skanska USA Building Inc., Skanska USA, Inc. Indemnified Parties, any other parties as
required by the Owner contract, Skanska Inc., and their respective directors, officers,
employees and affiliates and ALL ENROLLED PARTIES
c/o Aon Risk Services, Inc.
4 Overlook Point
Lincolnshire, IL 60069
  

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE
CANCELED BEFORE THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, THE
ISSUING COMPANY WILL ENDEAVOR TO  MAIL 30  DAYS WRITTEN
NOTICE TO THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER NAMED TO THE LEFT, BUT
FAILURE TO MAIL SUCH NOTICE SHALL IMPOSE NO OBLIGATION
OR LIABILITY OF ANY KIND UPON THE COMPANY, ITS AGENTS
OR REPRESENTATIVES.

Attention:
 
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE
By:              (original signature)

ACORD 25-S (3/93)        © ACORD CORPORATION 1993
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ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS: The author of this document has added information needed for its completion. The author may also have revised the text of the original AIA standard form.
An Additions and Deletions Report that notes added information as well as revisions to the standard form text is available from the author and should be reviewed.
This document has important legal consequences. Consultation with an attorney is encouraged with respect to its completion or modification.

AIA ® Document A201 TM – 2007
General Conditions of the Contract for Construction

for the following PROJECT:
(Name and location or address)
«Tenant Improvements at »
«232 South Dobson Road,
Mesa, AZ 85202 »

THE OWNER:
(Name, legal status and address)
« DexCom, Inc. »
« 6340 Sequence Drive
San Diego, CA 92121
Attn: James Gillard »

THE CONTRACTOR:
(Name, legal status, address and other information)

Skanska USA Building Inc.
4742 N. 24 th Street, Suite 165
Phoenix, AZ 85016
Attn: Ross Vroman

THE ARCHITECT:
(Name, legal status and address)
« »« »
« »

TABLE OF ARTICLES

1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

2 OWNER

3 CONTRACTOR

4 ARCHITECT

5 SUBCONTRACTORS

6 CONSTRUCTION BY OWNER OR BY SEPARATE CONTRACTORS

7 CHANGES IN THE WORK

8 TIME

9 PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION

10 PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY

11 INSURANCE AND BONDS

12 UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK
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13 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
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INDEX
(Topics and numbers in bold are section headings.)

Acceptance of Nonconforming Work
9.6.6, 9.9.3, 12.3
Acceptance of Work
9.6.6, 9.8.2, 9.9.3, 9.10.1, 9.10.3, 12.3
Access to Work
3.16 , 6.2.1, 12.1
Accident Prevention
10
Acts and Omissions
3.2, 3.3.2, 3.12.8, 3.18, 4.2.3, 8.3.1, 9.5.1, 10.2.5, 10.2.8, 13.4.2, 13.7, 14.1, 15.2
Addenda
1.1.1, 3.11
Additional Costs, Claims for
3.7.4, 3.7.5, 6.1.1, 7.3.7.5, 10.3, 15.1.4
Additional Inspections and Testing
9.4.2, 9.8.3, 12.2.1, 13.5
Additional Insured
11.1.4
Additional Time, Claims for
3.2.4, 3.7.4, 3.7.5, 3.10.2, 8.3.2, 15.1.5
Administration of the Contract
3.1.3, 4.2 , 9.4, 9.5
Advertisement or Invitation to Bid
1.1.1
Aesthetic Effect
4.2.13
Allowances
3.8 , 7.3.8
All-risk Insurance
11.3.1, 11.3.1.1
Applications for Payment
4.2.5, 7.3.9, 9.2, 9.3 , 9.4, 9.5.1, 9.6.3, 9.7, 9.10, 11.1.3
Approvals
2.1.1, 2.2.2, 2.4, 3.1.3, 3.10.2, 3.12.8, 3.12.9, 3.12.10, 4.2.7, 9.3.2, 13.5.1
Arbitration
8.3.1, 11.3.10, 13.1, 15.3.2, 15.4
ARCHITECT
4
Architect , Definition of
4.1.1
Architect, Extent of Authority
2.4, 3.12.7, 4.1, 4.2, 5.2, 6.3, 7.1.2, 7.3.7, 7.4, 9.2, 9.3.1, 9.4, 9.5, 9.6.3, 9.8, 9.10.1, 9.10.3, 12.1, 12.2.1, 13.5.1, 13.5.2, 14.2.2,
14.2.4, 15.1.3, 15.2.1
Architect, Limitations of Authority and Responsibility
2.1.1, 3.12.4, 3.12.8, 3.12.10, 4.1.2, 4.2.1, 4.2.2, 4.2.3, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 4.2.10, 4.2.12, 4.2.13, 5.2.1, 7.4, 9.4.2, 9.5.3, 9.6.4, 15.1.3,
15.2
Architect’s Additional Services and Expenses
2.4, 11.3.1.1, 12.2.1, 13.5.2, 13.5.3, 14.2.4
Architect’s Administration of the Contract
3.1.3, 4.2, 3.7.4, 15.2, 9.4.1, 9.5
Architect’s Approvals
2.4, 3.1.3, 3.5, 3.10.2, 4.2.7
Architect’s Authority to Reject Work
3.5, 4.2.6, 12.1.2, 12.2.1
Architect’s Copyright
1.1.7, 1.5
Architect’s Decisions
3.7.4, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 4.2.11, 4.2.12, 4.2.13, 4.2.14, 6.3, 7.3.7, 7.3.9, 8.1.3, 8.3.1, 9.2, 9.4.1, 9.5, 9.8.4, 9.9.1, 13.5.2, 15.2, 15.3
Architect’s Inspections
3.7.4, 4.2.2, 4.2.9, 9.4.2, 9.8.3, 9.9.2, 9.10.1, 13.5
Architect’s Instructions
3.2.4, 3.3.1, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 13.5.2
Architect’s Interpretations
4.2.11, 4.2.12
Architect’s Project Representative
4.2.10
Architect’s Relationship with Contractor
1.1.2, 1.5, 3.1.3, 3.2.2, 3.2.3, 3.2.4, 3.3.1, 3.4.2, 3.5, 3.7.4, 3.7.5, 3.9.2, 3.9.3, 3.10, 3.11, 3.12, 3.16, 3.18, 4.1.2, 4.1.3, 4.2, 5.2,
6.2.2, 7, 8.3.1, 9.2, 9.3, 9.4, 9.5, 9.7, 9.8, 9.9, 10.2.6, 10.3, 11.3.7, 12, 13.4.2, 13.5, 15.2
Architect’s Relationship with Subcontractors
1.1.2, 4.2.3, 4.2.4, 4.2.6, 9.6.3, 9.6.4, 11.3.7
Architect’s Representations
9.4.2, 9.5.1, 9.10.1
Architect’s Site Visits
3.7.4, 4.2.2, 4.2.9, 9.4.2, 9.5.1, 9.9.2, 9.10.1, 13.5
Asbestos
10.3.1
Attorneys’ Fees
3.18.1, 9.10.2, 10.3.3
Award of Separate Contracts
6.1.1, 6.1.2
Award of Subcontracts and Other Contracts for Portions of the Work
5.2
Basic Definitions
1.1
Bidding Requirements
1.1.1, 5.2.1, 11.4.1
Binding Dispute Resolution
9.7, 11.3.9, 11.3.10, 13.1, 15.2.5, 15.2.6.1, 15.3.1, 15.3.2, 15.4.1
Boiler and Machinery Insurance
11.3.2
Bonds, Lien
7.3.7.4, 9.10.2, 9.10.3
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Bonds, Performance, and Payment
7.3.7.4, 9.6.7, 9.10.3, 11.3.9, 11.4
Building Permit
3.7.1
Capitalization
1.3
Certificate of Substantial Completion
9.8.3, 9.8.4, 9.8.5
Certificates for Payment
4.2.1, 4.2.5, 4.2.9, 9.3.3, 9.4 , 9.5, 9.6.1, 9.6.6, 9.7, 9.10.1, 9.10.3, 14.1.1.3, 14.2.4, 15.1.3
Certificates of Inspection, Testing or Approval
13.5.4
Certificates of Insurance
9.10.2, 11.1.3
Change Orders
1.1.1, 2.4, 3.4.2, 3.7.4, 3.8.2.3, 3.11, 3.12.8, 4.2.8, 5.2.3, 7.1.2, 7.1.3, 7.2 , 7.3.2, 7.3.6, 7.3.9, 7.3.10, 8.3.1, 9.3.1.1, 9.10.3,
10.3.2, 11.3.1.2, 11.3.4, 11.3.9, 12.1.2, 15.1.3
Change Orders , Definition of
7.2.1
CHANGES IN THE WORK
2.2.1, 3.11, 4.2.8, 7 , 7.2.1, 7.3.1, 7.4, 8.3.1, 9.3.1.1, 11.3.9
Claims , Definition of
15.1.1
CLAIMS AND DISPUTES
3.2.4, 6.1.1, 6.3, 7.3.9, 9.3.3, 9.10.4, 10.3.3, 15 , 15.4
Claims and Timely Assertion of Claims
15.4.1
Claims for Additional Cost
3.2.4, 3.7.4, 6.1.1, 7.3.9, 10.3.2, 15.1.4
Claims for Additional Time
3.2.4, 3.7.4, 6.1.1, 8.3.2, 10.3.2, 15.1.5
Concealed or Unknown Conditions, Claims for
3.7.4
Claims for Damages
3.2.4, 3.18, 6.1.1, 8.3.3, 9.5.1, 9.6.7, 10.3.3, 11.1.1, 11.3.5, 11.3.7, 14.1.3, 14.2.4, 15.1.6
Claims Subject to Arbitration
15.3.1, 15.4.1
Cleaning Up
3.15 , 6.3
Commencement of the Work, Conditions Relating to
2.2.1, 3.2.2, 3.4.1, 3.7.1, 3.10.1, 3.12.6, 5.2.1, 5.2.3, 6.2.2, 8.1.2, 8.2.2, 8.3.1, 11.1, 11.3.1, 11.3.6, 11.4.1, 15.1.4
Commencement of the Work , Definition of
8.1.2
Communications Facilitating Contract Administration
3.9.1, 4.2.4
Completion, Conditions Relating to
3.4.1, 3.11, 3.15, 4.2.2, 4.2.9, 8.2, 9.4.2, 9.8, 9.9.1, 9.10, 12.2, 13.7, 14.1.2
COMPLETION, PAYMENTS AND
9
Completion, Substantial
4.2.9, 8.1.1, 8.1.3, 8.2.3, 9.4.2, 9.8, 9.9.1, 9.10.3, 12.2, 13.7
Compliance with Laws
1.6, 3.2.3, 3.6, 3.7, 3.12.10, 3.13, 4.1.1, 9.6.4, 10.2.2, 11.1, 11.3, 13.1, 13.4, 13.5.1, 13.5.2, 13.6, 14.1.1, 14.2.1.3, 15.2.8,
15.4.2, 15.4.3
Concealed or Unknown Conditions
3.7.4, 4.2.8, 8.3.1, 10.3
Conditions of the Contract
1.1.1, 6.1.1, 6.1.4
Consent, Written
3.4.2, 3.7.4, 3.12.8, 3.14.2, 4.1.2, 9.3.2, 9.8.5, 9.9.1, 9.10.2, 9.10.3, 11.3.1, 13.2, 13.4.2, 15.4.4.2
Consolidation or Joinder
15.4.4
CONSTRUCTION BY OWNER OR BY SEPARATE CONTRACTORS
1.1.4, 6
Construction Change Directive , Definition of
7.3.1
Construction Change Directives
1.1.1, 3.4.2, 3.12.8, 4.2.8, 7.1.1, 7.1.2, 7.1.3, 7.3 , 9.3.1.1
Construction Schedules, Contractor’s
3.10, 3.12.1, 3.12.2, 6.1.3, 15.1.5.2
Contingent Assignment of Subcontracts
5.4 , 14.2.2.2
Continuing Contract Performance
15.1.3
Contract , Definition of
1.1.2
CONTRACT, TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THE
5.4.1.1, 11.3.9, 14
Contract Administration
3.1.3, 4, 9.4, 9.5
Contract Award and Execution, Conditions Relating to
3.7.1, 3.10, 5.2, 6.1, 11.1.3, 11.3.6, 11.4.1
Contract Documents, Copies Furnished and Use of
1.5.2, 2.2.5, 5.3
Contract Documents , Definition of
1.1.1
Contract Sum
3.7.4, 3.8, 5.2.3, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 9.1 , 9.4.2, 9.5.1.4, 9.6.7, 9.7, 10.3.2, 11.3.1, 14.2.4, 14.3.2, 15.1.4, 15.2.5
Contract Sum , Definition of
9.1
Contract Time
3.7.4, 3.7.5, 3.10.2, 5.2.3, 7.2.1.3, 7.3.1, 7.3.5, 7.4, 8.1.1, 8.2.1, 8.3.1, 9.5.1, 9.7, 10.3.2, 12.1.1, 14.3.2, 15.1.5.1, 15.2.5
Contract Time , Definition of
8.1.1
CONTRACTOR
3
Contractor , Definition of
3.1, 6.1.2
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Contractor’s Construction Schedules
3.10 , 3.12.1, 3.12.2, 6.1.3, 15.1.5.2
Contractor’s Employees
3.3.2, 3.4.3, 3.8.1, 3.9, 3.18.2, 4.2.3, 4.2.6, 10.2, 10.3, 11.1.1, 11.3.7, 14.1, 14.2.1.1
Contractor’s Liability Insurance
11.1
Contractor’s Relationship with Separate Contractors and Owner’s Forces
3.12.5, 3.14.2, 4.2.4, 6, 11.3.7, 12.1.2, 12.2.4
Contractor’s Relationship with Subcontractors
1.2.2, 3.3.2, 3.18.1, 3.18.2, 5, 9.6.2, 9.6.7, 9.10.2, 11.3.1.2, 11.3.7, 11.3.8
Contractor’s Relationship with the Architect
1.1.2, 1.5, 3.1.3, 3.2.2, 3.2.3, 3.2.4, 3.3.1, 3.4.2, 3.5, 3.7.4, 3.10, 3.11, 3.12, 3.16, 3.18, 4.1.3, 4.2, 5.2, 6.2.2, 7, 8.3.1, 9.2, 9.3,
9.4, 9.5, 9.7, 9.8, 9.9, 10.2.6, 10.3, 11.3.7, 12, 13.5, 15.1.2, 15.2.1
Contractor’s Representations
3.2.1, 3.2.2, 3.5, 3.12.6, 6.2.2, 8.2.1, 9.3.3, 9.8.2
Contractor’s Responsibility for Those Performing the Work
3.3.2, 3.18, 5.3, 6.1.3, 6.2, 9.5.1, 10.2.8
Contractor’s Review of Contract Documents
3.2
Contractor’s Right to Stop the Work
9.7
Contractor’s Right to Terminate the Contract
14.1, 15.1.6
Contractor’s Submittals
3.10, 3.11, 3.12.4, 4.2.7, 5.2.1, 5.2.3, 9.2, 9.3, 9.8.2, 9.8.3, 9.9.1, 9.10.2, 9.10.3, 11.1.3, 11.4.2
Contractor’s Superintendent
3.9, 10.2.6
Contractor’s Supervision and Construction Procedures
1.2.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.12.10, 4.2.2, 4.2.7, 6.1.3, 6.2.4, 7.1.3, 7.3.5, 7.3.7, 8.2, 10, 12, 14, 15.1.3
Contractual Liability Insurance
11.1.1.8, 11.2
Coordination and Correlation
1.2, 3.2.1, 3.3.1, 3.10, 3.12.6, 6.1.3, 6.2.1
Copies Furnished of Drawings and Specifications
1.5, 2.2.5, 3.11
Copyrights
1.5, 3.17
Correction of Work
2.3, 2.4, 3.7.3, 9.4.2, 9.8.2, 9.8.3, 9.9.1, 12.1.2, 12.2
Correlation and Intent of the Contract Documents
1.2
Cost , Definition of
7.3.7
Costs
2.4, 3.2.4, 3.7.3, 3.8.2, 3.15.2, 5.4.2, 6.1.1, 6.2.3, 7.3.3.3, 7.3.7, 7.3.8, 7.3.9, 9.10.2, 10.3.2, 10.3.6, 11.3, 12.1.2, 12.2.1, 12.2.4,
13.5, 14
Cutting and Patching
3.14 , 6.2.5
Damage to Construction of Owner or Separate Contractors
3.14.2, 6.2.4, 10.2.1.2, 10.2.5, 10.4, 11.1.1, 11.3, 12.2.4
Damage to the Work
3.14.2, 9.9.1, 10.2.1.2, 10.2.5, 10.4, 11.3.1, 12.2.4
Damages, Claims for
3.2.4, 3.18, 6.1.1, 8.3.3, 9.5.1, 9.6.7, 10.3.3, 11.1.1, 11.3.5, 11.3.7, 14.1.3, 14.2.4, 15.1.6
Damages for Delay
6.1.1, 8.3.3, 9.5.1.6, 9.7, 10.3.2
Date of Commencement of the Work , Definition of
8.1.2
Date of Substantial Completion , Definition of
8.1.3
Day , Definition of
8.1.4
Decisions of the Architect
3.7.4, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 4.2.11, 4.2.12, 4.2.13, 15.2, 6.3, 7.3.7, 7.3.9, 8.1.3, 8.3.1, 9.2, 9.4, 9.5.1, 9.8.4, 9.9.1, 13.5.2, 14.2.2, 14.2.4,
15.1, 15.2
Decisions to Withhold Certification
9.4.1, 9.5 , 9.7, 14.1.1.3
Defective or Nonconforming Work, Acceptance, Rejection and Correction of
2.3, 2.4, 3.5, 4.2.6, 6.2.5, 9.5.1, 9.5.2, 9.6.6, 9.8.2, 9.9.3, 9.10.4, 12.2.1
Definitions
1.1, 2.1.1, 3.1.1, 3.5, 3.12.1, 3.12.2, 3.12.3, 4.1.1, 15.1.1, 5.1, 6.1.2, 7.2.1, 7.3.1, 8.1, 9.1, 9.8.1
Delays and Extensions of Time
3.2, 3.7.4, 5.2.3, 7.2.1, 7.3.1, 7.4, 8.3 , 9.5.1, 9.7, 10.3.2, 10.4, 14.3.2, 15.1.5, 15.2.5
Disputes
6.3, 7.3.9, 15.1, 15.2
Documents and Samples at the Site
3.11
Drawings , Definition of
1.1.5
Drawings and Specifications, Use and Ownership of
3.11
Effective Date of Insurance
8.2.2, 11.1.2
Emergencies
10.4 , 14.1.1.2, 15.1.4
Employees, Contractor’s
3.3.2, 3.4.3, 3.8.1, 3.9, 3.18.2, 4.2.3, 4.2.6, 10.2, 10.3.3, 11.1.1, 11.3.7, 14.1, 14.2.1.1
Equipment, Labor, Materials or
1.1.3, 1.1.6, 3.4, 3.5, 3.8.2, 3.8.3, 3.12, 3.13, 3.15.1, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 5.2.1, 6.2.1, 7.3.7, 9.3.2, 9.3.3, 9.5.1.3, 9.10.2, 10.2.1, 10.2.4,
14.2.1.1, 14.2.1.2
Execution and Progress of the Work
1.1.3, 1.2.1, 1.2.2, 2.2.3, 2.2.5, 3.1, 3.3.1, 3.4.1, 3.5, 3.7.1, 3.10.1, 3.12, 3.14, 4.2, 6.2.2, 7.1.3, 7.3.5, 8.2, 9.5.1, 9.9.1, 10.2,
10.3, 12.2, 14.2, 14.3.1, 15.1.3
Extensions of Time
3.2.4, 3.7.4, 5.2.3, 7.2.1, 7.3, 7.4, 9.5.1, 9.7, 10.3.2, 10.4, 14.3, 15.1.5, 15.2.5
Failure of Payment
9.5.1.3, 9.7 , 9.10.2, 13.6, 14.1.1.3, 14.2.1.2
Faulty Work
(See Defective or Nonconforming Work)
Final Completion and Final Payment
4.2.1, 4.2.9, 9.8.2, 9.10 , 11.1.2, 11.1.3, 11.3.1, 11.3.5, 12.3, 14.2.4, 14.4.3

AIA Document A201™ – 2007.  Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997 and 2007 by The American Institute of Architects . All rights reserved. WARNING: This AIA ®  Document is
protected by U.S. Copyright Law and International Treaties. Unauthorized reproduction or distribution of this AIA ®  Document, or any portion of it, may result in severe civil and criminal penalties, and will be prosecuted to the maximum
extent possible under the law.  This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:34:54 on 02/02/2016 under Order No.5763238807_1 which expires on 09/23/2016, and is not for resale.
User Notes:      (910716271)

5



Financial Arrangements, Owner’s
2.2.1, 13.2.2, 14.1.1.4
Fire and Extended Coverage Insurance
11.3.1.1
GENERAL PROVISIONS
1
Governing Law
13.1
Guarantees (See Warranty)
Hazardous Materials
10.2.4, 10.3
Identification of Subcontractors and Suppliers
5.2.1
Indemnification
3.17, 3.18 , 9.10.2, 10.3.3, 10.3.5, 10.3.6, 11.3.1.2, 11.3.7
Information and Services Required of the Owner
2.1.2, 2.2 , 3.2.2, 3.12.4, 3.12.10, 6.1.3, 6.1.4, 6.2.5, 9.6.1, 9.6.4, 9.9.2, 9.10.3, 10.3.3, 11.2, 11.4, 13.5.1, 13.5.2, 14.1.1.4,
14.1.4, 15.1.3
Initial Decision
15.2
Initial Decision Maker, Definition of
1.1.8
Initial Decision Maker, Decisions
14.2.2, 14.2.4, 15.2.1, 15.2.2, 15.2.3, 15.2.4, 15.2.5
Initial Decision Maker, Extent of Authority
14.2.2, 14.2.4, 15.1.3, 15.2.1, 15.2.2, 15.2.3, 15.2.4, 15.2.5
Injury or Damage to Person or Property
10.2.8 , 10.4
Inspections
3.1.3, 3.3.3, 3.7.1, 4.2.2, 4.2.6, 4.2.9, 9.4.2, 9.8.3, 9.9.2, 9.10.1, 12.2.1, 13.5
Instructions to Bidders
1.1.1
Instructions to the Contractor
3.2.4, 3.3.1, 3.8.1, 5.2.1, 7, 8.2.2, 12, 13.5.2
Instruments of Service , Definition of
1.1.7
Insurance
3.18.1, 6.1.1, 7.3.7, 9.3.2, 9.8.4, 9.9.1, 9.10.2, 11
Insurance, Boiler and Machinery
11.3.2
Insurance, Contractor’s Liability
11.1
Insurance, Effective Date of
8.2.2, 11.1.2
Insurance, Loss of Use
11.3.3
Insurance, Owner’s Liability
11.2
Insurance, Property
10.2.5, 11.3
Insurance, Stored Materials
9.3.2
INSURANCE AND BONDS
11
Insurance Companies, Consent to Partial Occupancy
9.9.1
Intent of the Contract Documents
1.2.1, 4.2.7, 4.2.12, 4.2.13, 7.4
Interest
13.6
Interpretation
1.2.3, 1.4 , 4.1.1, 5.1, 6.1.2, 15.1.1
Interpretations, Written
4.2.11, 4.2.12, 15.1.4
Judgment on Final Award
15.4.2
Labor and Materials, Equipment
1.1.3, 1.1.6, 3.4 , 3.5, 3.8.2, 3.8.3, 3.12, 3.13, 3.15.1, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 5.2.1, 6.2.1, 7.3.7, 9.3.2, 9.3.3, 9.5.1.3, 9.10.2, 10.2.1, 10.2.4,
14.2.1.1, 14.2.1.2
Labor Disputes
8.3.1
Laws and Regulations
1.5, 3.2.3, 3.6, 3.7, 3.12.10, 3.13, 4.1.1, 9.6.4, 9.9.1, 10.2.2, 11.1.1, 11.3, 13.1, 13.4, 13.5.1, 13.5.2, 13.6, 14, 15.2.8, 15.4
Liens
2.1.2, 9.3.3, 9.10.2, 9.10.4, 15.2.8
Limitations, Statutes of
12.2.5, 13.7, 15.4.1.1
Limitations of Liability
2.3, 3.2.2, 3.5, 3.12.10, 3.17, 3.18.1, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 4.2.12, 6.2.2, 9.4.2, 9.6.4, 9.6.7, 10.2.5, 10.3.3, 11.1.2, 11.2, 11.3.7, 12.2.5,
13.4.2
Limitations of Time
2.1.2, 2.2, 2.4, 3.2.2, 3.10, 3.11, 3.12.5, 3.15.1, 4.2.7, 5.2, 5.3, 5.4.1, 6.2.4, 7.3, 7.4, 8.2, 9.2, 9.3.1, 9.3.3, 9.4.1, 9.5, 9.6, 9.7,
9.8, 9.9, 9.10, 11.1.3, 11.3.1.5, 11.3.6, 11.3.10, 12.2, 13.5, 13.7, 14, 15
Loss of Use Insurance
11.3.3
Material Suppliers
1.5, 3.12.1, 4.2.4, 4.2.6, 5.2.1, 9.3, 9.4.2, 9.6, 9.10.5
Materials, Hazardous
10.2.4, 10.3
Materials, Labor, Equipment and
1.1.3, 1.1.6, 1.5.1, 3.4.1, 3.5, 3.8.2, 3.8.3, 3.12, 3.13, 3.15.1, 4.2.6, 4.2.7, 5.2.1, 6.2.1, 7.3.7, 9.3.2, 9.3.3, 9.5.1.3, 9.10.2,
10.2.1.2, 10.2.4, 14.2.1.1, 14.2.1.2
Means, Methods, Techniques, Sequences and Procedures of Construction
3.3.1, 3.12.10, 4.2.2, 4.2.7, 9.4.2
Mechanic’s Lien
2.1.2, 15.2.8
Mediation
8.3.1, 10.3.5, 10.3.6, 15.2.1, 15.2.5, 15.2.6, 15.3 , 15.4.1
Minor Changes in the Work
1.1.1, 3.12.8, 4.2.8, 7.1, 7.4
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
13
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Modifications , Definition of
1.1.1
Modifications to the Contract
1.1.1, 1.1.2, 3.11, 4.1.2, 4.2.1, 5.2.3, 7, 8.3.1, 9.7, 10.3.2, 11.3.1
Mutual Responsibility
6.2
Nonconforming Work, Acceptance of
9.6.6, 9.9.3, 12.3
Nonconforming Work, Rejection and Correction of
2.3, 2.4, 3.5, 4.2.6, 6.2.4, 9.5.1, 9.8.2, 9.9.3, 9.10.4, 12.2.1
Notice
2.2.1, 2.3, 2.4, 3.2.4, 3.3.1, 3.7.2, 3.12.9, 5.2.1, 9.7, 9.10, 10.2.2, 11.1.3, 12.2.2.1, 13.3, 13.5.1, 13.5.2, 14.1, 14.2, 15.2.8, 15.4.1
Notice, Written
2.3, 2.4, 3.3.1, 3.9.2, 3.12.9, 3.12.10, 5.2.1, 9.7, 9.10, 10.2.2, 10.3, 11.1.3, 11.3.6, 12.2.2.1, 13.3 , 14, 15.2.8, 15.4.1
Notice of Claims
3.7.4, 10.2.8, 15.1.2 , 15.4
Notice of Testing and Inspections
13.5.1, 13.5.2
Observations, Contractor’s
3.2, 3.7.4
Occupancy
2.2.2, 9.6.6, 9.8, 11.3.1.5
Orders, Written
1.1.1, 2.3, 3.9.2, 7, 8.2.2, 11.3.9, 12.1, 12.2.2.1, 13.5.2, 14.3.1
OWNER
2
Owner , Definition of
2.1.1
Owner, Information and Services Required of the
2.1.2, 2.2 , 3.2.2, 3.12.10, 6.1.3, 6.1.4, 6.2.5, 9.3.2, 9.6.1, 9.6.4, 9.9.2, 9.10.3, 10.3.3, 11.2, 11.3, 13.5.1, 13.5.2, 14.1.1.4, 14.1.4,
15.1.3
Owner’s Authority
1.5, 2.1.1, 2.3, 2.4, 3.4.2, 3.8.1, 3.12.10, 3.14.2, 4.1.2, 4.1.3, 4.2.4, 4.2.9, 5.2.1, 5.2.4, 5.4.1, 6.1, 6.3, 7.2.1, 7.3.1, 8.2.2, 8.3.1,
9.3.1, 9.3.2, 9.5.1, 9.6.4, 9.9.1, 9.10.2, 10.3.2, 11.1.3, 11.3.3, 11.3.10, 12.2.2, 12.3, 13.2.2, 14.3, 14.4, 15.2.7
Owner’s Financial Capability
2.2.1, 13.2.2, 14.1.1.4
Owner’s Liability Insurance
11.2
Owner’s Relationship with Subcontractors
1.1.2, 5.2, 5.3, 5.4, 9.6.4, 9.10.2, 14.2.2
Owner’s Right to Carry Out the Work
2.4 , 14.2.2
Owner’s Right to Clean Up
6.3
Owner’s Right to Perform Construction and to Award Separate Contracts
6.1
Owner’s Right to Stop the Work
2.3
Owner’s Right to Suspend the Work
14.3
Owner’s Right to Terminate the Contract
14.2
Ownership and Use of Drawings, Specifications and Other Instruments of Service
1.1.1, 1.1.6, 1.1.7, 1.5 , 2.2.5, 3.2.2, 3.11, 3.17, 4.2.12, 5.3
Partial Occupancy or Use
9.6.6, 9.9 , 11.3.1.5
Patching, Cutting and
3.14 , 6.2.5
Patents
3.17
Payment, Applications for
4.2.5, 7.3.9, 9.2, 9.3 , 9.4, 9.5, 9.6.3, 9.7, 9.8.5, 9.10.1, 14.2.3, 14.2.4, 14.4.3
Payment, Certificates for
4.2.5, 4.2.9, 9.3.3, 9.4 , 9.5, 9.6.1, 9.6.6, 9.7, 9.10.1, 9.10.3, 13.7, 14.1.1.3, 14.2.4
Payment, Failure of
9.5.1.3, 9.7 , 9.10.2, 13.6, 14.1.1.3, 14.2.1.2
Payment, Final
4.2.1, 4.2.9, 9.8.2, 9.10, 11.1.2, 11.1.3, 11.4.1, 12.3, 13.7, 14.2.4, 14.4.3
Payment Bond, Performance Bond and
7.3.7.4, 9.6.7, 9.10.3, 11.4
Payments, Progress
9.3, 9.6 , 9.8.5, 9.10.3, 13.6, 14.2.3, 15.1.3
PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION
9
Payments to Subcontractors
5.4.2, 9.5.1.3, 9.6.2, 9.6.3, 9.6.4, 9.6.7, 14.2.1.2
PCB
10.3.1
Performance Bond and Payment Bond
7.3.7.4, 9.6.7, 9.10.3, 11.4
Permits, Fees, Notices and Compliance with Laws
2.2.2, 3.7 , 3.13, 7.3.7.4, 10.2.2
PERSONS AND PROPERTY, PROTECTION OF
10
Polychlorinated Biphenyl
10.3.1
Product Data , Definition of
3.12.2
Product Data and Samples, Shop Drawings
3.11, 3.12 , 4.2.7
Progress and Completion
4.2.2, 8.2 , 9.8, 9.9.1, 14.1.4, 15.1.3
Progress Payments
9.3, 9.6 , 9.8.5, 9.10.3, 13.6, 14.2.3, 15.1.3
Project , Definition of
1.1.4
Project Representatives
4.2.10
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Property Insurance
10.2.5, 11.3
PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY
10
Regulations and Laws
1.5, 3.2.3, 3.6, 3.7, 3.12.10, 3.13, 4.1.1, 9.6.4, 9.9.1, 10.2.2, 11.1, 11.4, 13.1, 13.4, 13.5.1, 13.5.2, 13.6, 14, 15.2.8, 15.4
Rejection of Work
3.5, 4.2.6, 12.2.1
Releases and Waivers of Liens
9.10.2
Representations
3.2.1, 3.5, 3.12.6, 6.2.2, 8.2.1, 9.3.3, 9.4.2, 9.5.1, 9.8.2, 9.10.1
Representatives
2.1.1, 3.1.1, 3.9, 4.1.1, 4.2.1, 4.2.2, 4.2.10, 5.1.1, 5.1.2, 13.2.1
Responsibility for Those Performing the Work
3.3.2, 3.18, 4.2.3, 5.3, 6.1.3, 6.2, 6.3, 9.5.1, 10
Retainage
9.3.1, 9.6.2, 9.8.5, 9.9.1, 9.10.2, 9.10.3
Review of Contract Documents and Field Conditions by Contractor
3.2 , 3.12.7, 6.1.3
Review of Contractor’s Submittals by Owner and Architect
3.10.1, 3.10.2, 3.11, 3.12, 4.2, 5.2, 6.1.3, 9.2, 9.8.2
Review of Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples by Contractor
3.12
Rights and Remedies
1.1.2, 2.3, 2.4, 3.5, 3.7.4, 3.15.2, 4.2.6, 5.3, 5.4, 6.1, 6.3, 7.3.1, 8.3, 9.5.1, 9.7, 10.2.5, 10.3, 12.2.2, 12.2.4, 13.4 , 14, 15.4
Royalties, Patents and Copyrights
3.17
Rules and Notices for Arbitration
15.4.1
Safety of Persons and Property
10.2 , 10.4
Safety Precautions and Programs
3.3.1, 4.2.2, 4.2.7, 5.3, 10.1 , 10.2, 10.4
Samples , Definition of
3.12.3
Samples, Shop Drawings, Product Data and
3.11, 3.12 , 4.2.7
Samples at the Site, Documents and
3.11
Schedule of Values
9.2 , 9.3.1
Schedules, Construction
3.10, 3.12.1, 3.12.2, 6.1.3, 15.1.5.2
Separate Contracts and Contractors
1.1.4, 3.12.5, 3.14.2, 4.2.4, 4.2.7, 6, 8.3.1, 12.1.2
Shop Drawings , Definition of
3.12.1
Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples
3.11, 3.12 , 4.2.7
Site, Use of
3.13 , 6.1.1, 6.2.1
Site Inspections
3.2.2, 3.3.3, 3.7.1, 3.7.4, 4.2, 9.4.2, 9.10.1, 13.5
Site Visits, Architect’s
3.7.4, 4.2.2, 4.2.9, 9.4.2, 9.5.1, 9.9.2, 9.10.1, 13.5
Special Inspections and Testing
4.2.6, 12.2.1, 13.5
Specifications , Definition of
1.1.6
Specifications
1.1.1, 1.1.6 , 1.2.2, 1.5, 3.11, 3.12.10, 3.17, 4.2.14
Statute of Limitations
13.7, 15.4.1.1
Stopping the Work
2.3, 9.7, 10.3, 14.1
Stored Materials
6.2.1, 9.3.2, 10.2.1.2, 10.2.4
Subcontractor , Definition of
5.1.1
SUBCONTRACTORS
5
Subcontractors, Work by
1.2.2, 3.3.2, 3.12.1, 4.2.3, 5.2.3, 5.3, 5.4, 9.3.1.2, 9.6.7
Subcontractual Relations
5.3 , 5.4, 9.3.1.2, 9.6, 9.10, 10.2.1, 14.1, 14.2.1
Submittals
3.10, 3.11, 3.12, 4.2.7, 5.2.1, 5.2.3, 7.3.7, 9.2, 9.3, 9.8, 9.9.1, 9.10.2, 9.10.3, 11.1.3
Submittal Schedule
3.10.2, 3.12.5, 4.2.7
Subrogation, Waivers of
6.1.1, 11.3.7
Substantial Completion
4.2.9, 8.1.1, 8.1.3, 8.2.3, 9.4.2, 9.8 , 9.9.1, 9.10.3, 12.2, 13.7
Substantial Completion , Definition of
9.8.1
Substitution of Subcontractors
5.2.3, 5.2.4
Substitution of Architect
4.1.3
Substitutions of Materials
3.4.2, 3.5, 7.3.8
Sub-subcontractor , Definition of
5.1.2
Subsurface Conditions
3.7.4
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Successors and Assigns
13.2
Superintendent
3.9 , 10.2.6
Supervision and Construction Procedures
1.2.2, 3.3 , 3.4, 3.12.10, 4.2.2, 4.2.7, 6.1.3, 6.2.4, 7.1.3, 7.3.7, 8.2, 8.3.1, 9.4.2, 10, 12, 14, 15.1.3
Surety
5.4.1.2, 9.8.5, 9.10.2, 9.10.3, 14.2.2, 15.2.7
Surety, Consent of
9.10.2, 9.10.3
Surveys
2.2.3
Suspension by the Owner for Convenience
14.3
Suspension of the Work
5.4.2, 14.3
Suspension or Termination of the Contract
5.4.1.1, 14
Taxes
3.6, 3.8.2.1, 7.3.7.4
Termination by the Contractor
14.1 , 15.1.6
Termination by the Owner for Cause
5.4.1.1, 14.2, 15.1.6
Termination by the Owner for Convenience
14.4
Termination of the Architect
4.1.3
Termination of the Contractor
14.2.2
TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THE CONTRACT
14
Tests and Inspections
3.1.3, 3.3.3, 4.2.2, 4.2.6, 4.2.9, 9.4.2, 9.8.3, 9.9.2, 9.10.1, 10.3.2, 11.4.1, 12.2.1, 13.5
TIME
8
Time, Delays and Extensions of
3.2.4, 3.7.4, 5.2.3, 7.2.1, 7.3.1, 7.4, 8.3 , 9.5.1, 9.7, 10.3.2, 10.4, 14.3.2, 15.1.5, 15.2.5
Time Limits
2.1.2, 2.2, 2.4, 3.2.2, 3.10, 3.11, 3.12.5, 3.15.1, 4.2, 5.2, 5.3, 5.4, 6.2.4, 7.3, 7.4, 8.2, 9.2, 9.3.1, 9.3.3, 9.4.1, 9.5, 9.6, 9.7, 9.8,
9.9, 9.10, 11.1.3, 12.2, 13.5, 13.7, 14, 15.1.2, 15.4
Time Limits on Claims
3.7.4, 10.2.8, 13.7 , 15.1.2
Title to Work
9.3.2, 9.3.3
Transmission of Data in Digital Form
1.6
UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK
12
Uncovering of Work
12.1
Unforeseen Conditions, Concealed or Unknown
3.7.4, 8.3.1, 10.3
Unit Prices
7.3.3.2, 7.3.4
Use of Documents
1.1.1, 1.5, 2.2.5, 3.12.6, 5.3
Use of Site
3.13 , 6.1.1, 6.2.1
Values, Schedule of
9.2 , 9.3.1
Waiver of Claims by the Architect
13.4.2
Waiver of Claims by the Contractor
9.10.5, 13.4.2, 15.1.6
Waiver of Claims by the Owner
9.9.3, 9.10.3, 9.10.4, 12.2.2.1, 13.4.2, 14.2.4, 15.1.6
Waiver of Consequential Damages
14.2.4, 15.1.6
Waiver of Liens
9.10.2, 9.10.4
Waivers of Subrogation
6.1.1, 11.3.7
Warranty
3.5, 4.2.9, 9.3.3, 9.8.4, 9.9.1, 9.10.4, 12.2.2, 13.7
Weather Delays
15.1.5.2
Work , Definition of
1.1.3
Written Consent
1.5.2, 3.4.2, 3.7.4, 3.12.8, 3.14.2, 4.1.2, 9.3.2, 9.8.5, 9.9.1, 9.10.2, 9.10.3, 11.4.1, 13.2, 13.4.2, 15.4.4.2
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ARTICLE 1   GENERAL PROVISIONS
§ 1.1 BASIC DEFINITIONS
§ 1.1.1 THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS
The Contract Documents are enumerated in the Agreement between the Owner and Contractor (hereinafter the Agreement) and consist of the Agreement, Conditions of the
Contract (General, Supplementary and other Conditions), Drawings, Specifications, Addenda issued prior to execution of the Contract, other documents listed in the Agreement
and Modifications issued after execution of the Contract. A Modification is (1) a written amendment to the Contract signed by both parties, (2) a Change Order, (3) a
Construction Change Directive or (4) a written order for a minor change in the Work issued by the Owner or Architect. Unless specifically enumerated in the Agreement, the
Contract Documents do not include the advertisement or invitation to bid, Instructions to Bidders, sample forms, other information furnished by the Owner in anticipation of
receiving bids or proposals, the Contractor’s bid or proposal, or portions of Addenda relating to bidding requirements.

§ 1.1.2 THE CONTRACT
The Contract Documents form the Contract for Construction. The Contract represents the entire and integrated agreement between the parties hereto and supersedes prior
negotiations, representations or agreements, either written or oral. Except as set forth in Section 5.3 and 5.4, below, the Contract may be amended or modified only by a
Modification. The Contract Documents shall not be construed to create a contractual relationship of any kind (1) between the Contractor and the Architect or the Architect’s
consultants, (2) between the Owner and a Subcontractor or a Sub-subcontractor, (3) between the Owner and the Architect or the Architect’s consultants or (4) between any
persons or entities other than the Owner and the Contractor. The Architect shall, however, be entitled to performance and enforcement of obligations under the Contract intended
to facilitate performance of the Architect’s duties.

§ 1.1.3 THE WORK
The term “Work” means the construction and services required by the Contract Documents, whether completed or partially completed, and includes all other labor, materials,
equipment and services provided or to be provided by the Contractor to fulfill the Contractor’s obligations. The Work may constitute the whole or a part of the Project.

§ 1.1.4 THE PROJECT
The Project is the total construction of which the Work performed under the Contract Documents may be the whole or a part and which may include construction by the Owner
and by separate contractors.

§ 1.1.5 THE DRAWINGS
The Drawings are the graphic and pictorial portions of the Contract Documents showing the design, location and dimensions of the Work, generally including plans, elevations,
sections, details, schedules and diagrams.

§ 1.1.6 THE SPECIFICATIONS
The Specifications are that portion of the Contract Documents consisting of the written requirements for materials, equipment, systems, standards and workmanship for the
Work, and performance of related services.

§ 1.1.7 INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE
Instruments of Service are representations, in any medium of expression now known or later developed, of the tangible and intangible creative work performed by the Architect
and the Architect’s consultants under their respective professional services agreements. Instruments of Service may include, without limitation, studies, surveys, models,
sketches, drawings, specifications, and other similar materials.

§ 1.1.8 INITIAL DECISION MAKER
The Initial Decision Maker is the person identified in the Agreement to render initial decisions on Claims in accordance with Section 15.2 and certify termination of the
Agreement under Section 14.2.2.

§ 1.1.9 THE GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE
The Guaranteed Maximum Price or “GMP” as used herein shall refer to the Contractor’s Guaranteed Maximum Price as defined in Section 5.2 of the Agreement. Except for its
use in Sections 9.1, 9.4.2 and 14.2.4, the term “Contract Sum” as used in this A201™–2007, as modified, refers to the Guaranteed Maximum Price as defined in Section 5.2 of
the Agreement.
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§ 1.2 CORRELATION AND INTENT OF THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS
§ 1.2.1 The intent of the Contract Documents is to include all items necessary for the proper execution and completion of the Work by the Contractor. The Contract Documents
are complementary, and what is required by one shall be as binding as if required by all; performance by the Contractor shall be required only to the extent consistent with the
Contract Documents and reasonably inferable from them as being necessary to produce the indicated results.

§ 1.2.2 Organization of the Specifications into divisions, sections and articles, and arrangement of Drawings shall not control the Contractor in dividing the Work among
Subcontractors or in establishing the extent of Work to be performed by any trade. Contractor represents that the Subcontractors, manufacturers and suppliers engaged or to be
engaged by Contractor are and will be familiar with the requirements of the Contract Documents for performance by them of their obligations.

§ 1.2.3 Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, words that have well-known technical or construction industry meanings are used in the Contract Documents in
accordance with such recognized meanings.

§ 1.3 CAPITALIZATION
Terms capitalized in these General Conditions include those that are (1) specifically defined, (2) the titles of numbered articles or (3) the titles of other documents published by
the American Institute of Architects.

§ 1.4 INTERPRETATION
In the interest of brevity the Contract Documents frequently omit modifying words such as “all” and “any” and articles such as “the” and “an,” but the fact that a modifier or an
article is absent from one statement and appears in another is not intended to affect the interpretation of either statement.

§ 1.5 OWNERSHIP AND USE OF DRAWINGS, SPECIFICATIONS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE
§ 1.5.1 All Drawings, Specifications, and other documents prepared by the Architect are and shall remain the property of Owner, and Owner shall retain all common law,
statutory and other reserved rights with respect thereto. They shall not be used by Contractor on any other project without the prior written consent of Owner, and Contractor
shall take such action as may be necessary to prevent their use on any other project or for additions to the Project outside the scope of the Work by any Subcontractor, Sub-
subcontractor, or material or equipment supplier. Contractor, Subcontractors, Subsubcontractors, and material and equipment suppliers are granted a limited license to use and
reproduce applicable portions of the Drawings, Specifications, and other documents prepared by Architect appropriate to and for use in the execution of their Work under the
Contract Documents. All copies made under this license shall bear the statutory copyright notice, if any, shown on the originals. Submittals or distributions necessary to meet
official regulatory requirements or for other purposes relating to completion of the Project are not to be construed as a publication in derogation of the Owner's copyright or other
reserved rights.

§ 1.5.2 Contractor acknowledges that it has taken measures reasonably necessary to verify and ascertain the nature and location of the Work, and that it has investigated and
satisfied itself as to all general and local conditions that may affect the Work or its cost, including but not limited to: (a) conditions relating to transportation, handling, storage
and disposal of materials and equipment; (b) availability of labor, power, water and other utilities, and roads; (c) uncertainties of weather, river stages, and similar physical
characteristics of the site and its surroundings; and (d) character of equipment and other facilities required relative to the Work, both prior to commencement of the Work at the
site and during the performance of the Work. Contractor further acknowledges that it has fully satisfied itself as to the nature, character, quality and quantity of surface
conditions, materials or obstacles to be encountered to the extent that such information is reasonably available from the local municipality and other public bodies, and from the
Contract Documents.

§ 1.5.3 Owner assumes no responsibility for any conclusions or interpretations made by Contractor based on the information made available by Owner, unless such information
is included in the Contract Documents.

§ 1.6 TRANSMISSION OF DATA IN DIGITAL FORM
If the parties intend to transmit Instruments of Service or any other information or documentation in digital form, they shall endeavor to establish necessary protocols governing
such transmissions, unless otherwise already provided in the Agreement or the Contract Documents, and such protocols, when agreed, shall be incorporated into the Contract
Documents by amendment.
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ARTICLE 2   OWNER
§ 2.1 GENERAL
§ 2.1.1 The Owner is the person or entity identified as such in the Agreement and is referred to throughout the Contract Documents as if singular in number. The Owner shall
designate in writing a representative who shall have express authority to bind the Owner with respect to all matters requiring the Owner’s approval or authorization. Except as
otherwise provided in Section 4.2.1, the Architect does not have such authority. The term “Owner” means the Owner or the Owner’s authorized representative.

§ 2.1.2 The Owner shall furnish to the Contractor within fifteen days after receipt of a written request, information necessary and relevant for the Contractor to evaluate, give
notice of or enforce mechanic’s lien rights. Such information shall include a correct statement of the record legal title to the property on which the Project is located, usually
referred to as the site, and the Owner’s interest therein.

§ 2.2 INFORMATION AND SERVICES REQUIRED OF THE OWNER
§ 2.2.1 Prior to and after commencement of the Work, but not more than once every three (3) months, the Contractor may request in writing that the Owner provide reasonable
evidence that the Owner has made financial arrangements or has the financial ability to fulfill the Owner’s obligations under the Contract. The Owner shall furnish such evidence
within fifteen (15) days after written request thereof from Contractor as a condition precedent to commencement of the Work. Thereafter, the furnishing of such evidence shall
be a condition precedent to continuation of the Work if the request is made because (1) the Owner fails to make payments to the Contractor as the Contract Documents require;
(2) a change in the Work materially increases the Contract Sum; or (3) the Contractor identifies in writing a reasonable concern regarding the Owner’s ability to make payment
when due. The Owner shall furnish such evidence or as a condition precedent to commencement or continuation of the Work or the portion of the Work affected by a material
change. After the Owner furnishes the evidence, the Owner shall not materially vary such financial arrangements, if applicable, without prior notice to the Contractor.

§ 2.2.2 Except for permits and fees that are the responsibility of the Contractor under the Contract Documents, including those required under Section 3.7.1, the Owner shall
secure and pay for necessary approvals, easements, assessments and charges required for construction, use or occupancy of permanent structures or for permanent changes in
existing facilities.

§ 2.2.3 The Owner shall furnish surveys describing physical characteristics, legal limitations and utility locations for the site of the Project, and a legal description of the site. The
Contractor shall be entitled to rely on the accuracy of information furnished by the Owner but shall exercise proper precautions relating to the safe performance of the Work.
Owner does not assume any responsibility whatsoever with respect to the sufficiency or accuracy of surveys or reports of borings made, or of the logs of test borings, or other
investigations, or of the interpretations made thereof, and there is no warranty or guaranty, expressed or implied, that the conditions indicated by such investigations, borings,
logs or information are representative of those existing throughout the Project site, or any part thereof, or the concealed conditions may be different from those described or may
not have been identified.

§ 2.2.4 The Owner shall furnish information or services required of the Owner by the Contract Documents with reasonable promptness. The Owner shall also furnish any other
information or services under the Owner’s control and relevant to the Contractor’s performance of the Work with reasonable promptness after receiving the Contractor’s written
request for such information or services.

§ 2.2.5 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the Owner shall furnish to the Contractor one copy of the Contract Documents for purposes of making
reproductions pursuant to Section 1.5.2.

§ 2.3 OWNER’S RIGHT TO STOP THE WORK
If the Contractor fails to correct Work that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents as required by Section 12.2 or repeatedly fails to carry out
Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, the Owner may, after giving Contractor written notice and a reasonable opportunity to cure, but such notice shall only be
required for the first such failure as to any particular issue or obligation, issue a written order to the Contractor to stop the Work, or any portion thereof, until the cause for such
order has been eliminated; however, the right of the Owner to stop the Work shall not give rise to a duty on the part of the Owner to exercise this right for the benefit of the
Contractor or any other person or entity, except to the extent required by Section 6.1.3. Owner's exercise of the right described in this Section 2.3 shall not give rise to any
extension of the Contract Time nor shall the Contract Sum include any sums, costs, or charges directly attributable to Owner's exercise of this right.
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§ 2.4 OWNER’S RIGHT TO CARRY OUT THE WORK
If the Contractor defaults or neglects to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents and fails within a ten-day period after receipt of written notice from the
Owner to commence and continue correction of such default or neglect with diligence and promptness, the Owner may, without prejudice to other remedies the Owner may have,
correct such deficiencies. In such case an appropriate Change Order shall be issued deducting from payments then or thereafter due the Contractor the reasonable cost of
correcting such deficiencies, including Owner’s expenses and compensation for the Architect’s additional services made necessary by such default, neglect or failure. If
payments then or thereafter due the Contractor are not sufficient to cover such amounts, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the Owner, upon receipt of a written demand
accompanied by documentation substantiating the amounts claimed.

§ 2.5 At all times prior to the completion of the Work, Owner, Architect, Project Manager, Owner's lender(s) (“Lender(s)”), if any, and all of their employees and agents, subject
to Contractor’s reasonable requirements, shall have the right to have full access and use of the Work site. Owner's right hereunder shall include, without limitation, making
inspections of the Work, including inspections carried out by Owner's agents (such as without limitation, Project Manager, Architect, engineers or other professional inspectors),
stationing a Project director, a job supervisor and other personnel employed by Owner at the Work site, showing the Work to prospective concessionaires, tenants, lenders and
other interested persons, and carrying out the work of fixturing the improvements comprising the Work for Owner's purposes in using the completed Work. Such use shall not
constitute acceptance of the Work or any part thereof, or waive any of Owner's rights under the Contract Documents.

§ 2.6 Owner will not be responsible for and will not have control or charge over construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety precautions and
programs in connection with the Work, and Owner will not be responsible for Contractor's failure to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents and
applicable laws, rules and regulations. Owner will not be responsible for or have control or charge over the acts or omissions of Contractor, Subcontractors, or any of their agents
or employees, or any other person performing any of the Work.

§ 2.7 Owner has the authority to reject the Work which does not conform to the Contract Documents. Whenever, in its opinion, Owner considers it necessary or advisable for
implementation of the intent of the Contract Documents, Owner will have the authority to require special inspection or testing of the Work in accordance with Section 13.5.2
whether or not such Work is then fabricated, installed or completed. However, neither Owner's authority to act under this Section 2.7, nor any decision made by Owner in good
faith, either to exercise or not to exercise such authority, shall give rise to any duty or responsibility of Owner to Contractor, any Subcontractor, any of their agents or employees,
or any other person performing any of the Work.

§ 2.8 In the event Owner reasonably determines that the progress of Work affecting the critical path of construction is behind the progress anticipated in the schedule for the
Work set forth in the GMP Amendment (the “Schedule”) , and Contractor is not entitled to receive an extension of the Contract Time in accordance with Contract Documents,
Contractor shall submit to Owner for its approval a “Recovery Plan” which will indicate the manner in which Contractor intends to get the Work back on schedule in accordance
with the Schedule. The cost of preparing the Recovery Plan shall be borne solely by Contractor, and shall not be the subject of a Change Order or the use of any contingency
funds. In addition, Owner may require Contractor to take such actions as Owner reasonably deems necessary to expedite progress of the Work in conformance with the progress
anticipated by the Schedule, which actions may include, without limitation, increasing the number of workmen performing the Work, utilizing overtime work and requiring
additional work shifts. Such action by Owner to place Contractor back on schedule shall not entitle Contractor to receive any additional compensation for these activities unless
Contractor would be entitled to receive an extension of Contract Time and Contractor has made such a request, all in accordance with Section 8.3.1, below.

ARTICLE 3   CONTRACTOR
§ 3.1 GENERAL
§ 3.1.1 The Contractor is the person or entity identified as such in the Agreement and is referred to throughout the Contract Documents as if singular in number. The Contractor
shall be lawfully licensed, if required in the jurisdiction where the Project is located. The Contractor shall designate in writing a representative who shall have
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express authority to bind the Contractor with respect to all matters under this Contract. The term “Contractor” means the Contractor or the Contractor’s authorized representative.

§ 3.1.2 The Contractor shall perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

§ 3.1.3 The Contractor shall not be relieved of obligations to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents either by activities or duties of the Architect in the
Architect’s administration of the Contract, or by tests, inspections or approvals required or performed by persons or entities other than the Contractor, unless the Contract
Documents require the Contractor to rely upon such administration, tests, inspections or approvals.

§ 3.2 REVIEW OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS AND FIELD CONDITIONS BY CONTRACTOR
§ 3.2.1 Execution of the Contract by the Contractor is a representation that the Contractor has visited the site, become generally familiar with local conditions under which the
Work is to be performed and correlated personal observations with requirements of the Contract Documents. Contractor and each Subcontractor shall evaluate and satisfy
themselves as to the conditions and limitations under which the Work is to be performed, including without limitation, (1) the location, condition, layout, nature of the Project
site and surrounding areas, (2) generally prevailing climactic conditions, (3) anticipated labor supply and cost, (4) availability and costs of materials, tools and equipment and (5)
other similar issues. Owner assumes no responsibility or liability for the safety of the Project site or any improvements located at the Project site. The Owner shall not be
required to make any adjustment in either the Contract Sum or the Contract Time in connection with any failure by the Contractor or any Subcontractor to comply with the
requirements of this Section 3.2.1. The Contract Sum includes provisions for all Work that may be performed by Contractor to overcome patent site and soil conditions and,
except as expressly provided in Section 3.7.4, below, claims for additional compensation or extension of time because of the Contractor’s failure to familiarize himself with such
conditions will not be allowed.

§ 3.2.2 Because the Contract Documents are complementary, the Contractor shall, before starting each portion of the Work, carefully study and compare the various Contract
Documents relative to that portion of the Work, as well as the information furnished by the Owner pursuant to Section 2.2.3, shall take field measurements of any existing
conditions related to that portion of the Work, and shall observe any conditions at the site affecting it. Contractor shall at once report to Architect, Project Manager and Owner
errors, inconsistencies or omissions discovered. If Contractor fails to so report such discovered errors, inconsistencies or omissions, or those that it discovered in the exercise of
reasonable care, it shall be responsible for the cost of correction or, at Owner’s option, the reduction in value of any defective portion of the Work thereafter performed.
Contractor further acknowledges that it has visited the site, examined all conditions affecting the Work, is fully familiar with all of the conditions thereon and affecting the same,
and having carefully examined all Drawings, Specifications, and documents. These obligations are for the purpose of facilitating coordination and construction by the Contractor
and are not for the purpose of discovering errors, omissions, or inconsistencies in the Contract Documents; however, the Contractor shall promptly report to the Architect any
errors, inconsistencies or omissions discovered by or made known to the Contractor as a request for information in such form as the Architect may require. It is recognized that
the Contractor’s review is made in the Contractor’s capacity as a contractor and not as a licensed design professional, unless otherwise specifically provided in the Contract
Documents.

§ 3.2.3 Except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the Contractor is not required to ascertain that the Contract Documents are in accordance with applicable laws,
statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities, but the Contractor shall promptly report to the Owner, Project Manager and Architect any
nonconformity discovered by or made known to the Contractor as a request for information in such form as the Architect may require.

§ 3.2.4 If the Contractor believes that additional cost or time is involved because of clarifications or instructions the Architect issues in response to the Contractor’s notices or
requests for information pursuant to Sections 3.2.2 or 3.2.3, the Contractor shall make Claims as provided in Article 15. If the Contractor fails to perform the obligations of
Sections 3.2.2 or 3.2.3, it shall pay such costs and damages to the Owner as would have been avoided if the Contractor had performed such obligations. If the Contractor
performs those obligations, the Contractor shall not be liable to the Owner or Architect for damages resulting from errors, inconsistencies or omissions in the Contract
Documents, for differences between field measurements or conditions and the Contract Documents, or for nonconformities of the Contract Documents to applicable laws,
statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities.

AIA Document A201™ – 2007.  Copyright © 1911, 1915, 1918, 1925, 1937, 1951, 1958, 1961, 1963, 1966, 1970, 1976, 1987, 1997 and 2007 by The American Institute of Architects . All rights reserved. WARNING: This AIA ®  Document is
protected by U.S. Copyright Law and International Treaties. Unauthorized reproduction or distribution of this AIA ®  Document, or any portion of it, may result in severe civil and criminal penalties, and will be prosecuted to the maximum
extent possible under the law.  This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:34:54 on 02/02/2016 under Order No.5763238807_1 which expires on 09/23/2016, and is not for resale.
User Notes:      (910716271)

14



§ 3.2.5 Any ambiguities, missing information, illegible words or numbers or discrepancies discovered by Contractor shall be promptly submitted to Owner, Project Manager and
Architect for a recommendation before products are ordered or construction initiated for that portion of the Work. Contractor shall perform the Work reflecting the correction of
such errors, inconsistencies, and omissions subject to Owner's execution of appropriate Change Orders.

§ 3.2.5.1 Work ordered, fabricated or constructed by Contractor, when the Contract Documents do not clearly specify in detail the Work to be done or where the Work
conflicts with the Contract Documents without such Change Orders, shall be corrected by Contractor at its own expense.

§ 3.2.5.2 Recommendations of Architect with regard to such ambiguities or discrepancies shall not make Architect an arbitrator to establish responsibilities of
Subcontractors to Contractor with regard to such portions of the Work.

§ 3.2.6 Contractor shall notify Architect, Project Manager and Owner in writing, of materials, systems, procedures or methods of construction either shown on the Drawings or
specified in the Specifications which Contractor believes are incorrect or inappropriate for the purposes intended, or for which Contractor objects to furnishing the warranties
required by the Contract Documents. Architect and Owner will make a determination of such matters in writing, Contractor shall be responsible for any additional costs resulting
from its failure to so notify Architect, Project Manager and Owner that such materials, systems, procedures and methods, are incorrect or inappropriate.

§ 3.2.7 Dimensions indicated on the Drawings are required dimensions, regardless of measurement per given scale. Contractor shall verify at site necessary levels,
measurements, etc., for complete fabrication, assembly and installation, fitting of equipment, fixtures and the Work. Where dimensions are not indicated and exact location is not
apparent, Contractor shall promptly notify Architect, Project Manager and Owner's Representative, and Architect shall compute the required measurements.

§ 3.3 SUPERVISION AND CONSTRUCTION PROCEDURES
§ 3.3.1 The Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work, using the Contractor’s best skill and attention. The Contractor shall be solely responsible for, and have control over,
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures and for coordinating all portions of the Work under the Contract, unless the Contract Documents give other
specific instructions concerning these matters. If the Contract Documents give specific instructions concerning construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or
procedures, the Contractor shall evaluate the jobsite safety thereof and, except as stated below, shall be fully and solely responsible for the jobsite safety of such means, methods,
techniques, sequences or procedures (excluding any separate work performed by a third party under a separate contract directly with Owner). If the Contractor determines that
such means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures may not be safe, the Contractor shall give timely written notice to the Owner and Architect and shall not proceed with
that portion of the Work without further written instructions from the Architect, and the GMP or Contract Time or both shall be equitably adjusted. If the Contractor is then
instructed to proceed with the required means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures without acceptance of changes proposed by the Contractor, the Owner shall be
solely responsible for any loss or damage arising solely from those Owner-required means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures.

The Contractor shall engage workers who are skilled in performing the Work, and all Work shall be performed with care and skill and in a good workmanlike manner under the
full-time supervision of an approved superintendent. The Contractor shall be liable for all property damage, including repairs and replacements of the Work, which proximately
result from the breach of this duty. The Contractor shall advise the Owner:

a)    if a specified product deviates from good construction practices.

b)    If following the Specifications will affect any warranties; or

c)    any objections which the Contractor may have to the Specifications.

§ 3.3.2 The Contractor shall be responsible to the Owner for acts and omissions of the Contractor’s employees, Subcontractors and their agents and employees, and other persons
or entities performing portions of the Work for, or on behalf of, the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors.
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§ 3.3.3 The Contractor shall be responsible for inspection of portions of Work already performed to determine that such portions are in proper condition to receive subsequent
Work.

§ 3.3.4 In addition to Section 10.2, below, Contractor shall institute and supervise reasonable precautions to prevent damage, injury or loss to (i) all employees involved with the
Work and other persons who may be affected thereby, including, without limitation, invitees, licensees, trespassers and persons on adjacent properties, (ii) all the Work and all
materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, including those in storage on or off site under the care, custody or control of Contractor or any Subcontractor, (iii) Owner's
personal and real property and other property at the Work site or adjacent thereto, including without limitation, fixtures, carpets, and other related items, and (iv) all of Owner's
employees, agents and representatives. Contractor shall at all times take such precautions as may be necessary to shore, brace, secure and protect the Work and shall protect such
parts of the Work and shall provide and maintain such security, including, without limitation, rules, guards, fences, lights and signs, as may be necessary or required to comply
with this Section 3.3.4. Contractor shall further post necessary danger signs and other warnings against hazards, promulgate and enforce safety codes, rules and regulations and
notify owners, lessees and users of adjacent property. Contractor shall particularly ensure and be responsible for compliance with all applicable state and federal safety laws,
ordinances, rules, regulations and lawful orders of all governmental authorities and other persons or entities having jurisdiction. In any emergency threatening the Work or
adjoining property, Contractor may act pursuant to Section 10.4. Contractor shall not be responsible for the costs of such emergency work, unless the emergency was due to
Contractor's own fault or neglect. The Contractor shall inspect all materials delivered to the Project and shall reject any materials that will not conform with the Contract
Documents when properly installed.

§ 3.3.5 Contractor shall not cause or permit any disruption to the streets and utilities serving any occupied portion of the Project, the remainder of the Project, or other properties
without Owner's prior consent, which may be conditioned upon restrictions in the time, place and manner of such disruption.

§ 3.4 LABOR AND MATERIALS
§ 3.4.1 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall provide and pay for labor, materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment and machinery,
and temporary water, heat, utilities (including connections), transportation, and other facilities and services necessary for proper execution and completion of the Work, whether
temporary or permanent and whether or not incorporated or to be incorporated in the Work.

§ 3.4.2 Contractor may make substitutions only with the consent of the Owner, after evaluation by the Architect and in accordance with a Change Order or Construction Change
Directive.

§ 3.4.3 The Contractor shall enforce strict discipline and good order among the Contractor’s employees and other persons carrying out the Work. The Contractor shall not permit
employment of unfit persons or persons not properly skilled in tasks assigned to them.

§ 3.4.4 Where the Contract Documents refer to particular construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures or indicate or imply that such are to be used on the
Work, such mention is intended only to indicate that the operations of Contractor shall be such as to produce the quality of work implied by the operations described, but that the
actual determination of whether the described operations may be safely or suitably employed on the Work shall be the responsibility of Contractor, who shall notify Architect,
Project Manager and Owner in writing of the actual means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures which will be employed on the Work, if these differ from those
mentioned in the Contract Documents. All loss, damage, or liability, or cost of correcting defective work arising from the employment of any construction means, methods,
techniques, sequences or procedures shall be borne by the Contractor, notwithstanding that such construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures are referred
to, indicated or implied by the Contract Documents.

§ 3.4.5 Any material specified by reference to the number, symbol, or title of a specific standard such as that of the American Society for Testing materials (ASTM), a Product or
Commercial Standard, Federal Specification or other similar standards, shall comply with the requirements of the dated revisions stated in the Specifications, or where the
Specifications contain no revision date, shall comply with the requirements of the latest revision thereof and any supplement or amendment thereto, in effect on the date of
receipt of bids. The standards referred to, except as specifically modified in the Specifications, shall have the same force as if they were printed in full context within the
Specifications.
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§ 3.4.6 Contractor shall coordinate all Work of like material in order to produce harmony of matching finishes, textures, colors, etc., throughout the various components of the
Project.

§ 3.4.7 Where it is required in the Specifications that materials, products, processes, equipment or the like be installed or applied in accord with manufacturer's instructions,
directions, or specifications or words to this effect, it shall be construed to mean that said application or installation shall be in strict accord with current printed instructions
furnished by the manufacturer of the material concerned for use under conditions similar to those at the job site. Unless otherwise stated, Contractor shall furnish one (1) copy of
instructions to Owner and one (1) copy to Architect.

§ 3.5 WARRANTY
Subject to the provisions of Section 12.2 herein, the Contractor warrants to the Owner that materials and equipment furnished under the Contract will be of good quality and new
unless the Contract Documents require or permit otherwise. The Contractor further warrants that the Work will conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents and will
be free from defects, except for those inherent in the quality of the Work the Contract Documents require or permit. Work, materials, or equipment not conforming to these
requirements shall be defective. The Contractor’s warranty excludes remedy for damage or defect caused by abuse, alterations to the Work not executed by the Contractor,
improper or insufficient maintenance, improper operation, or normal wear and tear and normal usage. If required by the Owner, the Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence
as to the kind and quality of materials and equipment. Contractor agrees to assign to Owner at the time of final completion of the Work, any and all manufacturer's warranties
relating to material and labor used in the Work and further agrees to perform the Work in such a manner so as to preserve any and all such manufacturer's warranties. Contractor
shall furnish seventy-two (72) hour callback service for the equipment provided by Contractor for a period of one (1) year after final payment and acceptance of the Work.
Provided, however, Contractor shall provide twenty-four (24) hours emergency call back service for all pumping systems, emergency generator, electric switch gear, smoke
exhaust fans, chillers and a domestic water heaters.

§ 3.5.2 During the warranty period, Owner shall (i) establish and conduct a reasonable maintenance and repair program in and around the property; (ii) comply in all respects
with the requirements set forth in the manufacturers’ warranties on all equipment, fixtures and systems; (iii) notify Contractor in writing within ten (10) business days after
Owner has actual knowledge of any defect or deficiency which Owner believes is covered by Contractor’s warranty; and (iv) provide to Contractor such reasonable access
necessary to inspect the work during the warranty period and correct or replace any defect covered by Contractor’s warranty. Contractor shall not be liable for any damages that
could have been prevented but occurred as a result of Owner’s failure to give Contractor such notice pursuant to this Section.

§ 3.6 TAXES
The Contractor shall pay, as a Cost of the Work, sales, consumer, use and similar taxes for the Work provided by the Contractor that are legally enacted when bids are received
or negotiations concluded, whether or not yet effective or merely scheduled to go into effect. The Owner is responsible to provide the Contractor with all necessary information
in order to obtain all reasonable exemptions or deductions of sales, consumer, use and similar taxes that are legally available.  In the event taxes were charged by Contractor that
are later determined to be exempt or nontaxable, Contractor will exhaust all commercially reasonable options to obtain a refund of such taxes from taxing authorities. Such
overpaid taxes charged to the Owner shall be reflected as either a refund or a reduction of charges on future invoices after such refunds are received by Contractor.  If the Owner
provides the necessary information to the Contractor or the process to obtain overpaid taxes is after the completion of the Project, then the Owner will reimburse the Contractor
for all reasonable labor and material expensed to obtain overpaid taxes.

§ 3.7 PERMITS, FEES, NOTICES AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS
§ 3.7.1 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall secure and pay for the building permit as well as for other permits, fees, licenses, and
inspections by government agencies necessary for proper execution and completion of the Work that are customarily secured after execution of the Contract and legally required
at the time bids are received or negotiations concluded. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the Owner shall secure and pay for all non-construction-related
permits as well as any permits necessary for the operation of the facility post-completion.

§ 3.7.2 The Contractor shall comply with and give notices required by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, and lawful orders, and all other
requirements of public authorities applicable to performance
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of the Work. If Contractor fails to give such notice, Contractor shall be liable for and shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner, Project Manager, and their respective
employees, officers, and agents, against any resulting fines, penalties, liabilities, judgments or damages, including reasonable attorneys' fees, imposed on or incurred by the
parties indemnified hereunder.

§ 3.7.3 If the Contractor performs Work knowing it to be contrary to applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful orders or other requirements of
public authorities, the Contractor shall assume appropriate responsibility for such Work and shall bear the costs attributable to correction, and shall, in addition to Owner's other
remedies, pay all costs of correction, and reimburse Owner for any diminution in value of the Project and expenses incurred by Owner as a result of Contractor's actions.
Contractor shall send all notices, make all necessary arrangements, and provide all labor and materials required to protect and maintain in operation of all public utilities within
the Project site or affected by the Work.

§ 3.7.4 Concealed or Unknown Conditions. If the Contractor encounters conditions at the site that are (1) subsurface or otherwise concealed physical conditions that differ
materially from those indicated in the Contract Documents or (2) unknown physical conditions of an unusual nature, that differ materially from those ordinarily found to exist
and generally recognized as inherent in construction activities of the character provided for in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall promptly provide notice to the
Owner and the Architect before conditions are disturbed and in no event later than 21 days after first observance of the conditions. The Architect will promptly investigate such
conditions and, if the Architect determines that they differ materially and cause an increase or decrease in the Contractor’s cost of, or time required for, performance of any part
of the Work, will recommend an equitable adjustment in the Contract Sum, Guaranteed Maximum Price, Contract Time, or any of them. If the Architect determines that the
conditions at the site are not materially different from those indicated in the Contract Documents and that no change in the terms of the Contract is justified, the Architect shall
promptly notify the Owner and Contractor in writing, stating the reasons. If either party disputes the Architect’s determination or recommendation, that party may proceed as
provided in Article 15.

§ 3.7.5 If, in the course of the Work, the Contractor encounters human remains or recognizes the existence of burial markers, archaeological sites or wetlands not indicated in the
Contract Documents, the Contractor shall immediately suspend any operations that would affect them and shall notify the Owner and Architect. Upon receipt of such notice, the
Owner shall promptly take any action necessary to obtain governmental authorization required to resume the operations. The Contractor shall continue to suspend such
operations until otherwise instructed by the Owner but shall continue with all other operations that do not affect those remains or features. Requests for adjustments in the
Contract Sum, Guaranteed Maximum Price, and Contract Time arising from the existence of such remains or features may be made as provided in Article 15.

§ 3.8 ALLOWANCES
§ 3.8.1 The Contractor shall include in the Contract Sum all allowances stated in the Contract Documents. Items covered by allowances shall be supplied for such amounts and
by such persons or entities as the Owner may direct, but the Contractor shall not be required to employ persons or entities to whom the Contractor has reasonable objection.

§ 3.8.2 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents,
.1 Allowances shall cover the cost to the Contractor of materials and equipment delivered at the site and all required taxes, less applicable trade discounts;
.2 Contractor’s and its Subcontractors’ (of every tier), and suppliers’ costs for unloading and handling at the site, labor, installation costs, overhead, profit and other

expenses contemplated for stated allowance amounts shall be included in the Contract Sum but not in the allowances; and
.3 Whenever costs are more than or less than allowances, the Contract Sum and Guaranteed Maximum Price shall be adjusted accordingly by Change Order. The

amount of the Change Order shall reflect (1) the difference between actual costs and the allowances under Section 3.8.2.1 and (2) changes in Contractor’s costs
under Section 3.8.2.2.

§ 3.8.3 Materials and equipment under an allowance shall be selected by the Owner with reasonable promptness so as not to delay the Work.
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§ 3.9 SUPERINTENDENT
§ 3.9.1 The Contractor shall employ a competent superintendent approved in writing by Owner and necessary assistants who shall be in attendance at the Project site during
performance of the Work. Contractor shall notify Owner in writing of any proposed change in such personnel, including the reason therefore, prior to making any change. Such
personnel shall not be changed except with the consent of Owner, unless such personnel cease to be in the employ of Contractor. Ross Vroman and Kevin Devlin of Contractor
shall, subject to change by prior written notice from Contractor to Owner, represent Contractor, and written communications given to them shall be binding on Contractor.

§ 3.9.2 The Contractor, as soon as practicable after award of the Contract, shall furnish in writing to the Owner, Project Manager and Architect the name and qualifications of a
proposed superintendent. The Owner, Project Manager and Architect may reply within 14 days to the Contractor in writing stating (1) whether the Owner, Project Manager or the
Architect have reasonable objection to the proposed superintendent or (2) that the Owner, Project Manager and Architect requires additional time to review. Failure of the
Owner, Project Manager and Architect to reply within the 14 day period shall constitute notice of no reasonable objection.

§ 3.9.3 The Contractor shall not employ a proposed superintendent to whom the Owner, Project Manager or Architect has made reasonable and timely objection. The Contractor
shall not change the superintendent without the Owner’s consent, which shall not unreasonably be withheld or delayed.

§ 3.10 CONTRACTOR’S CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULES
§ 3.10.1 The Contractor, promptly after the Agreement is executed by both Owner and Contractor, shall prepare and submit for the Owner’s, Project Manager’s and Architect’s
information a Contractor’s construction schedule for the Work. The schedule shall not exceed time limits current under the Contract Documents, shall be revised at appropriate
intervals as required by the conditions of the Work and Project, shall be related to the entire Project to the extent required by the Contract Documents, and shall provide for
expeditious and practicable execution of the Work.

§ 3.10.2 The Contractor shall prepare a submittal schedule, promptly after being awarded the Contract and thereafter as necessary to maintain a current submittal schedule, and
shall submit the submittal schedule for the Architect’s approval. The Architect’s approval shall not unreasonably be delayed or withheld. The submittal schedule shall (1) be
coordinated with the Contractor’s construction schedule, and (2) allow the Architect reasonable time to review submittals. If the Contractor fails to submit a submittal schedule,
the Contractor shall not be entitled to any increase in Contract Sum or extension of Contract Time based on the time required for review of submittals.

§ 3.10.3 The Contractor shall perform the Work in general accordance with the most recent schedules submitted to the Owner and Architect.

§ 3.11 DOCUMENTS AND SAMPLES AT THE SITE
The Contractor shall maintain at the site for the Owner one copy of the Drawings, Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders and other Modifications, in good order and marked
currently to indicate field changes and selections made during construction, and one copy of approved Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar required submittals.
These shall be available to the Owner and Architect and shall be delivered to the Owner upon completion of the Work as a record of the Work as constructed. The Contractor
shall also maintain all approved permit drawings and other documents at the site, so as to make them accessible to inspectors and the Owner at all times that the Work is in
progress. Such documents shall be delivered to the Owner before final payment.

§ 3.12 SHOP DRAWINGS, PRODUCT DATA AND SAMPLES
§ 3.12.1 Shop Drawings are drawings, diagrams, schedules and other data specially prepared for the Work by the Contractor or a Subcontractor, Sub-subcontractor,
manufacturer, supplier or distributor to illustrate some portion of the Work.

§ 3.12.2 Product Data are illustrations, standard schedules, performance charts, instructions, brochures, diagrams and other information furnished by the Contractor to illustrate
materials or equipment for some portion of the Work.

§ 3.12.3 Samples are physical examples that illustrate materials, equipment or workmanship and establish standards by which the Work will be judged.
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§ 3.12.4 Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar submittals are not Contract Documents. Their purpose is to demonstrate the way by which the Contractor proposes
to conform to the information given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents for those portions of the Work for which the Contract Documents require
submittals. Review by the Architect is subject to the limitations of Section 4.2.7. Informational submittals upon which the Architect is not expected to take responsive action may
be so identified in the Contract Documents. Submittals that are not required by the Contract Documents may be returned by the Architect without action.

§ 3.12.5 The Contractor shall review for compliance with the Contract Documents, and submit for approval to the Architect Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar
submittals required by the Contract Documents in accordance with the submittal schedule approved by the Architect or, in the absence of an approved submittal schedule, with
reasonable promptness and in such sequence as to cause no delay in the Work or in the activities of the Owner or of separate contractors.

§ 3.12.6 By submitting Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples and similar submittals, the Contractor represents to the Owner and Architect that the Contractor has (1) reviewed
them, and (2) checked and coordinated the information contained within such submittals with the requirements of the Work and of the Contract Documents.

§ 3.12.7 The Contractor shall perform no portion of the Work for which the Contract Documents require submittal and review of Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples or
similar submittals until the respective submittal has been approved by the Architect.

§ 3.12.8 The Work shall be in accordance with approved submittals except that the Contractor shall not be relieved of responsibility for deviations from requirements of the
Contract Documents by the Architect’s approval of Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples or similar submittals unless the Contractor has specifically informed the Architect in
writing of such deviation at the time of submittal and (1) the Architect has given written approval to the specific deviation as a minor change in the Work, or (2) a Change Order
or Construction Change Directive has been issued authorizing the deviation. The Contractor shall not be relieved of responsibility for errors or omissions in Shop Drawings,
Product Data, Samples or similar submittals by the Architect’s approval thereof.

§ 3.12.9 The Contractor shall direct specific attention, in writing or on resubmitted Shop Drawings, Product Data, Samples or similar submittals, to revisions other than those
requested by the Architect on previous submittals. In the absence of such written notice, the Architect’s approval of a resubmission shall not apply to such revisions.

§ 3.12.10 The Contractor shall not be required to provide professional services that constitute the practice of architecture or engineering including, but not limited to, seismic
engineering design and/or structural design required as a result of construction sequences. The Contractor shall not be required to provide professional services in violation of
applicable law. If professional design services or certifications by a design professional related to systems, materials or equipment are specifically required of the Contractor by
the Contract Documents, the Owner and the Architect will specify all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy. The Contractor shall cause such services or
certifications to be provided by a properly licensed design professional, whose signature and seal shall appear on all drawings, calculations, specifications, certifications, Shop
Drawings and other submittals prepared by such professional. Shop Drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by such professional, if prepared by
others, shall bear such professional’s written approval when submitted to the Architect. The Owner and the Architect shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy and
completeness of the services, certifications and approvals performed or provided by such design professionals, provided the Owner and Architect have specified to the Contractor
all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy. Pursuant to this Section 3.12.10, the Architect will review, approve or take other appropriate action on
submittals only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with information given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall
not be responsible for the adequacy of the performance and design criteria specified in the Contract Documents.

§ 3.13 USE OF SITE
The Contractor shall confine operations at the site to areas permitted by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities
and the Contract Documents and shall not unreasonably encumber the site with materials or equipment.
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§ 3.14 CUTTING AND PATCHING
§ 3.14.1 The Contractor shall be responsible for cutting, fitting or patching required to complete the Work or to make its parts fit together properly. All areas requiring cutting,
fitting and patching shall be restored to the condition existing prior to the cutting, fitting and patching, unless otherwise required by the Contract Documents.

§ 3.14.2 The Contractor shall not damage or endanger a portion of the Work or fully or partially completed construction of the Owner or separate contractors by cutting, patching
or otherwise altering such construction, or by excavation. The Contractor shall not cut or otherwise alter such construction by the Owner or a separate contractor except with
written consent of the Owner and of such separate contractor; such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. The Contractor shall not unreasonably withhold from the Owner
or a separate contractor the Contractor’s consent to cutting or otherwise altering the Work.

§ 3.14.3 The Contractor shall locate, protect, and save from injury utilities of all kinds, either above or below grade, (i) of which Contractor has actual knowledge, (ii) that are set
forth in plans given to, or obtained by, Contractor or (iii) that are marked by Underground Service Alert, inside or outside of any structure, found in the areas affected by its
work. Contractor shall be responsible for all damage caused to such utility by the operation of equipment or delivery of materials or as the direct or indirect result of any of its
work and shall repair all such damage at its expense and as a part of the work included in the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall not be entitled to any increase in the
Contract Sum or the Contract Time on account of such damage to any utility, so long as Contractor either had actual knowledge of such utility, such utility was set forth in plans
given to, or obtained by, Contractor, or such utility was marked by Underground Service Alert.

§ 3.15 CLEANING UP
§ 3.15.1 The Contractor shall keep the premises and surrounding area free from accumulation of waste materials or rubbish caused by operations under the Contract. At
completion of the Work, the Contractor shall remove waste materials, rubbish, the Contractor’s tools, construction equipment, machinery and surplus materials from and about
the Project.

§ 3.15.2 If the Contractor fails to clean up as provided in the Contract Documents, the Owner may do so and Owner shall be entitled to reimbursement from the Contractor.

§ 3.15.3 Contractor shall be responsible for broken glass, and at or before completion of the Work, as directed by Owner, shall replace such damaged or broken glass. After
broken glass has been replaced, Contractor shall remove all labels, wash, and policy both sides of all glass. Further, in addition to general broom cleaning, Contractor shall
perform the final cleaning for all trades immediately upon completion of the Work, which shall include, but not limited to, the following: (a) remove temporary protections; (b)
remove marks, stains, fingerprints and other soil or dirt from painted, decorated, and natural finished woodwork and other Work; (c) remove spots, mortar, plaster, soil and paint
from ceramic tile, marble, and other finish materials and wash or wipe clean; (d) clean fixtures, cabinet work and equipment, removing stains, paint, dirt, and dust and leave in
undamaged, new condition; (e) clean aluminum in accordance with recommendations of the manufacturer; and (f) clean resilient floors thoroughly with a well rinsed mop
containing only enough moisture to clean off any surface dirt or dust and buff dry by machine to bring the surfaces to sheen.

§ 3.15.4 Costs incurred by Owner under this Section 3.15 shall be deducted from amounts otherwise due to Contractor, or at Owner's option, reimbursed by Contractor to Owner
immediately following Owner's demand.

§ 3.16 ACCESS TO WORK
The Contractor shall provide the Owner and Architect access to the Work in preparation and progress wherever located.

§ 3.17 ROYALTIES, PATENTS AND COPYRIGHTS
The Contractor shall pay all royalties and license fees. The Contractor shall defend suits or claims for infringement of copyrights and patent rights and shall hold the Owner and
Architect harmless from loss on account thereof, but shall not be responsible for such defense or loss when a particular design, process or product of a particular manufacturer or
manufacturers is required by the Contract Documents, or where the copyright violations are contained in Drawings, Specifications or other documents prepared by the Owner or
Architect. However, if the Contractor has reason to know that the required design, process or product is an infringement of a copyright or a patent, the Contractor shall be
responsible for such loss unless such information is promptly furnished to the Architect.
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§ 3.18 INDEMNIFICATION
§ 3.18.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law the Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Owner, Project Manager, Owner’s Lender and agents and employees
of any of them (collectively, the “Indemnitees”) from and against claims, damages, losses and expenses, including but not limited to attorneys’ fees, brought by or alleged by a
third party arising out of or resulting from performance of the Work, provided that such claim, damage, loss or expense is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease or death,
or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), but only to the extent caused by the negligent acts or omissions of the Contractor, a Subcontractor,
anyone directly or indirectly employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable. Such obligation shall not be construed to negate, abridge, or reduce other rights or
obligations of indemnity that would otherwise exist as to a party or person described in this Section 3.18.

§ 3.18.2 In claims against any person or entity indemnified under this Section 3.18 by an employee of the Contractor, a Subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by
them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable, the indemnification obligation under Section 3.18.1 shall not be limited by a limitation on amount or type of damages,
compensation or benefits payable by or for the Contractor or a Subcontractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability benefit acts or other employee benefit acts.

§ 3.18.3 Contractor shall include in all agreements with Subcontractors clauses substantially similar to Subparagraph 3.18.1 where the Subcontractor agrees to indemnify
Contractor and Indemnitees.

§ 3.19 LENDER’S CERTIFICATE

§ 3.19.1 Within ten (10) days of Owner's request, Contractor shall execute and deliver to Owner and its lender(s) having an interest in the Project, a certificate addressed to
Owner and such lender(s) concerning the compliance of the Work with the Contract Documents and applicable laws and regulations, the status of completion of the Work, the
status of payments and defaults, and such other matters as such lender(s) may request. Such requests shall not be made an unreasonable number of times.

§ 3.20 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
§ 3.20.1 Contractor represents and warrants the following to Owner (in addition to the other representations and warranties contained in the Contract Documents), which
representations and warranties shall survive any termination of the Owner-Contractor Agreement and the final completion of the Work:

§ 3.20.1.1 that it is financially solvent, able to pay its debts as they mature and possessed of sufficient working capital to complete the Work and perform its obligations
under Contract Documents;

§ 3.20.1.2 that it is able to furnish the tools, materials, supplies, equipment, and labor required to complete the Work and perform its obligations under the Contract
Documents and has sufficient experience and competence to do so; and

§ 3.20.1.3 that it is authorized to do business in the State of Arizona and properly licensed by all necessary governmental authorities having jurisdiction over it and
over the Work and the site of the Project.

§ 3.21 PUBLICITY
§ 3.21.1 The Contractor shall not divulge information concerning this Project to anyone (including, without limitation, information in applications for permits, variances, etc.)
without the Owner's prior written consent. The Contractor shall obtain a similar agreement from firms, subcontractors, suppliers, and others employed by the Contractor. The
Owner reserves the right to release all information as well as to time its release, form, and content. This requirement shall survive the expiration of the Contract. Contractor’s
ultimate parent company, Skanska AB, the shares of which are publicly traded on the NASDAQ OMX Stockholm, will be required by applicable securities laws and regulations
to issue one or more press releases concerning this Agreement if the total amount of this Agreement exceeds $35,000,000.00. Attached hereto as Schedule 1 is a press release in
form approved by Owner for such a press release in the event the total amount of this Agreement exceeds $35,000,000.00, provided, however, the Contractor shall give the
Owner five (5) business days’ prior written notice of issuance of it. Contractor shall give Owner any other press release(s) at least five (5) business days prior to issuance for
Owner to review and
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approve by written notice to Contractor, provided that such approval shall not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

§ 3.22 LENDER’S ARCHITECT
§ 3.22.1 If the Owner's lender requires the services of an inspecting architect or other representative, the Owner may require the concurrence of such inspecting architect or
lender's representative in each instance where the approval of the Owner or the Architect herein is required by any provision of the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall
fully cooperate with such inspecting architect or lender representative.

ARTICLE 4   ARCHITECT
§ 4.1 GENERAL
§ 4.1.1 The Owner shall retain an architect lawfully licensed to practice architecture or an entity lawfully practicing architecture in the jurisdiction where the Project is located.
That person or entity is identified as the Architect in the Agreement and is referred to throughout the Contract Documents as if singular in number.

§ 4.1.2 Duties, responsibilities and limitations of authority of the Architect as set forth in the Contract Documents shall not be restricted, modified or extended without written
consent of the Owner, Contractor and Architect. Consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

§ 4.1.3 If the employment of the Architect is terminated, the Owner shall employ a successor architect as to whom the Contractor has no reasonable objection and whose status
under the Contract Documents shall be that of the Architect.

§ 4.2 ADMINISTRATION OF THE CONTRACT
§ 4.2.1 The Architect will provide administration of the Contract as described in the Contract Documents and will be an Owner’s representative during construction until the date
the Architect issues the final Certificate for Payment. The Architect will have authority to act on behalf of the Owner only to the extent provided in the Contract Documents.

§ 4.2.2 The Architect will visit the site at intervals appropriate to the stage of construction, or as otherwise agreed with the Owner, to become generally familiar with the progress
and quality of the portion of the Work completed, and to determine in general if the Work observed is being performed in a manner indicating that the Work, when fully
completed, will be in accordance with the Contract Documents. However, the Architect will not be required to make exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to check the
quality or quantity of the Work. The Architect will not have control over, charge of, or responsibility for, the construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures,
or for the safety precautions and programs in connection with the Work, since these are solely the Contractor’s rights and responsibilities under the Contract Documents, except
as provided in Section 3.3.1.

§ 4.2.3 On the basis of the site visits, the Architect will keep the Owner reasonably informed about the progress and quality of the portion of the Work completed, and report to
the Owner (1) known deviations from the Contract Documents and from the most recent construction schedule submitted by the Contractor, and (2) defects and deficiencies
observed in the Work. The Architect will not be responsible for the Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.
The Architect will not have control over or charge of and will not be responsible for acts or omissions of the Contractor, Subcontractors, or their agents or employees, or any
other persons or entities performing portions of the Work.

§ 4.2.4 COMMUNICATIONS FACILITATING CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION
Except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents or when direct communications have been specially authorized, the Owner and Contractor shall endeavor to
communicate with each other through the Architect about matters arising out of or relating to the Contract. Communications by and with the Architect’s consultants shall be
through the Architect. Communications by and with Subcontractors and material suppliers shall be through the Contractor. Communications by and with separate contractors
shall be through the Owner.

§ 4.2.5 Based on the Architect’s evaluations of the Contractor’s Applications for Payment, the Architect will review and certify the amounts due the Contractor and will issue
Certificates for Payment in such amounts.

§ 4.2.6 The Architect has authority to reject Work that does not conform to the Contract Documents. Whenever the Architect considers it necessary or advisable, the Architect
will have authority to require inspection or testing of the
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Work in accordance with Sections 13.5.2 and 13.5.3, whether or not such Work is fabricated, installed or completed. However, neither this authority of the Architect nor a
decision made in good faith either to exercise or not to exercise such authority shall give rise to a duty or responsibility of the Architect to the Contractor, Subcontractors,
material and equipment suppliers, their agents or employees, or other persons or entities performing portions of the Work.

§ 4.2.7 The Architect will review and approve, or take other appropriate action upon, the Contractor’s submittals such as Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples, but only for
the limited purpose of checking for conformance with information given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. The Architect’s action will be taken in
accordance with the submittal schedule approved by the Architect or, in the absence of an approved submittal schedule, with reasonable promptness so as not to delay the Work.
Review of such submittals is not conducted for the purpose of determining the accuracy and completeness of other details such as dimensions and quantities, or for substantiating
instructions for installation or performance of equipment or systems. The Architect’s review of the Contractor’s submittals shall not relieve the Contractor of the obligations
under Sections 3.3, 3.5 and 3.12. The Architect’s review shall not constitute approval of safety precautions or, unless otherwise specifically stated by the Architect, of any
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures. The Architect’s approval of a specific item shall not indicate approval of an assembly of which the item is a
component.

§ 4.2.8 The Architect will prepare Change Orders and Construction Change Directives, and may authorize minor changes in the Work as provided in Section 7.4. The Architect
will investigate and make determinations and recommendations regarding concealed and unknown conditions as provided in Section 3.7.4.

§ 4.2.9 The Architect will conduct inspections to determine the date or dates of Substantial Completion and the date of final completion; issue Certificates of Substantial
Completion pursuant to Section 9.8; receive and forward to the Owner, for the Owner’s review and records, written warranties and related documents required by the Contract
and assembled by the Contractor pursuant to Section 9.10; and issue a final Certificate for Payment pursuant to Section 9.10.

§ 4.2.10 If the Owner and Architect agree, the Architect will provide one or more project representatives to assist in carrying out the Architect’s responsibilities at the site. The
duties, responsibilities and limitations of authority of such project representatives shall be as set forth in an exhibit to be incorporated in the Contract Documents.

§ 4.2.11 The Architect will interpret and decide matters concerning performance under, and requirements of, the Contract Documents on written request of either the Owner or
Contractor. The Architect’s response to such requests will be made in writing within any time limits agreed upon or otherwise with reasonable promptness.

§ 4.2.12 Interpretations and decisions of the Architect will be consistent with the intent of, and reasonably inferable from, the Contract Documents and will be in writing or in the
form of drawings. When making such interpretations and decisions, the Architect will endeavor to secure faithful performance by both Owner and Contractor, will not show
partiality to either and will not be liable for results of interpretations or decisions rendered in good faith.

§ 4.2.13 [Intentionally Deleted.]

§ 4.2.14 The Architect will review and respond to requests for information about the Contract Documents. The Architect’s response to such requests will be made in writing
within any time limits agreed upon or otherwise with reasonable promptness so as not to delay the Progress of the Work. If appropriate, the Architect will prepare and issue
supplemental Drawings and Specifications in response to the requests for information.

ARTICLE 5   SUBCONTRACTORS
§ 5.1 DEFINITIONS
§ 5.1.1 A Subcontractor is a person or entity who has a direct contract with the Contractor to perform a portion of the Work at the site. The term “Subcontractor” is referred to
throughout the Contract Documents as if singular in number and means a Subcontractor or an authorized representative of the Subcontractor. The term “Subcontractor” does not
include a separate contractor or subcontractors of a separate contractor.

§ 5.1.2 A Sub-subcontractor is a person or entity who has a direct or indirect contract with a Subcontractor to perform a portion of the Work at the site. The term “Sub-
subcontractor” is referred to throughout the Contract
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Documents as if singular in number and means a Sub-subcontractor or an authorized representative of the Sub-subcontractor.

§ 5.2 AWARD OF SUBCONTRACTS AND OTHER CONTRACTS FOR PORTIONS OF THE WORK
§ 5.2.1 Contractor, as soon as practicable after award of the Contract, shall furnish in writing to the Owner, with copies to, Architect and Project Manager, the names of persons
or entities (including those who are to furnish materials or equipment fabricated to a special design) proposed for each principal portion of the Work. The Owner and Architect
may reply within 14 days to the Contractor in writing stating (1) whether the Owner or the Architect have reasonable objection to any such proposed person or entity or (2) that
the Owner or Architect requires additional time for review. Failure of the Owner or Architect to reply within the 14-day period shall constitute notice of no reasonable objection.

§ 5.2.2 The Contractor shall not contract with a proposed person or entity to whom the Owner or Architect has made reasonable and timely objection. The Contractor shall not be
required to contract with anyone to whom the Contractor has made reasonable objection.

§ 5.2.3 If the Owner or Architect has reasonable objection to a person or entity proposed by the Contractor, the Contractor shall propose another to whom the Owner or Architect
has no reasonable objection. If the proposed but rejected Subcontractor was reasonably capable of performing the Work, the Contract Sum and Contract Time shall be increased
or decreased by the difference, if any, occasioned by such change, and an appropriate Change Order shall be issued before commencement of the substitute Subcontractor’s
Work. However, no increase in the Contract Sum, Guaranteed Maximum Price or Contract Time shall be allowed for such change unless the Contractor has acted promptly and
responsively in submitting names as required.

§ 5.2.4 The Contractor shall not substitute a Subcontractor, person or entity previously selected if the Owner or Architect makes reasonable objection to such substitution.

§ 5.2.5 All portions of the Work that the Contractor's organization does not perform with its own personnel shall be performed under Subcontracts or by other appropriate
agreements with Contractor. Prior to awarding a portion of the Work to any proposed Subcontractor, Contractor shall deliver to Owner a copy of any proposed Subcontractor's
bid. All Subcontracts shall conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents. Contractor shall deliver to Owner copies of all Subcontracts both prior to and following their
execution.

§ 5.3 SUBCONTRACTUAL RELATIONS
§ 5.3.1 By appropriate agreement, written where legally required for validity, the Contractor shall require each Subcontractor, to the extent of the Work to be performed by the
Subcontractor, to be bound to the Contractor by terms of the Contract Documents, and to assume toward the Contractor all the obligations and responsibilities, including the
responsibility for safety of the Subcontractor’s Work, which the Contractor, by these Documents, assumes toward the Owner. Each subcontract agreement shall preserve and
protect the rights of the Owner and Architect under the Contract Documents with respect to the Work to be performed by the Subcontractor so that subcontracting thereof will
not prejudice such rights, and shall allow to the Subcontractor, unless specifically provided otherwise in the subcontract agreement, the benefit of all rights, remedies and redress
against the Contractor that the Contractor, by the Contract Documents, has against the Owner. Where appropriate, the Contractor shall require each Subcontractor to enter into
similar agreements with Sub-subcontractors. The Contractor shall make available to each proposed Subcontractor, prior to the execution of the subcontract agreement, copies of
the Contract Documents to which the Subcontractor will be bound. Subcontractors will similarly make copies of applicable portions of such documents available to their
respective proposed Sub-subcontractors.

§ 5.3.2 All Work performed for Contractor by a Subcontractor shall be pursuant to an appropriate written agreement between Contractor and the Subcontractor (and where
appropriate between Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors) which shall include a schedule of value approved by Owner, and which shall contain provisions that:

§ 5.3.2.1 provide that Owner is an express third party beneficiary of the subcontract, and preserve and protect the rights of Owner under the Contract with respect to the
Work to be performed under the subcontract so that the subcontracting thereof will not prejudice such right;

§ 5.3.2.2 require such Work be performed in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents;
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§ 5.3.2.3 include the Subcontractor's acknowledgment that Contractor has assigned its interest in the subcontract to Owner, which assignment shall become effective
upon Contractor's default under the Contract Documents and Subcontractor's receipt of notification from Owner that (a) Contractor is in default under the Contract Documents or
Owner has terminated the Contract; and (b) the assignment is effective;

§ 5.3.2.4 require submission to Contractor of applications for payment under each subcontract to which Contractor is a party, in reasonable time to enable the
Contractor to apply for payment in accordance with Article 9 of the General Conditions and Article 12 of the Agreement;

§ 5.3.2.5 require that all claims for additional costs, extensions of time, damages for delays or otherwise with respect to subcontracted portions of the Work shall be
submitted to Contractor (via any Subcontractor or Sub-subcontractor where appropriate) in sufficient time so that Contractor may comply in the manner provided in the Contract
Documents for like claims by Contractor upon Owner; and

§ 5.3.2.6 waive all rights Contractor and Subcontractor may have against one another for damages caused by fire or other perils covered by property insurance.

§ 5.4 CONTINGENT ASSIGNMENT OF SUBCONTRACTS
§ 5.4.1 Each subcontract agreement for a portion of the Work is assigned by the Contractor to the Owner, provided that

.1 assignment is effective only after termination of the Contract by the Owner pursuant to Article 14 and only for those subcontract agreements that the Owner accepts
by notifying the Subcontractor and Contractor in writing; and

.2 assignment is subject to the prior rights of the surety, if any, obligated under bond relating to the Contract.

When the Owner accepts in writing the assignment of a subcontract agreement, the Owner, on a going forward basis, assumes the Contractor’s rights and obligations under the
subcontract. In no event shall Owner have any obligation to cure the Contractor’s breach of the subcontract.

§ 5.4.2 [Intentionally Deleted]

§ 5.4.3 Upon such assignment to the Owner under this Section 5.4, the Owner may further assign the subcontract to a successor contractor or other entity.

§ 5.4.4 Upon such assignment, the Owner shall defend, indemnify and hold Contractor harmless against any and all claims of Subcontractors arising after the effective date of
such assignment based on acts occurring thereafter whose Subcontracts have been assigned to the Owner.

ARTICLE 6   CONSTRUCTION BY OWNER OR BY SEPARATE CONTRACTORS
§ 6.1 OWNER’S RIGHT TO PERFORM CONSTRUCTION AND TO AWARD SEPARATE CONTRACTS
§ 6.1.1 The Owner reserves the right to perform construction or operations related to the Project with the Owner’s own forces, and to award separate contracts in connection with
other portions of the Project or other construction or operations on the site under Conditions of the Contract identical or substantially similar to these including those portions
related to insurance and waiver of subrogation. If the Contractor claims that delay or additional cost is involved because of such action by the Owner, the Contractor shall make
such Claim as provided in Article 15.

§ 6.1.2 When separate contracts are awarded for different portions of the Project or other construction or operations on the site, the term “Contractor” in the Contract Documents
in each case shall mean the Contractor who executes each separate Owner-Contractor Agreement.

§ 6.1.3 The Owner shall provide for coordination of the activities of the Owner’s own forces and of each separate contractor with the Work of the Contractor, who shall
cooperate with them. The Contractor shall participate with other separate contractors and the Owner in reviewing their construction schedules. The Contractor shall make any
revisions to the construction schedule deemed necessary after a joint review and mutual agreement, and Contract Sum and Contract Time will be equitably adjusted as is
appropriate. The construction schedules shall then constitute the schedules to be used by the Contractor, separate contractors and the Owner until subsequently revised.
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§ 6.1.4 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, when the Owner performs construction or operations related to the Project with the Owner’s own forces, the
Owner shall be deemed to be subject to the same obligations and to have the same rights that apply to the Contractor under the Conditions of the Contract, including, without
excluding others, those stated in Article 3, this Article 6 and Articles 10, 11 and 12.

§ 6.2 MUTUAL RESPONSIBILITY
§ 6.2.1 The Contractor shall afford the Owner and separate contractors reasonable opportunity for introduction and storage of their materials and equipment and performance of
their activities, and shall connect and coordinate the Contractor’s construction and operations with theirs as required by the Contract Documents.

§ 6.2.2 If part of the Contractor’s Work depends for proper execution or results upon construction or operations by the Owner or a separate contractor, the Contractor shall, prior
to proceeding with that portion of the Work, promptly report to the Architect apparent discrepancies or defects in such other construction that would render it unsuitable for such
proper execution and results. Failure of the Contractor so to report shall constitute an acknowledgment that the Owner’s or separate contractor’s completed or partially completed
construction is fit and proper to receive the Contractor’s Work, except as to defects not then reasonably discoverable.

§ 6.2.3 The Contractor shall reimburse the Owner for costs the Owner incurs that are payable to a separate contractor because of the Contractor’s delays, improperly timed
activities or defective construction. The Owner shall be responsible to the Contractor for costs the Contractor incurs because of a separate contractor’s delays, improperly timed
activities, damage to the Work or defective construction.

§ 6.2.4 The Contractor shall promptly remedy damage the Contractor wrongfully causes to completed or partially completed construction or to property of the Owner or separate
contractors as provided in Section 10.2.5.

§ 6.2.5 The Owner and each separate contractor shall have the same responsibilities for cutting and patching as are described for the Contractor in Section 3.14.

§ 6.3 OWNER’S RIGHT TO CLEAN UP
If a dispute arises among the Contractor, separate contractors and the Owner as to the responsibility under their respective contracts for maintaining the premises and surrounding
area free from waste materials and rubbish, the Owner may clean up and the Architect will allocate reasonably the cost among those responsible.

ARTICLE 7   CHANGES IN THE WORK
§ 7.1 GENERAL
§ 7.1.1 Changes in the Work may be accomplished after execution of the Contract, and without invalidating the Contract, by Change Order, Construction Change Directive or
order for a minor change in the Work, subject to the limitations stated in this Article 7 and elsewhere in the Contract Documents.

§ 7.1.2 A Change Order shall be based upon agreement among the Owner, Contractor and Architect; a Construction Change Directive requires agreement by the Owner and
Architect and may or may not be agreed to by the Contractor; an order for a minor change in the Work may be issued by the Architect alone.

§ 7.1.3 Changes in the Work shall be performed under applicable provisions of the Contract Documents, and the Contractor shall proceed promptly, unless otherwise provided in
the Change Order, Construction Change Directive or order for a minor change in the Work.

§ 7.1.4 Owner shall order changes in the Work by giving Contractor a written change order request (“Change Order Request”), setting forth in detail the nature of the requested
change. Contractor shall, as soon as reasonably possible, but not later than ten (10) days following receipt of a Change Order Request, furnish to Owner a statement setting forth
in detail, with suitable breakdown by trades and work classifications, the changes, if any, in the Contract Sum attributable to the changes set forth in such Change Order Request,
the proposed adjustment, if any, to the Contract Time resulting from such Change Order Request and any proposed adjustments of time and costs related to unchanged Work
resulting from such Change Order Request. If Owner approves such changes in writing, a change order (“Change Order”) shall be executed and the Contract Sum and Contract
Time shall be adjusted as set forth in such Change Order. Failure to agree on the price of any Change Order shall not excuse Contractor from proceeding with the prosecution of
the Work as changed (provided Owner issues a Construction Change Directive) for an
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amount equal to the amount undisputed by Owner for such a Change Order, with Contractor reserving its rights to claim additional compensation for the disputed portion of such
Change Order work.

§ 7.1.5 Owner and Contractor shall be entitled to receive a Change Order equitably adjusting (either by decrease or increase) the Guaranteed Maximum Price or the Contract
Time or both for adverse or beneficial cost and schedule impacts to the Work from the a change in any applicable law, including the interpretation or application thereof, after the
date the GMP is established.

§ 7.2 CHANGE ORDERS
§ 7.2.1 A Change Order is a written instrument prepared by the Architect and signed by the Owner, Contractor and Architect stating their agreement upon all of the following:

.1 The change in the Work;

.2 The amount of the adjustment, if any, in the Contract Sum and Guaranteed Maximum Price; and

.3 The extent of the adjustment, if any, in the Contract Time.

§ 7.2.2 Agreement on any Change Order shall constitute a final settlement of all matters relating to the change in the Work which is the subject of the Change Order, including,
but not limited to, all direct and indirect costs associated with such change and any and all adjustments to the Contract Sum and the Contract Time. In the event a Change Order
increases the Contract Sum, Contractor shall include the Work covered by such Change Orders in Applications for Payment as if such Work were originally part of the Contract
Documents.

§ 7.3 CONSTRUCTION CHANGE DIRECTIVES
§ 7.3.1 A Construction Change Directive is a written order prepared by the Architect and signed by the Owner and Architect, directing a change in the Work prior to agreement
on adjustment, if any, in the Contract Sum, Guaranteed Maximum Price, or Contract Time, or any of them. The Owner may by Construction Change Directive, without
invalidating the Contract, order changes in the Work within the general scope of the Contract consisting of additions, deletions or other revisions, the Contract Sum, Guaranteed
Maximum Price and Contract Time being adjusted accordingly.

§ 7.3.2 A Construction Change Directive shall be used in the absence of total agreement on the terms of a Change Order.

§ 7.3.3 If the Construction Change Directive provides for an adjustment to the Contract Sum, the adjustment shall be based on one of the following methods:
.1 Mutual acceptance of a lump sum properly itemized and supported by sufficient substantiating data to permit evaluation;
.2 Unit prices stated in the Contract Documents or subsequently agreed upon;
.3 Cost to be determined in a manner agreed upon by the parties, plus the Contractor’s Fee set forth in Section 5.1.1 of the Agreement; or
.4 As provided in Section 7.3.7.

§ 7.3.4 If unit prices are stated in the Contract Documents or subsequently agreed upon, and if quantities originally contemplated are materially changed in a proposed Change
Order or Construction Change Directive so that application of such unit prices to quantities of Work proposed will cause substantial inequity to the Owner or Contractor, the
applicable unit prices shall be equitably adjusted.

§ 7.3.5 Upon receipt of a Construction Change Directive, the Contractor shall promptly proceed with the change in the Work involved and advise the Architect of the
Contractor’s agreement or disagreement with the method, if any, provided in the Construction Change Directive for determining the proposed adjustment in the Contract Sum,
Guaranteed Maximum Price or Contract Time.

§ 7.3.6 A Construction Change Directive signed by the Contractor indicates the Contractor’s agreement therewith, including adjustment in Contract Sum, Guaranteed Maximum
Price and Contract Time or the method for determining them. Such agreement shall be effective immediately and shall be recorded as a Change Order.

§ 7.3.7 If the Contractor does not respond promptly or disagrees with the method for adjustment in the Contract Sum, the Architect shall determine the method and the
adjustment on the basis of reasonable expenditures and savings of those performing the Work attributable to the change, including, in case of an increase in the Contract Sum, an
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amount for overhead and profit as set forth in the Agreement, or if no such amount is set forth in the Agreement, a reasonable amount. In such case, and also under Section
7.3.3.3, the Contractor shall keep and present, in such form as the Architect may prescribe, an itemized accounting together with appropriate supporting data. Unless otherwise
provided in the Contract Documents, costs for the purposes of this Section 7.3.7 shall be limited to the following:

.1 Costs of labor, including social security, old age and unemployment insurance, fringe benefits required by agreement or custom, and workers’ compensation
insurance;

.2 Costs of materials, supplies and equipment, including cost of transportation, whether incorporated or consumed;

.3 Rental costs of machinery and equipment, exclusive of hand tools, whether rented from the Contractor or others;

.4 Costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance, permit fees, and sales, use or similar taxes related to the Work;

.5 Additional costs of supervision and field office personnel directly attributable to the change; and

.6 Any additional costs allowed by Article 6 of the Agreement.

§ 7.3.8 The amount of credit to be allowed by the Contractor to the Owner for a deletion or change that results in a net decrease in the Contract Sum shall be actual net cost as
confirmed by the Architect. When both additions and credits covering related Work or substitutions are involved in a change, the allowance for overhead and profit shall be
figured on the basis of net increase, if any, with respect to that change.

§ 7.3.9 Pending final determination of the total cost of a Construction Change Directive to the Owner, the Contractor may request payment for Work completed under the
Construction Change Directive in Applications for Payment. The Architect will make an interim determination for purposes of monthly certification for payment for those costs
and certify for payment the amount that the Architect determines, in the Architect’s professional judgment, to be reasonably justified. The Architect’s interim determination of
cost shall adjust the Contract Sum and Guaranteed Maximum Price on the same basis as a Change Order, subject to the right of either party to disagree and assert a Claim in
accordance with Article 15.

§ 7.3.10 When the Owner and Contractor agree with a determination made by the Architect concerning the adjustments in the Contract Sum, Guaranteed Maximum Price and
Contract Time, or otherwise reach agreement upon the adjustments, such agreement shall be effective immediately and the Architect will prepare a Change Order. Change
Orders may be issued for all or any part of a Construction Change Directive.

§ 7.4 MINOR CHANGES IN THE WORK
The Architect has authority to order minor changes in the Work not involving adjustment in the Contract Sum, Guaranteed Maximum Price or extension of the Contract Time
and not inconsistent with the intent of the Contract Documents. Such changes will be effected by written order signed by the Architect and shall be binding on the Owner and
Contractor, subject to the right of Contractor to reasonably disagree and assert a Claim in accordance with Article 15.

ARTICLE 8   TIME
§ 8.1 DEFINITIONS
§ 8.1.1 Unless otherwise provided, Contract Time is the period of time, including authorized adjustments, allotted in the Contract Documents for Substantial Completion of the
Work.

§ 8.1.2 The date of commencement of the Work is the date established in the Agreement.

§ 8.1.3 The date of Substantial Completion is the date certified by the Architect in accordance with Section 9.8.

§ 8.1.4 The term “day” as used in the Contract Documents shall mean calendar day unless otherwise specifically defined.

§ 8.2 PROGRESS AND COMPLETION
§ 8.2.1 Time limits stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract with respect to its obligation to achieve Substantial and Final Completion of the Work as
adjusted by change order. By executing the Agreement the Contractor confirms that the Contract Time, subject to adjustments as provided for in the Contract Documents, is a
reasonable period for performing the Work.
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§ 8.2.2 The Contractor shall not knowingly, except by agreement or instruction of the Owner in writing, prematurely commence operations on the site or elsewhere prior to the
effective date of insurance required by Article 11 to be furnished by the Contractor and Owner. The date of commencement of the Work shall not be changed by the effective
date of such insurance.

§ 8.2.3 The Contractor shall proceed expeditiously with adequate forces and shall achieve Substantial Completion within the Contract Time, subject to adjustments as provided
for in the Contract Documents.

§ 8.3 DELAYS AND EXTENSIONS OF TIME
§ 8.3.1 If Contractor is delayed in the performance of the Work by any act or neglect of Owner or Architect, or by an employee, agent or representative of Owner or by changes
ordered in the Work, or by the combined action of workmen (either those employed on the Work or in any industry essential to the conduct of the Work) not caused by or
resulting from default, negligence or collusion on the part of Contractor or its Subcontractors of every tier, or if Contractor is delayed by separate contractors, or by unusually
severe weather conditions not reasonably anticipatable for the locale, or by fire, unavoidable casualty, acts of God, “Excusable Labor Disputes” or “Excusable Transportation
Delays” (as those terms are defined below), or national emergency, then the Contract Time shall be extended by Change Order for a period equal to the length of such delay as
measured on the critical path of the Schedule if, within fourteen (14) days after the commencement of any such delay, or fourteen (14) days after Contractor learned of the delay,
whichever is later, Contractor delivers to Owner a written notice of such delay stating the nature thereof, and within fourteen (14) days following the expiration of any such
delay, provides a written request for extension of the Contract Time by reason of such delay and such extension is approved by Owner, which approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld; provided, however, that no such extension shall be given unless the delay for which a request for extension is made is included in those items for which an extension of
the Contract Time is appropriate pursuant to the provisions of this Subparagraph 8.3.1. As used herein, the term “Excusable Labor Dispute” shall be defined as any labor dispute
directed against an entire industry, or any labor dispute that is not directed solely against the Project, the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or suppliers, and which prevents
Contractor from obtaining labor or materials necessary for performance of the Work and actually delays the performance of the Work; provided, however, that suitable substitute
materials or labor are not reasonably obtainable. As used herein, the term “Excusable Transportation Delay” shall be defined as any labor dispute directed against an entire
industry, or any labor dispute that is not directed solely against the Project, the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors or suppliers, or other delay not within the reasonable
control of Contractor which prevents the transportation of necessary materials to the Project and actually delays the performance of the Work; provided, however, that suitable
substitute transportation for such materials is not reasonably available. In the event Contractor fails to deliver to Owner either or both of the above-described written notices
within the required fourteen (14) day period, then the extension of the Contract Time attributable to the delay for which such notices are required shall be decreased by one (1)
day for each day (beyond the applicable fourteen (14) day period) Contractor fails to deliver any required notice to Owner. In the case of a continuing cause of delay of a
particular nature, Contractor shall be required to make only one such request for extension with respect thereto. No delay of the Contract Time (or right on the part of Contractor
to secure any such delay) pursuant to this Section 8.3.1 shall prejudice any right Owner may have under the Contract, or otherwise, to terminate the Contract.

§ 8.3.2 In addition to the increased time due to a delay set forth in Section 8.3.1, Contractor shall be entitled to a commensurate increase in the Contract Sum and Guaranteed
Maximum Price for delays which impact the Schedule.

§ 8.3.3 This Section 8.3 does not preclude recovery of damages for delay by either party under other provisions of the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 9   PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION
§ 9.1 CONTRACT SUM
The Contract Sum is stated in the Agreement and, including authorized adjustments, is the total amount payable by the Owner to the Contractor for performance of the Work
under the Contract Documents.

§ 9.2 SCHEDULE OF VALUES
Where the Contract is based on a stipulated sum or Guaranteed Maximum Price, the Contractor shall submit to the Architect, before the first Application for Payment, a schedule
of values allocating the entire Contract Sum to the various portions of the Work and prepared in such form and supported by such data to substantiate its accuracy as the
Architect may require. This schedule, unless objected to by the Architect, shall be used as a basis for reviewing the
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Contractor’s Applications for Payment. The schedule of values shall not constitute, or be construed as, a line item Guaranteed Maximum Price.

§ 9.3 APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT
§ 9.3.1 At least ten days before the date established for each progress payment, the Contractor shall submit to the Architect an itemized Application for Payment prepared in
accordance with the schedule of values, if required under Section 9.2, for completed portions of the Work. Such application shall be notarized, if required, and supported by such
data substantiating the Contractor’s right to payment as the Owner or Architect may require, such as copies of requisitions from Subcontractors and material suppliers, and shall
reflect retainage if provided for in the Contract Documents.

§ 9.3.1.1 As provided in Section 7.3.9, such applications may include requests for payment on account of changes in the Work that have been properly authorized by
Construction Change Directives, or by interim determinations of the Architect, but not yet included in Change Orders.

§ 9.3.1.2 Applications for Payment shall not include requests for payment for portions of the Work for which the Contractor does not intend to pay a Subcontractor or material
supplier, unless such Work has been performed by others whom the Contractor intends to pay.

§ 9.3.2 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, payments shall be made on account of materials and equipment delivered and suitably stored at the site for
subsequent incorporation in the Work. If approved in writing and in advance by the Owner and Lender, payment may similarly be made for materials and equipment suitably
stored off the site at a location agreed upon in writing. Payment for materials and equipment stored on or off the site shall be conditioned upon compliance by the Contractor with
procedures reasonably satisfactory to the Owner and Lender to establish the Owner’s title to such materials and equipment or otherwise protect the Owner’s interest, and the
Lender’s security interest therein, and shall include the costs of applicable insurance, storage and transportation to the site for such materials and equipment stored off the site in
third party warehouses.

§ 9.3.3 The Contractor warrants that title to all Work covered by an Application for Payment will pass to the Owner no later than the time of payment. The Contractor further
warrants that upon submittal of an Application for Payment all Work for which Certificates for Payment have been previously issued and payments received from the Owner
shall, to the best of the Contractor’s knowledge, information and belief, be free and clear of liens, claims, security interests or encumbrances in favor of the Contractor,
Subcontractors, material suppliers, or other persons or entities making a claim by reason of having provided labor, materials and equipment relating to the Work.

§ 9.4 CERTIFICATES FOR PAYMENT
§ 9.4.1 The Architect will, within seven days after receipt of the Contractor’s Application for Payment, either issue to the Owner a Certificate for Payment, with a copy to the
Contractor, for such amount as the Architect determines is properly due, or notify the Contractor and Owner in writing of the Architect’s reasons for withholding certification in
whole or in part as provided in Section 9.5.1.

§ 9.4.2 The issuance of a Certificate for Payment will constitute a representation by the Architect to the Owner, based on the Architect’s evaluation of the Work and the data
comprising the Application for Payment, that, to the best of the Architect’s knowledge, information and belief, the Work has progressed to the point indicated and that the quality
of the Work is in accordance with the Contract Documents. The foregoing representations are subject to an evaluation of the Work for conformance with the Contract Documents
upon Substantial Completion, to results of subsequent tests and inspections, to correction of minor deviations from the Contract Documents prior to completion and to specific
qualifications expressed by the Architect. The issuance of a Certificate for Payment will further constitute a representation that the Contractor is entitled to payment in the
amount certified. However, the issuance of a Certificate for Payment will not be a representation that the Architect has (1) made exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections to
check the quality or quantity of the Work, (2) reviewed construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, (3) reviewed copies of requisitions received from
Subcontractors and material suppliers and other data requested by the Owner to substantiate the Contractor’s right to payment, or (4) made examination to ascertain how or for
what purpose the Contractor has used money previously paid on account of the Contract Sum.

§ 9.5 DECISIONS TO WITHHOLD CERTIFICATION
§ 9.5.1 The Architect may withhold a Certificate for Payment in whole or in part, to the extent reasonably necessary to protect the Owner, if in the Architect’s opinion the
representations to the Owner required by Section 9.4.2 cannot
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be made. If the Architect is unable to certify payment in the amount of the Application, the Architect will notify the Contractor and Owner as provided in Section 9.4.1. If the
Contractor and Architect cannot agree on a revised amount, the Architect will promptly issue a Certificate for Payment for the amount for which the Architect is able to make
such representations to the Owner. The Architect may also withhold a Certificate for Payment or, because of subsequently discovered evidence, may nullify the whole or a part
of a Certificate for Payment previously issued, to such extent as may be necessary to protect the Owner from loss for which the Contractor is responsible, including loss resulting
from acts and omissions described in Section 3.3.2, because of

.1 defective Work not remedied;

.2 third party claims filed or reasonable evidence indicating probable filing of such claims unless security acceptable to the Owner is provided by the Contractor;

.3 failure of the Contractor to make payments properly to Subcontractors or for labor, materials or equipment;

.4 reasonable evidence that the Work cannot be completed for the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum;

.5 damage to the Owner or a separate contractor;

.6 reasonable evidence that the Work will not be completed within the Contract Time, and that the unpaid balance would not be adequate to cover actual or liquidated
damages for the anticipated delay; or

.7 material failure to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

Notwithstanding the issuance of a Certificate for Payment, the Owner, may withhold payment for the reasons described in Sections 9.5.1.1 - 9.5.1.7, but shall make payment of
amounts that are not in dispute.

§ 9.5.2 When the above reasons for withholding certification are removed, certification will be made for amounts previously withheld. All non-disputed amounts shall be paid to
the Contractor within the time requirements of the
Contract Documents. In no event will Owner withhold more than 150% of any disputed amount or of the amount reasonably necessary to correct or address the reason for
withholding. The Owner shall not be deemed to be in default of the Contract by reason of withholding payment while any of the grounds above in Section 9.5.1 remain uncured.

§ 9.5.3 If the Architect withholds certification for payment under Section 9.5.1.3, the Owner may, at its sole option, and after providing five (5) days prior written notice to
Contractor, issue joint checks to the Contractor and to any Subcontractor or material or equipment suppliers to whom the Contractor failed to make payment for Work properly
performed or material or equipment suitably delivered. If the Owner makes payments by joint check, the Owner shall notify the Architect and the Architect will reflect such
payment on the next Certificate for Payment.

§ 9.6 PROGRESS PAYMENTS
§ 9.6.1 After the Architect has issued a Certificate for Payment, the Owner shall make payment in the manner and within the time provided in the Contract Documents, and shall
so notify the Architect.

§ 9.6.2 The Contractor shall pay each Subcontractor no later than seven days after receipt of payment from the Owner the amount to which the Subcontractor is entitled,
reflecting percentages actually retained from payments to the Contractor on account of the Subcontractor’s portion of the Work. The Contractor shall, by appropriate agreement
with each Subcontractor, require each Subcontractor to make payments to Sub-subcontractors in a similar manner.

§ 9.6.3 The Architect will, on request, furnish to a Subcontractor, if practicable, information regarding percentages of completion or amounts applied for by the Contractor and
action taken thereon by the Architect and Owner on account of portions of the Work done by such Subcontractor.

§ 9.6.4 The Owner has the right to request written evidence from the Contractor that the Contractor has properly paid Subcontractors and material and equipment suppliers
amounts paid by the Owner to the Contractor for subcontracted Work. If the Contractor fails to furnish such evidence within seven days, the Owner shall have the right to contact
Subcontractors to ascertain whether they have been properly paid. Neither the Owner nor Architect shall have an obligation to pay or to see to the payment of money to a
Subcontractor, except as may otherwise be required by law.

§ 9.6.5 Contractor payments to material and equipment suppliers shall be treated in a manner similar to that provided in Sections 9.6.2, 9.6.3 and 9.6.4.
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§ 9.6.6 A Certificate for Payment, a progress payment, or partial or entire use or occupancy of the Project by the Owner shall not constitute acceptance of Work not in
accordance with the Contract Documents.

§ 9.6.7 Unless the Contractor provides the Owner with a payment bond in the full penal sum of the Contract Sum, payments received by the Contractor for Work properly
performed by Subcontractors and suppliers shall be held by the Contractor for those Subcontractors or suppliers who performed Work or furnished materials, or both, under
contract with the Contractor for which payment was made by the Owner. Nothing contained herein shall require money to be placed in a separate account and not commingled
with money of the Contractor, shall create any fiduciary liability or tort liability on the part of the Contractor for breach of trust or shall entitle any person or entity to an award of
punitive damages against the Contractor for breach of the requirements of this provision.

§ 9.6.8 With each Application for Payment, Contractor shall furnish a conditional progress waiver and release of lien for itself, each Subcontractor who furnished labor,
equipment, materials or services to the Project, and each materialman and vendor who furnished materials to the Project during the period covered by the Application for
Payment. Upon each payment by Owner, Contractor shall execute, and cause all such materialman, vendors and Subcontractors to execute an unconditional progress waiver and
release of lien acknowledging receipt of all payments due through the period covered by the previous Application for Payment for which payment was received by the
Contractor. The conditional and unconditional lien releases shall be in statutory form, and provided Owner is making progress payments in accordance with the Contract
Documents, Contractor shall deliver the executed unconditional releases to Owner with its next succeeding Application for Payment, including the Final Application for Payment
to assure an effective waiver of mechanics' or materialmen's liens in compliance with the laws of the State of Arizona. In addition to providing lien releases, and provided Owner
is making required progress payments in accordance with the Contract Documents, Contractor shall indemnify and hold Owner and Lender harmless from and against any and all
liens and charges of every type, nature, kind or description which may at any time be filed or claimed against the Project, or any portion thereof, or the improvements situated
thereon, including attorneys' fees, as a consequence, direct or indirect, of any act or omission of Contractor, its agents, servants, employees, suppliers, subcontractors, or any or
all of them. Prior to commencement of Work as reasonably required by Owner or Lender, Contractor shall furnish to Owner and Lender an affidavit, subordination and lien
waiver agreement executed by Contractor and each Subcontractor which has furnished and supplied or will furnish or supply materials and services in connection with the
prosecution of the Work, which agreement shall be in a commercially reasonable form. To the extent not inconsistent with existing law, each party executing such agreement
shall, prior to commencement of Work, agree to subordinate all of its liens for Work to be performed or materials to be furnished pursuant to the Contract Documents to the liens
and security interests securing payment of any loan made for the Project by Lender, and shall furnish a release of all liens for Work performed and materials furnished up to the
date of execution of such agreement to the extent such party has been paid. Further, each such party shall certify that all amounts owing to such party for the Work through the
date of such agreement have been paid in full, or if not paid in full, such agreement shall set forth such amounts which have not been paid through the date of such agreement.

§ 9.6.9 If any lien, bonded stop notice or claim is recorded or served in connection with the Work for which the Contractor has been paid, Contractor shall, immediately and at its
own expense, record or file, or cause to be recorded or filed, in the office of the county recorder in which the lien or claim was recorded, or with the person(s) on whom the
bonded stop notice was served, a bond executed by a good and sufficient surety, and approved by Owner, in a sum equal to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the amount of
such lien, bonded stop notice or claim, which bond shall guarantee the payment of any amounts which the claimant may recover on the lien, bonded stop notice or claim, together
with the claimant's costs of suit in the action if the claimant recovers therein.

§ 9.6.10 If Contractor fails to cause any lien to be removed in connection with the Work for which the Contractor has been paid (if payment is past due) from the Project or any
bonded stop notices or other notices to be negated, Owner may employ whatever means it may, in its reasonable discretion, to cause the lien to be removed, and the effect of any
bonded stop notices or other notices to be negated. Contractor shall, upon demand, reimburse Owner for all costs, including without limitation actual attorneys' fees incurred by
Owner in connection with any suit, lien or bonded stop notice. Owner may offset any such costs against amounts otherwise owing to Contractor hereunder.

§ 9.7 FAILURE OF PAYMENT
§ 9.7.1 If the Architect does not issue a Certificate for Payment, through no fault of the Contractor, within seven days after receipt of the Contractor’s Application for Payment,
or if the Owner does not pay the Contractor within seven days after the date established in the Contract Documents the amount certified by the Architect or awarded by binding
dispute resolution, then the Contractor may, upon seven additional days’ written notice to the Owner and
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Architect, stop the Work until payment of the amount owing has been received. The Contract Time shall be extended appropriately and the Contract Sum shall be increased by
the amount of the Contractor’s reasonable costs of shut-down, delay and start-up, plus interest as provided for in the Contract Documents.

§ 9.7.2 If Owner is entitled to reimbursement or payment from Contractor under or pursuant to the Contract Documents, such payments shall be made within thirty (30) days
after demand by Owner. Notwithstanding anything contained in the Contract Documents to the contrary, if Contractor fails to promptly make any payment due Owner, or Owner
incurs any costs and expenses to cure any default of Contractor or to correct defective Work, Owner shall have an absolute right to offset such amount against the Contract Sum
and may, in Owner's sole discretion, elect either to: (1) deduct an amount equal to that which Owner is entitled from any payment then or thereafter due Contractor from Owner,
or (2) issue a written notice to Contractor reducing the Contract Sum by an amount equal to that which Owner is entitled.

§ 9.8 SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION
§ 9.8.1 Substantial Completion is the stage in the progress of the Work when the Work or designated portion thereof is sufficiently complete in accordance with the Contract
Documents so that the Owner can occupy or utilize the Work for its intended use and a temporary certificate of occupancy (or its functional equivalent) has been issued by the
appropriate governmental agency.

§ 9.8.2 When the Contractor considers that the Work, or a portion thereof which the Owner agrees to accept separately, is substantially complete, the Contractor shall prepare
and submit to the Architect a comprehensive list of items to be completed or corrected prior to final payment. Failure to include an item on such list does not alter the
responsibility of the Contractor to complete all Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

§ 9.8.3 Upon receipt of the Contractor’s list, the Owner and Architect will make an inspection to determine whether the Work or designated portion thereof is substantially
complete. If the Architect’s inspection discloses any item, whether or not included on the Contractor’s list, which is not sufficiently complete in accordance with the Contract
Documents so that the Owner can occupy or utilize the Work or designated portion thereof for its intended use, the Contractor shall, before issuance of the Certificate of
Substantial Completion, complete or correct such item upon notification by the Architect. In such case, the Contractor shall then submit a request for another inspection by the
Architect to determine Substantial Completion.

§ 9.8.4 When the Work or designated portion thereof is substantially complete, the Architect will prepare a Certificate of Substantial Completion that shall establish the date of
Substantial Completion, shall establish responsibilities of the Owner and Contractor for security, maintenance, heat, utilities, damage to the Work and insurance, and shall fix the
time within which the Contractor shall finish all items on the list accompanying the Certificate. Warranties required by the Contract Documents shall commence on the date of
Substantial Completion of the Work or designated portion thereof unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Substantial Completion.

§ 9.8.5 The Certificate of Substantial Completion shall be submitted to the Owner and Contractor for their written acceptance of responsibilities assigned to them in such
Certificate. Upon such acceptance and consent of surety, if any, the Owner shall make payment of retainage applying to such Work or designated portion thereof. Such payment
shall be adjusted for Work that is incomplete or not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.

§ 9.9 PARTIAL OCCUPANCY OR USE
§ 9.9.1 The Owner may occupy or use any completed or partially completed portion of the Work at any stage when such portion is designated by separate agreement with the
Contractor, provided such occupancy or use is consented to by the insurer as required under Section 11.3.1.5 and authorized by public authorities having jurisdiction over the
Project. Such partial occupancy or use may commence whether or not the portion is substantially complete, provided the Owner and Contractor have accepted in writing the
responsibilities assigned to each of them for payments, retainage, if any, security, maintenance, heat, utilities, damage to the Work and insurance, and have agreed in writing
concerning the period for correction of the Work and commencement of warranties required by the Contract Documents. When the Contractor considers a portion substantially
complete, the Contractor shall prepare and submit a list to the Architect as provided under Section 9.8.2. Consent of the Contractor to partial occupancy or use shall not be
unreasonably withheld. The stage of the progress of the Work shall be determined by written agreement between the Owner and Contractor or, if no agreement is reached, by
decision of the Architect.
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§ 9.9.2 Immediately prior to such partial occupancy or use, the Owner, Contractor and Architect shall jointly inspect the area to be occupied or portion of the Work to be used in
order to determine and record the condition of the Work.

§ 9.9.3 Unless otherwise agreed upon, partial occupancy or use of a portion or portions of the Work shall not constitute acceptance of Work not complying with the requirements
of the Contract Documents.

§ 9.10 FINAL COMPLETION AND FINAL PAYMENT
§ 9.10.1 Upon receipt of the Contractor’s written notice that the Work is ready for final inspection and acceptance and upon receipt of a final Application for Payment, the
Owner and Architect will promptly (but in no event later than ten (10) days after receipt of said notice and final Application for Payment and Contractor’s written request to
Owner for final inspection) make such inspection and, when the Architect finds the Work acceptable under the Contract Documents and the Contract fully performed, the
Architect will promptly issue a final Certificate for Payment stating that to the best of the Architect’s knowledge, information and belief, and on the basis of the Architect’s on-
site visits and inspections, the Work has been completed in accordance with terms and conditions of the Contract Documents and that the entire balance found to be due the
Contractor and noted in the final Certificate is due and payable. The Architect’s final Certificate for Payment will constitute a further representation that conditions listed in
Section 9.10.2 as precedent to the Contractor’s being entitled to final payment have been fulfilled.

§ 9.10.2 Neither final payment nor any remaining retained percentage shall become due until the Contractor submits to the Architect (1) an affidavit that payrolls, bills for
materials and equipment, and other indebtedness connected with the Work for which the Owner or the Owner’s property might be responsible or encumbered (less amounts
withheld by Owner) have been paid or otherwise satisfied, (2) a certificate evidencing that insurance required by the Contract Documents to remain in force after final payment is
currently in effect and Contractor shall not allow such insurance to be cancelled or to expire until it gives Owner at least 30 days’ prior written notice thereof, (3) a written
statement that the Contractor knows of no substantial reason that the insurance will not be renewable to cover the period required by the Contract Documents, (4) consent of
surety, if any, to final payment, (5), if required by the Owner, other data establishing payment or satisfaction of obligations, such as receipts, releases and waivers of liens,
claims, security interests or encumbrances arising out of the Contract, to the extent and in such form as may be designated by the Owner, and (6) all warranties, guarantees,
operating manuals and record drawings for the Project. If a Subcontractor refuses to furnish a release or waiver required by the Owner, the Contractor may furnish a bond
satisfactory to the Owner to indemnify the Owner against such lien. If such lien remains unsatisfied after payments are made, the Contractor shall refund to the Owner all money
that the Owner may be compelled to pay in discharging such lien, including all costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees. Contractor’s obligations hereunder with respect to liens shall
not apply to the extent the Owner’s breach of any payment obligations under the Contract Documents has resulted in such lien.

§ 9.10.3 If, after Substantial Completion of the Work, final completion thereof is materially delayed through no fault of the Contractor or by issuance of Change Orders affecting
final completion, and the Owner and Architect so confirms, the Owner shall, upon application by the Contractor and certification by the Architect, and without terminating the
Contract, make payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work fully completed and accepted. If the remaining balance for Work not fully completed or corrected is less
than retainage stipulated in the Contract Documents, and if bonds have been furnished, the written consent of surety to payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work
fully completed and accepted shall be submitted by the Contractor to the Owner and Architect prior to certification of such payment. Such payment shall be made under terms
and conditions governing final payment, except that it shall not constitute a waiver of claims.

§ 9.10.4 The making of final payment shall constitute a waiver of Claims by the Owner except those arising from
.1 liens, Claims, security interests or encumbrances arising out of the Contract and unsettled;
.2 failure of the Work to comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents; or
.3 terms of special warranties required by the Contract Documents.

§ 9.10.5 Acceptance of final payment by the Contractor, a Subcontractor or material supplier shall constitute a waiver of claims by that payee except those previously made in
writing and identified by that payee as unsettled at the time of final Application for Payment.
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ARTICLE 10   PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY
§ 10.1 SAFETY PRECAUTIONS AND PROGRAMS
The Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all safety precautions and programs in connection with the performance of the Contract.

§ 10.2 SAFETY OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY
§ 10.2.1 The Contractor shall take reasonable precautions for safety of, and shall provide reasonable protection to prevent damage, injury or loss to

.1 employees on the Work and other persons who may be affected thereby;

.2 the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on or off the site, under care, custody or control of the Contractor or the
Contractor’s Subcontractors or Sub-subcontractors; and

.3 other property at the site or adjacent thereto, such as trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures and utilities not designated for removal, relocation
or replacement in the course of construction.

§ 10.2.2 The Contractor shall comply with and give notices required by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities
bearing on safety of persons or property or their protection from damage, injury or loss. If the Contractor fails to give such notices or fails to comply with such laws, ordinances,
rules, regulations, and lawful orders, it shall to the extent due to such failures be liable for and shall indemnify, defend (at Contractor's sole cost, and with legal counsel
reasonably approved by Owner) and hold harmless the Owner, Project Manager and their respective employees, officers, and agents, against any resulting fines, penalties,
judgments, or damages, including reasonable attorneys' fees, imposed on or incurred by Owner.

§ 10.2.3 The Contractor shall erect and maintain, as required by existing conditions and performance of the Contract, reasonable safeguards for safety and protection, including
posting danger signs and other warnings against hazards, promulgating safety regulations and notifying owners and users of adjacent sites and utilities. The Contractor shall
promptly report to the Owner in writing all accidents arising out of or in connection with the Work that cause death, personal injury, or property damage. The report shall give
full details, including statements of witnesses, hospital reports, and other information in the possession of the Contractor. In addition, in the event of any serious injury or
damage, the Contractor shall immediately notify the Owner by telephone of such accident.

§ 10.2.4 When use or storage of explosives or other hazardous materials or equipment or unusual methods are necessary for execution of the Work, the Contractor shall exercise
utmost care and carry on such activities under supervision of properly qualified personnel.

§ 10.2.5 The Contractor shall promptly remedy damage and loss (other than damage or loss insured under property insurance required by the Contract Documents) to property
referred to in Sections 10.2.1.2 and 10.2.1.3 caused in whole or in part by the Contractor, a Subcontractor, a Sub-subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any
of them, or by anyone for whose acts they may be liable and for which the Contractor is responsible under Sections 10.2.1.2 and 10.2.1.3, except damage or loss attributable to
the extent of the negligence or willful misconduct of the Owner or Architect or anyone directly or indirectly employed by either of them, or by anyone for whose acts either of
them may be liable, and not attributable to the fault or negligence of the Contractor. The foregoing obligations of the Contractor are in addition to the Contractor’s obligations
under Section 3.18.

§ 10.2.6 The Contractor shall designate a responsible member of the Contractor’s organization at the site whose duty shall be the prevention of accidents. This person shall be the
Contractor’s superintendent unless otherwise designated by the Contractor in writing to the Owner and Architect.

§ 10.2.7 The Contractor shall not permit any part of the construction or site to be loaded so as to cause damage or create an unsafe condition.

§ 10.2.8 INJURY OR DAMAGE TO PERSON OR PROPERTY
If either party suffers injury or damage to person or property because of an act or omission of the other party, or of others for whose acts such party is legally responsible, written
notice of such injury or damage, whether or not insured, shall be given to the other party within a reasonable time not exceeding 21 days after discovery. The notice shall provide
sufficient detail to enable the other party to investigate the matter.
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§ 10.3 HAZARDOUS MATERIALS
§ 10.3.1 The Contractor is responsible for compliance with any requirements included in the Contract Documents regarding hazardous materials. If the Contractor encounters a
hazardous material or substance not addressed in the Contract Documents and if reasonable precautions will be inadequate to prevent foreseeable bodily injury or death to
persons resulting from a material or substance, including but not limited to asbestos or polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB), encountered on the site by the Contractor, the Contractor
shall, upon recognizing the condition, immediately stop Work in the affected area and report the condition to the Owner and Architect in writing.

§ 10.3.2 Upon receipt of the Contractor’s written notice, the Owner shall obtain the services of a licensed laboratory to verify the presence or absence of the material or substance
reported by the Contractor and, in the event such material or substance is found to be present, to cause it to be rendered harmless. Unless otherwise required by the Contract
Documents, the Owner shall furnish in writing to the Contractor and Architect the names and qualifications of persons or entities who are to perform tests verifying the presence
or absence of such material or substance or who are to perform the task of removal or safe containment of such material or substance. The Contractor and the Architect will
promptly reply to the Owner in writing stating whether or not either has reasonable objection to the persons or entities proposed by the Owner. If either the Contractor or
Architect has an objection to a person or entity proposed by the Owner, the Owner shall propose another to whom the Contractor and the Architect have no reasonable objection.
When the material or substance has been rendered harmless, Work in the affected area shall resume upon written agreement of the Owner and Contractor. By Change Order, the
Contract Time shall be extended appropriately and the Contract Sum and Guaranteed Maximum Price shall be increased in the amount of the Contractor’s reasonable additional
costs of shut-down, delay and start-up.

§ 10.3.3 To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Owner shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Contractor, Subcontractors, Architect, Architect’s consultants and
agents and employees of any of them from and against claims, damages, losses and expenses, including but not limited to attorneys’ fees, arising out of or resulting from
performance of the Work in the affected area if in fact the material or substance presents the risk of bodily injury or death as described in Section 10.3.1 and has not been
rendered harmless, provided that such claim, damage, loss or expense is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property
(other than the Work itself), except to the extent that such damage, loss or expense is due to the fault or negligence of the party seeking indemnity.

§ 10.3.4 The Owner shall not be responsible under this Section 10.3 for materials or substances the Contractor brings to the site unless such materials or substances are required
by the Contract Documents. The Owner shall be responsible for materials or substances required by the Contract Documents, except to the extent of the Contractor’s fault or
negligence in the use and handling of such materials or substances.

§ 10.3.5 The Contractor shall indemnify the Owner for the cost and expense the Owner incurs (1) for remediation of a material or substance the Contractor brings to the site and
negligently handles, or (2) where the Contractor fails to perform its obligations under Section 10.3.1, except to the extent that the cost and expense are due to the Owner’s fault
or negligence.

§ 10.3.6 If, without negligence on the part of the Contractor, the Contractor is held liable by a government agency for the cost of remediation of a hazardous material or
substance solely by reason of performing Work as required by the Contract Documents, the Owner shall indemnify and defend the Contractor for all cost and expense thereby
incurred.

§ 10.4 EMERGENCIES
In an emergency affecting safety of persons or property, the Contractor shall act, at the Contractor’s discretion, to prevent threatened damage, injury or loss. Additional
compensation or extension of time claimed by the Contractor on account of an emergency shall be determined as provided in Article 15 and Article 7.

ARTICLE 11   INSURANCE AND BONDS
§ 11.1 CONTRACTOR’S LIABILITY INSURANCE THIS ARTICLE 11 IS STILL SUBJECT TO REVIEW BY SKANSKA RISK MANAGEMENT
§ 11.1.1 The Contractor shall purchase from and maintain in a company or companies to which Owner has no reasonable objection, which have a Best’s Rating of “A/VIII” or
above and which are lawfully authorized to do business in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located such insurance as will protect the Contractor from claims set forth
below which may arise out of or result from the Contractor’s operations and completed operations under
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the Contract and for which the Contractor may be legally liable, whether such operations be by the Contractor or by a Subcontractor or by anyone directly or indirectly employed
by any of them, or by anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable:

.1 Claims under workers’ compensation, disability benefit and other similar employee benefit acts that are applicable to the Work to be performed;

.2 Claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death of the Contractor’s employees;

.3 Claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, or death of any person other than the Contractor’s employees;

.4 Claims for damages insured by usual personal injury liability coverage;

.5 Claims for damages, other than to the Work itself, because of injury to or destruction of tangible property;

.6 Claims for damages because of bodily injury, death of a person or property damage arising out of ownership, maintenance or use of a motor vehicle;

.7 Claims for bodily injury or property damage arising out of completed operations; and

.8 Claims involving contractual liability insurance applicable to the Contractor’s obligations under Section 3.18.

§ 11.1.2 The insurance required by Section 11.1.1 shall be written for not less than limits of liability specified in the Contract Documents or required by law, whichever coverage
is greater. Coverages, shall be written on an occurrence basis, shall be maintained without interruption from the date of commencement of the Work until the date of final
payment and termination of any coverage required to be maintained after final payment, and, with respect to the Contractor’s completed operations coverage, until the expiration
of the period for correction of Work or for such other period for maintenance of completed operations coverage as specified in the Contract Documents.

§ 11.1.3 Certificates of insurance reasonably acceptable to the Owner, and copies of the insurance policies if requested in writing, shall be filed with the Owner and the
additional insureds at least ten (10) days prior to commencement of the Work and thereafter upon renewal or replacement of each required policy of insurance. An additional
certificate evidencing continuation of liability coverage, including coverage for completed operations, shall be submitted with the final Application for Payment as required by
Section 9.10.2 and thereafter upon renewal or replacement of such coverage until the expiration of the time required by Section 11.1.2. Information concerning reduction of
coverage on account of revised limits or claims paid under the General Aggregate, or both, shall be furnished by the Contractor with reasonable promptness upon Owner’s
written request. Upon receipt of any notice of cancellation or alteration, Contractor, within ten (10) days, shall procure other policies of insurance, similar in all material respects
to the policy or policies, about to be canceled or altered; and, if Contractor fails to provide, procure and deliver acceptable policies of insurance or satisfactory evidence thereof,
in accordance with the terms hereof, then at Owner 's option, Owner may obtain such insurance at the cost and expense of Contractor without the need of any notice to
Contractor. The Contractor shall provide written notification to the Owner of the cancellation or expiration of any insurance required by Section 11.1. The Contractor shall
provide such written notice within five (5) days of the date the Contractor is first aware of the cancellation or expiration, or is first aware that the cancellation or expiration is
threatened or otherwise may occur, whichever comes first.

§ 11.1.4 The Contractor shall cause the commercial liability coverage required by the Contract Documents to include (1) the Owner, the Lender, as additional insureds for claims
caused in whole or in part by the Contractor’s negligent acts or omissions during the Contractor’s operations; and (2) the Owner as an additional insured for claims caused in
whole or in part by the Contractor’s negligent acts or omissions during the Contractor’s completed operations.

§ 11.2 OWNER’S LIABILITY INSURANCE
The Owner shall be responsible for purchasing and maintaining the Owner’s usual liability insurance.

§ 11.3 PROPERTY INSURANCE
§ 11.3.1 Unless otherwise provided, the Owner shall purchase and maintain, in a company or companies lawfully authorized to do business in the jurisdiction in which the
Project is located, property insurance written on a builder’s risk “all-risk” or equivalent policy form in the amount of the initial Contract Sum, plus value of subsequent Contract
Modifications and cost of materials supplied or installed by others, comprising total value for the entire Project at the site on a replacement cost basis without optional
deductibles. Such property insurance shall be maintained, unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents or otherwise agreed in writing by all persons and entities who are
beneficiaries of such insurance, until final payment has been made as provided in Section 9.10 or until no person
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or entity other than the Owner has an insurable interest in the property required by this Section 11.3 to be covered, whichever is later. This insurance shall include the Owner, the
Contractor, Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors in as insured.

§ 11.3.1.1 Property insurance shall be on an “all-risk” or equivalent policy form and shall include, without limitation, insurance against the perils of fire (with extended coverage)
and physical loss or damage including, without duplication of coverage, theft, vandalism, malicious mischief, collapse, earthquake, flood, windstorm, falsework, testing and
startup, temporary buildings and debris removal including demolition occasioned by enforcement of any applicable legal requirements, and shall cover reasonable compensation
for Architect’s and Contractor’s services and expenses required as a result of such insured loss.

§ 11.3.1.2 If the Owner does not intend to purchase such property insurance required by the Contract and with all of the coverages in the amount described above, the Owner
shall so inform the Contractor in writing prior to commencement of the Work. The Contractor may then effect insurance that will protect the interests of the Contractor,
Subcontractors and Sub-subcontractors in the Work, and by appropriate Change Order the cost thereof shall be charged to the Owner. If the Contractor is damaged by the failure
or neglect of the Owner to purchase or maintain insurance as described above, without so notifying the Contractor in writing, then the Owner shall bear all reasonable costs
properly attributable thereto.

§ 11.3.1.3 If the property insurance requires deductibles, the Owner shall pay costs not covered because of such deductibles, unless the loss was caused by Contractor and/or its
Subcontractors of any tier, then Contractor shall be responsible for a deductible up to Ten Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents ($10,000.00).

§ 11.3.1.4 This property insurance shall cover portions of the Work stored off the site, and also portions of the Work in transit.

§ 11.3.1.5 Partial occupancy or use in accordance with Section 9.9 shall not commence until the insurance company or companies providing property insurance have consented
to such partial occupancy or use by endorsement or otherwise. The Owner and the Contractor shall take reasonable steps to obtain consent of the insurance company or
companies and shall, without mutual written consent, take no action with respect to partial occupancy or use that would cause cancellation, lapse or reduction of insurance.

§ 11.3.2 BOILER AND MACHINERY INSURANCE [Intentionally Deleted]

§ 11.3.3 LOSS OF USE INSURANCE [Intentionally Deleted]

§ 11.3.4 [Intentionally Deleted]

§ 11.3.5 If during the Project construction period the Owner insures properties, real or personal or both, at or adjacent to the site by property insurance under policies separate
from those insuring the Project, or if after final payment property insurance is to be provided on the completed Project through a policy or policies other than those insuring the
Project during the construction period, the Owner shall waive all rights in accordance with the terms of Section 11.3.7 for damages caused by fire or other causes of loss covered
by this separate property insurance. All separate policies shall provide this waiver of subrogation by endorsement or otherwise.

§ 11.3.6 Before an exposure to loss may occur, the Owner shall file with the Contractor a copy of each policy that includes insurance coverages required by this Section 11.3.
Each policy shall contain all generally applicable conditions, definitions, exclusions and endorsements related to this Project. Each policy, to the extent the issuing insurance
company will so provide without additional material cost, shall contain a provision that the policy will not be canceled or allowed to expire, and that its limits will not be
reduced, until at least 30 days’ prior written notice has been given to the Contractor.

§ 11.3.7 WAIVERS OF SUBROGATION
The Owner and Contractor waive all rights against (1) each other and any of their subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, agents and employees, each of the other, and (2) the
Architect, Architect’s consultants, separate contractors described in Article 6, if any, and any of their subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, agents and employees, for damages
caused by fire or other causes of loss to the extent covered and paid by property insurance obtained pursuant to this Section 11.3 or other property insurance applicable to the
Work, except such rights as they have to
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proceeds of such insurance held by the Owner as fiduciary. The Owner or Contractor, as appropriate, shall require of the Architect, Architect’s consultants, separate contractors
described in Article 6, if any, and the subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, agents and employees of any of them, by appropriate agreements, written where legally required for
validity, similar waivers each in favor of other parties enumerated herein. The policies shall provide such waivers of subrogation by endorsement or otherwise. A waiver of
subrogation shall be effective as to a person or entity even though that person or entity would otherwise have a duty of indemnification, contractual or otherwise, did not pay the
insurance premium directly or indirectly, and whether or not the person or entity had an insurable interest in the property damaged.

§ 11.3.8 A loss insured under the Owner’s property insurance shall be adjusted by the Owner as fiduciary and made payable to the Owner as fiduciary for the insureds, as their
interests may appear, subject to requirements of any applicable mortgagee clause and of Section 11.3.10. The Contractor shall pay Subcontractors their just shares of insurance
proceeds received by the Contractor, and by appropriate agreements, written where legally required for validity, shall require Subcontractors to make payments to their Sub-
subcontractors in similar manner.

§ 11.3.9 If required in writing by a party in interest, the Owner as fiduciary shall, upon occurrence of an insured loss, give bond for proper performance of the Owner’s duties.
The cost of required bonds shall be charged against proceeds received as fiduciary. The Owner shall deposit in a separate account proceeds so received, which the Owner shall
distribute in accordance with such agreement as the parties in interest may reach, or as determined in accordance with the method of binding dispute resolution selected in the
Agreement between the Owner and Contractor. If after such loss no other special agreement is made and unless the Owner terminates the Contract for convenience, replacement
of damaged property shall be performed by the Contractor after notification of a Change in the Work in accordance with Article 7. Owner shall not have any responsibility to any
party other than Contractor with respect to the proceeds of any insurance policy. After a loss, Owner may choose to terminate the Contract for convenience as described herein,
or continue with the construction of the Project. If after such loss no other special agreement is made and unless Owner terminates the Contract for convenience, replacement of
damaged property shall be performed by Contractor after notification of a change in the Work in accordance with Article 7.

§ 11.3.10 The Owner as fiduciary shall have power to adjust and settle a loss with insurers unless one of the parties in interest shall object in writing within five days after
occurrence of loss to the Owner’s exercise of this power; if such objection is made, the dispute shall be resolved in the manner selected by the Owner and Contractor as the
method of binding dispute resolution in the Agreement. If the Owner and Contractor have selected arbitration as the method of binding dispute resolution, the Owner as fiduciary
shall make settlement with insurers or, in the case of a dispute over distribution of insurance proceeds, in accordance with the directions of the arbitrators.

§ 11.4 PERFORMANCE BOND AND PAYMENT BOND
§ 11.4.1 The Owner, as an addition to the Cost of the Work and Guaranteed Maximum Price, shall have the right to require the Contractor to furnish bonds covering faithful
performance of the Contract and payment of obligations arising thereunder as stipulated in bidding requirements or specifically required in the Contract Documents on the date
of execution of the Contract.

§ 11.4.2 Upon the request of any person or entity appearing to be a potential beneficiary of bonds covering payment of obligations arising under the Contract, the Contractor
shall promptly furnish a copy of the bonds or shall authorize a copy to be furnished.

ARTICLE 12   UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK
§ 12.1 UNCOVERING OF WORK
§ 12.1.1 If a portion of the Work is covered contrary to the Architect’s request or to requirements specifically expressed in the Contract Documents, it must, if requested in
writing by the Architect, be uncovered for the Architect’s examination and be replaced at the Contractor’s expense without change in the Contract Time.

§ 12.1.2 If a portion of the Work has been covered that the Architect has not specifically requested to examine prior to its being covered, the Architect may request to see such
Work and it shall be uncovered by the Contractor. If such Work is in accordance with the Contract Documents, costs of uncovering and replacement shall, by appropriate Change
Order, be at the Owner’s expense. If such Work is not in accordance with the Contract Documents, such costs and the cost of correction shall be at the Contractor’s expense
unless the condition was caused by the Owner or a separate contractor in which event the Owner shall be responsible for payment of such costs.
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§ 12.2 CORRECTION OF WORK
§ 12.2.1 BEFORE OR AFTER SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION
The Contractor shall promptly correct Work rejected by the Architect or failing to conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents, whether discovered before or after
Substantial Completion and whether or not fabricated, installed or completed. Costs of correcting such rejected Work, including additional testing and inspections, the cost of
uncovering and replacement, and compensation for the Architect’s services and expenses made necessary thereby, shall be at the Contractor’s expense, except as may be
reimbursable from the Construction Contingency.

§ 12.2.2 AFTER SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION
§ 12.2.2.1 In addition to the Contractor’s obligations under Section 3.5, if, within one year after the date of Substantial Completion of the Work or designated portion thereof or
after the date for commencement of warranties established under Section 9.9.1, any of the Work is found to be not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract
Documents, the Contractor shall correct it promptly at Contractor’s sole expense after receipt of written notice from the Owner to do so unless the Owner has previously given
the Contractor a written acceptance of such condition. The Owner shall give such notice promptly after discovery of the condition. During the one-year period for correction of
Work, if the Owner fails promptly to notify the Contractor in writing, as required under Section 3.5.2, and give the Contractor an opportunity to make the correction, the Owner
waives the rights to require correction by the Contractor and to make a claim for breach of warranty. If the Contractor fails to correct nonconforming Work within a reasonable
time during that period after receipt of notice from the Owner or Architect, the Owner may correct it in accordance with Section 2.4.

§ 12.2.2.2 The one-year period for correction of Work shall be extended with respect to portions of Work first performed after Substantial Completion by the period of time
between Substantial Completion and the actual completion of that portion of the Work.

§ 12.2.2.3 The one-year period for correction of Work shall not be extended by corrective Work performed by the Contractor pursuant to this Section 12.2.

§ 12.2.3 The Contractor shall remove from the site portions of the Work that are not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents and are neither corrected by
the Contractor nor accepted by the Owner.

§ 12.2.4 The Contractor shall bear the cost of correcting destroyed or damaged construction, whether completed or partially completed, of the Owner or separate contractors
caused by the Contractor’s correction or removal of Work that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.

§ 12.2.5 Nothing contained in this Section 12.2 shall be construed to establish a period of limitation with respect to other obligations the Contractor has under the Contract
Documents. Establishment of the one-year period for correction of Work as described in Section 12.2.2 relates only to the specific obligation of the Contractor to correct the
Work, and has no relationship to the time within which the obligation to comply with the Contract Documents may be sought to be enforced, nor to the time within which
proceedings may be commenced to establish the Contractor’s liability with respect to the Contractor’s obligations other than specifically to correct the Work.

§ 12.2.6 Nothing contained in this Contract shall in any way limit the right of Owner to assert claims for damages resulting from patent or latent defects in the Work for the
period of limitations prescribed by Arizona law, and the foregoing shall be in addition to any other rights and remedies Owner may have hereunder or at law or in equity.

§ 12.3 ACCEPTANCE OF NONCONFORMING WORK
If the Owner prefers to accept Work that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents, the Owner may do so instead of requiring its removal and
correction, in which case the Contract Sum will be reduced as appropriate and equitable. Such adjustment shall be effected whether or not final payment has been made.

ARTICLE 13   MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
§ 13.1 GOVERNING LAW
The Contract shall be governed by the law of the State of Arizona except that, if the parties have selected arbitration as the method of binding dispute resolution, the Federal
Arbitration Act shall govern Section 15.4.
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§ 13.2 SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS
§ 13.2.1 The Owner and Contractor respectively bind themselves, their partners, successors, assigns and legal representatives to covenants, agreements and obligations contained
in the Contract Documents. Contractor may not assign, in whole or in part, the Contract without first obtaining the written consent of the Owner, which consent may be withheld
in Owner’s sole discretion.

§ 13.2.2 The Owner may, without consent of the Contractor, assign the Contract to a lender providing construction financing for the Project, if the lender assumes the Owner’s
rights and obligations under the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall execute all consents reasonably required to facilitate such assignment.

§ 13.3 WRITTEN NOTICE
Written notice shall be deemed to have been duly served if delivered in person to the individual, to a member of the firm or entity, or to an officer of the corporation for which it
was intended; or if delivered at, or sent by registered or certified mail or by courier service providing proof of delivery to, the last business address known to the party giving
notice.

§ 13.4 RIGHTS AND REMEDIES
§ 13.4.1 Duties and obligations imposed by the Contract Documents and rights and remedies available thereunder shall be in addition to and not a limitation of duties,
obligations, rights and remedies otherwise imposed or available by law.

§ 13.4.2 No action or failure to act by the Owner, Architect or Contractor shall constitute a waiver of a right or duty afforded them under the Contract, nor shall such action or
failure to act constitute approval of or acquiescence in a breach there under, except as may be specifically agreed in writing.

§ 13.4.3 Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary contained in the Contract Documents, provided that Owner continues to make payments of amounts not in dispute
in accordance with the provisions of the Contract Documents, during all disputes, actions or claims and other matters in question arising out of, or relating to, the Contract
Documents or the breach thereof, Contractor shall carry on the Work and maintain the Schedule, unless otherwise agreed between Contractor and Owner in writing.

§ 13.5 TESTS AND INSPECTIONS
§ 13.5.1 Tests, inspections and approvals of portions of the Work shall be made as required by the Contract Documents and by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules
and regulations or lawful orders of public authorities. Unless otherwise provided, the Contractor shall make arrangements for such tests, inspections and approvals with an
independent testing laboratory or entity acceptable to the Owner, or with the appropriate public authority, and shall bear all related costs of tests, inspections and approvals. The
Contractor shall give the Architect timely notice of when and where tests and inspections are to be made so that the Architect may be present for such procedures. The Owner
shall bear costs of (1) tests, inspections or approvals that do not become requirements until after bids are received or negotiations concluded, and (2) tests, inspections or
approvals where building codes or applicable laws or regulations prohibit the Owner from delegating their cost to the Contractor.

§ 13.5.2 If the Architect, Owner or public authorities having jurisdiction determine that portions of the Work require additional testing, inspection or approval not included under
Section 13.5.1, the Architect will, upon written authorization from the Owner, instruct the Contractor to make arrangements for such additional testing, inspection or approval by
an entity acceptable to the Owner, and the Contractor shall give timely notice to the Architect of when and where tests and inspections are to be made so that the Architect may
be present for such procedures. Such costs, except as provided in Section 13.5.3, shall be at the Owner’s expense.

§ 13.5.3 If such procedures for testing, inspection or approval under Sections 13.5.1 and 13.5.2 reveal failure of the portions of the Work to comply with requirements
established by the Contract Documents, all costs made necessary by such failure including those of repeated procedures and compensation for the Architect’s services and
expenses shall be at the Contractor’s expense.

§ 13.5.4 Required certificates of testing, inspection or approval shall, unless otherwise required by the Contract Documents, be secured by the Contractor and promptly delivered
to the Architect.
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§ 13.5.5 If the Architect is to observe tests, inspections or approvals required by the Contract Documents, the Architect will do so promptly and, where practicable, at the normal
place of testing.

§ 13.5.6 Tests or inspections conducted pursuant to the Contract Documents shall be made promptly to avoid unreasonable delay in the Work.

§ 13.6 INTEREST
Payments due and unpaid under the Contract Documents shall bear interest from the date payment is due at the rate of six percent (6%) per annum, not to exceed the maximum
rate permitted by law.

§ 13.7 TIME LIMITS ON CLAIMS
The Owner and Contractor shall commence all claims and causes of action, whether in contract, tort, breach of warranty or otherwise, against the other arising out of or related to
the Contract in accordance with the requirements of the final dispute resolution method selected in the Agreement within the time period specified by applicable law, but in any
case not more than 10 years after the date of Substantial Completion of the Work. The Owner and Contractor waive all claims and causes of action not commenced in accordance
with this Section 13.7.

§ 13.8 CONFIDENTIALITY
§13.8.1 The Contractor and Owner entered into that certain Nondisclosure Agreement dated as of November 19, 2015 (“NDA”) in order to protect certain confidential
information of Owner, as further set forth in the NDA. Contractor and Owner hereby incorporate the terms, provisions and obligations of the NDA in these General Conditions.

ARTICLE 14   TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THE CONTRACT
§ 14.1 TERMINATION BY THE CONTRACTOR
§ 14.1.1 The Contractor may terminate the Contract if the Work is stopped for a period of 30 consecutive days through no act or fault of the Contractor or a Subcontractor, Sub-
subcontractor or their agents or employees or any other persons or entities performing portions of the Work under direct or indirect contract with the Contractor, for any of the
following reasons:

.1 Issuance of an order of a court or other public authority having jurisdiction that requires all Work to be stopped;

.2 An act of government, such as a declaration of national emergency that requires all Work to be stopped;

.3 Because the Architect has not issued a Certificate for Payment and has not notified the Contractor of the reason for withholding certification as provided in Section
9.4.1, or because the Owner has not made payment on a Certificate for Payment within the time stated in the Contract Documents; or

.4 The Owner has failed to furnish to the Contractor promptly, upon the Contractor’s request, reasonable evidence as required by Section 2.2.1.

§ 14.1.2 The Contractor may terminate the Contract if, through no act or fault of the Contractor or a Subcontractor, Sub-subcontractor or their agents or employees or any other
persons or entities performing portions of the Work under direct or indirect contract with the Contractor, repeated suspensions, delays or interruptions of the entire Work by the
Owner as described in Section 14.3 constitute in the aggregate more than 100 percent of the total number of days scheduled for completion, or 120 days in any 365-day period,
whichever is less.

§ 14.1.3 If one of the reasons described in Section 14.1.1 or 14.1.2 exists, the Contractor may, upon seven days’ written notice to the Owner and Architect, terminate the Contract
(provided, however, if Owner commences the cure within such seven (7)-day period and thereafter diligently pursues such cure to completion, no default shall be deemed to have
occurred) and recover from the Owner payment for Work executed, including Contractor’s Fee and general conditions costs on such work, costs incurred by reason of such
termination, and damages.

§ 14.1.4 If the Work is stopped for a period of 60 consecutive days through no act or fault of the Contractor or a Subcontractor or their agents or employees or any other persons
performing portions of the Work under contract with the Contractor because the Owner has repeatedly failed to fulfill the Owner’s obligations under the Contract Documents
with respect to matters important to the progress of the Work, the Contractor may, upon seven additional days’ written notice to the Owner and the Architect, terminate the
Contract and recover from the Owner as provided in Section 14.1.3.
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§ 14.2 TERMINATION BY THE OWNER FOR CAUSE
§ 14.2.1 The Owner may terminate the Contract if the Contractor

.1 repeatedly refuses or fails to supply enough properly skilled workers or proper materials;

.2 fails to make payment to Subcontractors for materials or labor in accordance with the respective agreements between the Contractor and the Subcontractors;

.3 repeatedly disregards applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful orders of a public authority; or

.4 otherwise is guilty of substantial breach of a provision of the Contract Documents.

§ 14.2.2 When any of the above reasons exist, the Owner may, by written notice, demand that the Contractor cure the default. If Contractor fails to commence and diligently
pursue curing the default within seven (7) days after receipt of said written notice, the Owner, upon certification by the Initial Decision Maker that sufficient cause exists to
justify such action, may without prejudice to any other rights or remedies of the Owner, terminate employment of the Contractor and may, subject to any prior rights of the
surety:

.1 Exclude the Contractor from the site and take possession of all materials, and equipment stored on the site that are intended to be incorporated into the Work;

.2 Accept assignment of subcontracts pursuant to Section 5.4; and

.3 Finish the Work by whatever reasonable method the Owner may deem expedient. Upon written request of the Contractor, the Owner shall furnish to the Contractor a
detailed accounting of the costs incurred by the Owner in finishing the Work.

§ 14.2.3 When the Owner terminates the Contract for one of the reasons stated in Section 14.2.1, the Contractor shall not be entitled to receive further payment until the Work is
finished.

§ 14.2.4 If the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum exceeds costs of finishing the Work, including compensation for the Architect’s services and expenses made necessary
thereby, and other damages incurred by the Owner and not expressly waived, such excess shall be paid to the Contractor. If such costs and direct damages exceed the unpaid
balance, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the Owner. The amount to be paid to the Contractor or Owner, as the case may be, shall be certified by the Initial Decision
Maker, upon application, and this obligation for payment shall survive termination of the Contract. The costs of finishing the Work include, without limitation, all reasonable
attorneys' fees, additional insurance premiums, additional interest because of any delay in completing the Work, and all other direct costs incurred by the Owner by reason of the
termination of the Contractor as stated herein.

§ 14.3 SUSPENSION BY THE OWNER FOR CONVENIENCE
§ 14.3.1 The Owner may, without cause, order the Contractor in writing to suspend, delay or interrupt the Work in whole or in part for such period of time as the Owner may
determine.

§ 14.3.2 The Contract Sum, Guaranteed Maximum Price and Contract Time shall be adjusted for increases in the cost and time caused by suspension, delay or interruption as
described in Section 14.3.1. Adjustment of the Contract Sum and Guaranteed Maximum Price shall include profit. No adjustment shall be made to the extent

.1 that performance is, was or would have been so suspended, delayed or interrupted by another cause for which the Contractor is responsible; or

.2 that an equitable adjustment is made or denied under another provision of the Contract.

§ 14.4 TERMINATION BY THE OWNER FOR CONVENIENCE
§ 14.4.1 The Owner may, at any time, terminate the Contract for the Owner’s convenience and without cause.

§ 14.4.2 Upon receipt of written notice from the Owner of such termination for the Owner’s convenience, the Contractor shall
.1 cease operations as directed by the Owner in the notice;
.2 take actions necessary, or that the Owner may direct, for the protection and preservation of the Work; and
.3 except for Work directed to be performed prior to the effective date of termination stated in the notice, terminate all existing subcontracts and purchase orders and

enter into no further subcontracts and purchase orders.
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§ 14.4.3 In case of such termination for the Owner’s convenience, the Contractor shall be entitled to receive payment for Work executed, and costs incurred by reason of such
termination, including termination payments to subcontractors and demobilization costs, along with Contractor’s Fee on the Work not executed.

ARTICLE 15   CLAIMS AND DISPUTES
§ 15.1 CLAIMS
§ 15.1.1 DEFINITION
A Claim is a demand or assertion by one of the parties seeking, as a matter of right, payment of money, or other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract. The term “Claim”
also includes other disputes and matters in question between the Owner and Contractor arising out of or relating to the Contract. The responsibility to substantiate Claims shall
rest with the party making the Claim.

§ 15.1.2 NOTICE OF CLAIMS
Claims by either the Owner or Contractor must be initiated by written notice to the other party and to the Initial Decision Maker with a copy sent to the Architect, if the Architect
is not serving as the Initial Decision Maker. Claims by either party must be initiated within 21 days after occurrence of the event giving rise to such Claim or within 21 days after
the claimant first recognizes the condition giving rise to the Claim, whichever is later.

§ 15.1.3 CONTINUING CONTRACT PERFORMANCE
Pending final resolution of a Claim, except as otherwise agreed in writing or as provided in Section 9.7 and Article 14, the Contractor shall proceed diligently with performance
of the Contract and the Owner shall continue to make payments in accordance with the Contract Documents. The Architect will prepare Change Orders and issue Certificates for
Payment in accordance with the decisions of the Initial Decision Maker.

§ 15.1.4 CLAIMS FOR ADDITIONAL COST
If the Contractor wishes to make a Claim for an increase in the Contract Sum and/or the Guaranteed Maximum Price, written notice as provided herein shall be given before
proceeding to execute the Work. Prior notice is not required for Claims relating to an emergency endangering life or property arising under Section 10.4.

§ 15.1.5 CLAIMS FOR ADDITIONAL TIME
§ 15.1.5.1 If the Contractor wishes to make a Claim for an increase in the Contract Time, written notice as provided herein shall be given. The Contractor’s Claim shall include
an estimate of cost and of probable effect of delay on progress of the Work. In the case of a continuing delay, only one Claim is necessary.

§ 15.1.5.2 If adverse weather conditions are the basis for a Claim for additional time, such Claim shall be documented by data substantiating that weather conditions were
abnormal for the period of time, could not have been reasonably anticipated and had an adverse effect on the scheduled construction.

§ 15.1.6 CLAIMS FOR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
The Contractor and Owner waive Claims against each other for consequential, indirect, special, punitive or exemplary damages arising out of or relating to this Contract. This
mutual waiver includes, without limitation

.1 damages incurred by the Owner for rental expenses, for losses of use, income, profit, financing, business and reputation, and for loss of management or employee
productivity or of the services of such persons; and

.2 damages incurred by the Contractor for principal office expenses including the compensation of personnel stationed there, for losses of financing, business and
reputation, and for loss of profit except anticipated profit arising directly from the Work.

This mutual waiver is applicable, without limitation, to all consequential, indirect, special, punitive or exemplary damages due to either party’s termination in accordance with
Article 14. Nothing contained in this Section 15.1.6 shall be deemed to preclude an award of liquidated damages, when applicable, in accordance with the requirements of the
Contract Documents.

§ 15.2 INITIAL DECISION
§ 15.2.1 Claims, excluding those arising under Sections 10.3, 10.4, 11.3.9, and 11.3.10, shall be referred to the Initial Decision Maker for initial decision. The Architect will
serve as the Initial Decision Maker, unless otherwise indicated in the Agreement. Except for those Claims excluded by this Section 15.2.1, an initial decision shall be required as
a condition precedent to mediation of any Claim arising prior to the date final payment is due, unless 30
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days have passed after the Claim has been referred to the Initial Decision Maker with no decision having been rendered. Unless the Initial Decision Maker and all affected parties
agree, the Initial Decision Maker will not decide disputes between the Contractor and persons or entities other than the Owner.

§ 15.2.2 The Initial Decision Maker will review Claims and within ten days of the receipt of a Claim take one or more of the following actions: (1) request additional supporting
data from the claimant or a response with supporting data from the other party, (2) reject the Claim in whole or in part, (3) approve the Claim, (4) suggest a compromise, or (5)
advise the parties that the Initial Decision Maker is unable to resolve the Claim if the Initial Decision Maker lacks sufficient information to evaluate the merits of the Claim or if
the Initial Decision Maker concludes that, in the Initial Decision Maker’s sole discretion, it would be inappropriate for the Initial Decision Maker to resolve the Claim.

§ 15.2.3 In evaluating Claims, the Initial Decision Maker may, but shall not be obligated to, consult with or seek information from either party or from persons with special
knowledge or expertise who may assist the Initial Decision Maker in rendering a decision. The Initial Decision Maker may request the Owner to authorize retention of such
persons at the Owner’s expense.

§ 15.2.4 If the Initial Decision Maker requests a party to provide a response to a Claim or to furnish additional supporting data, such party shall respond, within ten days after
receipt of such request, and shall either (1) provide a response on the requested supporting data, (2) advise the Initial Decision Maker when the response or supporting data will
be furnished or (3) advise the Initial Decision Maker that no supporting data will be furnished. Upon receipt of the response or supporting data, if any, the Initial Decision Maker
will either reject or approve the Claim in whole or in part.

§ 15.2.5 The Initial Decision Maker will render an initial decision approving or rejecting the Claim, or indicating that the Initial Decision Maker is unable to resolve the Claim.
This initial decision shall (1) be in writing; (2) state the reasons therefor; and (3) notify the parties and the Architect, if the Architect is not serving as the Initial Decision Maker,
of any change in the Contract Sum or Contract Time or both. The initial decision shall be final and binding on the parties but subject to mediation and, if the parties fail to
resolve their dispute through mediation, to binding dispute resolution.

§ 15.2.6 Either party may file for mediation of an initial decision at any time, subject to the terms of Section 15.2.6.1.

§ 15.2.6.1 Either party may, within 30 days from the date of an initial decision, demand in writing that the other party file for mediation within 60 days of the initial decision. If
such a demand is made and the party receiving the demand fails to file for mediation within the time required, then both parties waive their rights to mediate or pursue binding
dispute resolution proceedings with respect to the initial decision.

§ 15.2.7 In the event of a Claim against the Contractor, the Owner may, but is not obligated to, notify the surety, if any, of the nature and amount of the Claim. If the Claim
relates to a possibility of a Contractor’s default, the Owner may, but is not obligated to, notify the surety and request the surety’s assistance in resolving the controversy.

§ 15.2.8 If a Claim relates to or is the subject of a mechanic’s lien, the party asserting such Claim may proceed in accordance with applicable law to comply with the lien notice
or filing deadlines.

§ 15.3 MEDIATION
§ 15.3.1 Claims, disputes, or other matters in controversy arising out of or related to the Contract except those waived as provided for in Sections 9.10.4, 9.10.5, and 15.1.6 shall
be subject to mediation as a condition precedent to binding dispute resolution, excluding any equitable proceeding for emergency relief to prevent irreparable harm or the filing
of any lawsuit or recording of any legal document that may be necessary to preserve a party’s rights under applicable law..

§ 15.3.2 The parties shall endeavor to resolve their Claims by mediation which, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, shall be administered by the American Arbitration
Association in accordance with its Construction Industry Mediation Procedures in effect on the date of the Agreement. A request for mediation shall be made in writing,
delivered to the other party to the Contract, and filed with the person or entity administering the mediation. The request may be made concurrently with the filing of binding
dispute resolution proceedings but, in such event, mediation shall proceed in advance of binding dispute resolution proceedings, which shall be stayed pending
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mediation for a period of 60 days from the date of filing, unless stayed for a longer period by agreement of the parties or court order. If an arbitration is stayed pursuant to this
Section 15.3.2, the parties may nonetheless proceed to the selection of the arbitrator(s) and agree upon a schedule for later proceedings.

§ 15.3.3 The parties shall share the mediator’s fee and any filing fees equally. The mediation shall be held in the City of San Diego, California, unless another location is
mutually agreed upon. Agreements reached in mediation shall be enforceable as settlement agreements in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

§ 15.4 ARBITRATION
§ 15.4.1 If the parties have selected arbitration as the method for binding dispute resolution in the Agreement, any Claim subject to, but not resolved by, mediation shall be
subject to arbitration which, unless the parties mutually agree otherwise, shall be administered by the American Arbitration Association in the City of San Diego, California, in
accordance with its Construction Industry Arbitration Rules in effect on the date of the Agreement, and venue for such proceedings shall be in the City of San Diego, California.
A demand for arbitration shall be made in writing, delivered to the other party to the Contract, and filed with the person or entity administering the arbitration. The party filing a
notice of demand for arbitration must assert in the demand all Claims then known to that party on which arbitration is permitted to be demanded.

§ 15.4.1.1 A demand for arbitration shall be made no earlier than concurrently with the filing of a request for mediation, but in no event shall it be made after the date when the
institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on the Claim would be barred by the applicable statute of limitations. For statute of limitations purposes, receipt of a written
demand for arbitration by the person or entity administering the arbitration shall constitute the institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on the Claim.

§ 15.4.2 The award rendered by the arbitrator or arbitrators shall be final, and judgment may be entered upon it in accordance with applicable law in any court having jurisdiction
thereof.

§ 15.4.3 The foregoing agreement to arbitrate and other agreements to arbitrate with an additional person or entity duly consented to by parties to the Agreement shall be
specifically enforceable under applicable law in any court having jurisdiction thereof.

§ 15.4.4 CONSOLIDATION OR JOINDER
§ 15.4.4.1 Either party, at its sole discretion, may consolidate an arbitration conducted under this Agreement with any other arbitration to which it is a party provided that (1) the
arbitration agreement governing the other arbitration permits consolidation, (2) the arbitrations to be consolidated substantially involve common questions of law or fact, and (3)
the arbitrations employ materially similar procedural rules and methods for selecting arbitrator(s).

§ 15.4.4.2 Either party, at its sole discretion, may include by joinder persons or entities substantially involved in a common question of law or fact whose presence is required if
complete relief is to be accorded in arbitration, provided that the party sought to be joined consents in writing to such joinder. Consent to arbitration involving an additional
person or entity shall not constitute consent to arbitration of any claim, dispute or other matter in question not described in the written consent.

§ 15.4.4.3 The Owner and Contractor grant to any person or entity made a party to an arbitration conducted under this Section 15.4, whether by joinder or consolidation, the
same rights of joinder and consolidation as the Owner and Contractor under this Agreement.
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SCHEDULE 1

APPROVED PRESS RELEASE
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Exhibit 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Kevin R. Sayer, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of DexCom, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including any consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
 

    

August 1, 2017 By:  /s/ Kevin R. Sayer
   Kevin R. Sayer
   President & Chief Executive Officer
   (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Kevin Sun, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of DexCom, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including any consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
 

    

August 1, 2017 By:  /s/ Kevin Sun
   Kevin Sun
   Vice President & Interim Chief Financial Officer
   (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

The undersigned, Kevin R. Sayer, the President and Chief Executive Officer of DexCom, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, hereby certifies that:
(i) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2017 of the Company (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of

Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: August 1, 2017
 

 

/s/ Kevin R. Sayer
Kevin R. Sayer
President & Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

The undersigned, Kevin Sun, Interim Chief Financial Officer of DexCom, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, hereby certifies:
(i) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2017 of the Company (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of

Section 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: August 1, 2017
 

 

/s/ Kevin Sun
Kevin Sun
Vice President & Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)


